

EDITED BY: Alvin H. Schmaier, Marvin T. Nieman, Keith McCrae, Sadashiva Karnik and Joao Bosco Pesquero PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Medicine









#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-332-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-332-6

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

# PROCEEDINGS OF KININ2018CLE, CLEVELAND, OHIO, JUNE 18-20, 2018: A COMPENDIUM OF THE PRESENTATIONS

**Topic Editors:** 

Alvin H. Schmaier, Case Western Reserve University, United States
Marvin T. Nieman, Case Western Reserve University, United States
Keith McCrae, Cleveland Clinic, United States
Sadashiva Karnik, Cleveland Clinic Lerner College of Medicine, Case Western
Reserve University, United States
Joao Bosco Pesquero, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil

**Citation:** Schmaier, A. H., Nieman, M. T., McCrae, K., Karnik, S., Pesquero, J. B., eds. (2020). Proceedings of KININ2018CLE, Cleveland, Ohio, June 18-20, 2018: A Compendium of the Presentations. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-332-6

# Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Proceedings of KININ2018CLE, Cleveland, Ohio, June 18-20, 2018: A Compendium of the Presentations

Alvin H. Schmaier, Marvin T. Nieman, Keith R. McCrae, Sadashiva Karnik and Joao Bosco Pesquero

- **07** Neprilysin Inhibitors and Bradykinin Duncan J. Campbell
- Chronic Overexpression of Bradykinin in Kidney Causes Polyuria and Cardiac Hypertrophy
  Carlos C. Barros, Ines Schadock, Gabin Sihn, Franziska Rother, Ping Xu, Elena Popova, Irina Lapidus, Ralph Plehm, Arnd Heuser, Mihail Todiras,

Elena Popova, Irina Lapidus, Ralph Plehm, Arnd Heuser, Mihail Todiras, Sebastian Bachmann, Natalia Alenina, Ronaldo C. Araujo, Joao B. Pesquero and Michael Bader

- 32 Sensitization of the Angiotensin II AT1 Receptor Contributes to RKIP-Induced Symptoms of Heart Failure Stefan Wolf, Joshua Abd Alla and Ursula Quitterer
- **49 Tonin Overexpression in Mice Diminishes Sympathetic Autonomic Modulation and Alters Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Response** Zaira Palomino Jara, Marcelo Yudi Icimoto, Rodrigo Yokota, Amanda Aparecida Ribeiro, Fernando dos Santos, Leandro Ezequiel de Souza, Ingrid Kazue Mizuno Watanabe, Maria do Carmo Franco, Jorge Luiz Pesquero, Maria Claudia Irigoyen and Dulce Elena Casarini
- 59 Discovery of Pathologic GPCR Aggregation Ursula Quitterer and Said AbdAlla
- 68 SERPINs—From Trap to Treatment Wariya Sanrattana, Coen Maas and Steven de Maat
- Genetic Variation of Kallikrein-Kinin System and Related Genes in Patients With Hereditary Angioedema
  Camila Lopes Veronez, Anne Aabom, Renan Paulo Martin, Rafael Filippelli-Silva,

Rozana Fátima Gonçalves, Priscila Nicolicht, Agatha Ribeiro Mendes, Jane Da Silva, Mar Guilarte, Anete Sevciovic Grumach, Eli Mansour, Anette Bygum and João Bosco Pesquero

- 82 Increased Reactive Oxygen Species Generation Contributes to the Atherogenic Activity of the B2 Bradykinin Receptor Alexander Perhal, Stefan Wolf, Yahya F. Jamous, Andreas Langer, Joshua Abd Alla and Ursula Quitterer
- 94 Polyphosphates and Complement Activation Edward M. Conway
- 101 Polyphosphate as a Target for Interference With Inflammation and Thrombosis

Reiner K. W. Mailer, Lorena Hänel, Mikel Allende and Thomas Renné

111 Kinins Released by Erythrocytic Stages of Plasmodium falciparum Enhance Adhesion of Infected Erythrocytes to Endothelial Cells and Increase Blood Brain Barrier Permeability via Activation of Bradykinin Receptors

Leandro S. Silva, Alessandro S. Pinheiro, Douglas E. Teixeira, Rodrigo P. Silva-Aguiar, Diogo B. Peruchetti, Julio Scharfstein, Celso Caruso-Neves and Ana Acacia S. Pinheiro

120 Hereditary Angioedema-Associated Acute Pancreatitis in C1-Inhibitor Deficient and Normal C1-Inhibitor Patients: Case Reports and Literature Review

Camila Lopes Veronez, Régis Albuquerque Campos, Rosemeire Navickas Constantino-Silva, Priscila Nicolicht, João Bosco Pesquero and Anete Sevciovic Grumach

126 Paroxysmal Permeability Disorders: Development of a Microfluidic Device to Assess Endothelial Barrier Function

Maddalena Alessandra Wu, Daria Tsvirkun, Lionel Bureau, Isabelle Boccon-Gibod, Mehdi Inglebert, Alain Duperray, Laurence Bouillet, Chaouqi Misbah and Marco Cicardi

133 Kallikrein/K1, Kinins, and ACE/Kininase II in Homeostasis and in Disease Insight From Human and Experimental Genetic Studies, Therapeutic Implication

Francois Alhenc-Gelas, Nadine Bouby and Jean-Pierre Girolami





## Editorial: Proceedings of KININ2018CLE, Cleveland, Ohio, June 18-20, 2018: A Compendium of the Presentations

## Alvin H. Schmaier<sup>1\*</sup>, Marvin T. Nieman<sup>2</sup>, Keith R. McCrae<sup>3</sup>, Sadashiva Karnik<sup>4</sup> and Joao Bosco Pesquero<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Medicine and Division of Hematology and Oncology, University Hospitals Cleveland Medical Center and Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pharmacology, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Cardiovascular and Metabolic Sciences and Hematology and Medical Oncology, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Cardiovascular and Metabolic Sciences, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Biophysics, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

#### Keywords: bradykinin, factor XII, kallikrein, renin, angiotensin

### OPEN ACCESS

## Edited by:

Giancarlo Castaman, University of Florence, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Coen Maas, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands

> \*Correspondence: Alvin H. Schmaier schmaier@case.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 07 October 2019 Accepted: 05 November 2019 Published: 22 November 2019

#### Citation:

Schmaier AH, Nieman MT, McCrae KR, Karnik S and Pesquero JB (2019) Editorial: Proceedings of KININ2018CLE, Cleveland, Ohio, June 18-20, 2018: A Compendium of the Presentations. Front. Med. 6:272. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00272 Editorial on the Research Topic

Proceedings of KININ2018CLE, Cleveland, Ohio, June 18-20, 2018: A Compendium of the Presentations

### INTRODUCTION

KININ2018CLE was an international kinin meeting held on the campus of Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, USA from June 17th to 20th, 2018. This 3-day conference covered the gamut of topics related to the contact activation system, the kallikrein-kinin system, bradykinin biology, and interactions with the renin angiotensin system. This ebook was graciously complied by Frontiers in Medicine (Hematology) and serves as a Proceedings of the meeting. The Proceedings consists of 14 articles submitted by meeting participants. These articles are classified into four categories: contact activation; hereditary angioedema, C1 inhibitor, and bradykinin receptors; kallikreins, kinins, angiotensin converting enzyme; and renin-angiotensin. The papers within each of these four categories will be introduced in this editorial.

## **CONTACT ACTIVATION**

Mailer et al. presented a paper on polyphosphates (polyP) as a target for interference with inflammation and thrombosis. In their article they give an overview of polyP function, focusing on intra- and extracellular roles of the polymer and discuss open questions that emerge from current knowledge on polyP regulation. Conway discusses his observations of polyP on the complement system. Although polyP promotes factor XII activation, that is regulated by C1 inhibitor. In the complement system polyP potentiates C1 inhibitor and heparin inhibition of C1 activation and contributes to blocking the C5 convertase.

5

### HEREDITARY ANGIOEDEMA, C1 INHIBITOR, AND BRADYKININ RECEPTOR BIOLOGY

Sanrattana et al. presented a concise review of SERPIN biochemistry and how serpin modification is useful to design new therapeutic tools. Veronez et al. presented a paper examining genetic variability of genes related to bradykinin formation and use to explain phenotypic variability of patient with hereditary angioedema (HAE). She also submitted a novel case report on an association of HAE with acute pancreatitis. Silva et al., presented an important report that bradykinin released by the erythrocytic stages of plasmodium falciparum enhances adhesion of infected red blood cells to endothelium to increase permeability via activation of bradykinin receptors. Perhal et al. from the Quitterer laboratory presented the fascinating finding that deficiency of the bradykinin B2 receptor protects mice from atherosclerosis. Last, Wu et al. from the laboratory of the late Marco Cicardi presented a brief report on a novel device to examine endothelial barrier function as it relates to angioedema and related disorders.

## KALLIKREINS, KININS, AND ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME

Alhenc-Gelas et al., the 2018 Kinin Medal recipient, and his collaborators contributed an important paper on the evolving concept that although bradykinin formation is dependent on local tissue kallikrein and angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) activity, deficiencies of BK result in detrimental effects of tissue kallikrein and ACE. Barros et al. who is in the Bader laboratory published a related observation that chronic overexpression of bradykinin in the kidney causes polyuria and cardiac hypertrophy. Campbell discussed the mechanisms of neprilysin and its inhibition in the treatment of heart failure and hypertension.

## **RENIN ANGIOTENSIN**

Jara et al. summarize her work on murine tonin overexpression and how by diminishing sympathetic autonomic modulation by altering angiotensin type 1 receptor responses. Wolf et al. submitted an intriguing paper in which it was observed that sensitization of the angiotensin II AT1 receptor contributes to raf kinase inhibitor protein (RKIP)-induced symptoms of heart failure. Last, Quitterer and AbdAlla presented a brief summary of their seminal work in which pathologic co-localization of G-protein coupled receptors in hetero- or homo-dimers can contribute to disease states like pre-eclampsia.

In conclusion, these 14 articles are just a small sampling of the rich science presented at KININ2018CLE. The success of the meeting was in large part from the support we had from the National Institutes of Health, Division of Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (R13HL140902), industry (Shire, CSL Behring, Alnylam, Kalvista, Enzyme Research Laboratories, Affinity Biologicals, and Diapharma) and a generous patient donor.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AS wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Schmaier, Nieman, McCrae, Karnik and Pesquero. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Neprilysin Inhibitors and Bradykinin**

#### Duncan J. Campbell<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Molecular Cardiology, St. Vincent's Institute of Medical Research, Fitzroy, VIC, Australia, <sup>2</sup> Department of Medicine, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, <sup>3</sup> St. Vincent's Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Bradykinin has important physiological actions related to the regulation of blood vessel tone and renal function, and protection from ischemia reperfusion injury. However, bradykinin also contributes to pathological states such as angioedema and inflammation. Bradykinin is metabolized by many different peptidases that play a major role in the control of bradykinin levels. Peptidase inhibitor therapies such as angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) and neprilysin inhibitors increase bradykinin levels, and the challenge for such therapies is to achieve the beneficial cardiovascular and renal effects without the adverse consequences such as angioedema that may result from increased bradykinin levels. Neprilysin also metabolizes natriuretic peptides. However, despite the potential therapeutic benefit of increased natriuretic peptide and bradykinin levels, neprilysin inhibitor therapy has only modest efficacy in essential hypertension and heart failure. Initial attempts to combine neprilysin inhibition with inhibition of the renin angiotensin system led to the development of omapatrilat, a drug that combines ACE and neprilysin inhibition. However, omapatrilat produced an unacceptably high incidence of angioedema in patients with hypertension (2.17%) in comparison with the ACE inhibitor enalapril (0.68%), although angioedema incidence was less in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) treated with omapatrilat (0.8%), and not different from that for enalapril therapy (0.5%). More recently, LCZ696, a drug that combines angiotensin receptor blockade and neprilysin inhibition, was approved for the treatment of HFrEF. The approval of LCZ696 therapy for HFrEF represents the first approval of long-term neprilysin inhibitor administration. While angioedema incidence was acceptably low in HFrEF patients receiving LCZ696 therapy (0.45%), it remains to be seen whether LCZ696 therapy for other conditions such as hypertension is also accompanied by an acceptable incidence of angioedema.

## Keywords: neprilysin, bradykinin, neprilysin inhibition, angioedema, ARNI

## INTRODUCTION

Despite decreasing incidence, cardiovascular disease remains a major cause of premature morbidity and mortality (1), and there is a continuing search for new therapies for its prevention and treatment. LCZ696 (Entresto) is the first of a new drug class referred to as ARNI (dual acting angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor) that contains equimolar amounts of valsartan, a type 1 angiotensin II receptor blocker (ARB) and sacubitril, a prodrug that is hydrolyzed to form LBQ657, a potent inhibitor of neprilysin (**Table 1**). The approval of LCZ696 as therapy for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) represents the first approval of long-term neprilysin inhibitor therapy. Neprilysin is a key enzyme in the degradation of natriuretic peptides, and the primary rationale for neprilysin inhibitor therapy in cardiovascular disease was to increase endogenous

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Alvin H. Schmaier, Case Western Reserve University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Francois Alhenc-Gelas, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France Coen Maas, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands Nancy J. Brown, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Duncan J. Campbell dcampbell@svi.edu.au

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 18 July 2018 Accepted: 29 August 2018 Published: 19 September 2018

#### Citation:

Campbell DJ (2018) Neprilysin Inhibitors and Bradykinin. Front. Med. 5:257. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00257

7

natriuretic peptide levels, and thereby achieve the vasodilatation and natriuresis these peptides produce. However, neprilysin degrades many other peptides, including bradykinin (17). Bradykinin may contribute not only to the benefits of neprilysin inhibitor therapy but also to the adverse effects of this therapy. Of particular concern for drugs that inhibit bradykinin degradation and thereby increase bradykinin levels is the risk of angioedema, with increased bradykinin levels implicated in both hereditary and drug-induced forms of angioedema (18–21). This review will briefly describe neprilysin, the kallikrein kinin system, and the role of neprilysin in bradykinin metabolism, and then discuss the potential role of kinins in mediating the therapeutic benefits and adverse effects of neprilysin inhibitor therapy.

#### **NEPRILYSIN**

Neprilysin, also known as neutral endopeptidase 24.11, common acute lymphoblastic leukemia antigen (CALLA), and cluster of differentiation cell surface molecule 10 (CD10), is a member of the neprilysin (M13) family of metallopeptidases. The neprilysin family also includes the neprilysin homolog membrane metalloendopeptidase-like 1 (NEP2) (22), endothelin converting enzymes 1 and 2 (ECE-1 and ECE-2), endothelin converting enzyme-like 1 (ECEL1), phosphate-regulating neutral endopeptidase (PHEX), and the KELL blood group glycoprotein (23, 24). Neprilysin and several other members of the neprilysin family of metallopeptidases degrade bradykinin (Table 2, Figure 1). Neprilysin is a predominantly membranebound zinc-dependent metallopeptidase with a broad tissue distribution, including the central nervous system, kidney, and vascular endothelium (39). Neprilysin is expressed at a low level on the membrane of mononuclear cells, and at higher levels by neutrophils, lymphocytes, and lymphoid progenitors (40, 41). A soluble form of neprilysin is found in blood plasma, cerebrospinal fluid, amniotic fluid, and seminal plasma. Neprilysin has a broad substrate selectivity (17), preferentially cleaving peptides on the amino side of the hydrophobic residues phenylalanine, leucine, and methionine (39, 42, 43).

### THE KALLIKREIN KININ SYSTEM

The kallikrein kinin system has been reviewed elsewhere (44-46). In humans, plasma kallikrein forms the nonapeptide bradykinin from high molecular weight kininogen, whereas tissue kallikrein forms the decapeptide kallidin (Lys<sup>0</sup>-bradykinin) from both high and low molecular weight kininogens (**Figure 2**). Bradykinin is also generated by aminopeptidase-mediated cleavage of kallidin. A proportion of high molecular weight kininogen is hydroxylated on the third proline of the bradykinin sequence, leading to the formation of both hydroxylated and non-hydroxylated kinin peptides are of similar abundance (48–50), and hydroxylated kinins have similar biological activity to non-hydroxylated kinins (46). In the rat, both plasma and tissue kallikrein produce bradykinin, which is not hydroxylated (47).

There are two types of kinin receptor, the type 1 (B<sub>1</sub>) receptor and the type 2 (B<sub>2</sub>) receptor. The B<sub>2</sub> receptor normally predominates, whereas B<sub>1</sub> receptors are induced by tissue injury. Bradykinin and kallidin are more potent on the B<sub>2</sub> receptor, whereas the carboxypeptidase N (kininase I) metabolites bradykinin-(1-8) and Lys<sup>0</sup>-bradykinin-(1-8) are also bioactive and more potent on B<sub>1</sub> receptors (46). Kinin peptides have a broad spectrum of activities that include the regulation of blood vessel tone and renal function, and protection from ischemia reperfusion injury (45). However, kinins also participate in inflammation, producing vasodilatation, increased vascular permeability, neutrophil chemotaxis and pain (45).

#### **Tissue Specific Regulation of Kinin Levels**

The kallikrein kinin system is primarily a tissue-based system, with tissue kinin levels much higher than blood kinin levels in both humans and in rats (47–49). Evidence for the tissue-specific regulation of the kallikrein kinin system is the marked variation in kinin levels between different tissues of the rat (47). Kinin peptide levels are also higher in atrial tissue than blood of humans (48, 49). Moreover, bradykinin peptide levels are higher than kallidin peptide levels in blood and atrial tissue of humans, whereas kallidin peptide levels are much higher than bradykinin peptide levels in urine (48, 49). Many different enzymes cleave bradykinin and may participate in its metabolism (**Figure 1**), and peptidase activity plays a major role in the tissue-specific regulation of bradykinin levels (51).

#### ROLE OF NEPRILYSIN IN BRADYKININ METABOLISM

Several different experimental approaches have been used to study the role of neprilysin in bradykinin metabolism. These include study of the effects of neprilysin gene (MME) deletion and mutation, study of the effects of neprilysin inhibitor administration on physiological bradykinin levels, and study of the metabolism of exogenous (supra-physiological) bradykinin levels and the effect of neprilysin and other peptidase inhibitors on the metabolism of exogenous bradykinin. The effect of inhibition of an enzyme on bradykinin levels depends not only on the specific enzyme's contribution to bradykinin metabolism, relative to other enzymes, but also the baseline degradation rate for bradykinin. This is best illustrated by bradykinin metabolism by the pulmonary circulation, where bradykinin is degraded with approximately 99% efficiency (51). Thus, 1% inhibition of pulmonary inactivation will double the amount of bradykinin surviving pulmonary degradation, and may therefore double the level of bradykinin in arterial blood (Figure 3).

### Neprilysin Gene Knockout in Mice

Neprilysin gene knockout in mice causes increased basal vascular permeability, hypotension and reduced heart weight/body weight ratio (52). The reduced heart weight/body weight ratio was attributed to the lower blood pressure. The vascular permeability, but not hypotension, was reversed by administration of recombinant neprilysin, and also by separate administration of SR140333, a substance P

#### **TABLE 1** | Specificity of neprilysin inhibitors ( $K_i$ or IC<sub>50</sub>).

Inhibitor (units for $K_i$ or $IC_{50}$ )	Neprilysin	NEP2	ACE	ECE-1	ECE-2	APP	References
Thiorphan (nmol/L)	4, 4.7	120, 129, 250	150	No	>10 µmol/L#	>100 µmol/L	(2–6)
Phosphoramidon (nmol/L)	1.5, 2	0.8, 1.0	2	680*, 675*	1.2#, 4#	$>10 \ \mu mol/L$	(2, 3, 5–9)
Candoxatrilat (nmol/L)	3.2, 9.5	44	$>10 \ \mu mol/L$	6.5 <sup>†</sup>		$>10 \ \mu mol/L$	(10, 11)
Omapatrilat (nmol/L)	0.45, ~2, 3, 5–8	8, 17, 25	0.64, 0.98, 5	10 $\mu$ mol/L <sup>†</sup>		194, 250, 260	(3, 10–13)
LBQ657 (nmol/L)	2.3, 5	Yes	Yes, $>10 \ \mu mol/L$	No	Yes	No	(14–16)

Inhibitor concentrations are shown as nmol/L, except where indicated to be μmol/L. \*pH: 7.2; <sup>†</sup>pH 6.5; <sup>#</sup>pH 5.5. ACE, angiotensin converting enzyme; APP, aminopeptidase P; ECE-1, endothelin converting enzyme 1; ECE-2, endothelin converting enzyme 2; NEP2, neprilysin homolog membrane metalloendopeptidase-like 1.

TABLE 2   Kinetic parameters of br	adykinin hydrolysis by different enzymes.
------------------------------------	---

Enzyme	<i>K</i> <sub>m</sub> (μmol/L)	$k_{\rm cat}$ (min <sup>-1</sup> )	$k_{\rm cat}/K_{\rm m}$ (min <sup>-1</sup> $\mu$ mol/L <sup>-1</sup> )	References
ACE (kininase II)	0.18, 1	500, 600	500, 3667	(25, 26)
Neprilysin (neutral endopeptidase 24.11)	34, 92, 120	1500, 4771, 6364	40, 44, 69	(3, 26, 27)
NEP2	2	150	75	(3)
Aminopeptidase P	21, 76, 280	720, 1560, 2280	8, 21, 34,	(5, 28, 29)
Carboxypeptidase N (kininase I)	19	58	3	(30)
Carboxypeptidase M	16	147	9.2	(31)
Neutral endopeptidase 24.15	4.9	89	18	(32)
Endothelin converting enzyme-1*	340	1380	4.1	(33)
Endothelin converting enzyme-2 <sup>†</sup>	27.4	348	12.7	(34)

ACE, angiotensin converting enzyme; NEP2, neprilysin homolog membrane metalloendopeptidase-like 1. \*pH 6.5; <sup>†</sup>pH 5.5.



(NK1) receptor antagonist, and the bradykinin  $B_2$  receptor antagonist icatibant. The increased basal vascular permeability of neprilysin gene knock out was reproduced by administration of the neprilysin inhibitors thiorphan and phosphoramidon (**Table 1**) to wild-type C57BL/6 mice. These observations indicate an important role for neprilysin in the control of bradykinin- and substance P-mediated regulation of vascular permeability and blood pressure in the mouse. Bradykinin stimulates substance P release from sensory neurons (53), and neprilysin degrades both peptides (54), thereby providing an explanation why neprilysin gene knockout or neprilysin inhibition could increase both bradykinin and substance P levels, and why either a substance P receptor or bradykinin B<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist was able to prevent the increased vascular permeability.

Other consequences of neprilysin gene knockout in the mouse include hyperalgesia and increased susceptibility to inflammation (55, 56), enhanced lethality in response to endotoxin-induced shock (57), shortened ventilatory expiratory time in response to a hypoxic stimulus (58), and improved learning and memory (59). However, apart from hyperalgesia, which was reduced by icatibant (55), the relevance of these consequences of neprilysin gene knockout to bradykinin is unknown.

## Neprilysin Gene Deletion and Neprilysin Gene Mutation in Humans

In contrast to the effects of neprilysin gene knockout in the mouse, five women with total neprilysin deficiency due to homozygous truncating mutations of the neprilysin gene had no reported phenotype, although the absence of neprilysin induced an alloimmunization process against neprilysin present in fetal cells, leading to membranous glomerulopathy in their infants (60).

Loss-of-function and missense mutations in the neprilysin gene are associated with polyneuropathy, and also with decreased tissue availability of neprilysin and reduced neprilysin enzymatic activity (61–63), although the relevance of the polyneuropathy to bradykinin is unknown. However, the association of the rs989692 variant of the neprilysin gene with ACE inhibitor-associated



tissue kallikrein cleaves both high and low molecular weight kininogens to produce kallidin (Lys<sup>0</sup>-bradykinin). Bradykinin can also be generated by aminopeptidase-mediated cleavage of kallidin. A proportion of high molecular weight kininogen is hydroxylated on the third proline (Hyp<sup>3</sup>) of the bradykinin sequence, leading to the formation of both hydroxylated and non-hydroxylated bradykinin and kallidin peptides. In the rat, both plasma and tissue kallikrein produce bradykinin, which is not hydroxylated (44–47).



blood.

angioedema (64) is evidence for a role for neprilysin in the regulation of bradykinin levels in humans.

# Effect of Neprilysin Inhibition on Physiological Bradykinin Levels

We examined the effect of the neprilysin inhibitor ecadotril (acetorphan, an orally active prodrug of (S)-thiorphan) on bradykinin levels in Sprague Dawley rats (65). Ecadotril administration produced dose-related occupancy of renal neprilysin, as determined by binding of the neprilysin radioligand <sup>125</sup>I-RB104 to kidney sections, and increased total neprilysin levels in plasma, similar to the induction of plasma ACE levels by ACE inhibitor therapy (66, 67). Ecadotril administration produced diuresis, natriuresis and increased urinary excretion of cyclic GMP and bradykinin, indicating a role for neprilysin in bradykinin degradation in renal tubules and/or in urine. However, ecadotril administration did not increase bradykinin levels in blood or renal tissue, although the ACE inhibitor

perindopril increased bradykinin levels in both blood and kidney. Ecadotril did, however, increase cardiac bradykinin levels by approximately 2-fold; although the increase in cardiac bradykinin levels did not achieve statistical significance, ecadotril produced a statistically significant reduction in the bradykinin-(1-7)/bradykinin-(1-9) ratio in the heart, consistent with reduced formation of bradykinin-(1-7) by neprilysin-mediated cleavage of bradykinin (**Figure 1**), and indicating a role for neprilysin in bradykinin metabolism in the heart.

Neprilysin inhibition also increased urinary bradykinin excretion in deoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA)-salt hypertensive rats, spontaneously hypertensive rats and renovascular hypertensive rats (68). Together, these studies indicate a role for neprilysin in bradykinin metabolism in renal tubules and/or urine, and also in the heart.

## Role of Neprilysin in the Metabolism of Supra-Physiological Bradykinin Levels

There is need for caution in the interpretation of studies of the degradation of exogenously administered bradykinin where bradykinin levels may be considerably higher than physiological levels. An enzyme's contribution to bradykinin degradation, and the effect of inhibition of that enzyme on bradykinin degradation, depends not only on the concentration of the enzyme but also on the bradykinin concentration and the  $K_m$  (Michaelis constant) of the enzyme for bradykinin degradation (**Figure 4**). Thus, depending on an enzyme's abundance and  $k_{cat}$  (turnover number), an enzyme with a low  $K_m$ , such as angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) (**Table 2**), may have a predominant role in bradykinin metabolism when bradykinin levels are low, whereas an enzyme with a higher  $K_m$ , such as carboxypeptidase M or N, may play a more dominant role when bradykinin levels are high (35).

Two approaches have been used to investigate the metabolism of exogenously administered bradykinin, either examination of the metabolites of bradykinin, or comparison of the effects of different peptidase inhibitors on bradykinin metabolism. Bradykinin-(1-5) was the predominant bradykinin metabolite when bradykinin was infused into human subjects (69), indicative of cleavage by ACE. Moreover, ACE played a predominant role in bradykinin metabolism by human and rat plasma and serum (35, 70-75), with a lesser contribution by carboxypeptidase (kininase I) and aminopeptidase activities. However, carboxypeptidase, a peptidase with higher  $K_m$  than ACE (Table 2) played a greater role than ACE in bradykinin metabolism when human or rat serum was incubated with  $\geq \mu$  mol/L bradykinin concentrations (76, 77), thereby illustrating how higher bradykinin concentrations can lead to a greater contribution by an enzyme with higher K<sub>m</sub> to bradykinin metabolism (35).

Another example where a higher concentration of bradykinin led to a greater contribution to bradykinin metabolism by a peptidase with higher  $K_{\rm m}$  is the study of bradykinin metabolism by the isolated perfused rat mesenteric arterial bed (78). When bradykinin metabolism was assessed by recovery of bradykinin in the perfusate after injection of ~100



**FIGURE 4** | Relative contributions of low  $K_m$  (Michaelis constant) enzyme and high  $K_m$  enzyme to bradykinin degradation by a mixture of low and high  $K_m$ enzymes. An enzyme's contribution to bradykinin degradation, and the effect of inhibition of that enzyme on bradykinin degradation, depends not only on the concentration of the enzyme but also on the bradykinin concentration and the  $K_m$  of the enzyme for bradykinin degradation. Thus, depending on an enzyme's abundance and  $k_{cat}$  (turnover number), an enzyme with a low  $K_m$ , such as ACE, may have a predominant role in bradykinin metabolism when bradykinin levels are low, whereas an enzyme with a higher  $K_m$ , such as carboxypeptidase M or N, may play a more dominant role when bradykinin levels are high. Based on data reported by Kuoppala et al. (35).

nmol bradykinin, carboxypeptidase inhibition, and to a lesser extent neprilysin inhibition, but not ACE inhibition, reduced bradykinin metabolism (78). These findings were supported by the greater role played by carboxypeptidase B than ACE in the degradation of  $\mu$ mol/L concentrations of bradykinin by mesenteric arterial perfusate (79). However, the opposite result was obtained when bradykinin metabolism was assessed by the vasodilator response of the isolated perfused rat mesenteric arterial bed to ~100 pmol bradykinin, whereby the vasodilator response was potentiated by ACE inhibition, but not by either carboxypeptidase or neprilysin inhibition (78).

ACE played a greater role than neprilysin in bradykinin metabolism by isolated human small resistance vessels (80). Additionally, ACE played a dominant role, with a lesser role for aminopeptidase P, carboxypeptidase, and neprilysin, in bradykinin metabolism by the rat pulmonary vascular bed (10, 51, 77, 81), the isolated perfused rat heart (82–86), and isolated porcine coronary arteries (87), and was the predominant kininase in coronary perfusate, with a lesser role for neprilysin and carboxypeptidase (79). ACE was also the dominant peptidase contributing to bradykinin metabolism by the isolated perfused rat kidney, without evidence for contribution by neprilysin, carboxypeptidase, or aminopeptidase P (88).

A key limitation of the studies of the role of neprilysin in bradykinin metabolism so far described is the failure to address how different peptidases may make different contributions to bradykinin metabolism in different tissue compartments. In support of a tissue compartment-specific role for neprilysin in bradykinin metabolism, studies of lung, cardiac and renal bush border membranes, and urine, demonstrated a contribution by neprilysin that was equal to (89), or greater than (89–91), the contribution of ACE. Further evidence for a tissue compartmentspecific role for neprilysin in bradykinin degradation was the metabolism of a bolus of <sup>3</sup>H-bradykinin by the isolated perfused rat heart, which showed a delayed release of <sup>3</sup>H-bradykinin-(1-7) into the perfusate, consistent with <sup>3</sup>H-bradykinin-(1-7) formation in the interstitial compartment of the heart by neprilysin-mediated cleavage of <sup>3</sup>H-bradykinin (84).

## ROLE OF KININS IN MEDIATING THE EFFECTS OF NEPRILYSIN INHIBITION

Many studies have used either bradykinin receptor antagonists, anti-bradykinin antibodies, or serine protease (kallikrein) inhibitors to demonstrate a role for bradykinin in mediating the effects of neprilysin inhibitors. Two different mechanisms may account for the potentiation of bradykinin receptormediated actions by neprilvsin inhibitors (Figure 5). Firstly, neprilysin inhibitors may potentiate bradykinin receptormediated actions by inhibiting bradykinin degradation and increasing bradykinin levels in the vicinity of the receptor. Secondly, neprilysin inhibitors may potentiate bradykinin receptor-mediated actions by promoting cross-talk between the neprilysin-inhibitor complex and the bradykinin receptor (92), similar to the cross-talk between the ACE-inhibitor complex and the B<sub>2</sub> receptor proposed to mediate ACE inhibitor-induced potentiation of bradykinin receptor-mediated effects (93). Bradykinin receptor antagonists, anti-bradykinin antibodies,

and kallikrein inhibitors have different effects on these two mechanisms of neprilysin inhibitor-induced potentiation of bradykinin receptor-mediated actions. A bradykinin receptor antagonist that occupies the bradykinin receptor can prevent both mechanisms of neprilysin inhibitor-induced potentiation of bradykinin receptor-mediated actions. However, bradykinin antibodies that prevent bradykinin binding to its receptor by sequestering bradykinin, and kallikrein inhibitors that prevent bradykinin binding to its receptor by preventing its formation, do not impact on cross-talk between the neprilysin-inhibitor complex and the bradykinin receptor. Therefore, prevention of the effects of neprilysin inhibition by bradykinin antibodies or kallikrein inhibitors indicates that these effects are mediated by increased bradykinin levels consequent to inhibition of neprilysin-mediated bradykinin degradation, and not by crosstalk between the neprilysin-inhibitor complex and the bradykinin receptor.

## Role of Kinins in Mediating the Renal Effects of Neprilysin Inhibition

Icatibant prevented the diuretic and natriuretic effects of neprilysin inhibition in normal Sprague Dawley rats (94–96). Bradykinin receptor antagonism also prevented the neprilysin inhibitor-induced potentiation of atrial natriuretic peptideinduced diuresis and natriuresis in rats (97) and in chronic caval dogs (98). Moreover, anti-bradykinin antibodies prevented neprilysin inhibitor-induced potentiation of diuresis, natriuresis



increase bradykinin receptor occupancy by inhibiting bradykinin degradation and increasing bradykinin levels in the vicinity of the receptor. Secondly, neprilysin inhibitors may promote cross-talk between the neprilysin-inhibitor complex and the bradykinin receptor. Bradykinin receptor antagonists, anti-bradykinin antibodies, and kallikrein inhibitors have different effects on these two mechanisms of neprilysin inhibitor-induced potentiation of bradykinin receptor-mediated actions. A bradykinin receptor antagonist that occupies the bradykinin receptor can prevent both mechanisms of neprilysin inhibitor-induced potentiation of bradykinin, and kallikrein inhibitors that prevent bradykinin antibodies that prevent bradykinin binding to its receptor by sequestering bradykinin, and kallikrein inhibitors that prevent bradykinin binding to its receptor by preventing its formation, do not impact on cross-talk between the neprilysin-inhibitor complex and the bradykinin receptor.

and increase in urinary cyclic GMP excretion in volumeexpanded rats (99). However, in contrast to studies in normal Sprague Dawley rats, icatibant did not prevent the natriuretic effects of neprilysin inhibition in DOCA-salt hypertensive rats (96, 100), which suggests that the effects of neprilysin inhibition in DOCA-salt hypertensive rats are primarily mediated by increased natriuretic peptide levels consequent to inhibition of natriuretic peptide metabolism.

## Role of Kinins in Mediating the Cardiac Effects of Neprilysin Inhibition

Icatibant prevented neprilysin inhibitor-induced reduction in ischemia-reperfusion injury in the rat heart (101), and neprilysin inhibitor-induced potentiation of pre-conditioninginduced reduction in infarct size in the rabbit heart (102). In addition, icatibant prevented neprilysin inhibitor-induced reversal of isoproterenol-induced myocardial hypoperfusion in the rat (103), and neprilysin inhibitor-induced nitric oxide production by isolated canine coronary microvessels (104). Neprilysin inhibitor-induced nitric oxide production by isolated canine coronary microvessels was also prevented by the serine protease (kallikrein) inhibitor dichloroisocoumarin (104).

### **OMAPATRILAT AND BRADYKININ**

Despite the potential therapeutic benefits of increased natriuretic peptide and bradykinin levels, neprilysin inhibitor therapy has only modest efficacy in essential hypertension and heart failure, which might be due in part to the inhibition of neprilysin metabolism of the vasoconstrictors angiotensin II and endothelin 1, and the increased plasma angiotensin II, endothelin 1 and noradrenaline levels that accompany neprilysin inhibitor therapy (17). Therefore, to prevent the renin angiotensin system from countering the therapeutic benefits of neprilysin inhibition, neprilysin inhibitor therapy was combined with inhibition of the renin angiotensin system, leading to the development of omapatrilat. Omapatrilat is a single molecule that inhibits both neprilysin and ACE (**Table 1**). Additionally, omapatrilat inhibits aminopeptidase P, NEP2, and ECE-1 (**Table 1**). There is currently no information on the effects of omapatrilat on bradykinin levels. However, given that both neprilysin and ACE degrade bradykinin, one would predict higher bradykinin levels with omapatrilat than ACE inhibitor therapy, which no doubt accounts for the higher incidence of angioedema with omapatrilat therapy. The incidence of angioedema was higher for omapatrilat therapy (2.17%) than for enalapril therapy (0.68%) in hypertensive patients (105), and omapatrilat failed to achieve regulatory approval because of the angioedema incidence. However, the incidence of angioedema was lower in patients with HFrEF, without statistically significant difference between omapatrilat therapy (0.8%) and enalapril therapy (0.5%) (106).

The potential consequences of combined neprilysin and ACE inhibition were examined in the rat tracheal plasma extravasation assay (**Table 3**). Whereas neither ecadotril, sufficient to produce >90% inhibition of renal neprilysin, nor lisinopril, sufficient to produce 83% inhibition of lung ACE, produced plasma extravasation, their combination produced plasma extravasation, suggesting that their combination increased bradykinin (and substance P) levels sufficient to cause extravasation. It is also possible that omapatrilat-induced inhibition of aminopeptidase P, NEP2, and ECE-1 (**Table 1**) contributed to increased bradykinin (and substance P) levels and the plasma extravasation observed in rats, and angioedema in patients administered this therapy.

### LCZ696 AND BRADYKININ

There is currently no information on the effects of LCZ696, sacubitril or LBQ657 on bradykinin levels. However, several lines of evidence indicate a role for bradykinin in the therapeutic benefits of LCZ696 therapy, and also the angioedema associated with this therapy. Whereas ARBs produce angioedema with an incidence approximately half that of ACE inhibitor therapy

**TABLE 3** | Effects of combined renin angiotensin system and neprilysin inhibition on tracheal plasma extravasation in the rat.

Compound	Tracheal plasma extravasation	APP inhibition K <sub>i</sub> or IC <sub>50</sub> (nmol/L)	References
ACE AND NEPRILYSIN INHIBITION			
Ecadotril (99% neprilysin & 23% ACE inhibition)	No	No	(5, 107)
Lisinopril (83% ACE inhibition)	No	No	(10, 11, 107, 108
Ecadotril & Lisinopril	Yes	No	(5, 107)
Omapatrilat (>90% ACE & 53% neprilysin inhibition)	Yes	194, 250, 260	(10, 11, 13)
ARB AND NEPRILYSIN INHIBITION			
Valsartan (100 mg/kg)	No	No	(11)
Candoxatril (100 mg/kg)	No	No	(11)
Valsartan & candoxatril	No	No	(11)
Omapatrilat (0.3 mg/kg)	Yes*	194, 250, 260	(10, 11, 13)

\*Plasma extravasation caused by omapatrilat was prevented by prior icatibant administration (11). ACE, angiotensin converting enzyme; APP, aminopeptidase P; ARB, type 1 angiotensin Il receptor blocker.

in patients without heart failure (109, 110), LCZ696 produces angioedema with an incidence at least equal to that of ACE inhibitor therapy (111). In the Prospective comparison of Angiotensin Receptor-neprilvsin inhibitor with Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor to Determine Impact on Global Mortality and morbidity in Heart Failure (PARADIGM-HF) study of patients with HFrEF, angioedema was confirmed in 0.45% of patients receiving LCZ696 therapy and 0.24% of patients receiving enalapril therapy (111), a numerical difference that was not statistically significant (P = 0.13). However, the protocol of the PARADIGM-HF study might have resulted in a lower incidence of angioedema in the trial population than might occur in patients naive to LCZ696 therapy. The exclusion criteria for the PARADIGM-HF study included a history of angioedema during treatment with an ACE inhibitor or ARB, and 78 and 22% of participants, respectively, were previously treated with an ACE inhibitor or ARB. Additionally, the study involved a run-in period before randomization during which participants received at least 2 weeks of enalapril therapy, followed by 4-6 weeks of LCZ696 therapy.

#### **ARBs Increase Bradykinin Levels**

Losartan increases bradykinin levels approximately 2-fold in arterial blood of patients with hypertension (50), similar to the increase seen with ACE inhibition (112, 113). Eprosartan produced a similar increase in bradykinin levels in the same patients, although the increase did not achieve statistical

significance (50). By contrast, neither losartan nor valsartan increased bradykinin levels in rats (114, 115). There are conflicting data on the role of bradykinin in mediating the effects of ARBs. Both animal and human studies implicate kinin peptides and/or the B2 receptor in the actions of ARBs, possibly mediated by AT<sub>2</sub> receptor stimulation by the increased angiotensin II levels that accompany ARB therapy (116-124). However, in contrast to the attenuation of the hypotensive effects of ACE inhibition by concomitant icatibant administration (100 µg/kg/h iv for 1 h) in sodium-deplete normotensive and hypertensive subjects (125), and at a higher dose (10 mg infused iv over 15 min) in sodium replete normotensive subjects (126), a lower dose of icatibant (18 µg/kg/h iv for 6 h) did not attenuate the hypotensive effects of either acute or chronic administration of valsartan in sodium-deplete normotensive and hypertensive subjects (127).

# LBQ657 Inhibits not Only Neprilysin but Also ACE, NEP2, and ECE-2

In contrast to the plasma transudation seen with combined neprilysin and ACE inhibition in the rat tracheal plasma transudation model (**Table 3**), no transudation occurred when candoxatril was combined with valsartan (11), suggesting that combined neprilysin inhibitor and ARB therapy may cause less increase in bradykinin levels than combined neprilysin and ACE inhibition. However, LBQ657 may inhibit enzymes other than neprilysin that degrade bradykinin (**Table 1**). Ksander



FIGURE 6 | Potential mechanisms by which LCZ696 may potentiate bradykinin receptor-mediated actions. Valsartan may increase bradykinin levels, and LBQ657 may also increase bradykinin levels by inhibiting bradykinin degradation by neprilysin, and possibly angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) and neprilysin homolog membrane metalloendopeptidase-like 1 (NEP2). In addition, LBQ657 may potentiate bradykinin receptor-mediated actions by cross-talk between the LBQ657-inhibitor complex and the bradykinin receptor.

et al. reported that 10 µmol/L LBQ657 produced <50% inhibition of ACE (14). Moreover, based on information provided by Novartis Europharm Ltd, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP) of the European Medicines Agency reports that LBQ657 inhibits not only ACE but also NEP2 and ECE-2 (15). It is notable that peak LBQ657 concentrations approximated 37 µmol/L in healthy subjects following 400 mg/day LCZ696, and trough concentrations of LBQ657 (24h post 400 mg LCZ696) were 4.8 µmol/L. The trough LBQ657 concentration (4.8 µmol/L) is  $\sim$ 2,000 times the K<sub>i</sub> of 2.3 nmol/L for neprilvsin inhibition by LBQ657 (16), and the peak LBQ657 concentration is correspondingly higher. Thus, recommended doses of LCZ696 (400 mg/day) may produce LBQ657 concentrations sufficient to inhibit ACE and contribute to increased bradykinin levels, given that, as discussed earlier, as little as 1% inhibition of pulmonary inactivation of bradykinin can double bradykinin levels (Figure 3). Furthermore, NEP2 has a much lower  $K_{\rm m}$  for bradykinin than NEP (Table 2) and NEP2 inhibition by LBQ657 may also increase bradykinin levels. LBQ657-mediated inhibition of ECE-2 is unlikely to contribute to increased bradykinin levels because ECE-2 is relatively inactive at physiological pH (7, 34).

LCZ696 therapy may therefore potentiate bradykininmediated actions by several mechanisms (**Figure 6**). These include the increase in bradykinin levels with ARB therapy (50), the increase in bradykinin levels consequent to LBQ657mediated inhibition of neprilysin and possibly ACE and NEP2, and cross-talk between the neprilysin-LBQ657 complex and the bradykinin receptor. Bradykinin-mediated actions will likely contribute to not only the renal and cardioprotective effects but also the angioedema associated with LCZ696 therapy. Given that heart failure is associated with suppression of the kallikrein kinin system (48, 128), and resistance to kinin-mediated cutaneous transudation (129), there is concern that LCZ696 therapy for

#### REFERENCES

- Benjamin EJ, Virani SS, Callaway CW, Chamberlain AM, Chang AR, Cheng S, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics-2018 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* (2018) 137:e67–492. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000558
- Voisin S, Rognan D, Gros C, Ouimet T. A three-dimensional model of the neprilysin 2 active site based on the X-ray structure of neprilysin. Identification of residues involved in substrate hydrolysis and inhibitor binding of neprilysin 2. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:46172–81. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M407333200
- Rose C, Voisin S, Gros C, Schwartz JC, Ouimet T. Cell-specific activity of neprilysin 2 isoforms and enzymic specificity compared with neprilysin. *Biochem J.* (2002) 363:697–705. doi: 10.1042/bj3630697
- 4. Hoang MV, Turner AJ. Novel activity of endothelin-converting enzyme: hydrolysis of bradykinin. *Biochem J.* (1997) 327:23–6.
- Simmons WH, Orawski AT. Membrane-bound aminopeptidase P from bovine lung. Its purification, properties, and degradation of bradykinin. *J Biol Chem.* (1992) 267:4897–903.
- Ouimet T, Orng SV, Poras H, Gagnidze K, Devi LA, Fournie-Zaluski MC, et al. Identification of an endothelin-converting enzyme-2-specific fluorigenic substrate and development of an *in vitro* and *ex vivo* enzymatic assay. *J Biol Chem.* (2010) 285:34390–400. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.120576

conditions such as hypertension may be associated with a higher angioedema incidence than observed in patients with HFrEF.

#### **SUMMARY**

Tissue levels of bradykinin are higher than circulating levels and the contribution of neprilysin to bradykinin degradation is specific to the tissue and the tissue compartment. Bradykinin is a likely contributor to the therapeutic benefits of neprilysin inhibitor therapy, particularly the renal and cardioprotective effects. However, bradykinin is also an important contributor to angioedema that may result from peptidase inhibitor therapy, including neprilysin inhibitor therapy, particularly when neprilysin inhibition is combined with ACE inhibitor therapy. LBQ657 inhibits not only neprilysin but also ACE, NEP2, and ECE-2. Although angioedema incidence was acceptable, and similar for LCZ696 and enalapril therapy in HFrEF patients, it remains to be seen whether LCZ696 therapy for other conditions such as hypertension is also accompanied by an acceptable incidence of angioedema.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

### FUNDING

This work was funded in part by the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (GNT0395508, GNT156723, GNT960229), and the National Heart Foundation of Australia (CR 02M 0829). St Vincent's Institute of Medical Research is supported in part by the Victorian Government's Operational Infrastructure Support Program.

- Emoto N, Yanagisawa M. Endothelin-converting enzyme-2 is a membranebound, phosphoramidon-sensitive metalloprotease with acidic pH optimum. *J Biol Chem.* (1995) 270:15262–8.
- Fahnoe DC, Knapp J, Johnson GD, Ahn K. Inhibitor potencies and substrate preference for endothelin-converting enzyme-1 are dramatically affected by pH. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. (2000) 36:S22–5. doi: 10.1097/00005344-200036051-00009
- Ahn K, Herman SB, Fahnoe DC. Soluble human endothelin-converting enzyme-1: expression, purification, and demonstration of pronounced pH sensitivity. Arch Biochem Biophys. (1998) 359:258–68.
- Fryer RM, Segreti J, Banfor PN, Widomski DL, Backes BJ, Lin CW, et al. Effect of bradykinin metabolism inhibitors on evoked hypotension in rats: rank efficacy of enzymes associated with bradykinin-mediated angioedema. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2008) 153:947–55. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707641
- Hegde LG, Yu C, Renner T, Thibodeaux H, Armstrong SR, Park T, et al. Concomitant angiotensin AT1 receptor antagonism and neprilysin inhibition produces omapatrilat-like antihypertensive effects without promoting tracheal plasma extravasation in the rat. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* (2011) 57:495–504. doi: 10.1097/FJC.0b013e318210fc7e
- Robl JA, Sun CQ, Stevenson J, Ryono DE, Simpkins LM, Cimarusti MP, et al. Dual metalloprotease inhibitors: Mercaptoacetyl-based fused heterocyclic dipeptide mimetics as inhibitors of angiotensin-converting enzyme and neutral endopeptidase. J Med Chem. (1997) 40:1570–7.

- Sulpizio AC, Pullen MA, Edwards RM, Louttit JB, West R, Brooks DP. Mechanism of vasopeptidase inhibitor-induced plasma extravasation: comparison of omapatrilat and the novel neutral endopeptidase 24.11/angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor GW796406. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. (2005) 315:1306–13. doi: 10.1124/jpet.105.0 84749
- Ksander GM, Ghai RD, DeJesus R, Diefenbacher CG, Yuan A, Berry C, et al. Dicarboxylic acid dipeptide neutral endopeptidase inhibitors. J Med Chem. (1995) 38:1689–700. doi: 10.1021/jm0001 0a014
- Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP). Assessment Report: Entresto. (2015) Available online at: http://www.ema.europa.eu/ema/ index.jsp?curl=pages/medicines/human/medicines/004062/human\_med\_ 001929.jsp&mid=WC0b01ac058001d124
- Brown PC. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. Application Number 207620Orig1s000. Pharmacology Review (2015). Available online at: https:// www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/nda/2015/207620Orig1s000TOC. cfm
- Campbell DJ. Long-term neprilysin inhibition implications for ARNIs. Nat Rev Cardiol. (2017) 14:171–86. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2016.200
- Nussberger J, Cugno M, Amstutz C, Cicardi M, Pellacani A, Agostoni A. Plasma bradykinin in angio-oedema. *Lancet* (1998) 351:1693–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(97)09137-X
- Bas M, Greve J, Stelter K, Havel M, Strassen U, Rotter N, et al. A randomized trial of icatibant in ACE-inhibitor-induced angioedema. *N Engl J Med.* (2015) 372:418–25. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1312524
- Banerji A, Busse P, Shennak M, Lumry W, Davis-Lorton M, Wedner HJ, et al. Inhibiting plasma kallikrein for hereditary angioedema prophylaxis. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:717–28. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa16 05767
- Schmaier AH. Plasma Prekallikrein: Its Role in Hereditary Angioedema and Health and Disease. *Front Med.* (2018) 5:3. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018. 00003
- Whyteside AR, Turner AJ. Human neprilysin-2 (NEP2) and NEP display distinct subcellular localisations and substrate preferences. *FEBS Lett.* (2008) 582:2382–6. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2008.05.046
- Turner AJ, Brown CD, Carson JA, Barnes K. The neprilysin family in health and disease. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2000) 477:229–40. doi: 10.1007/0-306-46826-3\_25
- Carpentier M, Guillemette C, Bailey JL, Boileau G, Jeannotte L, DesGroseillers L, et al. Reduced fertility in male mice deficient in the zinc metallopeptidase NL1. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2004) 24:4428–37. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.10.4428-4437
- 25. Jaspard E, Wei L, Alhenc-Gelas F. Differences in the properties and enzymatic specificities of the two active sites of angiotensin I-converting enzyme (kininase II). Studies with bradykinin and other natural peptides. *J Biol Chem.* (1993) 268:9496–503.
- Gafford JT, Skidgel RA, Erdos EG, Hersh LB. Human kidney "enkephalinase", a neutral metalloendopeptidase that cleaves active peptides. *Biochemistry* (1983) 22:3265–71.
- 27. Matsas R, Kenny AJ, Turner AJ. The metabolism of neuropeptides. The hydrolysis of peptides, including enkephalins, tachykinins and their analogues, by endopeptidase-24.11. *Biochem J.* (1984) 223:433–40. doi: 10.1042/bj2230433
- Orawski AT, Simmons WH. Purification and properties of membranebound aminopeptidase P from rat lung. *Biochemistry* (1995) 34:11227–36. doi: 10.1021/bi00035a032
- 29. Harbeck HT, Mentlein R. Aminopeptidase P from rat brain. Purification and action on bioactive peptides. *Eur J Biochem.* (1991) 198:451–8.
- Skidgel RA, Johnson AR, Erdos EG. Hydrolysis of opioid hexapeptides by carboxypeptidase N. Presence of carboxypeptidase in cell membranes. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (1984) 33:3471–8.
- 31. Skidgel RA, Davis RM, Tan F. Human carboxypeptidase M. Purification and characterization of a membrane-bound carboxypeptidase that cleaves peptide hormones. *J Biol Chem.* (1989) 264:2236–41.
- 32. Lew RA, Hey NJ, Tetaz TJ, Glucksman MJ, Roberts JL, Smith AI. Substrate specificity differences between recombinant rat testes endopeptidase EC

3.4.24.15 and the native brain enzyme. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (1995) 209:788–95.

- Johnson GD, Stevenson T, Ahn K. Hydrolysis of peptide hormones by endothelin-converting enzyme-1. A comparison with neprilysin. J Biol Chem. (1999) 274:4053–8.
- Mzhavia N, Pan H, Che FY, Fricker LD, Devi LA. Characterization of endothelin-converting enzyme-2. Implication for a role in the nonclassical processing of regulatory peptides. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:14704–11. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M211242200
- Kuoppala A, Lindstedt KA, Saarinen J, Kovanen PT, Kokkonen JO. Inactivation of bradykinin by angiotensin-converting enzyme and by carboxypeptidase N in human plasma. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2000) 278:H1069–74. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2000.278.4.H1069
- Rosenbaum C, Cardozo C, Lesser M. Degradation of lysylbradykinin by endopeptidase 24.11 and endopeptidase 24.15. *Peptides* (1995) 16:523–5.
- Orlowski M, Wilk E, Pearce S, Wilk S. Purification and properties of a prolyl endopeptidase from rabbit brain. J Neurochem. (1979) 33:461–9.
- Wilk S, Orlowski M. Degradation of bradykinin by isolated neutral endopeptidases of brain and pituitary. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (1979) 90:1–6.
- Roques BP, Noble F, Daugé V, Fournié-Zaluski M-C, Beaumont A. Neutral endopeptidase 24.11: Structure, inhibition, and experimental and clinical pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev.* (1993) 45:87–146.
- Shipp MA, Vijayaraghavan J, Schmidt EV, Masteller EL, D'Adamio L, Hersh LB, et al. Common acute lymphoblastic leukemia antigen (CALLA) is active neutral endopeptidase 24.11 ("enkephalinase"): direct evidence by cDNA transfection analysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1989) 86:297–301. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.1.297
- Tran-Paterson R, Boileau G, Giguere V, Letarte M. Comparative levels of CALLA/neutral endopeptidase on normal granulocytes, leukemic cells, and transfected COS-1 cells. *Blood* (1990) 76:775–82.
- Kenny AJ. Endopeptidase-24.11: putative substrates and possible roles. Biochem Soc Trans. (1993) 21:663–8. doi: 10.1042/bst0210663
- Shipp MA, Tarr GE, Chen C-Y, Switzer SN, Hersh LB, Stein H, et al. CD10/neutral endopeptidase 24.11 hydrolyzes bombesin-like peptides and regulates the growth of small cell carcinomas of the lung. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (1991) 88:10662–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88.23.10662
- Campbell DJ. Towards understanding the kallikrein-kinin system: insights from measurement of kinin peptides. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* (2000) 33:665–77. doi: 10.1590/S0100-879X200000600008
- Bhoola KD, Figueroa CD, Worthy K. Bioregulation of kinins: kallikreins, kininogens, and kininases. *Pharmacol Rev.* (1992) 44:1–80.
- Regoli D, Rhaleb N-E, Drapeau G, Dion S, Tousignant C, D'Orléans-Juste P, et al. Basic pharmacology of kinins: pharmacologic receptors and other mechanisms. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (1989) 247A:399–407. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-9543-4\_61
- Campbell DJ, Kladis A, Duncan A-M. Bradykinin peptides in kidney, blood, and other tissues of the rat. *Hypertension* (1993) 21:155–65. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.21.2.155
- Duncan A-M, Kladis A, Jennings GL, Dart AM, Esler M, Campbell DJ. Kinins in humans. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* (2000) 278:R897–904. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.2000.278.4.R897
- Campbell DJ, Duncan A-M, Kladis A. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition modifies angiotensin, but not kinin peptide levels in human atrial tissue. *Hypertension* (1999) 34:171–5. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.34.2.171
- Campbell DJ, Krum H, Esler MD. Losartan increases bradykinin levels in hypertensive humans. *Circulation* (2005) 111:315–20. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000153269.07762.3B
- Ryan JW, Berryer P, Chung AYK, Sheffy DH. Characterization of rat pulmonary vascular aminopeptidase P *in vivo*: role in the inactivation of bradykinin. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (1994) 269:941–7.
- Lu B, Figini M, Emanueli C, Geppetti P, Grady EF, Gerard NP, et al. The control of microvascular permeability and blood pressure by neutral endopeptidase. *Nature Med* (1997) 3:904–7.
- 53. Geppetti P. Sensory neuropeptide release by bradykinin: mechanisms and pathophysiological implications. *Regul Pept.* (1993) 47:1–23. doi: 10.1016/0167-0115(93)90268-D

- Skidgel RA, Engelbrecht S, Johnson AR, Erdos EG. Hydrolysis of substance P and neurotensin by converting enzyme and neutral endopeptidase. *Peptides* (1984) 5:769–76. doi: 10.1016/0196-9781(84)90020-2
- 55. Fischer HS, Zernig G, Hauser KF, Gerard C, Hersh LB, Saria A. Neutral endopeptidase knockout induces hyperalgesia in a model of visceral pain, an effect related to bradykinin and nitric oxide. *J Mol Neurosci.* (2002) 18:129–34. doi: 10.1385/JMN:18:1-2:129
- Kramer HH, He L, Lu B, Birklein F, Sommer C. Increased pain and neurogenic inflammation in mice deficient of neutral endopeptidase. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2009) 35:177–83. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2008.11.002
- Lu B, Gerard NP, Kolakowski LF, Jr., Bozza M, Zurakowski D, Finco O, et al. Neutral endopeptidase modulation of septic shock. J Exp Med. (1995) 181:2271–5. doi: 10.1084/jem.181.6.2271
- Grasemann H, Lu B, Jiao A, Boudreau J, Gerard NP, De Sanctis GT. Targeted deletion of the neutral endopeptidase gene alters ventilatory responses to acute hypoxia in mice. J Appl Physiol. (1999) 87:1266–71. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1999.87.4.1266
- Walther T, Albrecht D, Becker M, Schubert M, Kouznetsova E, Wiesner B, et al. Improved learning and memory in aged mice deficient in amyloid ß-degrading neutral endopeptidase. *PLoS ONE* (2009) 4:e4590. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004590
- Debiec H, Nauta J, Coulet F, van der Burg M, Guigonis V, Schurmans T, et al. Role of truncating mutations in MME gene in fetomaternal alloimmunisation and antenatal glomerulopathies. *Lancet* (2004) 364:1252– 9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17142-0
- Higuchi Y, Hashiguchi A, Yuan J, Yoshimura A, Mitsui J, Ishiura H, et al. Mutations in MME cause an autosomal-recessive Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 2. *Ann Neurol.* (2016) 79:659–72. doi: 10.1002/ana.24612
- Auer-Grumbach M, Toegel S, Schabhuttl M, Weinmann D, Chiari C, Bennett DL, et al. Rare variants in MME, encoding metalloprotease neprilysin, are linked to late-onset autosomal-dominant axonal polyneuropathies. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2016) 99:607–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2016.07.008
- 63. Depondt C, Donatello S, Rai M, Wang FC, Manto M, Simonis N, et al. MME mutation in dominant spinocerebellar ataxia with neuropathy (SCA43). *Neurol Genet.* (2016) 2:e94. doi: 10.1212/NXG.0000000000094
- 64. Pare G, Kubo M, Byrd JB, McCarty CA, Woodard-Grice A, Teo KK, et al. Genetic variants associated with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor-associated angioedema. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* (2013) 23:470–8. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0b013e328363c137
- 65. Campbell DJ, Anastasopoulos F, Duncan AM, James GM, Kladis A, Briscoe TA. Effects of neutral endopeptidase inhibition and combined angiotensin converting enzyme and neutral endopeptidase inhibition on angiotensin and bradykinin peptides in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. (1998) 287:567–77.
- 66. Boomsma F, De Bruyn JHB, Derkx FHM, Schalekamp MADH. Opposite effects of captopril on angiotensin I-converting enzyme 'activity' and 'concentration'; relation between enzyme inhibition and long-term blood pressure response. *Clin Sci* (1981) 60:491–8. doi: 10.1042/cs0600491
- Helin K, Tikkanen I, Hohenthal U, Fyhrquist F. Inhibition of either angiotensin-converting enzyme or neutral endopeptidase induces both enzymes. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (1994) 264:135–41. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999(94)00450-1
- Pham I, Gonzalez W, El Amrani A-IK, Fournié-Zaluski M-C, Philippe M, Laboulandine I, et al. Effects of converting enzyme inhibitor and neutral endopeptidase inhibitor on blood pressure and renal function in experimental hypertension. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. (1993) 265:1339–47.
- Murphey LJ, Hachey DL, Oates JA, Morrow JD, Brown NJ. Metabolism of bradykinin *in vivo* in humans: identification of BK1-5 as a stable plasma peptide metabolite. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2000) 294:263–9.
- Shima C, Majima M, Katori M. A stable metabolite, Arg-Pro-Pro-Gly-Phe, of bradykinin in the degradation pathway in human plasma. *Jpn J Pharmacol.* (1992) 60:111–9. doi: 10.1254/jjp.60.111
- Marshall P, Heudi O, McKeown S, Amour A, Abou-Shakra F. Study of bradykinin metabolism in human and rat plasma by liquid chromatography with inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry and orthogonal acceleration time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom.* (2002) 16:220–8. doi: 10.1002/rcm.565
- 72. Décarie A, Raymond P, Gervais N, Couture R, Adam A. Serum interspecies differences in metabolic pathways of bradykinin and [des-Arg<sup>9</sup>]BK:

Influence of enalaprilat. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. (1996) 271:H1340–7. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1996.271.4.H1340

- Blais C Jr, Marc-Aurele J, Simmons WH, Loute G, Thibault P, Skidgel RA, et al. Des-Arg9-bradykinin metabolism in patients who presented hypersensitivity reactions during hemodialysis: role of serum ACE and aminopeptidase P. *Peptides* (1999) 20:421–30. doi: 10.1016/S0196-9781(99)00020-0
- 74. Cyr M, Lepage Y, Blais C, Jr., Gervais N, Cugno M, Rouleau JL, et al. Bradykinin and des-Arg(9)-bradykinin metabolic pathways and kinetics of activation of human plasma. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. (2001) 281:H275–83. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2001.281.1.H275
- Dendorfer A, Wolfrum S, Wagemann M, Qadri F, Dominiak P. Pathways of bradykinin degradation in blood and plasma of normotensive and hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2001) 280:H2182–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2001.280.5.H2182
- 76. Sheikh IA, Kaplan AP. Mechanism of digestion of bradykinin and lysylbradykinin (kallidin) in human serum. Role of carboxypeptidase, angiotensin-converting enzyme and determination of final degradation products. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (1989) 38:993–1000. doi: 10.1016/0006-2952(89)90290-6
- Pesquero JB, Jubilut GN, Lindsey CJ, Paiva ACM. Bradykinin metabolism pathway in the rat pulmonary circulation. J Hypertens. (1992) 10:1471–8.
- Sivieri DO, Jr., Bispo-da-Silva LB, Oliveira EB, Resende AC, Salgado MC. Potentiation of bradykinin effect by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition does not correlate with angiotensin-converting enzyme activity in the rat mesenteric arteries. *Hypertension* (2007) 50:110–5. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.106.085761
- Oliveira EB, Souza LL, Sivieri DO Jr, Bispo-da-Silva LB, Pereira HJ, Costa-Neto CM, et al. Carboxypeptidase B and other kininases of the rat coronary and mesenteric arterial bed perfusates. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2007) 293:H3550–7. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00784.2007
- Dalzell JR, Seed A, Berry C, Whelan CJ, Petrie MC, Padmanabhan N, et al. Effects of neutral endopeptidase (neprilysin) inhibition on the response to other vasoactive peptides in small human resistance arteries: studies with thiorphan and omapatrilat. *Cardiovasc Ther.* (2014) 32:13–8. doi: 10.1111/1755-5922.12053
- Kitamura S, Carbini LA, Simmons WH, Scicli AG. Effects of aminopeptidase P inhibition on kinin-mediated vasodepressor responses. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (1999) 276:H1664–71. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1999.276.5.H1664
- Ersahin Ç, Simmons WH. Inhibition of both aminopeptidase P and angiotensin-converting enzyme prevents bradykinin degradation in the rat coronary circulation. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. (1997) 30:96–101. doi: 10.1097/00005344-199707000-00014
- Dumoulin MJ, Adam A, Rouleau JL, Lamontagne D. Comparison of a vasopeptidase inhibitor with neutral endopeptidase and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors on bradykinin metabolism in the rat coronary bed. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* (2001) 37:359–66. doi: 10.1097/00005344-200104000-00002
- Dendorfer A, Wolfrum S, Wellhöner P, Korsman K, Dominiak P. Intravascular and interstitial degradation of bradykinin in isolated perfused rat heart. *Br J Pharmacol.* (1997) 122:1179–87. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0701501
- Ahmad M, Zeitlin IJ, Parratt JR, Pitt AR. Degradation of bradykinin, a cardioprotective substance, during a single passage through isolated ratheart. Arch Pharm Res. (2006) 29:241–8. doi: 10.1007/BF02969400
- Koch M, Wendorf M, Dendorfer A, Wolfrum S, Schulze K, Spillmann F, et al. Cardiac kinin level in experimental diabetes mellitus: role of kininases. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2003) 285:H418–23. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00677.2002
- Tom B, Dendorfer A, de Vries R, Saxena PR, Jan Danser AH. Bradykinin potentiation by ACE inhibitors: a matter of metabolism. Br J Pharmacol. (2002) 137:276–84. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0704862
- Bagate K, Develioglu L, Grima M, De Jong W, Simmons WH, Imbs JL, et al. Vascular catabolism of bradykinin in the isolated perfused rat kidney. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2000) 407:317–25. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(00)0 0744-5
- 89. Ramirez-Molina C, Heudi O, Pullen M, Marshall PS. Study of bradykinin metabolism by rat lung tissue membranes and rat kidney brush border membranes by HPLC with inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry

and orthogonal acceleration time-of-flight mass spectrometry. J Pept Sci. (2006) 12:220-6. doi: 10.1002/psc.712

- Kokkonen JO, Kuoppala A, Saarinen J, Lindstedt KA, Kovanen PT. Kallidinand bradykinin-degrading pathways in human heart: degradation of kallidin by aminopeptidase M-like activity and bradykinin by neutral endopeptidase. *Circulation* (1999) 99:1984–90. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.99.15.1984
- Ura N, Carretero OA, Erdos EG. Role of renal endopeptidase 24.11 in kinin metabolism *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Kidney Int*. (1987) 32:507–13. doi: 10.1038/ki.1987.239
- Deddish PA, Marcic BM, Tan F, Jackman HL, Chen Z, Erdos EG. Neprilysin inhibitors potentiate effects of bradykinin on B2 receptor. *Hypertension* (2002) 39:619–23. doi: 10.1161/hy0202.103298
- Erdos EG. Kinins, the long march-a personal view. Cardiovasc Res. (2002) 54:485–91. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(02)00284-5
- 94. Ura N, Shimamoto K, Kuroda S, Nomura N, Iwata M, Aoyama T, et al. The role of kinins and atrial natriuretic peptide on the renal effects of neutral endopeptidase inhibitor in rats. *Clin Exp Hypertens*. (1994) 16:799–808. doi: 10.3109/10641969409078026
- Ura N, Shimamoto K, Nomura N, Aoyama T, Iwata M, Takagawa Y, et al. The mechanisms of the renal effects of neutral endopeptidase inhibitor in rats. *Clin Exp Hypertens*. (1995) 17:1183–96. doi: 10.3109/10641969509037403
- 96. Nomura N, Shimamoto K, Ura N, Iwata M, Aoyama T, Takagawa Y, et al. The role of kinins and atrial natriuretic peptide on the renal effects of neutral endopeptidase inhibitor in normotensive and hypertensive rats. *Clin Exp Hypertens.* (1995) 17:1219–31. doi: 10.3109/10641969509037405
- Smits GJ, McGraw DE, Trapani AJ. Interaction of ANP and bradykinin during endopeptidase 24.11 inhibition: renal effects. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (1990) 258:F1417–24. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.1990.258.5.F1417
- Legault L, Cernacek P, Levy M, Maher E, Farber D. Renal tubular responsiveness to atrial natriuretic peptide in sodium-retaining chronic caval dogs. A possible role for kinins and luminal actions of the peptide. *J Clin Invest.* (1992) 90:1425–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI116009
- 99. Bralet J, Mossiat C, Gros C, Schwartz JC. Thiorphan-induced natriuresis in volume-expanded rats: roles of endogenous atrial natriuretic factor and kinins. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. (1991) 258:807–11.
- 100. Pham I, Gonzalez W, Doucet J, Fournié-Zaluski MC, Roques BP, Michel JB. Effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme and neutral endopeptidase inhibitors: influence of bradykinin. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (1996) 296:267–76. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999(95)00706-7
- 101. Yang XP, Liu YH, Peterson E, Carretero OA. Effect of neutral endopeptidase 24.11 inhibition on myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury: the role of kinins. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. (1997) 29:250–6.
- 102. Nakano A, Miura T, Miki T, Nozawa Y, Ichikawa Y, Ura N, et al. Effects of neutral endopeptidase 24.11 inhibition on myocardial infarct size and ischemic preconditioning in rabbits. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol.* (2002) 366:335–42. doi: 10.1007/s00210-002-0600-8
- 103. Piedimonte G, Nadel JA, Long CS, Hoffman JIE. Neutral endopeptidase in the heart: neutral endopeptidase inhibition prevents isoproterenol-induced myocardial hypoperfusion in rats by reducing bradykinin degradation. *Circ Res.* (1994) 75:770–9. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.75.4.770
- 104. Zhang XP, Nasjletti A, Xu XB, Hintze TH. Neutral endopeptidase and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors increase nitric oxide production in isolated canine coronary microvessels by a kinindependent mechanism. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* (1998) 31:623–9. doi: 10.1097/00005344-199804000-00023
- 105. Kostis JB, Packer M, Black HR, Schmieder R, Henry D, Levy E. Omapatrilat and enalapril in patients with hypertension: the Omapatrilat Cardiovascular Treatment vs. Enalapril (OCTAVE) trial. Am J Hypertens (2004) 17:103–11. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2003.09.014
- 106. Packer M, Califf RM, Konstam MA, Krum H, McMurray JJ, Rouleau JL, et al. Comparison of omapatrilat and enalapril in patients with chronic heart failure: the Omapatrilat Versus Enalapril Randomized Trial of Utility in Reducing Events (OVERTURE). *Circulation* (2002) 106:920–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000029801.86489.50
- 107. Sulpizio AC, Pullen MA, Edwards RM, Brooks DP. The effect of acute angiotensin-converting enzyme and neutral endopeptidase 24.11 inhibition on plasma extravasation in the rat. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2004) 309:1141–7. doi: 10.1124/jpet.103.064105

- Hooper NM, Hryszko J, Oppong SY, Turner AJ. Inhibition by converting enzyme inhibitors of pig kidney aminopeptidase P. *Hypertension* (1992) 19:281–5.
- 109. Dahlof B, Devereux RB, Kjeldsen SE, Julius S, Beevers G, Faire U, et al. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint reduction in hypertension study (LIFE): a randomised trial against atenolol. *Lancet* (2002) 359:995–1003. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08 089-3
- 110. Dickstein K, Kjekshus J. Effects of losartan and captopril on mortality and morbidity in high-risk patients after acute myocardial infarction: the OPTIMAAL randomised trial. optimal trial in myocardial infarction with angiotensin II antagonist losartan. *Lancet* (2002) 360:752–60. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)09895-1
- 111. McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, et al. Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:993–1004. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1409077
- 112. Campbell DJ, Dixon B, Kladis A, Kemme M, Santamaria JD. Activation of the kallikrein-kinin system by cardiopulmonary bypass in humans. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* (2001) 281:R1059-70. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.2001.281.4.R1059
- 113. Zeitz CJ, Campbell DJ, Horowitz JD. Myocardial uptake and biochemical and hemodynamic effects of ACE inhibitors in humans. *Hypertension* (2003) 41:482–7. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000054976.674 87.08
- Campbell DJ, Kladis A, Valentijn AJ. Effects of losartan on angiotensin and bradykinin peptides, and angiotensin converting enzyme. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. (1995) 26:233–40. doi: 10.1097/00005344-199508000-00009
- 115. Koid SS, Ziogas J, Campbell DJ. Aliskiren reduces myocardial ischemiareperfusion injury by a bradykinin B2 receptor- and angiotensin AT2 receptor-mediated mechanism. *Hypertension* (2014) 63:768–73. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02902
- 116. Hornig B, Kohler C, Schlink D, Tatge H, Drexler H. AT<sub>1</sub>-receptor antagonism improves endothelial function in coronary artery disease by a bradykinin/B2-receptor-dependent mechanism. *Hypertension* (2003) 41:1092–5. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000064942.77814.26
- 117. Wiemer G, Schölkens BA, Busse R, Wagner A, Heitsch H, Linz W. The functional role of angiotensin II-subtype AT<sub>2</sub>-receptors in endothelial cells and isolated ischemic rat hearts. *Pharm Pharmacol Lett.* (1993) 3:24–7.
- Liu YH, Yang XP, Sharov VG, Nass O, Sabbah HN, Peterson E, et al. Effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonists in rats with heart failure - Role of kinins and angiotensin II type 2 receptors. J Clin Invest. (1997) 99:1926–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI1 19360
- 119. Jalowy A, Schulz R, Dorge H, Behrends M, Heusch G. Infarct size reduction by AT1-receptor blockade through a signal cascade of AT2receptor activation, bradykinin and prostaglandins in pigs. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (1998) 32:1787–96. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(98)00441-0
- 120. Zhu P, Zaugg CE, Hornstein PS, Allegrini PR, Buser PT. Bradykinindependent cardioprotective effects of losartan against ischemia and reperfusion in rat hearts. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. (1999) 33:785–90.
- 121. Sato M, Engelman RM, Otani H, Maulik N, Rousou JA, Flack JE III, et al. Myocardial protection by preconditioning of heart with losartan, an angiotensin II type 1-receptor blocker: implication of bradykinin-dependent and bradykinin-independent mechanisms. *Circulation* (2000) 102(Suppl. 3):III346-51. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.suppl\_3.III-346
- 122. Carey RM, Wang ZQ, Siragy HM. Role of the angiotensin type 2 receptor in the regulation of blood pressure and renal function. *Hypertension* (2000) 35:155–63. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.35.1.155
- 123. Abadir PM, Carey RM, Siragy HM. Angiotensin AT2 receptors directly stimulate renal nitric oxide in bradykinin B2-receptor-null mice. *Hypertension* (2003) 42:600–4. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000090323.58 122.5C
- 124. Messadi-Laribi E, Griol-Charhbili V, Pizard A, Vincent MP, Heudes D, Meneton P, et al. Tissue kallikrein is involved in the cardioprotective effect of AT1-receptor blockade in acute myocardial ischemia. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2007) 323:210–6. doi: 10.1124/jpet.107.124859
- 125. Gainer JV, Morrow JD, Lovelend A, King DJ, Brown NJ. Effect of bradykininreceptor blockade on the response to angiotensin-converting-enzyme

inhibitor in normotensive and hypertensive subjects. *N Engl J Med.* (1998) 339:1285–92.

- 126. Squire IB, O'Kane KP, Anderson N, Reid JL. Bradykinin B(2) receptor antagonism attenuates blood pressure response to acute angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibition in normal men. *Hypertension* (2000) 36:132–6. doi: 10.1161/hyp.36.1.132
- 127. LeFebvre J, Shintani A, Gebretsadik T, Petro JR, Murphey LJ, Brown NJ. Bradykinin B(2) receptor does not contribute to blood pressure lowering during AT(1) receptor blockade. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2007) 320:1261–7. doi: 10.1124/jpet.106.117259
- Campbell DJ. The kallikrein-kinin system in humans. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. (2001) 28:1060–5. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1681.2001.03 564.x
- 129. Rubinstein I, Muns G, Zucker IH. Plasma exudation in conscious dogs with experimental heart failure. *Basic Res Cardiol.* (1994) 89:487–98.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares received research funding from Servier Laboratories, Bayer Pharmaceutical Company, Solvay Pharmaceutical Company and Novartis Institutes for Biomedical Sciences, Inc.

Copyright © 2018 Campbell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Chronic Overexpression of Bradykinin in Kidney Causes Polyuria and Cardiac Hypertrophy

Carlos C. Barros<sup>1\*</sup>, Ines Schadock<sup>2,3</sup>, Gabin Sihn<sup>3</sup>, Franziska Rother<sup>3</sup>, Ping Xu<sup>3</sup>, Elena Popova<sup>3</sup>, Irina Lapidus<sup>3</sup>, Ralph Plehm<sup>3</sup>, Arnd Heuser<sup>3</sup>, Mihail Todiras<sup>3</sup>, Sebastian Bachmann<sup>4</sup>, Natalia Alenina<sup>3,5</sup>, Ronaldo C. Araujo<sup>2</sup>, Joao B. Pesquero<sup>2</sup> and Michael Bader<sup>3,4,5,6,7,8</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Sadashiva Karnik, Cleveland Clinic Lerner College of Medicine, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Brian R. Branchford, School of Medicine, University of Colorado, United States Kalyan Tirupula, Sun Pharma Advanced Research, India

> \*Correspondence: Carlos C. Barros barrosccpel@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 30 June 2018 Accepted: 16 November 2018 Published: 03 December 2018

#### Citation:

Barros CC, Schadock I, Sihn G, Rother F, Xu P, Popova E, Lapidus I, Plehm R, Heuser A, Todiras M, Bachmann S, Alenina N, Araujo RC, Pesquero JB and Bader M (2018) Chronic Overexpression of Bradykinin in Kidney Causes Polyuria and Cardiac Hypertrophy. Front. Med. 5:338. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00338 <sup>1</sup> Department of Nutrition, Federal University of Pelotas, Pelotas, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Department of Biophysics, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> Max Delbrück Center for Molecular Medicine, Berlin, Germany, <sup>4</sup> Charite-University Medicine, Berlin, Germany, <sup>5</sup> Federal University of Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, <sup>6</sup> Berlin Institute of Health (BIH), Berlin, Germany, <sup>7</sup> German Center for Cardiovascular Research (DZHK), Partner Site Berlin, Berlin, Germany, <sup>8</sup> Institute for Biology, University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany

Acute intra-renal infusion of bradykinin increases diuresis and natriuresis via inhibition of vasopressin activity. However, the consequences of chronically increased bradykinin in the kidneys have not yet been studied. A new transgenic animal model producing an excess of bradykinin by proximal tubular cells (KapBK rats) was generated and submitted to different salt containing diets to analyze changes in blood pressure and other cardiovascular parameters, urine excretion, and composition, as well as levels and expression of renin-angiotensin system components. Despite that KapBK rats excrete more urine and sodium, they have similar blood pressure as controls with the exception of a small increase in systolic blood pressure (SBP). However, they present decreased renal artery blood flow, increased intrarenal expression of angiotensinogen, and decreased mRNA expression of vasopressin V1A receptor (AVPR1A), suggesting a mechanism for the previously described reduction of renal vasopressin sensitivity by bradykinin. Additionally, reduced heart rate variability (HRV), increased cardiac output and frequency, and the development of cardiac hypertrophy are the main chronic effects observed in the cardiovascular system. In conclusion: (1) the transgenic KapBK rat is a useful model for studying chronic effects of bradykinin in kidney; (2) increased renal bradykinin causes changes in renin angiotensin system regulation; (3) decreased renal vasopressin sensitivity in KapBK rats is related to decreased V1A receptor expression; (4) although increased renal levels of bradykinin causes no changes in mean arterial pressure (MAP), it causes reduction in HRV, augmentation in cardiac frequency and output and consequently cardiac hypertrophy in rats after 6 months of age.

Keywords: kinin, kallikrein-kinin system, blood pressure, polyuria, rats

## INTRODUCTION

The kallikrein-kinin system (KKS) is present throughout the body. Bradykinin (BK) is its main effective peptide and has two sources: it is released from circulating high molecular weight kininogen by the action of plasma kallikrein; or from low molecular weight kininogen by the action of tissue kallikrein (1). BK is an agonist of the kinin B2 receptor (B2R), and its metabolite Des-Arg<sup>9</sup>-BK has affinity to the kinin B1 receptor (B1R). First related to vasodilation, inflammation, pain, and edema, the KKS has also been shown to participate in several cellular and physiological events, such as glucose homeostasis (2–4), leptin sensitivity (5), and organ and tissue protection or injury (6). The effects of BK on renal physiology and blood pressure (BP) control are still not completely unraveled.

A number of experiments were carried out to understand the role of BK in kidney and in particular how it is involved in the control of renal homeostasis and BP, as previously reviewed (1, 7). Usual approaches to test intrarenal effects of BK are the renal artery infusion of BK or antagonists of its receptors (8-10), intrarenal tissue BK infusion (11), the use of knockout animals (12, 13), or in vitro studies (14, 15). However, all approaches have limitations, mainly due to the complex morphology of the kidney, where the proximal and distal parts of the nephrons are anatomically mixed, and the local circulation has very specific characteristics and morphology. More recent studies have shown that infusion of BK into the kidneys causes increased urinary volume and increased sodium secretion, with no change in BP (16). Studies in dogs showed that infusion of BK in the kidneys increases urinary volume (UV) and sodium excretion (UNaV), without changing glomerular filtration rate (GFR) and these effects are blocked by pretreatment with the B2R antagonist HOE-140 (17). The increase in UV is associated with vasopressin inhibition in the kidney. Schuster et al. has shown that lysyl-BK inhibits the effect of vasopressin with respect to hydraulic conductivity (Lp) in the rabbit cortical collecting tubule perfused in vitro (18). The inhibition of vasopressin activity by BK infusion was also confirmed in an in vivo study (17). Hebert et al. concluded that this effect is transmitted via B2R and is independent of calcium signaling in the cortical collecting ducts.

Both previous *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments revealed several acute effects of BK in kidneys, but the models used are not predicting chronic effects of excess BK in this organ. This knowledge is important to evaluate the possibility of using B2R agonists for renal diseases.

Therefore, we generated a transgenic rat overexpressing BK in the proximal convoluted tubules, in order to test the hypothesis that chronic excess of bradykinin may cause changes in BP and physiology of the cardiovascular system. These animals were submitted to diets with different sodium contents. Changes in BP, heart rate variability (HRV), genetic expression of selected components of the renin-angiotensin, vasopressin, and KKSs, as well as cardiac morphology, and physiology of the cardiovascular and urinary systems were evaluated.

## METHODS

### Animals

All studies were performed in accordance with the guidelines for the humane use of laboratory animals by the Max Delbrück Center for Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany) and with EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments. The animals were maintained under standardized conditions with an artificial 12h dark-light cycle with free access to standard chow (0.25% sodium, SSNIFF Spezialitäten GmbH, Soest, Germany) and water *ad libitum*, except during the experimental diet period when they received special sodium containing diets. Two different diets were fed, low salt diet and high salt diet (E15430-24 sodium deficient; E15431-34, 4% salt, SSNIFF Spezialdiäten GmbH, Germany). If not stated different, male rats at the age of 4 months were used for experiments. All procedures with the animals were analyzed and approved by the Ethical Committee Landesamt für Gesundheit und Soziales (LaGeSo), Berlin, Germany.

## **Generation of Transgenic Rats**

The basic DNA construct for the generation of transgenic rats codes for an engineered fusion protein consisting of the signal peptide of human renin, the Fc portion of the mouse IgG, a prosegment of the human prorenin, a furin cleavage site followed by the sequence of Tyr<sup>0</sup>-BK, as previously described (19). The promoter of kidney androgen regulated protein (Kap) was used to direct the expression of this construct specifically in the proximal tubules (20). This peptide delivery system has already been successfully used in several transgenic animal models (21-23). Tyr<sup>0</sup>-BK, rather than BK itself, had to be selected, since furin would only very inefficiently cut N-terminal to the natural start of the BK peptide, arginine, but will cut in front of tyrosine (19). Tyr<sup>0</sup>-BK is known to be a full agonist on BK receptors (24). The Kap promoter sequence was cloned into the same vector and the resulting construct (Figure 1A) was linearized and microinjected into male pronuclei of Sprague-Dawley rat zygotes as previously described (25). Genomic integration of the transgene DNA construct was determined by PCR analysis using DNA obtained from offspring tail biopsies.

## Assessment of Basic Renal Function

To collect urine, rats were kept in metabolic cages with 1 day of adaptation before collecting samples for analysis. Overnight collected urine samples were centrifuged (4,000 g), the supernatant collected in fresh tubes and stored frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$ C. For measurement of urine concentrations of ions and creatinine, samples were sent and processed by Labor28 (Berlin, Germany).

### Immunohistochemistry

For histochemical analysis, rats were anesthetized with Nembutal (100 mg/Kg body weight), the abdominal cavity opened and kidneys were fixed by retrograde perfusion through the abdominal aorta using 3% paraformaldehyde in PBS as previously described (26). Kidneys were then processed for cryostat sectioning. Cryosections were incubated with primary anti-mouse IgG2b and secondary anti-rabbit Cy2-fluorescence-coupled antibodies and examined in a Leica fluorescence microscope.



tissues. As control for DNA contamination the same procedure was done with samples submitted to the same protocol without addition of reverse transcriptase (RT-, bottom of the gels). A, Adrenal gland; H, Heart; Li, Liver; Lu, Lung; S, Spleen; T, Thymus; M, Muscle; K, Kidney; +, positive control;  $- = H_2O$ . (C) Immunohistochemistry using anti-mouse IgG2b antibodies to show the specific expression of the recombinant protein in kidney proximal tubules. Upper panels show overview of the cortex with immunoreactive signal over proximal tubules exclusively in the KapBK tissue. Lower panels show higher magnification with immunoreactive proximal segments grouped around a single glomerulus; magnification x 150 (top), x 800 (bottom).

## **High Frequency Ultrasound Analysis**

Animals were anesthetized by inhaling a 2.5% isoflurane oxygen mixture in a heat-controlled chamber to keep the body

temperature stable. After reaching full anesthesia, rats were fixed on a heated plate with electrodes on their paws to control heart and respiratory rate, as well as to record the electrocardiogram. Body temperature was monitored by a rectal sensor and corrected by a heating lamp if necessary. With the ultrasonic detector MS-250 collected data were visualized and analyzed via the VEVO 2,100 high-resolution imaging system (Visualsonics Fujifilm, VisualSonics, Toronto, Ca). Stroke volume and cardiac output was measured by tracing the endocardium in systole and diastole of a parasternal long axis view of the left ventricle.

### Telemetry

The telemetry system for BP and heart rate measurement (Dataquest ART 4.0<sup>TM</sup>, Data Sciences Inc., St. Paul, MN, USA) and the implantation procedure are described in detail by Plehm et al. (27). Briefly, the radiotelemetric pressure transducers (TA11PA-C40) were implanted in the abdominal cavity of the rats, with the pressure-sensing capillary anchored in the lumen of the abdominal aorta. Before the implantation the zero offset was measured and the unit was soaked in 0.9% NaCl solution. Rats were anesthetized with isoflurane. Animals recovered for 10 days before baseline values were recorded. By this time the rats had regained their circadian BP and heart rate rhythm while surgery and anesthesia-induced changes in systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), mean arterial pressure (MAP), and heart rate (HR) had abated. The data from the implanted transducer were transmitted via radiofrequency signals to a receiver below the home cage and sampled every 5 min (sampling rate 500 Hz).

#### **Spectral Analysis**

Continous telemetric recordings of the BP waveform were stored during resting and activity periods for 1 h. These waveform recordings were used for computing the HRV and the spectral analysis of the HR to analyze the autonomic regulation. For analysis of the HRV and the frequency domain results we used the Kubios HRV analysis software (Kubios, Kuopio, Finland). The HRV spectrum was calculated from artifact-corrected 30 min recordings using Fast Fourier Transformation. The frequency bands were very low frequency (VLF, 0,015–0,250 Hz), low frequency (LF, 0,250–1,000 Hz), and high frequency (HF, 1,000– 6,000 Hz).

### Measurement for Renin-Angiotensin System (RAS) Components

The renin activity of plasma samples was calculated from the generation rate of AngI in the samples, for renin concentration a defined amount of angiotensinogen was added before incubation. Plasma angiotensinogen was measured by adding rat kidney extract to the samples and measuring AngI generation. The concentration of AngI was measured by radioimmunoassay. These methods were performed as described before (28, 29).

### **Gene Expression Analyses**

For quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) tissues were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. Samples were homogenized and total RNA was isolated using a NucleoSpin RNA II purification kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren-Germany) and then stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until use. The RNA integrity was assessed by electrophoresis on an agarose gel. cDNA was synthesized from 1  $\mu$ g of total RNA with Moloney

murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase (Promega, Madison, USA) using random hexamer nucleotides. Standard curves were made to determine the amplification efficiencies for each primer pair. Quantitative PCR was performed on an ABI Prism 7900 sequence detection system with 100 nM primers, 5 ng of cDNA, and 10  $\mu L$  SYBRGreen mastermix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) in a 20  $\mu L$  reaction. mRNA expression was normalized to beta-actin mRNA and expressed as a relative value to the control group.

#### **Statistics**

Normality of data was determined using the Shapiro–Wilk test and equality of variance verified using Brown-Forsythe test, and all data presented normal distribution. Statistical analyzes were performed using GraphPad Prism<sup>®</sup> software (GraphPad Software Inc, La Jolla, USA). Results were considered significant when p < 0.05 and data are shown as means  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). Differences between two groups were evaluated by using unpaired Student's test, and differences between more than two groups were evaluated by using ANOVA.

## RESULTS

## **Basic Characterization of KapBK Rats**

The DNA construct coding for an engineered fusion protein controlled by the kidney androgen-regulated protein (Kap) promoter was inserted into the genome of Sprague-Dawley rats (overview see in Figure 1A) to elicit BK overproduction specifically in the proximal convoluted tubule. This promoter is androgen dependent and was shown to be specific for proximal convoluted tubules (20). Adult male rats expressed the recombinant protein in the kidney (Figure 1B). Transgenic female rats cannot activate the Kap promoter and can be used as control. Low expression in the lung was also detected. Since BK in lung is very quickly inactivated as described before (30), the effect in lung is probably minimal. Figure 1C presents an image of the immunohistochemical detection of the fusion protein in kidney sections using an antibody directed against mouse immunoglobulin G2b, which is part of the engineered protein (Figure 1A), confirming its specific expression in proximal tubules of KapBK rats.

## KapBK Rats Exhibit Polyuria, Diluted Urine, and Excrete More Na<sup>+</sup>, but Are Able to Control Urine Volume Under Water Deprivation

The overexpression of BK in renal proximal tubules causes polyuria which is compatible with other experiments infusing BK in anesthetized animals (17). The increase in urine excretion was present when rats were feeding a standard chow as well as with diets containing low and high amounts of salt (**Figure 2A**). The increased diuresis is compensated by reflex polydipsia (**Figure 2A**). In the case of high salt diet, KapBK rats need a smaller adaptive increase in urinary volume in order to excrete the excess of ingested salt. Furthermore, the urine of KapBK rats is diluted with regards to several other components like protein



**FIGURE 2** | Urine and blood parameters. The animals were submitted to diets containing different concentrations of sodium. After 10 days with each diet urine was collected in metabolic cages. KapBK rats secrete more urine and drink more water (A) and the urine has lower concentrations of total proteins, urea, potassium and sodium concentrations. (B) Total sodium and sodium/potassium ratios are increased. (C) Plasma concentrations of total proteins, creatinine, sodium, and potassium were unchanged in rats fed with standard diet. (D) Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*p < 0.001 vs. WT, n = 6.

content, sodium, potassium, and urea suggesting reduction of water reabsorption (**Figure 2B**). Analyzing daily sodium and potassium excretion, we noted an increased sodium excretion and an increased Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup> excretion ratio (**Figure 2C**) in agreement with previous studies (7, 15, 31, 32). No changes were observed regarding plasma levels of proteins, creatinine, sodium or potassium (**Figure 2D**), and blood cell count (**Table S1**) and only body composition analysis (**Figure S1**) showed a trend to increased water content.

Under 20-h water deprivation, KapBK rats present diuresis only in the first 4h of the experiment. Then they start to produce the same amount of urine as the controls, showing that these rats are able to adapt to water deprivation avoiding severe dehydration (**Figure 3**). These results demonstrate that KapBK rats are a useful model for analyses of the chronic effect of increased renal BK on water/electrolyte homeostasis.

#### KapBK Rats Present a Small Increase in Systolic Blood Pressure, Increased Heart Rate, and Decreased Heart Rate Variability

Chronically increased BK in renal proximal tubules of rats did not change MAP but increased SBP (Figure 4A) as detected by telemetric measurement (Figure S2). However, the cardiovascular system underwent several alterations in the adaptive response to the polyuria. Increased heart rate (Figure 4B) was observed, accompanied by decreased HRV (Figure 4C) and a decreased low-frequency oscillatory component (that can be a signal of changes in RAS) (Figure 4D). The LF/HF ratio (Figure 4E) was decreased in KapBK rats indicating decreased sympathovagal balance on the heart



contrasting the increased heart rate. The relative and absolute masses of the adrenal glands were reduced in KapBK rats suggesting reduction of adrenergic activation (**Figure 4F**).

### Chronic BK Excess in Kidney Causes Cardiac Hypertrophy and Increased Cardiac Output, Contrasting With Smaller Renal Artery Blood Flow, and Normal Glomerular Filtration Rate

Probably as a consequence of the increased heart rate, cardiac hypertrophy develops in older KapBK rats (6 months old) as evidenced by increased left ventricular fractional shortening, left ventricular mass, and cardiac output (**Figures 5A-C**). Despite the increased cardiac output, KapBK rats have reduced renal artery blood flow (**Figure 5D**) suggesting high pressure in the glomerular capillary system. The activity of the systemic RAS is changed (**Figures 5F-H**) with decreased plasma renin activity and concentration (2-fold) and increased concentration of plasma angiotensinogen (3-fold). Connecting the low blood flow in the renal artery with the polyuria, we found normal GFR as estimated by creatinine clearance (**Figure 5E**).

### Chronic Overexpression of BK in Kidney Increases Local Angiotensinogen and Decreased Epithelial Sodium Channel (SCNN1, Alpha, and Gamma Subunits) and AVPR1A mRNA Expression

We analyzed the mRNA expression of selected genes by qPCR in the following regions of the kidney: Fragments of outer cortex (OC), inner cortex (IC), and medulla (M) (Figure 6). Increased angiotensinogen expression was observed in all parts of kidney (Figure 6A), showing that the local RAS is activated in KapBK rats. We also found increased expression of B2R in OC (Figure 6B), probably due to the increased BK levels that were shown to stimulate the expression of B2R by Ricciardolo et al. in other tissues (33). The reduced expression of vasopressin V1A receptor (AVPR1A, Figure 6C) can explain the diluted urine although vasopressin V2 receptor (AVPR2) expression remained unchanged (Figure 6D). Increased sodium excretion can be related to reduced expression of alpha and gamma subunits of the epithelial sodium channel (ENaC, SCNN1, Figures 6E-G). The increased aquaporin 2 (AQP2) expression in medulla after water deprivation is part of the mechanism involved in the adaptation against severe dehydration (Figure 6H). No changes were observed in renal mRNA expression of renin (Figure 6I).

## DISCUSSION

Acute infusion of bradykinin in the kidneys causes polyuria inhibiting vasopressin activity in collecting tubules (17, 18, 34) and increasing sodium excretion (1, 7, 9, 10, 15, 32, 35). However, the consequences of chronic BK excess in the kidneys are still incompletely studied (36, 37). In the present study a new animal model producing an excess of BK in the proximal tubules was generated. The overproduction of BK in these rats



starts from puberty and is maintained during the remainder of life, allowing studies about long-term effects of BK in kidney. For better understanding of these chronic effects, the animals were submitted to three diets with different salt concentrations. Changes in renal and cardiovascular functions as well as in the renin-angiotensin and KKSs were assessed. Additionally, the expression of several genes was evaluated in different parts of the kidney. The main results showed that the chronic BK excess in the kidneys causes cardiac hypertrophy, changes in the regulation of the local, and systemic renin angiotensin systems, increased heart rate and cardiac output, decreased heart rate variability, maintenance of GFR despite of reduced blood flow in the renal artery, and changes in gene expression in kidney, mainly increasing angiotensinogen and decreasing vasopressin V1A receptor mRNA levels. Moreover, there was no change in MAP, in agreement with the described acute models of BK excess in the kidney (17, 36).

The results confirmed that the overexpression of BK in the kidney of the animals was successfully achieved. Although we could not measure BK levels directly, this conclusion is supported by genotyping, RT-PCR, immunohistochemistry and also by the concordance of physiological changes observed in the present study with previous literature, mainly polyuria, increased sodium excretion and the diluted urine of the transgenic animals. These

effects were observed after acute BK treatment in kidney (17) but also in studies searching for chronic effects (36). Furthermore, the DNA construct was designed to be expressed in proximal tubules and to secrete BK into the extracellular space, based on the signal peptide present in the expressed protein and the ubiquitous expression of furin, and it is well-established that intraluminally generated kinins in kidney exert autocrine and paracrine actions on distal tubular cells, favoring natriuresis and diuresis (32) as observed in the present study. In addition, interstitially released BK contributes to the regulation of cortical and medullary blood flow (38), as was also observed in KapBK rats and will be discussed below. These results confirm that the novel rat model is appropriate to study chronic excess of BK in kidney.

Although BK is known to dilate vessels and promote sodium excretion and polyuria, very few experiments show a sustained alteration in MAP by BK. Different methods were used to test the potential hypotensive effect by infusing BK in kidney, but BP normally returned to normal values after an acute decline (37, 39, 40). Moreover, it was also observed that knockout mice for either kinin receptor, B1 and B2, as well as double knockout mice are normotensive (41–45), although they can react differently than controls in relation to BP control when submitted to challenges such as high-salt diet. Only general overexpression of



tissue-kallikrein in transgenic rats leads to a small but significant reduction in MAP probably by the permanent rise of BK in several tissues (42). Although KapBK rats presented similar MAP as the controls, we observed several changes in the cardiovascular system concerning BP regulation. The local renal RAS seems to be activated with increased expression of angiotensinogen. This increased intrarenal RAS activity is also evidenced by the diminished renal artery blood flow since AngII is known to cause vasoconstriction of both afferent and efferent glomerular arterioles increasing intraglomerular pressure (46). On the other hand, the observed reduction of plasma renin concentration and activity suggests a reduction in systemic RAS activity. Despite the severe reduction in renal artery blood flow in KapBK rats, GFR does not change. The reduction in glomerular blood flow seems to be a mechanism to maintain normal GFR which is also observed in AVPR1A knockout mice (47).

It is well established that BK inhibits vasopressin-induced water flow in the collecting duct *in vitro* (18, 34) and *in vivo* via B2R (17). The present study shows that after several months of chronic overexpression of BK in kidney the rats still present polyuria. The dilution of all urinary components indicates increased water content suggesting decreased water reabsorption. This is compatible with the inhibition of vasopressin activity as previously described both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in acute

models of BK infusion in the kidney (17, 18, 34). However, the present study shows a marked decrease in the expression of vasopressin V1A receptors in the parts of the kidney that are rich in distal nephron structures, but no change in V2 receptor expression, showing that vasopressin resistance can be regulated directly via gene expression of V1A receptors. Previous studies showed that the effect of BK on inhibition of vasopressin activity is dependent on prostaglandin formation (and can be blocked with indomethacin) and independent of increased calcium concentration (17). This suggests that the increase in endogenous prostaglandin synthesis by B2R activation antagonizes vasopressin-stimulated cAMP generation and reduces vasopressin-induced water flow in the collecting duct (18, 34). The new observation that decreased expression of vasopressin V1A receptors is related to these effects opens new doors to understand the underlying mechanisms. Further gene expression studies are warranted using acute models of excessive BK supply to elucidate whether the changed AVPR1A expression found here is indeed a chronic effect, or is also part of acute BK effects on vasopressin-induced water flow in the kidney. Favoring that vasopressin receptors mediate the effects of chronic BK excess, AVPR1A knockout mice exhibited a similar phenotype as KapBK rats concerning urine volume and composition (48). Accordingly, polyuria in KapBK rats seems to



(B) BDKB2R, bradykinin B2 receptor; (C) AVPR1A, vasopressin V1A receptor; (D) AVPR2, vasopressin V2 receptor; (E–G) SCNN1-A, B, and G, subunits alpha, bet and gamma of the Epithelial Sodium Channel (ENaC); (H) AQP2, aquaporin 2; (I) renin. All data were normalized for WT OC group and are shown as relative fold change. Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 vs. WT, n = 5.

be an effect caused in the distal nephron by reduction of AVPR1A receptors as evidenced in the mRNA expression analysis. Aoyagi et al. showed that polyuria observed in AVPR1A knockout mice was associated with decreased water reabsorption and not with increased GFR, as observed in KapBK rats. They also described a lower renin concentration in plasma of AVPR1A knockout mice again agreeing with KapBK rats (14). Furthermore, Yasuoka et al.

noted that in water restriction conditions AVPR1A knockout mice also increase renal AQP2 expression as observed in KapBK rats (47). All these similarities suggest that the consequences of increased BK in kidney are due to the altered regulation of AVPR1A expression in KapBK rats.

To localize gene expression to certain structures of the kidney, we used RNA originating from three different regions of the

kidney, called here: the "outer cortex," the more external part of the kidney cortex containing mainly the proximal structures of the nephrons; the "inner cortex," containing all parts of the nephrons including small fractions of the distal nephrons; and the "medulla," containing mainly collecting ducts and loops of Henle. One main result of this expression study was the reduction of alpha and gamma subunits expression of ENaC mainly in parts of the kidneys containing distal nephron structures. Again, these new data suggest that the inhibition of ENaC activity by BK infusion can be induced by gene expression regulation. It is well-established that the increase in UNaV by BK is due to the inhibition of ENaC (7, 15, 32). Other authors have shown inhibition of sodium reabsorption by BK (7, 31, 49). Zaika et al. presented a related effect on SCNN1 in an experiment in vitro (15), showing that BK decreases the probability of SCNN1 channel opening. In the present study, the ENaC activity was not measured since it was well-demonstrated previously (7, 17). However, the measurements of Na<sup>+</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, and K<sup>+</sup> in urine indicated that only Na<sup>+</sup> showed increased excretion in KapBK rats, suggesting that the inhibition of Na<sup>+</sup> reabsorption is not due to cotransporters such as Na/K-ATPase, thiazide-sensitive sodium chloride co-transporter (NCCT) or sodium-potassiumchloride co-transporter (NKCC2), all of them important sodium transporters in the apical membrane of different regions of the nephrons (50). Together with previous studies demonstrating that BK inhibits only ENaC (7, 15, 17, 32), the here presented reduction of the gene expression of ENaC subunits, and the urine concentration of the excreted ions together indicate that the observed natriuresis in KapBK rats is caused by reduction of ENaC, at least partially on the level of gene expression.

Although vasopressin sensitivity is reduced in KapBK rats by decreased AVPR1A expression, expression of AVPR2 is similar to that of control animals. Accordingly, AQP2 mRNA expression is increased in renal medulla of KapBK rats after water deprivation. AVPR2 is the main regulator of AQP2 translocation to the apical membrane providing a strong mechanism of water reabsorption in the presence of increased vasopressin levels. Both, the induction of AQP2 expression and normal expression of AVPR2 explain why KapBK rats can concentrate urine under water deprivation, and fit with observations in AVPR1A knockout mice, which also can concentrate urine under this condition (14). Therefore, we speculate that KapBK rats are equipped with a reduced sensitivity to basal vasopressin levels, due to low AVPR1A expression, but they respond adequately to increased level of vasopressin, since there is a normal AVPR2 expression and an inducible AQP2 expression in kidney.

The increased renal BK expression affects the heart as evidenced by increased heart rate and contractility in KapBK rats, leading to an augmented cardiac output and even cardiac hypertrophy when KapBK rats get older. These are typical phenomena of cardiac sympathetic stimulation, but we found decreased LF/HF ratio and a smaller mass of the adrenal gland suggesting a reduction in the sympathovagal balance. This discrepancy may at least partially be related to the differential regulation of the sympathetic innervation of different organs.

Taken together, our results show that chronic intrarenal overexpression of BK exerts similar alterations in renal

physiology as known from acute models of intrarenal BK infusion. However, also unexpected effects appeared in the chronic model showing that the new transgenic KapBK rats are suitable for studying chronic actions of BK in the kidney. These new effects of intrarenal BK include changes in RAS regulation, decreased renal vasopressin sensitivity based on decreased V1A receptor expression and reductions in cardiac rhythm variability, augmentation in heart rate and cardiac output and consequently cardiac hypertrophy without changes in MAP. These data have implications for the concept that B2 receptor agonists may have a beneficial effect in controlling hypertension. It is already well-established that ACE inhibitors exert their main effects by reducing angiotensin II, but in addition, much of the protective effects on the kidneys are associated with the increase of the BK concentrations in this organ (51-54). In the present study, the chronic increase of renal BK happened in the presence of an active RAS, since there is no ACE inhibition. The present data suggest even an increased local RAS activity, based on increased angiotensinogen expression and decreased renal artery blood flow. The systemic RAS activity, on the other hand, seems to be decreased based on decreased plasma renin concentration and activity. Under these conditions, novel adaptations and physiological effects of BK have been reported here, which should be followed up in the case of administration of B2 receptor agonists as experimental treatment in patients without ACE inhibitor treatment.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CB conducted the physiological analyses, collecting, organizing and analyzing all data, and writing of manuscript. IS performed the molecular analyses. GS conducted urine analyses. FR genotyped the rats. PX cloned the DNA vector to generate the animals. EP made the microinjections to generate the animals. IL performed the radioimmunoassay for RAS measurements. RP analyzed telemetric data. AH conducted echocardiography and its analysis. MT conducted surgeries and telemetric data analysis. SB performed immunohistochemistry of the kidneys. NA helped to design the experiments, and with the drafting and revision of the manuscript. RA helped with data interpretation, drafting, and revision of the manuscript. JP helped with data interpretation, drafting, and revision of the manuscript. MB conceived and designed the work, drafted, and revised the manuscript.

### FUNDING

This work was supported by the German Research Foundation (DFG FOR667, BA1374/13) and the joined program PROBRAL of the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) and CAPES.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2018.00338/full#supplementary-material

#### Effect of Bradykinin in Kidney

## REFERENCES

- Hillmeister P, Persson PB. The Kallikrein-Kinin system. Acta Physiol. (2012) 206:215–9. doi: 10.1111/apha.12007
- Barros CC, Haro A, Jaqueline Russo F, Schadock I, Soares Almeida S, Castellani Reis F, et al. Bradykinin inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis in obese mice. *Lab Invest*. (2012). doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2012.105
- Da Silva AR, De Morais SM, Marques MM, De Oliveira DF, Barros CC, De Almeida RR, et al. Chemical composition, antioxidant and antibacterial activities of two Spondias species from Northeastern Brazil. *Pharm Biol.* (2012) 50:740–6. doi: 10.3109/13880209.2011.627347
- Fonseca RG, Sales VM, Ropelle E, Barros CC, Oyama L, Ihara SS, et al. Lack of kinin B(1) receptor potentiates leptin action in the liver. *J Mol Med.* (2013) 91:851–60. doi: 10.1007/s00109-013-1004-6
- Mori MA, Araujo RC, Reis FC, Sgai DG, Fonseca RG, Barros CC, et al. Kinin B1 receptor deficiency leads to leptin hypersensitivity and resistance to obesity. *Diabetes* (2008) 57:1491–500. doi: 10.2337/db07-1508
- Estrela GR, Wasinski F, Almeida DC, Amano MT, Castoldi A, Dias CC, et al. Kinin B1 receptor deficiency attenuates cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury by modulating immune cell migration. *J Mol Med.* (2013) 92:399–409. doi: 10.1007/s00109-013-1116-z
- Mamenko M, Zaika O, Pochynyuk O. Direct regulation of ENaC by bradykinin in the distal nephron. Implications for renal sodium handling. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. (2014) 23:122–9 doi: 10.1097/01.mnh.0000441053.81339.61
- Ogawa N, Ono H. No role for prostaglandins and bradykinin in the autoregulation of renal blood flow. *Jpn J Pharmacol.* (1985) 39:349–55. doi: 10.1254/jjp.39.349
- Omoro SA, Majid DS, El Dahr SS, Navar LG. Roles of ANG II and bradykinin in the renal regional blood flow responses to ACE inhibition in sodium-depleted dogs. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2000) 279:F289–293. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.2000.279.2.F289
- Tornel J, Madrid MI, Garcia-Salom M, Wirth KJ, Fenoy FJ. Role of kinins in the control of renal papillary blood flow, pressure natriuresis, and arterial pressure. *Circ Res.* (2000) 86:589–95. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.86.5.589
- 11. Badzynska B, Sadowski J. Differential action of bradykinin on intrarenal regional perfusion in the rat: waning effect in the cortex and major impact in the medulla. *J Physiol.* (2009) 587:3943–53. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009.172007
- Trabold F, Pons S, Hagege AA, Bloch-Faure M, Alhenc-Gelas F, Giudicelli JF, et al. Cardiovascular phenotypes of kinin B2 receptorand tissue kallikrein-deficient mice. *Hypertension* (2002) 40:90–5. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000021747.43346.95
- Pesquero JB, Bader M. Genetically altered animal models in the kallikreinkinin system. *Biol Chem.* (2006) 387:119–26. doi: 10.1515/BC.2006.017
- Aoyagi T, Izumi Y, Hiroyama M, Matsuzaki T, Yasuoka Y, Sanbe A, et al. Vasopressin regulates the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system via V1a receptors in macula densa cells. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2008) 295:F100– 107. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00088.2008
- Zaika O, Mamenko M, O'neil RG, Pochynyuk O. Bradykinin acutely inhibits activity of the epithelial Na+ channel in mammalian aldosteronesensitive distal nephron. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2011) 300:F1105–15. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00606.2010
- Lortie M, Regoli D, Rhaleb NE, Plante GE. The role of B1- and B2-kinin receptors in the renal tubular and hemodynamic response to bradykinin. *Am J Physiol.* (1992) 262:R72–76. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1992.262.1.R72
- Hebert RL, Regoli D, Xiong H, Breyer MD, Plante GE. Bradykinin B2 type receptor activation regulates fluid and electrolyte transport in the rabbit kidney. *Peptides* (2005) 26:1308–16. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2005.03.025
- Schuster VL, Kokko JP, Jacobson HR. Interactions of lysyl-bradykinin and antidiuretic hormone in the rabbit cortical collecting tubule. *J Clin Invest.* (1984) 73:1659–67. doi: 10.1172/JCI111372
- Methot D, Vankats JP, Lochard N, Tremblay F, Silversides DW, Reudelhuber TL. Development and application of a biological peptide pump for the study of the *in vivo* actions of angiotensin peptides. *Am J Hypertens*. (2001) 14:38S-43S. doi: 10.1016/S0895-7061(01)02068-4
- 20. Ding Y, Davisson RL, Hardy DO, Zhu LJ, Merrill DC, Catterall JF, et al. The kidney androgen-regulated protein promoter confers renal proximal tubule cell-specific and highly androgen-responsive expression on the human

angiotensinogen gene in transgenic mice. J Biol Chem. (1997) 272:28142-8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.44.28142

- Methot D, Lapointe MC, Touyz RM, Yang XP, Carretero OA, Deschepper CF, et al. Tissue targeting of angiotensin peptides. *J Biol Chem.* (1997) 272:12994– 9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.20.12994
- Lochard N, Silversides DW, Van Kats JP, Mercure C, Reudelhuber TL. Brain-specific restoration of angiotensin II corrects renal defects seen in angiotensinogen-deficient mice. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:2184–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209933200
- Santos RA, Ferreira AJ, Nadu AP, Braga AN, De Almeida AP, Campagnole-Santos MJ, et al. Expression of an angiotensin-(1-7)-producing fusion protein produces cardioprotective effects in rats. *Physiol Genomics* (2004) 17:292–9. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00227.2003
- 24. Cunha V, Gutierrez J, Correa FM. Biologic activities of iodinated analogues of Tyr0-bradykinin and bradykinin-Ile10-Tyr11 assessed in the rat uterus and the guinea pig ileum. *Gen Pharmacol.* (1996) 27:787–94. doi: 10.1016/0306-3623(95)02104-3
- Popova E, Krivokharchenko A, Ganten D, Bader M. Efficiency of transgenic rat production is independent of transgene-construct and overnight embryo culture. *Theriogenology* (2004) 61:1441–53. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2003.08.006
- Schmitt R, Klussmann E, Kahl T, Ellison DH, Bachmann S. Renal expression of sodium transporters and aquaporin-2 in hypothyroid rats. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2003) 284:F1097–1104. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.0036 8.2002
- Plehm R, Barbosa ME, Bader M. Animal models for hypertension/blood pressure recording. *Methods Mol Med.* (2006) 129:115–26. doi: 10.1385/1-59745-213-0:115
- Schelling P, Ganten U, Sponer G, Unger T, Ganten D. Components of the renin-angiotensin system in the cerebrospinal fluid of rats and dogs with special consideration of the origin and the fate of angiotensin II. *Neuroendocrinology* (1980) 31:297–308. doi: 10.1159/000123092
- Hermann K, Ganten D, Unger T, Bayer C, Lang RE. Measurement and characterization of angiotensin peptides in plasma. *Clin Chem.* (1988) 34:1046–51.
- 30. Bakhle YS. Pulmonary metabolism of bradykinin analogues and the contribution of angiotensin converting enzyme to bradykinin inactivation in isolated lungs. *Br J Pharmacol.* (1977) 59:123–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.1977.tb06985.x
- Sivritas SH, Ploth DW, Fitzgibbon WR. Blockade of renal medullary bradykinin B2 receptors increases tubular sodium reabsorption in rats fed a normal-salt diet. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2008) 295:F811–817. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.90225.2008
- Mamenko M, Zaika O, Boukelmoune N, Madden E, Pochynyuk O. Control of ENaC-mediated sodium reabsorption in the distal nephron by Bradykinin. *Vitam Horm.* (2015) 98:137–54. doi: 10.1016/bs.vh.2014. 12.005
- 33. Ricciardolo FL, Sorbello V, Benedetto S, Defilippi I, Sabatini F, Robotti A, et al. Bradykinin- and lipopolysaccharide-induced bradykinin B2 receptor expression, interleukin 8 release and "nitrosative stress" in bronchial epithelial cells BEAS-2B: role for neutrophils. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2012) 694:30–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2012.07.051
- Schuster VL. Mechanism of bradykinin, ADH, and cAMP interaction in rabbit cortical collecting duct. Am J Physiol. (1985) 249:F645–653. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.1985.249.5.F645
- Stein JH, Congbalay RC, Karsh DL, Osgood RW, Ferris TF. The effect of bradykinin on proximal tubular sodium reabsorption in the dog: evidence for functional nephron heterogeneity. J Clin Invest. (1972) 51:1709–21. doi: 10.1172/JCI106972
- Granger JP, Hall JE. Acute and chronic actions of bradykinin on renal function and arterial pressure. *Am J Physiol.* (1985) 248:F87–92. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.1985.248.1.F87
- Pasquie JL, Herizi A, Jover B, Mimran A. Chronic bradykinin infusion and receptor blockade in angiotensin II hypertension in rats. *Hypertension* (1999) 33:830–4. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.33.3.830
- El-Dahr SS. Spatial expression of the kallikrein-kinin system during nephrogenesis. *Histol Histopathol.* (2004) 19:1301–10. doi: 10.14670/HH-19.1301

- Camacho AA, Salgado MC, Krieger EM. Reversal of hyperreactivity to bradykinin in renal hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* (1990) 15:I140–143. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.15.2\_Suppl.I140
- Badzynska B, Sadowski J. Experimental selective elevation of renal medullary blood flow in hypertensive rats: evidence against short-term hypotensive effect. Acta Physiol. (2012) 205:484–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.2012.02435.x
- Pesquero JB, Araujo RC, Heppenstall PA, Stucky CL, Silva JA Jr, et al. Hypoalgesia and altered inflammatory responses in mice lacking kinin B1 receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2000) 97:8140–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.120035997
- 42. Silva JA Jr, Araujo RC, Baltatu O, Oliveira SM, Tschope C, et al. Reduced cardiac hypertrophy and altered blood pressure control in transgenic rats with the human tissue kallikrein gene. *FASEB J.* (2000) 14:1858–60. doi: 10.1096/fj.99-1010fje
- Milia AF, Gross V., Plehm, R., De Silva, JA Jr, Bader, M., et al. (2001). Normal blood pressure and renal function in mice lacking the bradykinin B(2) receptor. *Hypertension* 37, 1473-1479. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.37.6.1473
- Cayla C, Todiras M, Iliescu R, Saul VV, Gross V, Pilz B, et al. Mice deficient for both kinin receptors are normotensive and protected from endotoxin-induced hypotension. *FASEB J.* (2007) 21:1689–98. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-7175com
- 45. Merino VF, Todiras M, Campos LA, Saul V, Popova E, Baltatu OC, et al. Increased susceptibility to endotoxic shock in transgenic rats with endothelial overexpression of kinin B(1) receptors. *J Mol Med.* (2008) 86:791– 8. doi: 10.1007/s00109-008-0345-z
- Kobori H, Nangaku M, Navar LG, Nishiyama A. The intrarenal reninangiotensin system: from physiology to the pathobiology of hypertension and kidney disease. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2007) 59:251–87. doi: 10.1124/ pr.59.3.3
- 47. Yasuoka Y, Kobayashi M, Sato Y, Nonoguchi H, Tanoue A, Okamoto H, et al. Decreased expression of aquaporin 2 in the collecting duct of mice lacking the vasopressin V1a receptor. *Clin Exp Nephrol.* (2013) 17:183–90. doi: 10.1007/s10157-012-0686-3
- Hori K, Nagai T, Izumi Y, Kimura M, Hasuike Y, Nakayama Y, et al. Vasopressin V1a receptor is required for nucleocytoplasmic transport of mineralocorticoid receptor. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2012) 303:F1080– 1088. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00052.2012

- Libano-Soares JD, Landgraf SS, Gomes-Quintana E, Lopes AG, Caruso-Neves C. Prostaglandin E(2) modulates proximal tubule Na+-ATPase activity: cooperative effect between protein kinase A and protein kinase C. Arch Biochem Biophys. (2011) 507:281–6. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2011.01.003
- Bernstein PL, Ellison DH. Diuretics and salt transport along the nephron. Semin Nephrol. (2011) 31:475–82. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2011.09.002
- Gainer JV, Morrow JD, Loveland A, King DJ, Brown NJ. Effect of bradykinin-receptor blockade on the response to angiotensin-convertingenzyme inhibitor in normotensive and hypertensive subjects. *N Engl J Med.* (1998) 339:1285–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199810293391804
- Schanstra JP, Neau E, Drogoz P, Arevalo Gomez MA, Lopez Novoa JM, Calise D, et al. *In vivo* bradykinin B2 receptor activation reduces renal fibrosis. *J Clin Invest.* (2002) 110:371–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI0215493
- Campbell DJ, Alexiou T, Xiao HD, Fuchs S, Mckinley MJ, Corvol P, et al. Effect of reduced angiotensin-converting enzyme gene expression and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition on angiotensin and bradykinin peptide levels in mice. *Hypertension* (2004) 43:854–9. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000119190.06968.f1
- 54. Seccia TM, Belloni AS, Guidolin D, Sticchi D, Nussdorfer GG, Pessina AC, et al. The renal antifibrotic effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition involve bradykinin B2 receptor activation in angiotensin II-dependent hypertension. J Hypertens (2006) 24:1419–27. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000234124.94013.ac

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Barros, Schadock, Sihn, Rother, Xu, Popova, Lapidus, Plehm, Heuser, Todiras, Bachmann, Alenina, Araujo, Pesquero and Bader. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Sensitization of the Angiotensin II AT1 Receptor Contributes to RKIP-Induced Symptoms of Heart Failure

#### Stefan Wolf<sup>1</sup>, Joshua Abd Alla<sup>1</sup> and Ursula Quitterer<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Molecular Pharmacology, Department of Chemistry and Applied Biosciences, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup> Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Department of Medicine, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Inhibition of the G-protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 (GRK2) is an emerging treatment

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Alvin H. Schmaier, Case Western Reserve University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Francois Alhenc-Gelas, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France Sadashiva Karnik, Cleveland Clinic Lerner College of Medicine, United States

\*Correspondence: Ursula Quitterer ursula.guitterer@pharma.ethz.ch

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 20 September 2018 Accepted: 13 December 2018 Published: 09 January 2019

#### Citation:

Wolf S, Abd Alla J and Quitterer U (2019) Sensitization of the Angiotensin II AT1 Receptor Contributes to RKIP-Induced Symptoms of Heart Failure. Front. Med. 5:359. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00359

approach for heart failure. Therefore, cardio-protective mechanisms induced by GRK2 inhibition are under investigation. We compared two different GRK2 inhibitors, i.e., (i) the dual-specific GRK2 and raf kinase inhibitor protein, RKIP, and (ii) the dominant-negative GRK2-K220R mutant. We found that RKIP induced a strong sensitization of Gg/11-dependent, heart failure-promoting angiotensin II AT1 receptor signaling. The AT1-sensitizing function of RKIP was mediated by the RKIP-GRK2 interaction because the RKIP-S153V mutant, which does not interact with GRK2, had no effect on AT1-stimulated signaling. In contrast, GRK2-K220R significantly inhibited the AT1-stimulated signal. The in vivo relevance of these major differences between two different approaches of GRK2 inhibition was analyzed by generation of transgenic mice with myocardium-specific expression of RKIP and GRK2-K220R. Our results showed that a moderately increased cardiac protein level of RKIP was sufficient to induce major symptoms of heart failure in aged, 8-months-old RKIP-transgenic mice in two different genetic backgrounds. In contrast, GRK2-K220R protected against chronic pressure overload-induced cardiac dysfunction. The AT1 receptor contributed to RKIP-induced heart failure because treatment with the AT1 receptor antagonist, losartan, retarded symptoms of heart failure in RKIP-transgenic mice. Thus, sensitization of the heart failure-promoting AT1 receptor by the RKIP-GRK2 interaction contributes to heart failure whereas dominant-negative GRK2-K220R is cardioprotective. Because RKIP is up-regulated on cardiac biopsy specimens of heart failure patients, the deduced heart failure-promoting mechanism of RKIP could also be relevant for the human disease.

Keywords: GRK2, ADRBK1, RKIP, PEBP1, AGTR1, angiotensin II, Iosartan, heart failure

## INTRODUCTION

The family of G-protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs) initiates the process of signal desensitization by phosphorylation of G-protein-coupled receptors (1, 2). Among different GRKs, the G-protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 (GRK2) is the most important member of the GRK family because functions of GRK2 are indispensable, and complete loss of GRK2 in GRK2-knockout mice is lethal (3). On the other hand, there are multiple lines of evidence, which show that inhibition

32

of exaggerated GRK2 activity in experimental models of heart failure is cardio-protective (4–8). Based on these data, inhibition of GRK2 appears as a promising treatment approach of heart failure (9, 10).

Experimental evidence indicates that a major cardioprotective mechanism induced by GRK2 inhibition relies on resensitization of desensitized beta-adrenoceptors in heart failure (9, 10). In addition, several other cardio-protective mechanisms of GRK2 inhibition were deduced, which include improvement of mitochondrial function and promotion of cardiomyocyte survival (11, 12). Prevention of cardiomyocyte death by GRK2 inhibition was partially attributed to enhancement of the prosurvival Raf-Erk pathway (8, 12).

Apart from inhibition of kinase-dependent functions of GRK2, recent data show that kinase-independent functions of GRK2 are also important for cardio-protection. In this respect, the focus lies on the amino-terminal domain of GRK2, which contains a regulator of G-protein signaling (RGS) domain (13, 14). The RGS domain of GRK2 is functional and inhibits Gq/11-mediated signaling (13, 14), which is an established causative factor of myocardial hypertrophy (15). Consequently, by inhibition of pro-hypertrophic Gq/11-mediated signaling (15), the RGS domain of GRK2 has documented cardioprotective activity (16). It is noteworthy that most approaches of GRK2 inhibition leave this cardioprotective RGS domain of GRK2 intact, i.e., the betaARKct, which inhibits GRK2-mediated receptor phosphorylation by scavenging of G\u00b3 y subunits (4, 5), or ATP-site directed kinase inhibitors such as paroxetine (7, 17). Also, the kinase-inactive GRK2-K220R mutant, which acts as a dominant negative GRK2 mutant, has a preserved amino-terminal RGS domain (18), and shows effective RGS domain-mediated inhibition of Gq/11-stimulated signaling (12). But other approaches of GRK2 inhibition target specifically the amino-terminal domain of GRK2 such as the raf kinase inhibitor protein, RKIP, which is the alias for phosphatidylethanolaminebinding protein 1, PEBP1 (19). Consequently, RKIP could also inhibit the cardioprotective RGS domain of GRK2.

RKIP is an inhibitor of GRK2, which switches from Raf1 to GRK2 by PKC-mediated phosphorylation on serine 153 (19). The serine-153-phosphorylated RKIP interacts with the amino-terminal domain of GRK2 and thereby blunts GRK2mediated phosphorylation of receptor substrates such as the beta-adrenoceptor (19). On the other hand, by interaction with the RGS domain-containing amino-terminus of GRK2, serine-153-phosphorylated RKIP could also interfere with the cardioprotective Gq/11-inhibitory function of the RGS domain (19). As a consequence, the RKIP-GRK2 interaction, would sensitize signaling stimulated by major Gq/11-coupled, heart failure-promoting GPCRs such as the angiotensin II AT1 receptor (20) by a dual mechanism, which involves GRK2 and RGS domain inhibition.

Because RKIP is up-regulated on cardiac biopsy specimens of failing human hearts (21), these potentially detrimental functions of RKIP are of pathophysiological relevance. We addressed this issue and found that RKIP strongly enhanced signaling stimulated by the Gq/11-coupled AT1 receptor in cells. *In vivo*, a moderately increased cardiac RKIP level induced by transgenic

RKIP expression under control of the myocardium-specific alpha-MHC promoter was a sufficient cause for development of major symptoms of heart failure. For comparison, targeting of GRK2 by the dominant-negative GRK2-K220R showed RGSdomain-mediated inhibition of AT1-stimulated signaling in cells, and cardioprotective activity against chronic pressureoverload-induced cardiac dysfunction *in vivo*. In agreement with a causative role of AT1 receptor sensitization in the cardiac phenotype triggered by RKIP, inhibition of the AT1 receptor by the AT1-specific antagonist, losartan, retarded signs of heart failure in RKIP-transgenic mice. Together our data strongly suggest that sensitization of AT1 receptor signaling contributes to RKIP-induced cardiac dysfunction.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Generation of Transgenic Mice**

Different transgenic mouse lines were generated and/or characterized in frame of this study. For transgenic expression of RKIP, the cDNA encoding PEBP1 (phosphatidylethanolaminebinding protein 1, RKIP) was placed under control of the alpha-myosin heavy chain (alpha-MHC) promoter (8). The cDNA encoding GRK2-K220R (ADRBK1K220R) was also inserted into the alpha-MHC plasmid. Plasmid backbone was removed by Not1 digestion. After pronuclear injection of transgenic DNA (2 ng/µL) into fertilized oocytes isolated from super-ovulated B6 (C57BL/6J) or FVB (FVB/NJ) mice, embryo transfer of 2-cell embryos was performed into 0.5day pseudo-pregnant CD-1 foster mice. PCR genotyping of offspring was performed at an age of 3 to 4 weeks with earpunch biopsies. Founder mice of the FO generation with stable integration of the transgenic DNA into the genomic mouse DNA were used for further breeding. Different RKIP-transgenic mouse lines were generated in the B6 (C57BL/6J) background (C57BL/6Tg(MHCPEBP1)1Sjaa; JAX strain ID 911818), and FVB (FVB/NJ) background (FVB/NTg(MHCPEBP1)1Sjaa, JAX strain ID 911819). Tg-GRK2K220R mice were generated in the B6 background (C57BL/6Tg(MHCADRBK1K220R)1Sjaa; JAX strain ID 911825). As indicated, phenotyping of male transgenic mice was performed at an age of 8 months. In addition, 8-weekold male B6 mice were subjected to 2 months of chronic pressure overload imposed by abdominal aortic constriction, AAC (22). At the end of the observation period, AAC-induced chronic pressure overload was controlled and confirmed by an increased systolic aortic pressure (>150 mmHg) as determined by invasive hemodynamic measurement (Micro-Tip<sup>®</sup> Catheter Pressure Transducer 1F, Millar Instruments). The left ventricular ejection fraction was determined under tribromoethanol anesthesia (250 mg/kg body weight; i.p.; freshly prepared and protected from light) by M-mode echocardiography in the parasternal long-axis view with a Vivid 7 echocardiography equipment and a 12 MHz linear array ultrasound transducer (GE Healthcare). Data were evaluated offline with the EchoPac Pc 3.0 software (GE Healthcare) using the formula of Teichholz to calculate the left ventricular ejection fraction (22). Systolic blood pressure was measured with a PowerLab data acquisition system coupled to a pulse transducer/cuff (AD Instruments). All animal experiments were conducted in agreement with the NIH guidelines, and reviewed and approved by the local committee on animal care and use (Cantonal Veterinary office, Zurich).

# Whole Genome Microarray Gene Expression Profiling

For whole genome microarray gene expression profiling, anesthetized mice (ketamine/xylazine, 100 mg/10 mg/kg) were perfused with PBS, hearts from transgenic mice (Tg-RKIP, Tg-GRK2K220R), and non-transgenic B6 controls were isolated, pulverized under liquid nitrogen, and total RNA was isolated by the RNeasy Midi kit according to the protocol of the manufacturer (Qiagen). RNA purity was confirmed by an absorbance ratio A260/280 of ~2.0. The absence of RNA degradation and RNA quality were further controlled by the presence of bright bands of 18S and 28S ribosomal RNA in denaturing RNA electrophoresis. The RNA was reverse transcribed and processed for whole genome microarray gene expression profiling following the Affymetrix protocol (GeneChip Expression Analysis Technical Manual, rev. 5, Affymetrix Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA). Fragmented and biotinlabeled cRNA (15 µg/gene chip) in 200 µl of hybridization solution was hybridized to the microarray gene chip (Mouse Genome MG430 2.0 Array, Affymetrix) in a hybridization oven 640 (Affymetrix) for 16h at 45°C. After washing and staining of gene chips with a Fluidics Station 450 (Affymetrix) according to the GeneChip Expression Analysis Technical Manual, microarrays were scanned with the GeneChip Scanner 7G (Affymetrix), and signals were processed with a target value of 300 using GCOS software version 1.4 (Affymetrix). Cardiac RNA from three mice was pooled for one gene chip, and two gene chips are presented for each group. Such an approach is feasible with inbred mouse lines due to negligible intraindividual variability (23). Probe sets with significantly different signal intensities were identified by TIGR MeV (p < 0.01, just alpha,  $\geq$ 2-fold difference between probe sets with call present and/or signal intensity >100). These selection criteria were specifically validated for treatment effects (23) and follow the guidelines of the MicroArray Quality Control (MAQC) project for the identification of reproducible gene lists (24, 25). Results were similarly obtained with GCOS/RMA-processed data using GeneSpring GX software (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA). Selected transcripts were analyzed after reverse transcription by quantitative real time qRT-PCR using a LightCycler 480 Instrument (Roche). Primers used for qRT-PCR of PEBP1 expression in Tg-RKIP mice did not amplify the mouse Pebp1 (PEBP1 forward 5'-GCA GCA CCC GCT GCA TGT CAC-3'; PEBP1 reverse 5'-CTC GTC ACA CTT TAG CGG CCT G-3'). Microarray gene expression data were deposited to the NCBI GEO database (accession number GSE 120020).

## Immunoblot Detection and Immunohistology

Cardiac protein levels of RKIP (PEBP1, Pebp1), GRK2, and Pparg were determined by immunoblot analysis of hearts isolated

from Tg-RKIP and Tg-GRK2K220R mice. The respective nontransgenic mice (B6 or FVB) were used as controls. Anesthetized mice (ketamine/xylazine, 100 mg/10 mg/kg) were perfused with PBS, hearts were isolated and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen. For protein detection in immunoblot, hearts were pulverized under liquid nitrogen, and proteins were extracted with RIPA buffer supplemented with protease/phosphatase inhibitors. Pellets from AT1 receptor-expressing HEK cells with transfection of expressing plasmids encoding RKIP and GRK2 or mock-transfected cells as indicated were similarly extracted. Particulate material was removed by centrifugation followed by protein precipitation/delipidation with acetone/methanol (12:2; final concentration 83%) for 90 min at 4°C. The precipitate was collected by centrifugation and washed 3 times with 0.2 ml of ice-cold acetone. The pellet was dissolved in SDS sample buffer containing 2% SDS, 0.1 M DTT and 6 M urea by incubation for 90 min at room temperature. Samples were stored at -70°C for further use. Immunoblot detection of proteins was performed after separation of proteins by SDS-PAGE and electrophoretic protein transfer to PVDF membranes. For immunoblot detection of proteins, we used affinity-purified antibodies or F(ab)<sub>2</sub> fragments of the respective antibodies pre-absorbed on mouse/human serum proteins. Bound antibody was visualized with F(ab)<sub>2</sub> fragments of peroxidase-coupled secondary antibodies (pre-absorbed on mouse/human serum proteins) or peroxidase-coupled protein A followed by chemiluminescent western blot detection (ECL Plus or ECL Prime; Amersham). Histological analyses were performed with paraffin-embedded cardiac sections of the different transgenic mouse lines and compared to nontransgenic controls (8). Myocyte cross-sectional diameter was determined by histomorphometrical analysis of hematoxylineosin-stained longitudinal sections of 5 µm thickness. The mean cardiomyocyte cross-sectional diameter (CSD) in the left ventricular free wall was determined by computerized image analysis (Image J) by an observer, who was blinded to the mouse genotype. Cardiomyocyte diameter quantification used 6 different hearts/group with five separate fields of cells on each heart. A total of 100 cardiomyocytes with centered nuclei were evaluated per heart. Immunohistological detection of RKIP was performed on longitudinal cardiac sections after antigen retrieval with affinity-purified polyclonal antibodies raised against full-length, recombinant RKIP. Antibody incubation was performed for 60 min at 37°C in blocking buffer (PBS, pH 7.4, supplemented with 5% bovine serum albumin, 0.05% Tween-20), and unbound antibodies were removed by three washing steps with PBS supplemented with 0.05% Tween 20. After incubation with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (dilution 1:500, Dianova, Hamburg) and removal of unbound antibodies by washing steps, bound antibody was visualized by an enzyme substrate reaction (DAB Enhanced Liquid Substrate System, Sigma). Myocardial necrosis was determined by von Kossa staining (Calcium stain kit, modified Von Kossa No. KT028, Diagnostic Biosystems Pleasanton, CA, USA). A Leica DMI6000 microscope equipped with a DFC 420 camera was used for imaging of (immuno)-histological sections.




# Antibodies

The study used the following antibodies for immunoblotting and immunohistology: polyclonal anti-RKIP antibodies were raised in rabbit against full-length, recombinant RKIP (8); polyclonal anti-phospho-S153-RKIP antibodies were raised in rabbit against an epitope in RKIP encompassing phospho-serine-153 (sc-32623; Santa Cruz Biotechnoloy Inc.); polyclonal anti-GRK2 antibodies were raised in rabbit against full-length, recombinant GRK2 (ADRBK1) protein expressed in and purified from Sf9 cells (12); polyclonal anti-Gnb/GNB antibodies were raised in rabbit against purified GNB (8); polyclonal anti-Pparg antibodies were raised in rabbit against a peptide encompassing amino acids 8-106 of PPARG (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.); polyclonal antibodies against phospho-Ser-273 PPARG were raised against a synthetic phosphopeptide encompassing the phosphorylation site of serine-273 of PPARG (bs-4888R; BIOSS antibodies).

## **Biochemical Assays**

For lipid analysis, frozen hearts were pulverized under liquid nitrogen, and cardiac lipids were extracted (26). Gas chromatography (GC) analysis of cardiac lipids was performed on a gas chromatograph (Focus, Thermo Scientific) equipped with a DB-23 column (Agilent J&W). After transesterification of cardiac lipids, fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) were detected by a flame ionization detector and identified by comparison with a mixture of commercial FAME reference standards (Supelco 37 component FAME mix, Sigma Aldrich). For quantitative lipid analysis, an internal standard was included. Cardiac TAG (triacylglycerol) contents were determined by a commercial kit (TR0100; Sigma). Cardiac DAG (diacylglycerol) and ceramide contents were quantified by the DAG kinase method (8, 27). The urinary albumin to creatinine ratio (ACR) was determined by commercial kits (BCG albumin assay kit MAK124; creatinine assay kit MAK080; Sigma). Number of cardiac AT1 receptor binding sites was determined with cardiac membranes by radioligand binding assay with Sar<sup>1</sup>,[<sup>125</sup>I]Tyr<sup>4</sup>,Ile<sup>8</sup>-angiotensin II (2200 Ci/mmol) in the presence and absence of a 1,000-fold molar excess of losartan to determine non-specific binding. HEK cells were cultured and transfected with expression plasmids encoding the AT1 receptor (AGTR1), GRK2 (ADRBK1), GRK2-K220R, RKIP (PEBP1), and RKIP-S153V as described (12, 28). Total cellular inositol phosphate levels were determined of HEK cells with stable AT1 receptor expression, which were transfected with the indicated expression plasmids (28). Endogenously expressed human RKIP (PEBP1) of AT1 receptorexpressing HEK cells, and transgenic RKIP (PEBP1) of Tg-RKIP mice were down-regulated by transfection/transduction of a plasmid/lentivirus with an engineered pre-miRNA, which targets PEBP1 by RNA interference (RNAi). The following double-stranded oligonucleotides, which encode an engineered pre-miRNA targeting human RKIP (PEBP1) by RNAi were inserted into pcDNA6.2-GW/miR for down-regulation of endogenous RKIP in HEK cells and pLenti6/V5-Dest Gateway (Invitrogen) for generation of a lentiviral expression plasmid to down-regulate human RKIP in Tg-RKIP mice: miPEBP1-top 5'-TGC TGT GTA GAG CTT CCC TGA ATC AAG TTT TGG CCA CTG ACT GAC TTG ATT CAG AAG CTC TAC A-3'; and miPEBP1-bottom 5'-CCT GTG TAG AGC TTC TGA ATC AAG TCA GTC AGT GGC CAA AAC TTG ATT CAG GGA AGC TCT ACA C-3'. For lentiviral transduction of mice, a pseudotyped lentivirus was generated as described (8). By a similar RNAi-mediated approach, endogenously expressed GRK2 of HEK cells was down-regulated (12). Neonatal mouse cardiomyocytes were isolated from Tg-RKIP mice, Tg-GRK2-K220R mice, and non-transgenic B6 controls as described (8). Cellular cAMP levels of isolated neonatal cardiomyocytes (without and with stimulation by 100 nM isoproterenol) were determined using a commercial kit (CA200, Sigma Aldrich).

## **Statistical Analysis**

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  s.d. Statistical significance between two groups was calculated by the unpaired, two-tailed Student's *t*-test. For comparisons between more than two groups, analysis of variance followed by a Post-test as indicated was performed. Statistical significance was set at a *p*-value of <0.05 unless otherwise stated. Statistical evaluation was performed with GraphPad PRISM 7.0a. Whole genome gene expression data were analyzed by TIGR Multi Experiment Viewer MeV.

# RESULTS

## RKIP Promotes AT1 Receptor Sensitization Whereas GRK2-K220R Inhibits AT1-Stimulated Signaling

RKIP interacts with the amino-terminal domain of GRK2 and thereby blunts the interaction of GRK2 with receptor substrates, with subsequent inhibition of receptor phosphorylation and desensitization [Figure 1A and (19)]. The amino-terminal domain of GRK2 also contains an intact RGS domain (Figure 1A), which blunts Gq/11-dependent signal transduction (13, 14). We investigated the impact of RKIP on signaling mediated by the heart failure-promoting, Gq/11-coupled angiotensin II AT1 receptor. For in vitro experiments, we used HEK cells as a model system because these cells are widely used to study mechanisms of signal transduction, notably signaling events triggered by the AT1 receptor, GRK2 and RKIP (12, 19, 28). We found that RKIP led to a significantly enhanced angiotensin II AT1-stimulated inositol phosphate generation in HEK cells (Figure 1B). This signal sensitization of the AT1 receptor was mediated by the RKIP-GRK2 interaction because the RKIP-S153V mutant, which cannot switch from Raf1 to GRK2 (19), had no effect on the AT1 signal (Figure 1B). As a control, RKIP and RKIP-S153V protein levels were comparable (Figure 1B).

In contrast to RKIP, the GRK2-K220R mutant, which acts as a dominant-negative mutant of GRK2 (**Figure 1A**), led to a strong inhibition of the AT1-stimulated signal (**Figure 1C**). Inhibition of the Gq/11-coupled AT1 receptor was similarly observed with wild-type GRK2 (**Figure 1C**). This experiment confirms that the Gq/11-inhibitory activity of GRK2 is a kinase-independent effect.

# Physiological RKIP Levels Are Sufficient to Sensitize AT1-Stimulated Signaling in Cells

We asked whether physiological protein levels of RKIP are sufficient to sensitize the AT1-stimulated response, and downregulated endogenously expressed RKIP by transfection of a pre-miRNA targeting RKIP (*PEBP1*) by RNAi. Upon RNAimediated down-regulation of endogenously expressed RKIP, the AT1-stimulated inositol phosphate generation was significantly decreased (**Figure 2A**). As a control, down-regulation of endogenously expressed RKIP was confirmed by immunoblot analysis (**Figure 2A**). This experiment shows that physiological RKIP levels are sufficient to sensitize the angiotensin II AT1 receptor because down-regulation of RKIP led to a decreased AT1 response.

We also down-regulated the endogenously expressed GRK2 by RNAi (**Figure 2B**). In contrast to RKIP, down-regulation of GRK2 led to a significantly increased AT1-stimulated signal (**Figure 2B**). This finding shows that endogenously expressed GRK2 inhibits the Gq/11-coupled AT1 receptor. Together these experiments reveal that RKIP sensitizes the heart failurepromoting AT1 receptor whereas endogenously expressed GRK2 and the kinase-deficient GRK2-K220R mutant inhibit AT1stimulated signaling.

# Myocardium-Specific Expression of RKIP Induces Cardiac Dysfunction Whereas GRK2-K220R Improves Cardiac Function

In view of these major differences between two different approaches of GRK2 inhibition with RKIP and GRK2-K220R, we compared the two inhibitors *in vivo*. We generated transgenic mice with myocardium-specific expression of RKIP and GRK2-K220R under control of the alpha-MHC promoter in B6 background (**Figures 3A–C**). The cardiac RKIP protein levels of two different RKIP-transgenic mouse lines, Tg-RKIP2 and Tg-RKIP3, were increased 3.5-fold and 2.9-fold, respectively, over non-transgenic B6 controls (**Figure 3A**). RKIP-transgenic mice were compared with Tg-GRK2K220R mice, which showed a  $3.4 \pm 0.46$ -fold increased cardiac GRK2-K220R protein level compared to non-transgenic B6 controls (**Figure 3B**).

We analyzed the cardiac phenotype of 8-months-old transgenic mice with myocardium-specific expression of RKIP and GRK2-K220R, respectively (Figure 3C). Eight-months-old Tg-RKIP mice developed signs of heart failure in the absence of additional stressors (Figures 3D-I). Heart failure in Tg-RKIP mice was documented by a significantly decreased left ventricular ejection fraction of 28.2  $\pm$  4.2% and 37.0  $\pm$  3.6% in Tg-RKIP2 and Tg-RKIP3 mouse lines, respectively (Figure 3D). In addition to cardiac dysfunction, echocardiographic data showed that Tg-RKIP hearts were enlarged with significantly increased left ventricular end-diastolic (LVEDD) and endsystolic diameters (LVESD) compared to non-transgenic B6 mice while interventricular septal thickness at diastole (IVSD) was not significantly different (Figure 3E). The phenotype of cardiac hypertrophy in Tg-RKIP mice compared to nontransgenic B6 controls was further documented by an increased heart-to-body weight ratio (Figure 3F). Histological analysis of



down-regulation of endogenously expressed proteins by immunoblot detection of RKIP (A) and GRK2 (B). Data represent mean  $\pm$  s.d. (n = 4). See also **Supplementary Figures 2A,B**.

Tg-RKIP2 hearts confirmed these data and showed a phenotype of cardiac hypertrophy with dilatation (**Figure 3G**). Histological analysis further documented significant cardiac fibrosis and cardiomyocyte necrosis in Tg-RKIP2 hearts (**Figures 3H,I**). This histological characterization of Tg-RKIP mice complements functional data and shows that cardiac dysfunction in Tg-RKIP mice was accompanied by severe myocardial damage, which develops during the pathogenesis of heart failure as a consequence of maladaptive cardiac remodeling.

In contrast to Tg-RKIP mice, transgenic mice with myocardium-specific expression of the kinase-inactive GRK2-K220R mutant had a slightly improved cardiac function and showed no signs of cardiac hypertrophy (**Figures 3D-F**).



**FIGURE 3** | detection of GRK2/GRK2-K220R in non-transgenic B6 and Tg-GRK2K220R mice [ $\pm$ s.d., n = 3 (B6) and n = 5 (K220R); <sup>\*\*</sup> p = 0.0097]. **(C)** Scheme of expression plasmid used for generation of Tg-RKIP and Tg-GRK2K220R mice with myocardium-specific expression of RKIP and GRK2-K220R under control of the alpha-MHC promoter. **(D)** Left ventricular ejection fraction (EF) of different eight-months-old transgenic mouse lines compared to age-matched, non-transgenic B6 controls ( $\pm$ s.d., n = 5; <sup>\*\*\*</sup>p < 0.001, and <sup>\*</sup>p < 0.05 vs. B6; Dunnett's test). **(E)** Left ventricular end-diastolic diameter (left), left ventricular end-systolic diameter (middle), and interventricular septal thickness (right) of B6, Tg-RKIP2, Tg-RKIP3, and Tg-GRK2K220R mice ( $\pm$ s.d., n = 5; <sup>\*\*\*</sup>p < 0.001 vs. B6; Dunnett's test). **(F)** Heart-to-body weight ratio of different transgenic lines compared to non-transgenic B6 mouse and a Tg-GRK2K220R mouse. Sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) and are representative of six mice/group (bar: 2 mm). (H,I) Cardiac fibrosis was determined by picrosirius red staining **(H)**, and myocardial necrosis was assessed by von Kossa stain **(I)** of Tg-RKIP2 and Tg-GRK2K220R mice compared to non-transgenic B6 mice. Left panels show quantitative data evaluation ( $\pm$ s.d.; n = 6 mice/group; <sup>\*\*\*</sup>p < 0.001 vs. B6; Dunnett's test), and right panels show representative histological sections (bar: 40 µm). See also **Supplementary Figures 3A,B**.

The histological analysis confirmed the normal phenotype of Tg-GRK2K220R hearts, which was not different from non-transgenic B6 controls (Figures 3G–I). Notably, there was no evidence of cardiac hypertrophy and cardiac dilatation in Tg-GRK2K220R mice (Figures 3E–G).

# Major Symptoms of Heart Failure With Pulmonary Congestion and Renal Dysfunction in Tg-RKIP Mice

Cardiac dysfunction of Tg-RKIP mice was accompanied by major symptoms of heart failure. RKIP-mediated sensitization of pro-hypertrophic AT1-stimulated signaling in Tg-RKIP2 hearts could contribute to the significantly enlarged cardiomyocyte cross-sectional diameter (Figures 4A,B), which is a major factor accounting for maladaptive remodeling in heart failure. In agreement with excessive AT1-stimulated signaling and complementary to human heart biopsy specimens from heart failure patients (29, 30), the AT1 receptor was down-regulated in Tg-RKIP2 hearts (Figure 4C). This decrease in cardiac AT1 receptor content could be a direct consequence of RKIP-induced sensitization of AT1-stimulated signaling (cf. Figure 1), because AT1-stimulated signaling is a causative factor of AT1 downregulation (31, 32). In contrast, Tg-GRK2K220R mice did not show cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (Figures 4A,B). Moreover, transgenic GRK2-K220R expression did not lead to decreased cardiac AT1 receptor levels (Figure 4C).

Symptoms of heart failure with severe cardiac dysfunction in Tg-RKIP2 mice were accompanied by an increased systolic blood pressure (Figure 4D). Concomitantly, histological lung sections of Tg-RKIP2 mice showed signs of pulmonary congestion with alveolar septal thickening, which was absent in healthy, non-transgenic B6 controls, and Tg-GRK2K220R mice (Figure 4E). Pulmonary congestion was confirmed by an increased lung weight and lung-to-body weight ratio of Tg-RKIP2 mice compared to B6 and Tg-GRK2-K220R mice (Figure 4F, Supplementary Figure 4). Congestive heart failure was further documented by a significantly increased body weight of Tg-RKIP2 mice (Figure 4G). In addition, heart failure in Tg-RKIP2 mice led to symptoms of renal insufficiency with significant proteinuria (Figure 4H). Taken together, a moderately increased cardiac RKIP level is a sufficient cause for the development of major systemic symptoms of chronic congestive heart failure in aged Tg-RKIP mice.

# Up-Regulation of Heart Failure-Related *Pparg* Target Genes in Tg-RKIP Hearts

We performed cardiac whole genome microarray gene expression profiling to analyze mechanisms underlying the different phenotype caused by transgenic expression of two GRK2 inhibitors, RKIP and GRK2-K220R (**Figure 5A**). Microarray gene expression analysis identified highly upregulated genes ( $\geq$ 6-fold) in Tg-RKIP hearts compared to non-transgenic B6 controls (**Figure 5B**). Most of these highly up-regulated genes are targets of the adipogenic and heart failure-promoting transcription factor, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma, *Pparg*, and have documented relationship to heart failure (**Figure 5B**). In contrast to Tg-RKIP hearts, transgenic expression of GRK2-K220R did not up-regulate any of these heart failure-promoting genes (**Figure 5B**).

# Activation of *Pparg*, and Cardiotoxic Lipid Load in Tg-RKIP but Not in Tg-GRK2K220R Hearts

The up-regulation of *Pparg* targets was accompanied by a significantly decreased phosphorylation of Pparg on serine-273 in Tg-RKIP hearts (**Figure 6A**). This finding is relevant because dephosphorylation of Pparg on serine-273 leads to an enhanced *Pparg* transcriptional activity (8, 33). In contrast, *Pparg* was not activated in Tg-GRK2K20R hearts, and the content of serine-273-phosphorylated Pparg in Tg-GRK2K220R hearts was comparable to B6 control level (**Figure 6A**).

Together with an enhanced activation of the adipogenic *Pparg*, Tg-RKIP hearts had an increased cardiac protein content of the major palmitate-synthesizing enzyme and *Pparg* target, fatty acid synthase, Fasn (**Figures 6B,C**).

Lipid analysis showed that cardiac lipid contents of palmitate, TAG (triacylglycerol), DAG (diacylglycerol), and ceramide were also significantly higher in Tg-RKIP hearts compared to non-transgenic B6 control hearts and Tg-GRK2K220R hearts (**Figures 6D–H**). In addition to palmitate, DAG and ceramide are also cardiotoxic lipid species, which could contribute to cardiac degeneration and cardiomyocyte loss in Tg-RKIP hearts (8, 27, 34).

# **RKIP Induces Symptoms of Heart Failure in FVB Background**

Because cardiac effects induced by RKIP in mice could depend on the genetic background (35), we generated transgenic



representative of six mice each (bar: 40  $\mu$ m). (F) Increased lung weight of Tg-RKIP2 compared to B6 and Tg-GRK2K220R mice. (G,H) Increased body weight (G), and renal insufficiency with proteinuria (H) of Tg-RKIP2 mice compared to non-transgenic B6 and Tg-GRK2K220R mice. Data represent the mean ±s.d. (n = 6; \*p < 0.05 vs. B6; \*\*p < 0.01 vs. B6 (B,D,G) and K220R (B,C,D,G); \*\*\*p < 0.001 vs. B6 and K220R; Tukey's test]. See also Supplementary Figure 4.

mice with a moderately increased cardiac RKIP protein level in the FVB background (**Figure 7A**). Two different transgenic lines were generated, which showed 2.7  $\pm$  0.3-fold and 3.3  $\pm$  0.4-fold increased cardiac RKIP protein levels over the non-transgenic FVB control (**Figure 7A**). Immunohistological analysis confirmed the increased cardiac RKIP protein content in an 8-months-old Tg-RKIP heart compared to the non-transgenic FVB control (**Figure 7B**).

Tg-RKIP mice with FVB background developed cardiac hypertrophy, which was detected by an increased heart-to-body weight ratio of 8-months-old mice (**Figure 7C**). Concomitantly, Tg-RKIP mice with FVB background showed symptoms of heart failure, which was documented by a severely decreased left ventricular ejection fraction of  $30.4 \pm 3.5\%$  and  $25.1 \pm 4.7\%$  in Tg-RKIP1 and Tg-RKIP2 mice (**Figure 7D**). Echocardiographic data confirmed that Tg-RKIP mice with FVB background had significant cardiac hypertrophy at an age of



up-regulated genes ( $\geq$ 6-fold up-regulation in Tg-RKIP hearts compared to B6 hearts;  $\rho < 0.01$ ; with call present and/or signal intensity  $\geq$ 100) in Tg-RKIP hearts have documented relationship to heart failure (HF), are *Pparg* targets [(\*): *Pparg*)], and/or are induced by *Pparg* serine-273 phosphorylation (\*:*Pparg*-pS273).

8 months (Figure 7E). Cardiac enlargement was documented by significantly increased left ventricular end-diastolic and endsystolic diameters of Tg-RKIP compared to non-transgenic FVB mice (Figure 7E). As a control, interventricular septal thickness was not significantly different between study groups (Figure 7E).

Histological assessment of hearts from two different RKIPtransgenic mouse lines in FVB background complemented this phenotype and showed massive cardiac hypertrophy with dilatation (**Figure 7F**). Histomorphological analysis confirmed the phenotype of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy by a significantly increased cardiomyocyte cross-sectional diameter in Tg-RKIP mice compared to non-transgenic FVB mice (**Figure 7G**). Similarly to Tg-RKIP mice with B6 background (cf. **Figure 4**), aged Tg-RKIP mice with FVB background progressed to chronic congestive heart failure with a significantly elevated systolic blood pressure, proteinuria and an increased body weight with pulmonary congestion, which was documented by an increased lung weight and lung-to-body weight ratio (**Figures 7H–J**).

The RKIP-induced cardiac hypertrophy and cardiac dysfunction were (partially) prevented by down-regulation of RKIP with lentiviral transduction of an miRNA targeting the RKIP (*PEBP1*) by RNA interference (**Figures 7K,L**). These experiments confirm that the heart failure phenotype in Tg-RKIP mice was caused by transgenic expression of RKIP. The data also indicate that heart failure symptoms induced by an increased cardiac RKIP level can be counteracted by RKIP down-regulation. Because RKIP levels are increased in failing human hearts (21), this finding could be relevant to the human disease.

# **RKIP** Promotes Cardiac Lipid Overload in **FVB** Background

In addition to symptoms of chronic congestive heart failure, Tg-RKIP mice with FVB background also developed cardiac lipid overload (**Figures 8A–E**). Analysis of cardiac fatty acid composition by gas chromatography (GC) indicated that palmitate was the major lipid in Tg-RKIP hearts (**Figures 8A,B**). Other cardiotoxic lipid species such as ceramide and DAG were also significantly increased in Tg-RKIP hearts with FVB background (**Figures 8D,E**). Together these findings show that a moderately increased cardiac RKIP protein level is sufficient to promote symptoms of congestive heart failure, cardiac hypertrophy with dilatation and cardiotoxic lipid load in two different genetic backgrounds, i.e., B6 and FVB.

# RKIP and GRK2-K220R Act as GRK2 Inhibitors *in vivo*

RKIP is a dual-specific inhibitor of GRK2 and the Raf-Erk1/2 axis (19). By PKC-mediated phosphorylation on serine-153, RKIP switches from Raf1 to GRK2 (19). Because the PKC-activating DAG was strongly increased in Tg-RKIP hearts, we investigated whether RKIP acted as GRK2 inhibitor *in vivo*, in Tg-RKIP mice with signs of heart failure. In agreement with an increased DAG load, immunoblot detection revealed a strongly increased content of serine-153-phosporylated RKIP in Tg-RKIP hearts compared to non-transgenic B6 controls (**Figure 9A**).

The serine-153 phosphorylation-dependent transformation of RKIP into a GRK2 inhibitor was accompanied by sensitization of cAMP signaling in isolated cardiomyocytes upon stimulation by the beta-adrenoceptor agonist, isoproterenol, (**Figure 9B**). In addition, sensitized cAMP signaling was also detected *in vivo* by a significant up-regulation of the cAMP-inducible gene, *Ttc14* [tetratricopeptide repeat protein 14; (36)], (**Figure 9C**). RKIP-mediated sensitization of cAMP signaling in Tg-RKIP cardiomyocytes and hearts was comparable to effects seen with the dominant-negative GRK2-K220R mutant in Tg-GRK2K220R cardiomyocytes and hearts (**Figures 9B,C**). Taken together, RKIP acts as GRK2 inhibitor *in vivo* and mediates sensitization of cAMP signaling similarly as the dominant-negative GRK2-K220R mutant.



# Concordant Gene Regulation in Tg-RKIP and Tg-GRK2K220R Hearts

We analyzed the impact of GRK2 inhibition by RKIP and GRK2-K220R on cardiac gene expression. Whole genome microarray gene expression profiling data showed concordant gene regulation in Tg-RKIP and Tg-GRK2K220R hearts (**Figures 10A,B**). Notably, 46% of all genes regulated by the dominant-negative GRK2-K220R mutant in Tg-GRK2K220R hearts were also concordantly regulated by RKIP in Tg-RKIP hearts (**Figure 10A**). These data further support the notion that moderate transgenic expression levels of RKIP and GRK2-K220R induce comparable GRK2 inhibition in transgenic mice.

# Dominant-Negative GRK2-K220R Retards Chronic Pressure Overload-Induced Cardiac Dysfunction

We asked whether GRK2-K220R was cardio-protective in a model of heart failure induced by chronic pressure overload imposed by abdominal aortic constriction, AAC. As a control

for cardioprotective GRK2 inhibition, we used Tg-GRKInh mice with myocardium-specific expression of a cardioprotective GRK2-inhibitory peptide derived from the first intracellular loop of the beta2-adrenoceptor, which is known to retard AACinduced cardiac dysfunction (8, 12). Systolic aortic pressure of B6, Tg-GRK2K220R and Tg-GRKInh mice was comparable under basal conditions (Figure 11A). At the end of the observation period, AAC-induced chronic pressure overload was controlled and confirmed by a significantly increased systolic aortic pressure (>150 mmHg), which was not different between study groups (Figure 11A). The transgenic expression of dominant-negative GRK2-K220R in Tg-GRK2K220R mice significantly retarded the development of cardiac dysfunction induced by 8 weeks of AAC compared to non-transgenic B6 controls (Figures 11B,C). The cardioprotective effect of transgenic GRK2-K220R expression was comparable to GRK2 inhibition by transgenic expression of GRKInh (Figures 11B,C). Echocardiographic data further documented that inhibition of GRK2 by GRK2-K220R and GRKInh significantly inhibited the development of AACinduced dilative cardiac hypertrophy, i.e., the left ventricular end-diastolic and end-systolic dimensions were significantly





**FIGURE 7** | FVB control mice (±s.d.; n = 5; \*\*\*p < 0.001 vs. FVB; Dunnett's test). (F) Histological analysis of cardiac sections shows cardiac hypertrophy with dilatation in Tg-RKIP1 and Tg-RKIP2 hearts. (G). Cardiomyocyte cross-sectional diameter (G), systolic blood pressure (H), and urinary albumin to creatinine ratio, ACR (I) in Tg-RKIP1, Tg-RKIP2, and non-transgenic FVB mice. (J) Increased body weight (left), lung weight (middle), and lung-to-body weight ratio (right) in Tg-RKIP1 and Tg-RKIP2 mice compared to non-transgenic FVB mice (±s.d.; n = 6; \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < 0.001 vs. FVB; Dunnett's test). (K,L) 4 weeks of RKIP down-regulation by lentiviral transduction of an miRNA targeting RKIP by RNAi retards the development of cardiac dysfunction in 10-week-old (10 w) Tg-RKIP2 mice (K). Panel (L) documents the down-regulation of cardiac RKIP (*PEBP1*) expression in miRKIP-transduced Tg-RKIP2 mice by qRT-PCR (±s.d.; n = 5; \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*p < 0.01, and \*p < 0.05 vs. FVB; Dunnett's test). See also Supplementary Figure 6.



smaller in Tg-GRK2K220R and Tg-GRKInh mice compared to non-transgenic B6 mice whereas the interventricular septal thickness was not significantly different between study groups (**Figures 11D–F**). Together these findings present strong evidence that inhibition of GRK2 by dominant-negative GRK2-K220R exerts protection against cardiac dysfunction induced by chronic pressure overload.



**FIGURE 9** | RKIP and GRK2-K220R act as GRK2 inhibitors *in vivo*. (A) Immunoblot detection of RKIP phosphorylation on serine-153 and total cardiac RKIP content in 8-months-old Tg-RKIP compared to non-transgenic B6 hearts ( $\pm$ s.d.; *n* = 5 Tg-RKIP; *n* = 4, B6). (**B**,**C**) Sensitization of the isoproterenol-stimulated cAMP response in neonatal cardiomyocytes isolated from Tg-RKIP and Tg-GRK2K220R mice compared to non-transgenic B6 cardiomyocytes (**B**), and increased cardiac expression of the cAMP-inducible gene, *Ttc14*, in Tg-RKIP, and Tg-GRK2K220R hearts (**C**). Data represent mean  $\pm$ s.d. (*n* = 6, **B**; *n* = 3, **C**; \*\*\**p* < 0.001 vs. B6; Dunnett's test). See also **Supplementary Figure 8**.



# Inhibition of the AT1 Receptor Retards RKIP-Induced Symptoms of Heart Failure

We finally investigated whether the AT1 receptor contributed to RKIP-induced symptoms of heart failure *in vivo*. To address this question, we treated Tg-RKIP mice for 3 months with the AT1-specific antagonist, losartan, at a dose of 5 mg/kg/day. The applied dose of losartan does not alter systolic blood pressure in mice (37). Treatment with losartan, significantly retarded the development of RKIP-induced cardiac hypertrophy as evidenced by a significantly decreased heart-to-body weight ratio, the histological assessment, and the histomorphological analysis of cardiomyocyte size (Figures 12A–C). Concomitantly, losartan treatment led to an improved cardiac function, which was documented by a significantly increased left ventricular ejection fraction (Figure 12D). Echocardiographic data further documented that inhibition of the pro-hypertrophic AT1 receptor by losartan treatment counteracted the phenotype of cardiac hypertrophy in Tg-RKIP mice (Figure 12D). Together these data provide strong evidence that sensitization of AT1 receptor signaling contributes to RKIP-induced cardiac hypertrophy and cardiac dysfunction.



**FIGURE 11** | Dominant-negative GRK2-K220R retards chronic pressure overload-induced cardiac dysfunction. (A) Systolic aortic pressure of B6, Tg-K220R and Tg-GRKInh mice under basal conditions and at the end of the observation period after 2 months of AAC ( $\pm$ s.d.; n = 6; \*\*\*p < 0.001 vs. B6; Dunnett's test). (B) Representative echocardiographic images in 2D mode (upper) and M-mode (lower) of B6, Tg-GRK2K220R and Tg-GRKInh mice with 2 months of chronic pressure overload imposed by AAC. (C–F) Left ventricular ejection fraction (C), interventricular septal thickness (D), LVEDD (E) and LVESD (F) were determined by echocardiography of B6, Tg-GRK2K220R and Tg-GRKInh mice at the end of the observation period after 8 weeks of AAC ( $\pm$ s.d.; n = 6; \*\*\*p < 0.001; Dunnett's test).

# DISCUSSION

In this study, we found that kinase-inactive GRK2K220R improves cardiac performance under basal conditions and exerts protection against chronic pressure overload-induced cardiac dysfunction. These findings with the GRK2-K220R mutant



reflect the *in vivo* effects of a kinase-inhibited GRK2, which can be similarly achieved by a small molecule GRK2 inhibitor. In this respect our data with the kinase-inactive GRK2-K220R extend previous studies on the cardioprotective function of GRK2 inhibition, which is documented by different approaches of GRK2 inactivation, e.g., GRK2 deficiency (6), transgenic expression of the G $\beta\gamma$ -scavenging betaARKct (5, 9), the beta2-adrenoceptor-derived peptide, GRKInh (8, 12), and inhibition of GRK2 by an ATP-site-directed inhibitor (7).

Our study also shows that not all approaches of GRK2 inhibition are cardioprotective. In contrast to cardioprotective GRK2 inhibition with kinase-inactive GRK2-K220R, transgenic expression of the dual-specific GRK2 and Raf-Erk1/2 axis inhibitor, RKIP, promoted signs of heart failure, i.e., cardiac hypertrophy, cardiac dilatation and cardiotoxic lipid load. In addition, symptoms of chronic congestive heart failure were evident in Tg-RKIP mice as documented by pulmonary congestion with increased lung and body weight, kidney insufficiency with proteinuria, and elevated systolic pressure. RKIP-induced signs of heart failure were similarly observed in two different genetic backgrounds, i.e., B6 and FVB.

Signs of heart failure developed in RKIP-transgenic mice despite of significant GRK2 inhibition. Experimental data showed that GRK2 inhibition-induced sensitization of the cAMP signal was comparable between Tg-RKIP and Tg-GRK2K220R cardiomyocytes and hearts. Also, the phosphorylation of RKIP on serine-153 was significant in Tg-RKIP hearts, which is required for RKIP to act as GRK2 inhibitor. Nevertheless, the GRK2inhibitory activity of RKIP was insufficient to protect against RKIP-induced heart failure.

In this study, several lines of evidence are presented, which show that sensitization of the AT1 receptor contributes to the observed RKIP-induced symptoms of heart failure. (I) RKIP led to increased AT1 receptor-stimulated inositol phosphate levels in cells. This AT1-sensitization was mediated by the RKIP-GRK2 interaction because the RKIP-S153V mutant, which cannot switch from Raf1 to GRK2, did not sensitize the AT1 receptor response. (II) RNAi-mediated down-regulation of RKIP demonstrated that endogenously expressed RKIP levels were sufficient to sensitize the AT1-stimulated signal. (III) Tg-RKIP mice with symptoms of heart failure showed down-regulation of the cardiac AT1 receptor content, which could be triggered by RKIP-mediated AT1 receptor sensitization because excessive AT1-mediated signaling down-regulates AT1 (31, 32). In this respect, Tg-RKIP mice resemble human patients with heart failure (29, 30). (IV) Tg-RKIP mice with myocardium-specific RKIP expression developed cardiac hypertrophy with dilatation, and cardiac dysfunction, and these symptoms of heart failure were retarded by treatment with the AT1-specific antagonist, losartan.

In addition to the heart failure-promoting effect of RKIPtriggered AT1 receptor sensitization, which was attributed to the RKIP-GRK2 interaction, symptoms of RKIP-induced heart failure could be aggravated by additional functions of RKIP. Notably, the severity of RKIP-induced symptoms of heart failure could be a consequence of the dual activity of RKIP as GRK2 and Raf1-Erk1/2 axis inhibitor. While AT1 receptor sensitization is largely mediated by the RKIP-GRK2 interaction, the development of cardiotoxic lipid load is attributed to Raf-Erk1/2 pathway inhibition, which leads to heart failure-promoting and adipogenic Pparg activation by inhibition of Pparg phosphorylation on serine-273 (8, 33). As a consequence, cardiotoxic lipid load occurs with accumulation of the PKC-activating DAG, which accounts for RKIP serine-153 phosphorylation and the RKIP-GRK2 interaction. The ensuing RKIP-GRK2 interaction not only restores the beta-adrenoceptor responsiveness but also triggers cardiotoxic AT1 receptor signaling. In addition, DAG-mediated activation of PKC is per se an independent contributor to heart failure (38).

Exaggerated cardiotoxic  $G\alpha q/11$ -stimulated calcium signaling seems to be a specific feature of RKIP because RKIP shields the amino-terminal domain of GRK2, which contains a cardioprotective and  $G\alpha q/11$ -inhibitory RGS domain (13, 14). In contrast to RKIP, established cardioprotective GRK2 inhibitors do not interfere with this RGS domain of GRK2. ATP-site-directed GRK2 inhibitors such as paroxetine, inhibit the kinase activity of GRK2 but leave kinase-independent functions of GRK2 intact, e.g., mediated by the  $G\alpha q/11$ inhibitory RGS domain. Also, the betaARKct inhibits GRK2 by G $\beta\gamma$  subunit scavenging but retains the activity of the RGS domain (4).

The heart failure-promoting activity of RKIP in transgenic mouse models could also be relevant for the human disease because cardiac biopsy specimens from heart failure patients have an increased cardiac RKIP content (21). Notably, RKIP expression levels in several transgenic mouse models with two different genetic backgrounds, were comparable to the increased RKIP level found on human heart biopsy specimens of heart failure patients (21). Because down-regulation of an increased RKIP level in transgenic mice retarded the development of heart failure, RKIP inhibition could be considered as a potential target for development of a pharmacological treatment approach of heart failure. The recently elucidated beneficial and cellprotective side-effect profile of RKIP deficiency and/or RKIP inhibition further supports such a concept (39).

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Whole genome expression data generated and analyzed for this study can be found in the NCBI GEO database (accession number GSE 120020).

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SW and JA performed experiments. JA generated transgenic mice. UQ: conducted the study, designed experiments, and wrote the manuscript. All authors evaluated data, read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This work was supported in part by Schweizerischer Nationalfonds zur Förderung der Wissenschaftlichen Forschung Grant 310030 169354 (to UQ).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank James Gulick for alpha-MHC plasmid.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2018.00359/full#supplementary-material

# REFERENCES

- Benovic JL, DeBlasi A, Stone WC, Caron MG, Lefkowitz RJ. Beta-adrenergic receptor kinase: primary structure delineates a multigene family. *Science* (1989) 246:235–40. doi: 10.1126/science.2552582
- Komolov KE, Benovic JL. G protein-coupled receptor kinases: past, present and future. *Cell Signal.* (2018) 41:17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2017. 07.004
- Jaber M, Koch WJ, Rockman H, Smith B, Bond RA, Sulik KK, et al. Essential role of beta-adrenergic receptor kinase 1 in cardiac development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1996) 93:12974–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.23. 12974
- Koch WJ, Rockman HA, Samama P, Hamilton RA, Bond RA, Milano CA, et al. Cardiac function in mice overexpressing the beta-adrenergic receptor kinase or a beta ARK inhibitor. *Science* (1995) 268:1350–3. doi: 10.1126/science.7761854
- Rockman HA, Chien KR, Choi DJ, Iaccarino G, Hunter JJ, Ross J Jr, et al. Expression of a beta-adrenergic receptor kinase 1 inhibitor prevents the development of myocardial failure in gene-targeted mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (1998) 95:7000–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.12.7000
- Raake PW, Vinge LE, Gao E, Boucher M, Rengo G, Chen X, et al. G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 ablation in cardiac myocytes before or after myocardial infarction prevents heart failure. *Circ Res.* (2008) 103:413–22. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.168336
- Schumacher SM, Gao E, Zhuh W, Chen X, Chuprun JK, Feldman AM, et al. Paroxetine-mediated GRK2 inhibition reverses cardiac dysfunction and remodeling after myocardial infarction. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:277ra31. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa0154
- Abd Alla J, Graemer M, Fu X, Quitterer U. Inhibition of G-protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 prevents the dysfunctional cardiac substrate metabolism in fatty acid synthase transgenic mice. J Biol Chem. (2016) 291:2583–600. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.702688
- Raake PW, Schlegel P, Ksienzyk J, Reinkober J, Barthelmes J, Schinkel S, et al. AAV6.betaARKct cardiac gene therapy ameliorates cardiac function and normalizes the catecholaminergic axis in a clinically relevant large animal heart failure model. *Eur Heart J.* (2013) 34:1437–47. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr447
- Hullman J, Fraynham CJ, Coleman RC, Koch WJ. The expanding GRK interactome: Implications in cardiovascular disease and potential for therapeutic development. *Pharmacol Res.* (2016) 110:52–64. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2016.05.008
- Chen M, Sato PY, Chuprun JK, Peroutka RJ, Otis NJ, Ibetti J, et al. Prodeath signaling of G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 in cardiac myocytes after ischemic stress occurs via extracellular signal-regulated kinase-dependent heat shock protein 90-mediated mitochondrial targeting. *Circ Res.* (2013) 112:1121–34. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.112.300754
- Fu X, Koller S, Abd Alla J, Quitterer U. Inhibition of G-proteincoupled receptor kinase 2 (GRK2) triggers the growth-promoting mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. J Biol Chem. (2013) 288:7738–55. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.428078
- Carman CV, Parent JL, Day PW, Pronin AN, Sternweis PM, Wedegaertner PB, et al. Selective regulation of Galpha(q/11) by an RGS domain in the G protein-coupled receptor kinase, GRK2. J Biol Chem. (1999) 274:34483–92. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.48.34483
- Sallese M, Mariggio S, D'Urbano E, Iacovelli L, Blasi A. Selective regulation of Gq signaling by G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2: direct interaction of kinase N terminus with activated galphaq. *Mol Pharmacol.* (2000) 57:826–31. doi: 10.1124/mol.57.4.826
- Wettschureck N, Rütten H, Zywietz A, Gehring D, Wilkie TM, Chen J, et al. Absence of pressure overload induced myocardial hypertrophy after conditional inactivation of Galphaq/Galpha11 in cardiomyocytes. *Nat Med.* (2001) 7:1236–40. doi: 10.1038/nm1101-1236
- Schumacher SM, Gao E, Cohen M, Lieu M, Chuprun JK, Koch WJ. A peptide of the RGS domain of GRK2 binds and inhibits Galpha(q) to supress pathological cardiac hypertrophy and dysfunction. *Sci Signal*. (2016) 9:ra30. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aae0549
- 17. Thal DM, Homan KT, Chen J, Wu EK, Hinkle PM, Huang ZM, et al. Paroxetine is a direct inhibitor of g protein-coupled receptor kinase 2

and increases myocardial contractility. ACS Chem Biol. (2012) 7:1830-9. doi: 10.1021/cb3003013

- Kong G, Penn R, Benovic JL. A beta-adrenergic receptor kinase dominant negative mutant attenuates desensitization of the beta 2-adrenergic receptor. *J Biol Chem.* (1994) 269:13084–7.
- Lorenz K, Lohse MJ, Quitterer U. Protein kinase C switches the Raf kinase inhibitor protein from Raf-1 to GRK-2. *Nature* (2003) 426:574–9. doi: 10.1038/nature02158
- Hein L, Stevens ME, Barsh GS, Pratt RE, Kobilka BK, Dzau VJ. Overexpression of angiotensin AT1 receptor transgene in the mouse myocardium produces a lethal phenotype associated with myocyte hyperplasia and heart block. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:6391–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.1 2.6391
- Schmid E, Neef S, Berlin C, Tomasovic A, Kahlert K, Nordbeck P, et al. Cardiac RKIP induces a beneficial beta-adrenoceptor-dependent positive inotropy. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:1298–306. doi: 10.1038/nm.3972
- AbdAlla S, Fu X, Elzahwy SS, Klaetschek K, Streichert T, Quitterer U. Up-regulation of the cardiac lipid metabolism at the onset of heart failure. *Cardiovasc Hematol Agents Med Chem.* (2011) 9:190–206. doi: 10.2174/187152511797037583
- AbdAlla S, Langer A, Fu X, Quitterer U. ACE inhibition with captopril retards the development of signs of neurodegeneration in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2013) 14:16917–42. doi: 10.3390/ijms140816917
- Mei N, Fuscoe JC, Lobenhofer EK, Guo L. Application of microarray-based analysis of gene expression in the field of toxicogenomics. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2010) 597:227–41. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60327-389-3\_16
- 25. Guo L, Lobenhofer EK, Wang C, Shippy R, Harris SC, Zhang L, et al. Rat toxicogenomic study reveals analytical consistency across microarray platforms. *Nat. Biotechnol.* (2006) 24:1162–9. doi: 10.1038/nb t1238
- Folch J, Lees M, Sloane-Stanley GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. J Biol Chem. (1957) 226:497–509.
- Liu L, Trent CM, Fang X, Son NH, Jiang H, Blaner WS, et al. Cardiomyocytespecific loss of diacylglycerol acyltransferase 1 (DGAT1) reproduces the abnormalities in lipids found in severe heart failure. *J Biol Chem.* (2014) 289:29881–91. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.601864
- AbdAlla S, Lother H, Quitterer U. AT1-receptor heterodimers show enhanced G-protein activation and altered receptor sequestration. *Nature* (2000) 407:94–8. doi: 10.1038/35024095
- Haywood GA, Gullestad L, Katsuya T, Hutchinson HG, Pratt RE, Horiuchi M, et al. AT1 and AT2 angiotensin receptor gene expression in human heart failure. *Circulation* (1997) 95:1201–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.95. 5.1201
- Regitz-Zagrosek V, Friedel N, Heymann A, Bauer P, Neuss M, Rolfs A, et al. Regulation, chamber localization, and subtype distribution of angiotensin II receptors in human hearts. *Circulation* (1995) 91:1461–71. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.91.5.1461
- Lassègue B, Alexander RW, Nickenig G, Clark M, Murphy TJ, Griendling KK. Angiotensin II down-regulated the vascular smooth muscle AT1 receptor by transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms: evidence for homologous and heterologous regulation. *Mol Pharmacol.* (1995) 48:601–9.
- 32. Nickenig G, Strehlow K, Bäumer AT, Baudler S, Wassmann S, Sauer H, et al. Negative feedback regulation of reactive oxygen species on AT1 receptor gene expression. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2000) 131:795–803. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.07 03623
- Banks AS, McAllister FE, Camporez JP, Zushin PJ, Jurczak MJ, Laznik-Bogoslavski D, et al. An ERK/Cdk5 axis controls the diabetogenic actions of PPARG. *Nature* (2015) 517:391–5. doi: 10.1038/nature13887
- Park TS, Goldberg IJ. Sphingolipids, lipotoxic cardiomyopathy, and cardiac failure. *Heart Fail Clin*. (2012) 8:633–41. doi: 10.1016/j.hfc.2012.06.003
- 35. Kazakov A, Hall RA, Werner C, Meiter T, Trouvain A, Rodionycheva S, et al. Raf kinase inhibitor protein mediates myocardial fibrosis under conditions of enhanced myocardial oxidative stress. *Basic Res Cardiol.* (2018) 113:42. doi: 10.1007/s00395-018-0700-3
- 36. Takahashi Y, Miyata M, Zheng P, Imazato T, Horwitz A, Smith JD. Identification of cAMP analogue inducible genes in

RAW264 macrophages. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2000) 1492:385–94. doi: 10.1016/S0167-4781(00)00133-0

- 37. Hayek T, Attias J, Coleman R, Brodsky S, Smith J, Breslow JL, et al. The angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, fosinopril, and the angiotensin II receptor antagonist, losartan, inhibit LDL oxidation and attenuate atherosclerosis independent of lowering blood pressure in apolipoprotein E deficient mice. *Cardiovasc Res.* (1999) 44:579–87. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(99)00 239-4
- Liu Q, Molkentin JD. Protein kinase Cα as a heart failure therapeutic target. J Mol Cell Cardiol. (2011) 51:474–8. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2010.10.004
- Wenzel SE, Tyurina YY, Zhao J, St Croix CM, Dar HH, Mao G, et al. PEBP1 wardens ferroptosis by enabling lipoxygenase generation of lipid death signals. *Cell* (2017) 171:628–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.044

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** Contents of patent application WO/2018/130537 titled Cardioprotective compounds and their use, are related to contents of this manuscript.

The handling editor and reviewer SK declared their involvement as co-editors in the Research Topic, and confirm the absence of any other collaboration.

Copyright © 2019 Wolf, Abd Alla and Quitterer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Tonin Overexpression in Mice Diminishes Sympathetic Autonomic Modulation and Alters Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Response

Zaira Palomino Jara<sup>1,2</sup>, Marcelo Yudi Icimoto<sup>3</sup>, Rodrigo Yokota<sup>1</sup>, Amanda Aparecida Ribeiro<sup>4</sup>, Fernando dos Santos<sup>4</sup>, Leandro Ezequiel de Souza<sup>4</sup>, Ingrid Kazue Mizuno Watanabe<sup>1</sup>, Maria do Carmo Franco<sup>1</sup>, Jorge Luiz Pesquero<sup>5</sup>, Maria Claudia Irigoyen<sup>4</sup> and Dulce Elena Casarini<sup>1\*</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Sadashiva Karnik, Cleveland Clinic Lerner College of Medicine, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Hamiyet Unal, Cleveland Clinic, United States Ramaswamy Ramchandran, University of Illinois at Chicago, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Dulce Elena Casarini casarini.elena@unifesp.br; decasarini@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 08 November 2018 Accepted: 27 December 2018 Published: 23 January 2019

#### Citation:

Jara ZP, Icimoto MY, Yokota R, Ribeiro AA, dos Santos F, Souza LE, Watanabe IKM, Franco MC, Pesquero JL, Irigoyen MC and Casarini DE (2019) Tonin Overexpression in Mice Diminishes Sympathetic Autonomic Modulation and Alters Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Response. Front. Med. 5:365. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00365 <sup>1</sup> Disciplina de Nefrologia, Departamento de Medicina, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, United States, <sup>3</sup> Departmento de Biofisica, Escola Paulista de Medicina, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>4</sup> Divisao de Hipertensao, Escola de Medicina, Instituto do Coracao, Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>5</sup> Departamento de Biofisica, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

**Background:** Tonin, a serine-protease that forms Angiotensin II (AngII) from angiotensinogen, is increased in failing human heart samples. Increased blood pressure (BP) and decreased heart rate (HR) variabilities are associated with higher risk of cardiovascular morbidity. Losartan has been used to reduce hypertension and, therefore, lowers the risk of fatal and non-fatal cardiovascular events. Determination of tonin's impact on BP and HR variabilities as well as the impact of losartan remain questions to be elucidated.

**Aim:** Evaluation of cardiovascular autonomic profile in transgenic mice overexpressing the rat tonin enzyme TGM'(rton) and the impact of AT1 receptor blocker, losartan.

**Methods:** Male C57BL/6 (WT) and TGM'(rTon) mice were cannulated for recording BP (Windaq, 4 MHz) for 30 min at baseline and 30 min after losartan injection (20 mg/kg). BP and HR variabilities were analyzed in time and frequency domain method. Low-frequency (LF) and high-frequency (HF) components were identified for sympathetic and parasympathetic modulations analysis. Ang I, AngII, and Ang1-7 were quantified by high performance liquid chromatography method. The total enzymatic activity for AngI, AngII, and Ang1-7 formation was evaluated in the heart and plasma by Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS).

**Results:** At the baseline TGM'(rTon) exhibited higher BP, lower cardiac LF, higher cardiac HF, lower LF/HF, and lower alpha index than wild type (WT). After losartan injection, TGM'(rTon) mice presented an additional decrease in cardiac LF and increase in HF in relation to baseline and WT. In the vasculature, losartan caused decreased in BP and LF of systolic BP in WT mice in relation to its baseline. A similar effect was observed in the BP of TGM'(rTon) mice; however, LF of systolic BP increased compared to baseline.

49

Our data also indicates that AT1R receptor signaling has been altered in TGM'(rTon) mice. Interestingly, the dynamics of the renin-angiotensin system kinetics change, favoring production of Ang1-7.

**Conclusion:** Autonomic evaluation of TGM'(rTon) mice indicates an unclear prognosis for diseases that affect the heart. HR variability in TGM'(rTon) mice indicates high risk of morbidity, and sympathetic and parasympathetic modulation indicate low risk of morbidity. The low risk of morbidity could be the biased production of Ang1-7 in the heart and circulation; however, the altered response of AT1R in the TGM'(rTon) remains to be elucidated, as well aswhether that signaling is pro-protection or pro-pathology.

Keywords: tonin, serino protease, AT1R, losartan, renin angiotensin system, autonomic control, angiotensin II, angiotensin 1-7

# INTRODUCTION

Angiotensin II (Ang II), the main agonist of the reninangiotensin system, plays an important role in the maintenance of a healthy heart. Inotropism and chronotropism are a few of its direct roles in the heart (1-3), and as part of the integrated system it participates in hemodynamic stability (4). Deleterious effects of overstimulation by Ang II contribute to an array of cardiovascular diseases. More specifically, this hormone is implicated in a chain of events that contribute to the initiation and progression of cardiovascular disease. Ang II has been implicated in risk factors such hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes, in development processes such as atherosclerosis and left ventricular dysfunction, leading to ventricular hypertrophy and fibrosis followed by congestive heart failure. Thus, Ang II is a key target for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases (3, 5, 6). This powerful peptide can be formed by many enzymatic pathways within the reninangiotensin system, including renin and angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), via tonin, cathepsin, and chymase (7-9). However, the main routes to formation of Ang II are tissue specific. A systematic study reported that 80% of the total AngII-forming activity in heart was inhibited by serine protease inhibitor (10). This observation explained production of Ang II in heart failure patients treated with ACE inhibitors. Tonin is a serine protease that can form Ang II from Ang I and directly from angiotensinogen (Agt) (11-13). Therefore, this enzyme could be another source of Ang-II, independent of that produced via ACE. We have advanced only a few steps toward a more precise definition of the role of toninangiotensin II in the puzzling system of angiotensin II-generating enzymes. This lack of clarity may be due to the unique characteristics of that differ from other converting enzyme(s). A closer relationship between tonin-angiotensin II system and norepinephrine (14-16) system could be part of an integrated system by which myriad of complex mechanisms maintains homeostasis of the cardiovascular autonomic system. Taken together, tonin, a serine protease could play a role in the development of the cardiovascular diseases. Thus, our goal is to evaluate how the upregulation of tonin affects the risk of cardiovascular morbidity, its impact on the other angiotensins and on the main receptor of the renin-angiotensin system, the angiotensin type 1 receptor (AT1R).

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Mice

Wild type C57BL/6 (WT) and homozygous transgenic mice overexpressing the rat tonin enzyme [TGM'(rton)] were used in this study. Mice were housed in a temperature-controlled room ( $21 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C) under a 12:12-h dark light cycle, received standard laboratory chow and water *ad libitum*. The research ethics committee of the Federal University of São Paulo approved experimental protocols used in this study.

## **Generation of Transgenic Mice**

Transgenic TGM'(rTon) mice were generated by microinjection of the rat tonin transgene into zygotes as described by Ribeiro et al. (17, 18). TGM'(rTon) mice exhibited higher tonin activity in the brain, heart, kidney, liver, and bladder compared to WT (17).

# Catheter Implantation and Hemodynamic Recording

Catheters filled with heparinized saline were implanted into carotid artery and jugular vein of the anesthetized mice (80 mg/kg ketamine and 12 mg/kg xylazine, i.p.) Animals were placed in individual clean cages with free access to food and water. A heating lamp was used to keep the animals warm until their full recovery. Forty-eight hours later if a mouse presented signs of decreased activity, reluctance to move, hunched posture, and ungroomed fur, it was withdrawn from the study. The animals that recovered well were connected to computerized acquisition systems by connecting the arterial cannula to an electromagnetic transducer (Kent Instruments) by a polyethylene tube. This transducer was linked to an amplifier (General Purpose Amplifier-Stemtech, Inc.) and connected to a computer with an analog to digital converter board (Windaq/DataQ). The venous catheter was tethered to a 25 cm polyethylene tube filled with heparinized saline. To allow for stabilization of their blood pressure, the animals remained connected for at least half an hour to the system. After the adaptation period, 30 min of real-time blood pressure and heart rate signals were recorded before and after a single injection of losartan (20 mg/Kg, iv) in conscious animals who were free to move. Losartan was injected through the venous catheter.

## Heart Rate and Blood Pressure Variability

Analysis of blood pressure signals was performed using an algorithm implemented in acquisition system Windaq/DataQ. This software allowed the detection of the maximal value in the blood pressure curve, beat to beat, providing the values of systolic blood pressure (SBP). Heart rate was determined from the pulse interval (PI) between two systolic peaks. Heart rate variability was measured by linear methods in time and frequency domains. Temporal series of PI and SBP (30 min of baseline recording) were analyzed in time domain, obtaining the total variance of PI (VAR PI) and the variance of SBP (VAR SBP). Mean square root of differences between consecutives PI (RMSSD) was also evaluated. For the frequency domain, one spectrum was obtained for each segment and the oscillatory components were quantified in two different frequencies: low frequency (LF) from 0.1 to 1 Hz and high frequency (HF) from 1 to 5 Hz. The results are represented by absolute values (ms<sup>2</sup> and mmHg<sup>2</sup>), the percentage of total spectrum (%) and normalized units (nu) (percentage of LF and HF bands only).

## Sample Collection

Animals were euthanized by decapitation at 12–14 weeks old. Blood samples were collected and plasma was immediately separated from the whole blood by centrifugation at 1,500 rpm for 10 min and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C. Hearts were rapidly removed, snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until experimental procedures were performed.

# Sample Preparation and Quantification of Angiotensins by High Performance Liquid Chromatography

Atria and right and left ventricles were dissected for homogenization in 100 mM sodium phosphate, 240 mM sucrose, 300 mM NaCl, and the protease inhibitors: 1 mM EDTA (metalloprotease inhibitor), 1 µM o-phenanthroline (metalloprotease inhibitor), 120 µM pepstatin A (aspartyl protease inhibitor), 1 µM PMSF (serine protease inhibitor), and 1 mM 4-chloromercuribenzoic acid (cysteine protease inhibitor) at a ratio of 5 ml of buffer per gram of tissue. Homogenates were centrifuged at 20,000x g for 1 h at 4°C. In each resulting supernatant, 1 nmol of Sar<sup>1</sup>-AngII was introduced as an internal standard. Samples were purified and concentrated using C18 Sep-Pak columns previously activated with methanol (5 ml), tetrahydrofuran (5 ml), hexane (5 ml), methanol (5 ml), and water (10 ml). After loading the samples into the column, purification was performed by washing the column with ultrapure water. Samples were eluted from the column using 5 ml of ethanol/acetic acid/water in the proportion (90:4:6). The eluates were lyophilized then rehydrated in 500 ul of mobile phase A (5% acetonitrile in 0.1% orthophosphoric acid. Each sample was filtered (0.22 um pore size filter) and injected into the HPLC. The peptides were separated on the reverse phase column Aquapore 300 ODS (250 x 4.6 mm 7  $\mu$ ) connected to a highperformance liquid chromatography system (Shimatzu) with 214 nm UV detection. The peptide separation was performed with 20 min of linear gradient from 5 to 35% mobile phase B (95% acetonitrile in 0.1% orthophosphoric acid) after 5 min of isocratic gradient over, at constant flow rate of 1.5 ml/min. Sar<sup>1</sup>-AngII, AngI, AngII, and Ang1-7 synthetic peptides (Sigma) were used as standards and the angiotensins in each sample were identified according to the angiotensin standards retention time. The concentrations were expressed in picomol per gram of tissue.

# Sample Preparation for Enzymatic Activity

Hearts were dissected into atria, right ventricle, and left ventricle. These chambers were homogenized in 50 mM Tris/HCl, 0.5 mM ZnCl<sub>2</sub> buffer, pH 7.5, followed by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm at  $4^{\circ}$ C for 10 min. The resulting supernatants were separated from the pellet. The protein concentration of the supernatants was determined by Bradford (Biorad) method as recommended by the manufacture. Protein quantification was performed on the supernatants for further normalization of each peptide chromatographic-peak-area.

# **Total Angiotensin II and Angiotensin 1-7 Forming Enzymes Activities**

Tetradecapeptide (TDP) (10 nmol), a synthetic analog of angiotensinogen, was incubated in 1 ml of buffer (50 mM Tris/HCl,  $0.5 \text{ mM ZnCl}_2$ , pH 7.5) containing either 50 ul of plasma, 100 ul of atria or right or left ventricle homogenates at 37°C for 24 h. Aliquots were collected at 10, 20, 40, 60, 120, 240, 360, and 1,440 min into a tube containing 10% formic acid. Angiotensin I, Angiotensin II, and Angiotensin 1-7 were quantified by liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry.

### **Chromatographic Conditions**

LC experiments were carried out with an Agilent1290 System with a Luna C18 100  $\times$  2 mm, 3  $\mu$ m column at 40°C with a 9 min gradient of eluent water and acetonitrile with 0.1% formic acid at a flow rate of 400  $\mu$ L/min. The injection volume was set to 5  $\mu$ L.

### Mass Spectrometry Conditions

The AB SCIEX QTRAP<sup>®</sup> 5500 system was operated with Turbo V Electrospray Ionization probe. The 3 angiotensins were confirmed by comparison with angiotensin standard retention time, 3 MRM transitions per peptide to allow quantitation and identification based on the ratio of quantifier and qualifier transitions and an exclusive scan mode, the Enhanced Product Ion (EPI) which is at least 100 times more intense than a common MS/MS scan. The method used triggers an ion trap MS/MS scan on the ion of interest once the MRM intensity exceeds a certain threshold. The MS/MS data obtained confirms the identity of the angiotensins with the entire MS/MS spectrum rather than just with the presence of two diagnostic fragments.

### **Statistics**

All data are expressed as mean and standard error of mean. Significance level was determined by using two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* test or with multiple *t*-test comparison. 95% confidence of interval was used and *P*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

# Tonin Enzyme Overexpression *in vivo* Increased Blood Pressure

Overexpression of tonin caused an increase in diastolic and systolic BP (p = 0.0464) without altering heart rate. Pharmacological blockade of AT1R reduced systolic and diastolic BP in both strains (p = 0.0036; **Figure 1**). However, when the delta value of BP was evaluated before and after losartan injection, it was observed that losartan induced greater reduction of BP in TGM'(rTon) than WT (21.46 vs. 11. 86 mmHg, respectively).

## Losartan, Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Blocker, Further Decreases Sympathetic and Increases Parasympathetic Modulation on the Cardiac Autonomic Control in TGM'(rTon) Mice

At baseline the TGM'(rTon) mice showed a reduction in total HR variability, represented by variance of pulse interval (VAR PI). Together a clear reduction in the sympathetic specific spectrum band (LF) was observed when analyzed the total (ms<sup>2</sup>), percentage (%), and normalized (nu). Interestingly, an elevation of parasympathetic modulation was observed when analyzing its specific spectrum band (HF). Consequently, a decreased sympathovagal balance was observed when compared to WT group (**Figure 2**). In the TGM'(rTon), blockade of AT1R caused further decrease and increase in the sympathetic and parasympathetic modulation, respectively. Both effects

were greater in the TGM'(rTon) when compared to the WT group.

# Losartan, Angiotensin Type 1 Receptor Blocker, did not Affect Blood Pressure Variability Even Though the Sympathetic Modulation of the Vasculature Was Altered in TGM'(rTon) Mice

TGM'(rTon) at baseline and after angiotensin receptor blockage did not significantly alter the systolic BP variability represented by VAR SBP. Pharmacological blockade of AT1R caused reduction of sympathetic modulation in the controls, but it increased in the TGM'(rTon) (**Figure 3**). After losartan injection, TGM'(rTon) exhibited lower baroreflex sensitivity measured by the alpha index compared to WT group.

## Tonin Overexpression Alters the Angl, Angll, and Ang1-7 Content in the Heart

Within each WT and TGM'(rTon) group, levels of AngII and Ang1-7 did not differ among heart compartments, indicating that the steady-state levels of AngII and Ang1-7 levels follow similar regulation. Levels of Ang I in the atria were 2 times higher than in the right and left ventricle in WT group and 1 time higher in TGM'(rTon). When levels of angiotensins are compared between groups, TGM'(rTon) mice showed decreased levels of AngI in atria and higher levels of AngI in both right ventricle and left ventricle. Contrastingly, AngII levels were uniformly decreased in TGM'(rTon) heart chambers compared with WT group (**Figure 4**). This observation was accompanied by a large increase in Ang1-7. These results indicate changes in angiotensin processing, resulting in production of Ang1-7 instead of production of Ang II in TGM'(rTon) mice.





and after anglotensin type 1 receptor blocker, losartan: variance of pulse interval (VAR PI) (A) low frequency band of pulse interval (LF PI), including absolute (B), percent (C), and normalized units (D), high frequency of pulse interval (HF PI) including absolute (E), percent (F), and normalized units (G), sympathovagal balance (LF/HF) (H). LF bands represent the sympathetic modulation whereas HF parasympathetic. N = 4, Two-way ANOVA followed by bonferroni *post hoc* \*p < 0.05, bar graphs are means ±SEM.

# Tonin Overexpression Alters the Angiotensins Formation Dynamic in the Heart

The proteolytic capacity of each compartment generating angiotensins were tested *in vitro* by a mass spectrometrybased assay. Extracts of atria, right ventricle and left ventricle of both WT and TGM'(rTon) mice were preincubated with tetradecapeptide and levels of Ang I, Ang II, and Ang1-7 were quantified by LC-MSMS in a time-dependent manner. Total atria extract were capable of rapidly consuming the TDP, generating Ang I in the first minute of incubation until a maximum concentration was reached between the 120 and 240 min for WT group and 360 min for TGM'(rTon) mice (**Figure 5A**). Corroborating the observation made using HPLC assay, atrial production of Ang I was shown to be higher in WT than TGM'(rTon)mice.

Levels of angiotensins generated by right ventricle extracts from tetradecapetide precursor were also measured. There was a rapid formation (0-40 min) of Ang I, AngII, and Ang1-7 in the TGM'(rTon) group compared to the WT group

(120-360 min), contrasting with the delay in formation observed in the WT extracts. Interestingly, the highest peak of Ang I production corresponds to 20 min in TGM'(rTon) group; in contrast, the highest peak of Ang I formation was reached at 4 h in the WT mice (**Figure 5B**). A similar difference was obtained for Ang II (40 min for TGM'(rTon) group vs. 4 h for WT group; **Figure 5C**) and for Ang1-7 (60 min for TGM'(rTon) and 360 min for WT group, **Figure 5D**). It is noteworthy that the total formation of Ang1-7 was 2 times higher than WT group. These data suggest that RV extracts of TGM'(rTon) produce all angiotensins faster than WT mice.

The levels of Ang1-7 were also measured using left ventricle extracts using Ang II as precursor (**Figure 5E**). The levels of Ang1-7 was significantly higher for TGM'(rTon) compared to WT mice. Total Ang1-7 formation in the atria, RV and LV corroborate the observation of Ang1-7 content by HPLC, i.e., higher levels of Ang1-7. Similarly, total AngII formation in the RV corroborate the observation found by HLPC, lower levels of AngII in the heart.



Heart Angiotensins 400 Wt TGM'(rTon) 300 pllomo 200 100 Angli Ang1-7 Anall Ang1-Angli Angl Atria Right ventricle Left ventricle

**FIGURE 4** | Angiotensin content in three chambers of the heart in wild type (WT) and transgenic mice overexpressing rat tonin [TGM'(rTon)]: Heart angiotensin concentration of WT and TGM'(rTon) mice were quantified by High Performance Liquid Chromatography. Angl, Angll, and Ang1-7 were measured in each chamber. N = 4, Two-way ANOVA followed by multiple *t*-tests \*p < 0.05, bar graphs are means ±SEM.

# Tonin Impacts the Circulating Renin Angiotensin System Homeostasis

The proteolytic capacity of plasmatic proteases generating angiotensins from tetradecapeptide were also analyzed. Plasmatic proteases were capable of rapidly consuming tetradecapeptide, generating high concentrations of Ang I in the first 10 min of incubation for both TGM'(rton) and WT mice (**Figure 6A**). However, the amounts of plasmatic Ang I produced by TGM'(rTon) group was 10 times lower than the amounts obtained by WT mice, but still higher than the amounts obtained using atrial and RV extracts. The amounts of AngII formed in the plasma from TDP as substrate were similar in both mice

(Figure 6B). Again, the amount of Ang1-7 was higher in the TGM'(rTon) compared to WT group (Figure 6C).

The amounts of Ang II and Ang1-7 generated by plasmatic proteases using Ang I and Ang II as precursors were also measured. When the tested precursor was Ang I (**Figures 7A,B**), the level of Ang II and Ang 1-7 levels were significantly higher in TGM'(rTon) compared to control mice, reaching a maximum concentration after 40–60 min of incubation. Again, higher Ang 1-7 levels were obtained using Ang II as precursor in the TGM'(rTon) group when compared to the WT mice (**Figure 7C**).

# DISCUSSION

In the present study TGM'(rTon) mice exhibited an increase in BP at pre-hypertensive levels; similar results were published by Cardoso et al. (19). One of the mechanisms underlying this phenotype is an increase in circulatory concentrations of Ang II, which was two-fold higher than the increased concentration of Ang 1-7 observed. However, it is worth noting that when we evaluated the proteolytic capacity of the plasmatic proteases to the tetradecapeptide, a synthetic analog of angiotensinogen which mimics the peptide initiator of the renin angiotensin cascade, similar levels of Ang II were produced when compared to WT group. Only when incubated with Ang I was it possible to see increased levels of Ang II. This finding indicates that in circulation, the slight increase of AngII levels observed in the TGM'(rTon) mice are derived from Ang I only. Tonin synthesized in the brain most likely is being released into the circulation. Once released into the circulation, tonin is immediately trapped by  $\alpha$ 1-Macroglobulin ( $\alpha$ 1-M) to form a tonin- $\alpha$ 1-M (20). Hence, previous attempts to detect tonin activity in plasma (human and rat) were unsuccessful (21-24). Only using the immunoimmobilization technique was it possible



[TGM'(rTon)]: Angl levels in the atria after incubation with tetradecapeptide as substrate at 0, 10, 20, 40, 60, 120, 240, 360, and 1,440 min (n = 2) (**A**). Angl (**B**), Angl (**C**), and Ang1-7 (**D**) in the right ventricle (RV) after incubation with tetradecapeptide as substrate at 0, 10, 20, 40, 60, 120, 240, 360, and 1,440 min by LC-MS/MS (n = 4). Angl -7 (**E**) levels in the left ventricle (LV) after incubation with Angl as substrate at 0, 10, 20, 40, 60, 120, 240, 360, and 1,440 min by LC-MS/MS (n = 4). Multiple *t*-tests were performed, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.001 time points are represented by means ± SEM.



**FIGURE 6** | Total Ang I, Ang II, and Ang1-7 formation in the plasma of wild type (WT) and transgenic mice overexpressing rat tonin [TGM'(rTon)]: Angl (A), AnglI (B), and Ang1-7 (C) in the plasma (PL) after incubation with tetradecapeptide as substrate at 0, 10, 20, 40, 60, 120, 240, 360, and 1,440 min by LC-MS/MS (n = 4). Multiple *t*-test were performed \*p < 0.05, time points are represented by means ±SEM.

to detect this enzyme in the blood (20). The tonin- $\alpha$ 1-M complex forms Ang II solely from Ang I and not from angiotensinogen, due a lack of fit in the catalytic site now partly occupied by

the inhibitor. Ikeda et al. (20) observed that when tonin was intravenously administered as a bolus injection, tonin's fate followed two paths. First, fast clearance of 125 I-labeled tonin



from the circulation was observed. Secondly, when tonin is in complex with- $\alpha$ 1-M, Ang II-forming activity by solid-phase antibody-bound tonin- $\alpha$ 1-M complex persisted for over 1 h and even showed an increase after rapid clearance in the early phase. The formation of Ang II was demonstrated despite the complete inhibition of converting enzyme (25).

Blockade of AT1R by losartan resulted in greater BP reduction in the TGM'(rTon) group than the in the WT group; this observation indicates that AT1R signaling was preponderant in the acute control of BP in TGM'(rTon) group. Taken together, increased Ang II due to increased circulating pathway of Ang I-tonin-AngII-AT1R is one of the mechanisms of a net result of higher BP in the TGM'(rTon) mice; however, we cannot be certain that the only route for higher Ang II formation in the circulation is via tonin in the TGM'(rTon) mouse, because tonin can affect the expression of other enzymes such as ACE as we have previously shown (17).

When evaluating the autonomic control of the heart, we found contradictory observations. On the one hand, reduction of HR variability indicates risk for developing cardiovascular morbidity associated with decreased baroreflex sensitivity (alpha index). HR variability is an indirect estimator of autonomic modulation of heart rate and is considered a risk marker in critical illness, particularly in heart failure, and severe sepsis. A reduced HR variability has been found in critically ill patients and has been associated with neuroautonomic uncoupling or decreased baroreflex sensitivity. On the other hand, reduction of sympathetic modulation together

with increase in parasympathetic modulation indicates a cardioprotective state. Increase in sympathetic activity has been positively associated with hypertension in humans and animal models (26, 27). Furthermore, acute injection of tonin in vivo caused imbalance of the autonomic control reflected by an increase in the sympathetic tone (28). The question remains: why do TGM'(rTon) mice decrease sympathetic modulation with higher Ang II plasmatic environment? We hypothesize that this surprising observation could be explained by a defective tonin-AngII-catecholamines axis produced in a chronic tonin mileu. Interestingly, parasympathetic tone was increased when we evaluated autonomic control of the heart. This observation can be explained by the increased levels of Ang 1-7 in the heart and in the circulation. The parasympathetic excitatory effect of Ang 1-7 was consistently reported in the literature (29, 30). After losartan injection, sympathetic decrease and parasympathetic increase was observed in both groups; however, statistical significance is only seen in the TGM'(rTon) mice. This finding indicates that AT1R control of the autonomic function in the heart was maintained or even exacerbated. In other words, this observation again indicates that AT1R signaling is predominant in the TGM'(rTon) mice compared to WT group. Sensitization of AT1R could be one of the mechanisms to increase responsiveness of AT1R. Surprisingly, the Ang II levels in the TGM'(rTon) heart were lower compared to the WT group, even though increased tonin activity was observed in the atria and left ventricle as we previously described (18). The lower Ang II levels could be the result of changes in the dynamics of the renin-angiotensin system kinetics, favoring the formation of Ang 1-7 from Ang II. Therefore, Ang II formation is rapidly broken down to Ang1-7. This observation is consistent with our previous report, where we observed increased ACE2 expression in a mileu of increased tonin activity. Thus, it seems that super activation of ACE2, an Ang1-7 forming enzyme, overrides activation of tonin and other Ang II forming enzymes. This pathway could be one of the mechanisms for a decrease in AngII and an increase in Ang1-7 (31, 32).

When we evaluated the autonomic control of the vasculature neither tonin nor losartan had an impact on the BP variability in both groups. As for the sympathetic modulation at baseline, the TGM'(rTon) group showed similar sympathetic modulation to what was observed in the WT group. Furthermore, in contrast to what we observed in the autonomic modulation of the heart, the TGM'(rTon) group responded to AT1R blockade in a opposite fashion than the WT group; in other words, the AT1R was not as responsive as in the WT group for the autonomic control of the vasculature. This observation could be explained by the observation of AT1R desensitization by Cardoso et al. (19). In their work, injection of Ang II was not able to increase BP in TGM(rTon) when compared to WT. Therefore, a desensitized AT1R was overridden by the other receptors that work in a opposite manner to control the autonomic function of the vasculature; thus a net result of increase sympathetic modulation was observed in the TGM'(rTon).

In summary, TGM'(rTon) mice presented indicators of lower risk for vascular morbidity compared to WT mice. However,

### REFERENCES

- De Mello WC. Intracrine action of angiotensin II in the intact ventricle of the failing heart: angiotensin II changes cardiac excitability from within. *Mol Cell Biochem.* (2011) 358:309–15. doi: 10.1007/s11010 -011-0981-4
- De Mello WC. Novel aspects of angiotensin II action in the heart. Implications to myocardial ischemia and heart failure. *Regul Pept.* (2011) 166:9–14. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2010.10.003
- Ferrario CM, Mullick AE. Renin angiotensin aldosterone inhibition in the treatment of cardiovascular disease. *Pharmacol Res.* (2017) 125(Pt A):57–71. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2017.05.020
- Sapouckey SA, Deng G, Sigmund CD, Grobe JL. Potential mechanisms of hypothalamic renin-angiotensin system activation by leptin and DOCA-salt for the control of resting metabolism. *Physiol Genomics* (2017) 49:722–32. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00087.2017
- Ferrario CM, Strawn WB. Role of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and proinflammatory mediators in cardiovascular disease. *Am J Cardiol.* (2006) 98:121–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2006.01.059
- Zhang ZM, Wang BX, Ou WS, Lv YH, Li MM, Miao Z, et al. Administration of losartan improves aortic arterial stiffness and reduces the occurrence of acute coronary syndrome in aged patients with essential hypertension. *J Cell Biochem.* (2018). doi: 10.1002/ jcb.27856. [Epub ahead of print].
- Belova LA. Angiotensin II-generating enzymes. *Biochemistry* (2000) 65:1337– 45.
- Carl-McGrath S, Grantzdorffer I, Lendeckel U, Ebert MP, Rocken C. Angiotensin II-generating enzymes, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) and mast cell chymase (CMA1), in gastric inflammation may be regulated by *H. pylori* and associated cytokines. *Pathology* (2009) 41:419–27. doi: 10.1080/00313020902885037

our findings presented an unclear prognosis for diseases that affect the heart. HR variability in TGM'(rTon) mice indicates high risk of morbidity, and sympathetic and parasympathetic modulation indicate low risk of morbidity. One of the underlying mechanisms for the protective prognosis may rely on the Ang1-7 effect. AT1R signaling properties have changed in different fashion in the heart compared to the vasculature in the TGM'(rTon) mice. This observation needs further study as well as understanding the mechanism of impairment that may have occurred in the tonin-AngII-catecholamines axis.

### ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of UNIFESP CEDEME Committee of Ethics in Research. The protocol was approved by the CEP committee of Ethics in Research.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ZJ, RY, IW, AR, and LS performed experiments. ZJ, FdS, MYI, and MF evaluated data. ZJ and MYI wrote the manuscript. DC, MCI, JP, and ZJ conducted the study. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by FAPESP 2010/51904-9 and CAPES.

- Ahmad S, Ferrario CM. Chymase inhibitors for the treatment of cardiac diseases: a patent review (2010-2018). *Expert Opin Ther Pat.* (2018) 28:755–64. doi: 10.1080/13543776.2018.1531848
- Urata H, Healy B, Stewart RW, Bumpus FM, Husain A. Angiotensin IIforming pathways in normal and failing human hearts. *Circ Res.* (1990) 66:883–90. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.66.4.883
- Schiller PW, Demassieux S, Boucher R. Substrate specificity of tonin from rat submaxillary gland. *Circ Res.* (1976) 39:629–32. doi: 10.1161/01.RES. 39.5.629
- Grise C, Boucher R, Thibault G, Genest J. Formation of angiotensin II by tonin from partially purified human angiotensinogen. *Can J Biochem.* (1981) 59:250–5. doi: 10.1139/o81-034
- Pesquero JL, Boschcov P, Oliveira MC, Paiva AC. Effect of substrate size on tonin activity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (1982) 108:1441–6. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(82)80068-5
- Garcia R, Boucher R, Genest J. Tonin activity in rat saliva: effect of sympathomimetic and parasympathomimetic drugs. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* (1976) 54:443–5. doi: 10.1139/ y76-063
- Garcia R, Kondo K, Scholkens B, Boucher R, Genest J. Effect in vivo of betaadrenergic stimulation, angiotensin II, dibutyryl cyclic AMP, and theophylline on tonin concentration in rat saliva and submaxillary gland. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* (1977) 55:983–9. doi: 10.1139/y77-135
- Gutkowska J, Thibault G, Cantin M, Garcia R, Genest J. Kallikrein concentration in submandibular glands of rats chronically treated with isoproterenol. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* (1983) 61:449–56. doi: 10.1139/y83-069
- Ribeiro AA, Palomino Z, Lima MP, Souza LE, Ferreira DS, Casarini DE, et al. Characterization of the renal renin-angiotensin system in transgenic mice that express rat tonin. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst. (2015) 16:947–55. doi: 10.1177/1470320315595572

- Ribeiro AA, Amorim RP, Palomino ZJ, de Paula Lima M, Moraes-Silva IC, Souza LE, et al. (Pro)renin receptor expression in myocardial infarction in transgenic mice expressing rat tonin. *Int J Biol Macromol.* (2018) 108:817–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.10.179
- Cardoso CC, Alenina N, Ferreira AJ, Qadri FLima MP, Bader M. Increased blood pressure and water intake in transgenic mice expressing rat tonin in the brain. *Biol Chem.* (2010) 391:435–41. doi: 10.1515/bc.2010.040
- Ikeda M, Sasaguri M, Maruta H, Arakawa K. Formation of angiotensin II by tonin-inhibitor complex. *Hypertension* (1988) 11:63–70. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.11.1.63
- 21. Boucher R, Saidi M, Genest J. A new angiotensin converting enzyme system. *Hypertension* (1972) 1972:512–23.
- 22. Boucher R, Asselin J, Genest J. A new enzyme leading to the direct formation of angiotensin II. *Circ Res.* (1974) 35:I-203–I-212.
- 23. Boucher R, Demassieux S, Garcia R, Genest J. Tonin, angiotensin II system. A review. *Circ Res.* (1977) 41(4 Suppl 2):26–9. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.41.4.26
- Boucher R, Garcia R, Gutkowska J, Demassieux S, Genest J. Toninangiotensin II system in hypertension. *Clin Sci Mol Med.* (1978) (Suppl 4):183s-6s. doi: 10.1042/cs055183s
- Nussberger J, Brunner DB, Waeber B, Brunner HR. Specific measurement of angiotensin metabolites and *in vitro* generated angiotensin II in plasma. *Hypertension* (1986) 8:476–82. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.8.6.476
- Papaioannou VE, Verkerk AO, Amin AS, de Bakker JM. Intracardiac origin of heart rate variability, pacemaker funny current and their possible association with critical illness. *Curr Cardiol Rev.* (2013) 9:82–96. doi: 10.2174/157340313805076359
- 27. Jandackova VK, Scholes S, Britton A, Steptoe A. Are changes in heart rate variability in middle-aged and older people normative or caused by pathological conditions? Findings from a large population-based longitudinal cohort study. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2016) 5:2. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002365
- Damasceno DD, Lima MP, Motta DF, Ferreira AJ, Quintao-Junior JF, Pesquero JL. Cardiovascular and eletrocardiographic parameters after tonin administration in Wistar rats. *Regul Pept.* (2013) 181:30–6. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2012.12.009

- Nautiyal M, Shaltout H, de Lima Ado Nascimento DC, Chappell KM, Diz DI. Central angiotensin-(1-7) improves vagal function independent of blood pressure in hypertensive (mRen2)27 rats. *Hypertension* (2012) 60:1257–65. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA. 112.196782
- Dartora DR, Irigoyen MC, Casali KR, Moraes-Silva IC, Bertagnolli M, Santos RAS. Improved cardiovascular autonomic modulation in transgenic rats expressing an Ang-(1-7)-producing fusion protein. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* (2017) 95:993–8. doi: 10.1139/cjpp -2016-0557
- Soler MJ, Batlle M, Riera M, Campos B, Ortiz-Perez JT, Perez-Villa F, et al. ACE2 and ACE in acute and chronic rejection after human heart transplantation. *Int J Cardiol.* (2018) 275:59–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.10.002
- 32. Yu J, Wu Y, Zhang Y, Zhang L, Ma Q, Luo X. Role of ACE2-Ang (1-7)-Mas receptor axis in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction with hypertension. *Zhong Nan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban* (2018) 43:738–46. doi: 10.11817/j.issn.1672-7347.2018. 07.007

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer HU declared a non-overlapping institutional affiliation, though no other collaboration, with one of the authors, ZJ to the handling Editor.

Copyright © 2019 Jara, Icimoto, Yokota, Ribeiro, dos Santos, Souza, Watanabe, Franco, Pesquero, Irigoyen and Casarini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Discovery of Pathologic GPCR Aggregation**

#### Ursula Quitterer<sup>1,2\*</sup> and Said AbdAlla<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Molecular Pharmacology, Department of Chemistry and Applied Biosciences, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup> Department of Medicine, Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

The family of G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) is one of the most important drug targets. Mechanisms underlying GPCR activation and signaling are therefore of great pharmacologic interest. It was long thought that GPCRs exist and function as monomers. This feature was considered to distinguish GPCRs from other membrane receptors such as receptor tyrosine kinases or cytokine receptors, which signal from dimeric receptor complexes. But during the last two decades it was increasingly recognized that GPCRs can undergo aggregation to form dimers and higher order oligomers, resulting in homomeric and/or heteromeric protein complexes with different stoichiometries. Moreover, this protein complex formation could modify GPCR signaling and function. We contributed to this paradigm shift in GPCR pharmacology by the discovery of the first pathologic GPCR aggregation, which is the protein complex formation between the angiotensin II AT1 receptor and the bradykinin B2 receptor. Increased AT1-B2 heteromerization accounts for the angiotensin II hypersensitivity of pregnant women with preeclampsia hypertension. Since the discovery of AT1-B2, other pathologic GPCR aggregates were found, which contribute to atherosclerosis, neurodegeneration and Alzheimer's disease. As a result of our findings, pathologic GPCR aggregation appears as an independent and disease-specific process, which is increasingly considered as a novel target for pharmacologic intervention.

Keywords: G-protein-coupled receptor, oligomerization, preeclampsia, atherosclerosis, Alzheimer's disease,

# INTRODUCTION

neurodegeneration, biased agonist, beta-arrestin

G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) constitute one of the largest gene families in the human genome, and provide the target for about 20–30% of all drugs currently on the market. Since the discovery of rhodopsin and the beta-adrenergic receptor as first GPCRs (1, 2), currently more than 800 different genes are classified as members of the GPCR family. The pharmacologic and biologic importance of this huge receptor family led to enormous efforts world-wide to delineate activation and signaling mechanisms of GPCRs. A common theme of GPCRs is their seven membrane-spanning domain structure (3), which makes this type of protein a versatile platform for sensing of a panoply of different signals and stimuli including light, stress, hormones, peptides, proteins, ions, volatile odorants, tastants, and mechanical forces.

The seven membrane-spanning domain structure distinguishes GPCRs from other membrane receptors, which are, e.g., single-pass membrane proteins such as tyrosine kinase receptors or cytokine receptors (4). Consequently, major differences between GPCRs and these non-GPCR membrane receptors were found. The major distinguishing feature is that GPCRs signal through activation of heterotrimeric G-proteins, which gives the name to this class of receptors (5, 6).

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Sadashiva Karnik, Cleveland Clinic Lerner College of Medicine, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Wei Li, Marshall University, United States Coen Maas, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands

\*Correspondence: Ursula Quitterer ursula.quitterer@pharma.ethz.ch

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 03 December 2018 Accepted: 14 January 2019 Published: 30 January 2019

#### Citation:

Quitterer U and AbdAlla S (2019) Discovery of Pathologic GPCR Aggregation. Front. Med. 6:9. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00009

59

Mechanistic studies of GPCR proteins focused on the identification of features, which account for GPCR-mediated G-protein activation. A major understanding came from experiments with receptor-derived peptides, which encompass segments of the second, third or fourth cytoplasmic domain of a GPCR and are capable to activate G-proteins independently of the presence of the entire transmembrane-spanning GPCR (7, 8). Other studies with purified receptor preparations found that interaction of a single GPCR with a single Gprotein was a sufficient cause for G-protein activation (9, 10). Consequently, based on a 1:1 stoichiometry between a GPCR and a heterotrimeric G-protein, it was concluded that GPCRs function as monomers, and this feature distinguishes GPCRs from other membrane receptors such as tyrosine-kinase receptors or other monotopic transmembrane receptors, which require dimerization for receptor activation and signaling (4).

In contrast to these apparently conclusive data, many researchers, who worked with purified GPCRs, found protein aggregation of GPCRs in vitro, by gel filtration and on SDS-PAGE, and cooperative effects in various experimental settings. All these data could be interpreted as evidence for a dimeric/oligomeric assembly of GPCRs under certain experimental conditions. The first thematic study on GPCR dimerization was published in 1996 by the group of Michel Bouvier, who reported the functional characterization of GPCR dimers formed of beta-2-adrenergic receptors expressed in Sf9 cells (11). This was the beginning of a new era, and many other researchers started to report their "forbidden" findings of GPCR dimerization with transfected and endogenous receptors. But the question of relevance of GPCR dimerization still remained because most studies were performed with overexpressed receptors. There was the identification of the GABA(B) receptor (GABA-B; GABBR) heterodimer composed of GABBR1 and GABBR2, which as a class C GPCR relies on receptor dimerization for protein folding and function (12, 13). According to the A-F classification scheme of GPCRs, class C receptors contain a huge N-terminal clamshaped domain with almost 600 amino acid residues (14, 15). This extracellular region of GABA-B receptors forms a dimer even in the absence of the transmembrane domaincontaining protein core (15). Therefore, it was concluded that GABBR is a unique example of a GPCR that requires heterodimerization for functionality whereas for most other GPCRs, dimerization is a redundant process and has no obvious in vivo relevance.

Beginning from 1999, we initiated an independent research project on GPCR homo- and heterodimerization, which was based on our previous unpublished data in the early nineties. And we discovered the first pathologically relevant GPCR hetero(di)mer, which is the protein complex formed between the vasopressor angiotensin II AT1 receptor and the vasodepressor bradykinin B2 receptor (16, 17). We found that increased protein complex formation between AT1 and B2 on circulating blood cells and vessels of patients with preeclampsia hypertension contributes to the angiotensin II hypersensitivity of this severe pregnancy-specific complication (17, 18). Our findings were intensely disputed (19), and final acceptance of our findings only came after more than a decade of scientific discussions (20). Meanwhile, our findings contributed to a paradigm shift in GPCR pharmacology, which is now on the verge to lead to new pharmacologic treatment approaches (21). The following article briefly overviews the timeline of the discovery of pathologic GPCR aggregation (**Figure 1**).

# FIRST EVIDENCE OF AN INTERACTION BETWEEN THE BRADYKININ B2 RECEPTOR AND THE ANGIOTENSIN II AT1 RECEPTOR IN THE EARLY 1990s (1990-1994)

Our discovery of a functional AT1-B2 receptor protein complex began in the early 1990s at the Institute of Pathobiochemistry of the University of Mainz (Germany), where our key findings were made during a project on the protein purification of the bradykinin B2 receptor from native human skin fibroblasts applying ligand and antibody affinity chromatography. This work was performed in frame of a common project between U. Quitterer and S. AbdAlla, who led the protein purification group. He found by amino-terminal protein sequencing that enrichment of the bradykinin B2 receptor protein, yielded coenrichment of the angiotensin II AT1 receptor. At the same time, these data were complemented by U. Quitterer's functional studies, which showed that angiotensin II could induce a conformational change at the bradykinin B2 receptor with a shift of the B2 receptor from a high affinity to a low affinity binding state for the agonist bradykinin. This affinity shift could reflect a conformational change imposed by the activated AT1 receptor on the associated B2 receptor with subsequent G-protein activation and uncoupling of the B2 receptor, as a process which is known of other GPCRs to decrease agonist affinity (22, 23). "We discovered receptor heterodimers," was the immediate interpretation of S. AbdAlla, who came from the Heinrich-Pette-Institute, Hamburg (Germany), where he had worked on dimerization of interleukin-2 and interleukin-2 receptors. But when we presented our data and the idea of AT1-B2 receptor dimerization to the Head of the Institute, he opposed this concept because in the GPCR field, protein dimerization does not exist. This was the end of our project on AT1-B2 receptor dimerization in Mainz (Figure 1).

# DISCOVERY OF AT1-B2 AS THE FIRST PATHOLOGIC GPCR HETEROMER (1999-2001)

After completion of the doctorate at the University of Mainz in 1994, and a postdoctorate at Roche Bioscience (Palo Alto, CA, USA) in 1995, U. Quitterer moved to the Institute of Pharmacology at the University of Wuerzburg (Germany) to continue research on GPCRs in 1996. Only 1 year later, in 1997, she re-established contacts with S. AbdAlla, who at that time became professor of biochemistry at the newly founded Genetic



Engineering and Biotechnology Research Institute (GEBRI) in Alexandria, Egypt. We continued our work on AT1-B2 receptor heterodimerization, and during our studies, we discovered and characterized functional bradykinin B2 receptor homodimers in 1999 (24). The project on GPCR dimerization was conducted together with Dr. Heinz Lother, who invited S. AbdAlla as a visiting scientist into his labs at the Heinrich-Pette-Institute, Hamburg (Germany). After we had opened the path for the concept of receptor dimerization in the kinin field in 1999, the study on AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization was finished in a short time, and in the year 2000, we published the discovery of AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization in Nature [Figure 1; (16)].

The identified heteromeric protein complex between AT1 and B2 receptors was functional, and led to enhanced angiotensin II AT1-mediated G-protein activation and signaling. The B2-mediated sensitization of the AT1 receptor-mediated response was independent of B2 receptor stimulation with the agonist bradykinin because a B2 receptor mutant with defective bradykinin binding still enhanced the AT1stimulated G-protein activation and signaling. In contrast, a B2 receptor mutant with defective G-protein activation due to a mutation in the DRY motif in the 2nd intracellular loop of the B2 receptor was incapable to enhance AT1-stimulated signaling (16). These data are compatible with the notion that activation of the AT1 receptor by angiotensin II imposes a conformational change onto the associated unstimulated B2 receptor, which in turn adopts an active conformation capable to promote GDP-GTP exchange of the B2-coupled G-protein with subsequently enhanced signaling (Figure 2). The heteromeric AT1-B2 protein complex thus could constitute a platform, which enables enhanced G-protein activation (Figure 2).

The study of the AT1-B2 heteromer was complemented by our discovery of the AT1-AT2 receptor complex, which is a prototype of an inhibitory GPCR interaction [**Figure 1**; (25)]. In contrast to the B2 receptor, which enhances the angiotensin II AT1-stimulated G-protein activation (16, 17), the angiotensin II AT2 receptor inhibits the activation of the AT1 receptor by direct protein interaction (25). Thus, GPCR dimerization is capable to modulate the activation state of the dimerizing partner by direct interaction. As a consequence, dimerization could enhance or dampen the guanine nucleotide exchange factor-like function of a GPCR toward the heterotrimeric G-protein.

A major point in the field of GPCR dimerization and oligomerization always was the question about physiologic and pathophysiologic relevance. Most experiments on GPCR dimerization were made with transfected receptors and/or with cultured cells. Therefore, our focus immediately shifted to the question: Does AT1-B2 heteromerization occur in vivo? We knew that angiotensin II hypersensitivity was a major feature of preeclampsia hypertension (26, 27), which is the most frequent pregnancy-related complication with no cure. To study the role of AT1-B2 heteromerization in preeclampsia, S. AbdAlla initiated a collaboration with the Medical Research Center (MRC) at Ain Shams University, Cairo. The head of MRC, Prof. Adel el Missiery, strongly supported the project because preeclampsia has a high frequency among women in Egypt. Our study found that AT1-B2 contributes to the angiotensin II hypersensitivity of women with preeclampsia (17). This publication of "Receptor double-trouble in preeclampsia" (17, 18) marks the discovery of the first pathologic GPCR oligomer (Figure 1).



In this study, the AT1-B2 receptor heteromer was identified *in vivo*, after covalent stabilization with a cleavable crosslinker followed by affinity enrichment with AT1 receptorspecific antibodies and subsequent immunoblot detection of the co-enriched B2 receptor. This approach detected a significantly higher content of AT1-B2 heteromeric complexes on platelets and omental vessels from preeclampsia patients compared to biopsy specimens from uncomplicated pregnancies (17). Reciprocal experiments with enrichment of B2 and detection of co-enriched AT1 receptor gave similar results, and confirmed the disease-related AT1-B2 receptor aggregation in preeclampsia (17).

Our study also shows that augmented AT1-B2 receptor protein complex formation is disease-relevant and contributes to the well-established angiotensin II hypersensitivity in preeclampsia with enhanced angiotensin II-stimulated calcium signaling of platelets isolated from preeclamptic women (17, 26, 27). Sensitization of the angiotensin II-stimulated response is mediated by the AT1-B2 receptor heteromer not only in transfected cells but also in patients with preeclampsia (17). This conclusion was proved by domain-specific antibodies, which shielded the connecting loop between membrane domains III-IV of the bradykinin B2 receptor. With these antibodies, we found that the bradykinin B2 receptor protein is involved in angiotensin II-stimulated AT1-B2-mediated G-protein activation on omental vessels isolated from preeclamptic patients. Notably, the angiotensin II-stimulated response was largely blocked by these domain-specific antibodies to the connecting loop between membrane domains III-IV of the bradykinin B2 receptor whereas control antibodies had no effect (17). Together these findings complement our previous data on AT1-B2, which show that mutation of the DRY motif in the same connecting loop between membrane domains III-IV of the B2 receptor abolishes the B2-mediated sensitization of the angiotensin II-stimulated response triggered by the AT1-B2 heteromer (16).

In subsequent years, the pathophysiologic importance of aberrant AT1-B2 aggregation was supported by additional studies. Notably, AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization was found to enhance endothelin-1 release [Figure 1; (28)], which now

is known as a major factor contributing to symptoms of preeclampsia (29).

# DISCOVERY OF COVALENTLY STABILIZED AT1 RECEPTOR DIMERS WITH PATHOLOGIC RELEVANCE FOR CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN 2004

After elucidation of the pathologic relevance of AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization, we continued our search for aberrant GPCR dimerization as contributor to pathomechanisms of disease. In view of our previous studies, we focused on disease states with angiotensin AT1 receptor hypersensitivity and found an increased content of covalently stabilized AT1 receptor dimers on monocytes isolated from the peripheral blood of patients with hypertension (30). This finding of stable AT1 dimerization on monocytes of hypertensive patients in the year 2004 marks the discovery of the first covalently stabilized GPCR dimer in human pathology [**Figure 1**; (30)]. The covalent stabilization of AT1 receptor dimers was unprecedented and mediated by an exaggerated intracellular transglutaminase factor XIIIA activity in patients with increased cardiovascular risk factors (30).

The crosslinking activity of the intracellular factor XIIIA does not rely on thrombin, which activates circulating factor XIIIA in plasma by proteolytic cleavage as part of the blood clotting cascade. Instead, the transglutaminase activity of intracellular factor XIIIA could be activated by an altered cellular ion homeostasis, increased cytosolic calcium and/or oxidative stress (30). All these causes of intracellular factor XIIIA transglutaminase activation are promoted by cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, and atherosclerosis. In concert with induction of factor XIIIA gene expression and protein in monocytes by cardiovascular risk factors (30), the consecutively exaggerated intracellular factor XIIIA activity accounts for covalent stabilization of AT1 receptor dimers, which are triggered by increased circulating angiotensin II levels in patients "at the onset of atherosclerosis" (30–32).

Our functional studies show that covalent stabilization of AT1 receptor dimers accounts for angiotensin II hypersensitivity *in vivo* and contributes to the atherogenic function of the AT1 receptor on monocytes of patients with cardiovascular disease and hypertension (30). Apart from disease relevance, our studies also confirm our previously established concept of modulation of G-protein activation by receptor dimerization: covalent stabilization of AT1 receptor homodimers creates a receptor platform, which enables efficient G-protein activation compared to AT1 receptor monomers and/or dissociable AT1 receptor complexes (30–32).

# MOVE TO ETH ZURICH AND DISCOVERY OF PATHOLOGIC GPCR AGGREGATION IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE (2006–2009)

Our work on the discovery of pathologic GPCR aggregation was highly recognized by the international scientific community. The initial publication in Nature in the year 2000 (16) was ranked top 1% in the scientific field according to ISI web of science. Meanwhile this publication is cited more than 500 times. The discovery of AT1-B2 heteromerization as the first pathologic GPCR aggregation also became international textbook knowledge and was included in the "Blue Bible," which is the nickname of the 12th edition of Goodman Gilman's The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics (33). Another highlight was the Wenner Grenn Symposium on GPCR dimerization in Stockholm in 2004. Kjell Fuxe from Karolinska Institute invited major players in the field of GPCR dimerization to Stockholm. During the meeting, U. Quitterer had the chance to dispute the existence and pathologic relevance of GPCR aggregation on stage with Robert Lefkowitz, who later received the Nobel Prize in Chemistry, in the year 2012, for studies on G-protein-coupled receptors. The discussion was moderated by Michel Bouvier, who supported U. Quitterer's statements and conclusions. With a high international reputation, the President of ETH Zurich, Prof. Olaf Kübler, offered U. Quitterer at the age of 39, the Chair of Molecular Pharmacology at ETH Zurich. She accepted the offer in summer 2005, and was nominated full professor and Chair of Molecular Pharmacology by the ETH Counsil at the end of 2005. We moved into newly refurbished ETH labs at the beginning of 2006.

At ETH Zurich, we continued our work on pathologic GPCR aggregation. Stimulated by ongoing discussions on existence and mechanisms of GPCR aggregation, our focus shifted to Alzheimer's disease (AD). We reasoned that GPCR aggregation should readily be detectable in a typical protein aggregation disease. We searched for covalently stabilized GPCR aggregates as a consequence or cause of Alzheimer senile plaques, because in a previous study, we found covalently stabilized GPCR aggregates formed of the angiotensin II AT1 receptor in atherosclerosis (30), which is also a "plaque-forming" disease. With this concept in mind, we discovered SDS-stable aggregates of the angiotensin II AT2 receptor as a characteristic feature of AD patient biopsy specimens isolated from prefrontal cortex (34, 35). Covalent aggregation of AT2 receptor oligomers is disease-specific for

AD because related GPCRs such as the AT1 receptor are not aggregated in AD brains (34). The identification of covalently cross-linked AT2 receptor oligomers in brains of AD patients extends the pathologic relevance of aberrant GPCR aggregation to neurodegenerative diseases (**Figure 1**).

Why does the AT2 receptor form high molecular weight aggregates in brains of AD patients? We investigated the underlying mechanism and found that AT2 receptor aggregation in AD is a disease-specific process with two consecutive crosslinking steps, i.e., mediated by (i) reactive oxygen species (ROS), and (ii) transglutaminase. Initially, we aimed to deduce the AD-specific mechanism of AT2 aggregation in the transgenic Tg2576 AD model with neuron-specific expression of APP<sup>Swe</sup>, which is a mutant of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) isolated from a Swedish family with familial AD (36). Tg2576 AD mice reproduce major AD features such as symptoms of neuronal degeneration, cognitive impairment and beta-amyloid (Abeta) plaques in the hippocampus starting at an age of 12 months. However, Tg2576 mice did not develop pathologic AT2 oligomers but only showed the initial ROS-dependent AT2 crosslinking step, which leads to stable AT2 dimers (34). In search for the mechanism of pathologic AT2 aggregation in AD, we realized that aged Tg2576 AD mice are largely devoid of neuronal loss, which is a major characteristic of AD patients (34). To enhance the process of neurodegeneration, we subjected aged Tg2576 AD mice to chronic unpredictable mild stress (CUMS), which mimics psychosocial stress as an established risk factor for AD in patients (37). Chronic unpredictable mild stress augmented the hippocampal transglutaminase activity of Tg2576 mice, and triggered the final transglutaminasemediated crosslinking of oxidized AT2 dimers to AD-related and pathologic AT2 oligomers. Concomitantly, chronic unpredictable mild stress increased hippocampal Abeta accumulation, promoted neurodegeneration-enhancing PHF tau phosphorylation and induced overt neuronal loss in the hippocampus of Tg2576 mice.

Cellular accumulation of covalently cross-linked AT2 receptor oligomers is pathologic and contributes to neurodegeneration and neuronal loss, which are hallmarks of AD brains. The pathologic AT2 receptor aggregates promote neuronal deterioration in AD by sequestration and inhibition of cognitionenhancing Gq/11-mediated-signaling stimulated, e.g., by the M1-cholinoceptor (34, 35). In agreement with this notion, inhibition of AT2 receptor oligomerization retarded symptoms of neurodegeneration in the experimental AD model (35). Our ongoing studies aim to translate these experimental findings into a therapeutic strategy to restore the function of the neuroprotective AT2 receptor and halt disease progression in AD models and patients (34, 35).

# DIFFICULTIES TO DETECT AT1-B2 RECEPTOR HETEROMERIZATION

Immediately after the discovery of covalent AT2 receptor aggregation in AD (34, 35), the research on neurodegenerative GPCR aggregation in Alzheimer's disease was interrupted by



a publication, which reported "lack of evidence for AT1R/B2R heterodimerization" (19). When we saw this and similar other publications (19, 38), we realized that we had to redirect our research toward the AT1-B2 heteromer.

In search for causes, which could account for the failure to detect the AT1-B2 receptor heteromer in transfected cells, we focused on the role of chaperones because chaperones are critically influenced by variable cell culture conditions (39). Whole genome microarray gene expression profiling identified the chaperone, calreticulin, as an important factor required for efficient B2 receptor maturation and AT1-B2 heteromerization (39). Loss of essential chaperones during in vitro cell culture could be a cause for failure to detect AT1-B2 (39). To overcome limitations of in vitro cell culture, we established cell expansion conditions, which mimic the in vivo environment because our studies mainly focus on GPCR aggregation under pathologic conditions in vivo. The in vivo cell expansion model applies NOD.Scid mice for expansion of cultured cells. Microarray gene expression analysis documented that the expression of essential chaperones is restored upon in vivo expansion of cultured cells in NOD.Scid mice (40).

Another critical factor is the intrinsic pathologic nature of the AT1-B2 heteromer, which could contribute to further difficulties to detect AT1-B2 in transfected cells. Expression of functional AT1-B2 heteromers leads to exaggerated calcium signaling with consecutively reduced cellular growth rates, premature senescence, and ultimately calcium-induced cell death (41, 42). Consequently, only slow-growing cells with low AT1-B2 expression level will survive. Under these conditions, there is a high risk that the cell culture dish is rapidly overgrown by fast dividing, non-transfected cells and/or cells expressing either AT1 or B2. This scenario is particularly relevant for *in vitro* cultured cells due to the loss of essential pro-survival factors, e.g., components of the pro-survival ERK pathway (43). Control experiments, which control for co-expression of AT1-B2 at the single cell level are necessary to identify and overcome such problems.

At present, it is not clear, why several groups failed to detect AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization in transfected cells. While we addressed some possible issues, a definite answer is not possible because experiments in these publications were performed with batches of cells, and precise biochemical and/or histological control experiments are lacking, e.g., the control for co-expression of AT1 and B2 at the single cell level, co-immunoenrichment studies and immune-fluorescent microscopy of receptor proteins (19, 38).

Apart from the above-mentioned causes, a high cellular expression level of the transfected GPCRs, notably the AT1 receptor, could become another factor of failure to detect AT1-B2 heteromerization. The documented reporting of constitutive AT1 receptor homomerization could be indicative of high AT1 receptor expression at the single cell level (19). High AT1 receptor expression at the single cell level could be attributed, e.g., to the SV40 large T-antigen-driven DNA replication at high copy number in COS cells (19). A high cellular GPCR expression level could be a critical factor because it could favor the formation of receptor homomers over receptor heteromers (44), i.e., the homomeric interaction between AT1-AT1 could become dominant and prevent the heteromeric interaction of AT1 with B2. As mentioned above, essential control experiments were not performed, e.g., the visualization of AT1 and B2 receptor proteins by immunoblot to detect protein aggregation and/or immaturely folded proteins (19, 38).

Concomitantly with the identification of critical parameters required for AT1-B2 heteromer formation in cells, we established a versatile method for detection of the AT1-B2 receptor heteromer by confocal FRET imaging, which is capable to detect protein-protein interactions in close proximity at a distance of <10 nm (45). We added a signal peptide to the AT1 receptorcerulean fusion protein, which otherwise barely reached the cell surface under standard cell culture conditions. With this approach, we demonstrated a high FRET efficiency of 24.7% for the interaction between AT1-Cerulean and B2-eYFP (45). Thus, we had proven that the AT1-B2 receptor heteromer exists in cultured cells, and can readily be detected by a standard FRET-based method, which is usually applied for detection of GPCR dimerization in cells (Figure 1). In addition, we documented functionality of AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization, which accounts for receptor co-internalization upon stimulation with angiotensin II (45).

Taken together, the question, why several groups were unable to detect AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization in cells, cannot be answered because specific control experiments were not performed (19, 38). In contrast, different groups in different laboratories worldwide demonstrated that AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization can be detected by different biochemical and biophysical methods (16, 17, 20, 45).

# INDEPENDENT CONFIRMATION OF AT1-B2 HETEROMERIZATION IN THE YEAR 2013, AFTER MORE THAN A DECADE OF SCIENTIFIC DISCUSSIONS

While our own work established the methodology for detection of functional AT1-B2 heteromerization, final acceptance of AT1-B2 by the scientific community occurred in 2013, after more than a decade of scientific discussions (**Figure 1**). In 2013, the group of Louis Luttrell, a former member of the Nobel Prize-winning Lefkowitz lab, reproduced our findings of AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization (20). With this publication, years of ongoing scientific discussions were finally resolved. The publication not only confirmed our initial findings but also opened the path to a new pharmacologic targeting approach of the AT1-B2 heteromer by the beta-arrestin-biased AT1 agonist, SII (Sar1,Ile4,Ile8-AngII) (20).

According to the concept of beta-arrestin-biased agonism, stimulation of the AT1 receptor by a beta-arrestin-biased agonist inhibits G-protein-stimulated signaling but promotes the

### REFERENCES

- Nathans J, Hogness DS. Isolation, sequence analysis, and intron-exon arrangement of the gene encoding bovine rhodopsin. *Cell* (1983) 34:807–14. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(83)90537-8
- Dixon RA, Kobilka BK, Strader DJ, Benovic JL, Dohlman HG, Frielle T, et al. Cloning of the gene and cDNA for mammalian beta-adrenergic receptor and homology with rhodopsin. *Nature* (1986) 321:75–9.
- 3. Schertler GF, Villa C, Henderson R. Projection structure of rhodopsin. *Nature* (1983) 362:770–72.

recruitment of beta-arrestin to the activated AT1-B2 receptor complex. As a consequence of beta-arrestin recruitment, the AT1-B2 receptor complex undergoes co-internalization and subsequent down-regulation (**Figure 3**).

In contrast, a classic, unbiased AT1 receptor antagonist such as losartan, blocks both, AT1-stimulated signaling, and betaarrestin recruitment to the receptor. Consequently, the AT1-B2 receptor complex is not down-regulated (**Figure 3**). All currently approved AT1 antagonists are unbiased and contraindicated in preeclampsia because they cross the placental barrier and promote fetal malformations in pregnancy (46). Experimental beta-arrestin-biased agonists such as SII or TRV027 are peptides (47, 48) and not expected to cross the placental barrier. Therefore, such beta-arrestin-biased AT1 agonists could be envisaged as a future therapy for preeclampsia. Notably, beta-arrestin-biased AT1 agonists target the AT1-B2 receptor heteromer and promote AT1-B2 heteromer co-internalization and subsequent downregulation (20, 49, 50).

# OUTLOOK

Our ongoing studies at ETH Zurich currently address the feasibility to target the AT1-B2 heteromer and other pathologic GPCR aggregates by beta-arrestin-mediated downregulation. To study such an approach, we generated transgenic models with increased AT1-B2 heteromerization. With these transgenic models, the in vivo relevance of AT1-B2 receptor heteromerization was demonstrated (50). Our data show that increased vascular AT1-B2 levels are a sufficient cause for preeclampsia symptoms in pregnant mice [Figure 1; (50)]. Moreover, symptoms of preeclampsia in AT1-B2-transgenic mice can be prevented by beta-arrestin-mediated down-regulation of AT1-B2 (50). Thus, targeting of the AT1-B2 heteromer by beta-arrestin-mediated down-regulation is feasible (50). And the initial identification of pathologic GPCR aggregation more than a decade ago is currently being translated into a new pharmacologic treatment approach.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

UQ and SA wrote, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by ETH grant No. ETH-18 14-2.

- Heldin CH. Dimerization of cell surface receptors in signal transduction. *Cell* (1995) 80:213–23.
- Gilman AG. G proteins: transducers of receptor-generated signals. Annu Rev Biochem. (1987) 56:615–49.
- 6. Rodbell M. The role of hormone receptors and GTP-regulatory proteins in membrane transduction. *Nature* (1980) 284:17–22.
- Okamoto T, Murayama Y, Hayashi Y, Inagaki M, Ogata E, Nishimoto I. Identification of a Gs activator region of the beta 2-adrenergic receptor that is autoregulated via protein kinase a-dependent phosphorylation. *Cell* (1991) 67:723–30.

- Taylor JM, Neubig RR. Peptides as probes for G protein signal transduction. Cell Signal. (1994) 6:841–9.
- 9. Fung BK, Hurley JB, Stryer L. Flow of information in light-triggered cyclic nucleotide cascade of vision. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1981) 78:152–6.
- Stryer L, Bourne HR. G proteins: a family of signal transducers. Annu Rev Cell Biol. (1986) 2:391–419.
- 11. Hebert TE, Moffett S, Morello JP, Loisel TP, Bichet DG, Barret C, et al. peptide derived from a beta2-adrenergic receptor transmembrane domain inhibits both receptor dimerization and activation. *J Biol Chem.* (1996) 271:16384–92.
- Jones KA, Borowsky B, Tamm JA, Craig DA, Durkin MM, Dai M, et al. GABA(B) receptors function as a heteromeric assembly of the subunits GABA(B)R1 and GABA(B)R2. *Nature* (1998) 396:674–9.
- Kaupmann K, Malitschek B, Schuler V, Heid J, Froestl W, Beck P, et al. GABA(B)-receptor subtypes assemble into functional heteromeric complexes. *Nature* (1998) 396:683–7.
- 14. Hu GM, Mai TL, Chen CM. Visualizing the GPCR network: classification and evolution. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:15495. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15707-9
- Frangaj A, Fan QR. Structural biology of GABAB receptor. *Neuropharmacology* (2018) 136:68–79. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.10.011
- AbdAlla S, Lother H, Quitterer U. AT1-receptor heterodimers show enhanced G-protein activation and altered receptor sequestration. *Nature* (2000) 407:94–8. doi: 10.1038/35024095
- AbdAlla S, Lother H, el Massiery A, Quitterer U. Increased AT(1) receptor heterodimers in preeclampsia mediate angiotensin ii responsiveness. *Nat Med.* (2001) 7:1003–9. doi: 10.1038/nm0901-1003
- Lodwick D. Receptor double-trouble in preeclampsia. Nat Med. (2001) 999– 1000. doi: 10.1038/nm0901-999
- Hansen JL, Hansen JT, Speerschneider T, Lyngsø C, Erikstrup N, Burstein ES, et al. Lack of evidence for AT1R/B2R heterodimerization in COS-7, HEK293, and NIH3T3 cells: how common is the AT1R/B2R heterodimer? J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:1831–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M8046 07200
- Wilson PC, Lee MH, Appleton KM, El-Shewy HM, Morinelli TA, Peterson YK, et al. The arrestin-selective angiotensin AT1 receptor agonist [Sar1,Ile4,Ile8]-AngII negatively regulates bradykinin B2 receptor signaling via AT1-B2 receptor heterodimers. *J Biol Chem.* (2013) 288:18872–84. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.472381
- Takezako T, Unal H, Karnik SS, Node K. Current topics in angiotensin II type 1 receptor research: focus on inverse agonism, receptor dimerization and biased agonism. *Pharmacol Res.* (2017) 123:40–50. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2017. 06.013
- Maquire ME, Van Asdale PM, Gilman AG. An agonist-specific effect of guanine nucleotides on binding to the beta adrenergic receptor. *Mol Pharmacol.* (1977) 12:335–9.
- 23. Lefkowitz RJ, Williams LT. Catecholamine binding to the beta-adrenergic receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1977) 74:515–9.
- 24. AbdAlla S, Zaki E, Lother H, Quitterer U. Involvement of the amino terminus of the B(2) receptor in agonist-induced receptor dimerization. *J Biol Chem.* (1999) 274:26079–84.
- AbdAlla S, Lother H, Abdel-tawab AM, Quitterer U. The angiotensin II AT2 receptor is an AT1 receptor antagonist. J Biol Chem. (2001) 276:39721–6. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M105253200
- Haller H, Oeney T, Hauck U, Distler A, Philipp T. Increased intracellular free calcium and sensitivity to angiotensin II in platelets of preeclamptic women. *Am J Hypertens*. (1989) 2:238–43.
- Stanhewicz AE, Jandu S, Santhanam L, Alexander LM. Increased angiotensin II sensitivity contributes to microvascular dysfunction in women who have had preeclampsia. *Hypertension* (2017) 70:382–9. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.09386
- AbdAlla S, Abdel-Baset A, Lother H, el Massiery A, Quitterer U. Mesangial AT1/B2 receptor heterodimers contribute to angiotensin II hyperresponsiveness in experimental hypertension. J Mol Neurosci. (2005) 26:185–92. doi: 10.1385/JMN:26:2-3:185
- Saleh L, Verdonk K, Visser W, van den Keiracker AH, Danser AH. The emerging role of endothelin-1 in the pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia.

Ther Adv Cardiovasc Dis. (2016) 10:282-93. doi: 10.1177/17539447156 24853

- AbdAlla S, Lother H, Langer A, el Faramawy Y, Quitterer U. Factor XIIIA transglutaminase crosslinks AT1 receptor dimers of monocytes at the onset of atherosclerosis. *Cell* (2004) 119:343–54. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004. 10.006
- Ogawa S, Glass CK. Factor XIIIA (cross)links AT1 receptors to atherosclerosis. Cell (2004) 119:313–4. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.10.008
- 32. Thomas WG. Double trouble for type 1 angiotensin receptors in atherosclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 352:506–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcibr043928
- Hilal-Dandan R. Renin and Angiotensin. In: Brunton L, Chabner B, Knollman B, editors. Goodman & Gilman's The pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics. 12th ed. New York, NY: The McGraw Hill Companies Inc. (2011). p. 721–44.
- AbdAlla S, Lother H, el Missiry A, Langer A, Sergeev P, el Faramawy Y, et al. Angiotensin II AT2 receptor oligomers mediate G-protein dysfunction in an animal model of alzheimer disease. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:6554–65. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M807746200
- 35. AbdAlla S, Lother H, el Missiry A, Sergeev P, Langer A, el Faramawy Y, et al. Dominant-negative AT2 receptor oligomers induce G-protein arrest and symptoms of neurodegeneration. *J Biol Chem.* (2009) 284:6566–74. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M808277200
- Hsiao K, Chapman P, Nilsen S, Eckman C, Harigaya Y, Younkin S, et al. Correlative memory deficits, abeta elevation, and amyloid plaques in transgenic mice. *Science* (1996) 274:99–102.
- AbdAlla S, El Hakim A, Abdelbaset A, Elfaramawy Y, Quitterer U. Inhibition of ACE retards tau hyperphosphorylation and signs of neuronal degeneration in aged rats subjected to chronic mild stress. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:1–10. doi: 10.1155/2015/917156
- See HB, Seeber RM, Kocan M, Eidne KA, Pfleger KD. Application of G protein-coupled receptor-heteromer identification technology to monitor βarrestin recruitment to G protein-coupled receptor heteromers. Assay Drug Dev Technol. (2011) 9:21–30. doi: 10.1089/adt.2010.0336
- Abd Alla J, Reeck K, Langer A, Streichert T, Quitterer U. Calreticulin enhances B2 bradykinin receptor maturation and heterodimerization. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2009) 387:186–90. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009. 07.011
- Abd Alla J, Pohl A, Reeck K, Streichert T, Quitterer U. Establishment of an *in vivo* model facilitates B2 receptor protein maturation and heterodimerization. *Integr Biol.* (2010) 2:209–17. doi: 10.1039/b922592g
- Martin N, Bernard D. Calcium signalling and cellular senescence. Cell Calcium. (2018) 70:16–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2017.04.001
- Zhivotovsky B, Orrenius S. Calcium and cell death mechanisms: a perspective from the cell death community. *Cell Calcium*. (2011) 50:211–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2011.03.003
- Fu X, Koller S, Abd Alla J, Quitterer U. Inhibition of G-proteincoupled receptor kinase 2 (GRK2) triggers the growth-promoting mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. J Biol Chem. (2013) 288:7738–55. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.428078
- Bulenger S, Marullo S, Bouvier M. Emerging role of homo- and heterodimerization in g-protein-coupled receptor biosynthesis and maturation. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2005) 26:131–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2005.01.004
- 45. Quitterer U, Pohl A, Langer A, Koller S, Abdalla S. A cleavable signal peptide enhances cell surface delivery and heterodimerization of cerulean-tagged angiotensin II AT1 and bradykinin B2 receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2011) 409:544–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011. 05.041
- 46. Bullo M, Tschumi S, Bucher BS, Bianchetti MG, Simonetti GD. Pregnancy outcome following exposure to angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor antagonists: a systematic review. *Hypertension* (2012) 60:444–50. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.112.1 96352
- Holloway AC, Qian H, Pipolo L, Ziogas J, Miura S, Karnik S, et al. Side-chain substitutions within angiotensin II reveal different requirements for signaling, internalization, and phosphorylation of type 1a angiotensin receptors. *Mol Pharmacol.* (2002) 61:768–77. doi: 10.1124/mol.61.4.768

- Violin JD, DeWire SM, Yamashita D, Rominger DH, Nguyen L, Schiller K, et al. Selectively engaging beta-arrestins at the angiotensin II type 1 receptor reduces blood pressure and increases cardiac performance. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. (2010) 335:572–9. doi: 10.1124/jpet.110.173005
- Quitterer U, AbdAlla S. Vasopressor meets vasodepressor: the AT1-B2 receptor heterodimer. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2014) 88:284–90. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2014.01.019
- Quitterer U, Fu X, Pohl A, Bayoumy KM, Langer A, AbdAlla S. Beta-arrestin1 prevents precelampsia by downregulation of mechanosensitive AT1-B2 receptor heteromers. *Cell* (2019) 176:318–33.e19. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.050

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Quitterer and AbdAlla. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# SERPINs-From Trap to Treatment

#### Wariya Sanrattana, Coen Maas and Steven de Maat\*

Department of Clinical Chemistry and Haematology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht University, Utrecht, Netherlands

Excessive enzyme activity often has pathological consequences. This for example is the case in thrombosis and hereditary angioedema, where serine proteases of the coagulation system and kallikrein-kinin system are excessively active. Serine proteases are controlled by SERPINS (serine protease inhibitors). We here describe the basic biochemical mechanisms behind SERPIN activity and identify key determinants that influence their function. We explore the clinical phenotypes of several SERPIN deficiencies and review studies where SERPINs are being used beyond replacement therapy. Excitingly, rare human SERPIN mutations have led us and others to believe that it is possible to refine SERPINs toward desired behavior for the treatment of enzyme-driven pathology.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Marvin T. Nieman, Case Western Reserve University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Daniel A. Lawrence, University of Michigan, United States Thomas Renne, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany Paulo Antonio De Souza Mourão, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

> \*Correspondence: Steven de Maat S.demaat@umcutrecht.nl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 30 November 2018 Accepted: 25 January 2019 Published: 12 February 2019

#### Citation:

Sanrattana W, Maas C and de Maat S (2019) SERPINs—From Trap to Treatment. Front. Med. 6:25. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00025 Keywords: SERPIN (serine proteinase inhibitor), protein engineering, bradykinin (BK), hemostasis, therapy

# INTRODUCTION

Serine proteases are the "workhorses" of the human body. This enzyme family is conserved throughout evolution. There are 1,121 putative proteases in the human body, and about 180 of these are serine proteases (1, 2). They are involved in diverse physiological processes, ranging from blood coagulation, fibrinolysis, and inflammation to immunity (**Figure 1A**). The activity of serine proteases is amongst others regulated by a dedicated class of inhibitory proteins called SERPINs (serine protease inhibitors). So far, 37 SERPINs have been identified in the human body. Thirty of these are functional protease inhibitors (7, 8). Human SERPINs are subdivided into 9 subgroups (clade A to I) based on their phylogenetic relationship (9). It is noteworthy that SERPINs are generally capable of inhibiting multiple enzymes. Rather than being considered promiscuous, they appear selective in the sense that the targeted enzymes are often part of a conserved biological mechanism. This for instance is the case for antithrombin (AT), that inhibits multiple enzymes all involved in the coagulation system.

#### Structure

SERPINs generally consist of ~ 350–400 amino acid residues, for example,  $\alpha$ 1-antitrypsin ( $\alpha$ 1AT) has 394 amino acids. Their molecular weight varies between 40 and 100 kDa due to differences in their glycosylation profile. They are highly expressed in the liver, but are expressed ubiquitously throughout the body (10). SERPINs fold into 7–9  $\alpha$  helices and 3  $\beta$ -sheets (11). The core structure of SERPINs is highly conserved, which is important for their function. **Figure 1B** shows the structure of a native SERPIN. Native SERPINs have two main features; (1) five-stranded  $\beta$ -sheet A (s1A, s2A, s3A, s5A, and s6A) are positioned in the middle of the molecule and (2) a flexible reactive center loop (RCL) is positioned on top of the molecule. The RCL contains an enzyme cleavage site (P1-P1'), denoted accordingly to the nomenclature of Schecter and Berger (12), which is located near the C-terminus of the protein sequence.

68

## **Mechanism of Action**

SERPINs inhibit target enzymes through a conserved mechanism (13), which involves a unique dramatic conformational change. The nature of native (uncleaved) SERPINs is that they are metastable; i.e., not (yet) in their most stable form.

When executing their function, SERPINs act as molecular "mousetraps", where the RCL is a "bait" and target proteases are "mice" (14). The inhibition process starts when a protease recognizes the bait and binds to the SERPIN by forming a reversible Michaelis-Menten complex (**Figure 1C**). When the



where the N-terminal portion of cleaved RCL is inserted between central  $\beta$ -sheet A. This conformational change of the SERPIN results in "trapping" the covalently linked protease into an inactive form [PDB code: 1EZX (5)]. This SERPIN-protease complex will subsequently be eliminated from the circulation. (E) In some cases, a SERPIN can act as a substrate, where protease and SERPIN do not remain covalently linked. This results in an active protease that disassociates from the SERPIN, which leaves the SERPIN in a cleaved form [PDB code: cleaved 7API (6)]. AT: antithrombin; PCI, protein C inhibitor; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor 1; PAI-2, plasminogen activator inhibitor 2; HCII, heparin cofactor II;  $\alpha$ 1AT,  $\alpha$ 1-antitrypsin; ACT, antichymotrypsin;  $\alpha$ 2AP,  $\alpha$ 2-antiplasmin; C1INH, C1 esterase inhibitor; CBG, Corticosteroid-binding globulin; TBG, Thyroxine-binding globulin; CBP1, collagen-binding protein 1.

docking protease cleaves the bond between P1 and P1' residues of the SERPIN, it becomes covalently bound to the main chain carbonyl carbon of the P1 residue of the SERPIN. This cleavage event releases the SERPIN from its metastable conformation (i.e., springing the mousetrap). Hereafter, either the SERPIN remains a stable covalent complex with the enzyme or is used as a "substrate". In this latter case, the active enzyme dissociates. In 2000, the first SERPIN-protease complex crystallography structure was unveiled (5), confirming the mousetrap-like mechanism of SERPINs. Upon cleavage of the P1-P1' bond, the C-terminal loop of the SERPIN RCL inserts into the SERPIN body, between its  $\beta$ -sheet A. This leads to the formation of the s4A strand and to a complete antiparallel  $\beta$ -sheet A. When loop insertion is rapid enough, the enzyme active site becomes distorted and inactivated, leaving the enzyme-SERPIN complex covalently bound (Figure 1D) (15, 16). When loop insertion is too slow, the covalent bond is already disrupted before the enzyme active site can be inactivate (4, 17). Now, the SERPIN becomes consumed as a substrate (Figure 1E). The ratio between the two possible pathways is expressed as the stoichiometry of inhibition and should be close to 1 (17) for SERPINs to become powerful inhibitors.

## KEY DETERMINANTS FOR SERPIN FUNCTIONALITY

Four features are important for proper SERPIN functionality. Two of these are structural, the other two are sequence-based motifs.

## **Reactive Center Loop Mobility**

Mobility of the RCL enables loop insertion into  $\beta$ -sheet A after protease cleavage, which is critical for SERPIN stabilization and enzyme inhibition. The N-terminal sequence that precedes the cleavage site (P15-P9), the so-called hinge region, facilitates RCL mobility, and loop insertion (18). Amino acid sequences of alanine-rich hinge region are considerably conserved among inhibitory SERPINs (**Table 1**).

Lawrence et al. created a plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) mutant library, which contains 15 different amino acid substitutions at P14 of PAI-1. Results demonstrate that substitutions with a charged residue at P14, which is normally a small uncharged residue in most of inhibitory SERPINs, significantly retard the inhibitory function of PAI-1 and convert it to a substrate (17). However, the mutations at P14 do not affect protease recognition (19). Therefore, it demonstrates that an uncharged residue is preferable in the hinge region for a proper loop insertion. Remarkably, hinge regions are less conserved among non-inhibitory SERPINs. This suggests that the conserved sequence of the hinge region is important to SERPINs in order to function as inhibitors.

# **Reactive Center Loop Length**

The length of the N-terminal portion of the RCL is conserved among the members of SERPIN family (**Table 1**). It has been shown that the length of the RCL critically impacts the kinetic stability of the serpin-protease complex. The length of the RCL, especially the N-terminal portion, should fit the length of  $\beta$ -sheet A to insert in between the sheets during enzyme inhibition. A study by Zhou et al. showed that modifying the RCL length by adding one or two residues dramatically reduced the stability of the complex by up to 1,000,000-fold (20). In contrast, shortening the RCL length by deletion of one or two residues lowered the efficiency of inhibition, but doubled the stability of the complex. Finally, the deletion of more than two residues completely converted the serpin into a substrate.

# **Protease Recognition Sequence**

In order for a SERPIN to acts as a bait, its RCL contains a sequence motif that is specifically recognized by target enzymes. Interestingly, amino acid sequences adjacent to the cleavage site are highly variable between different SERPINs (**Table 1**). This variation partially explains their different specificities.

Anderson et al. successfully shifted the target specificity of one of the SERPINs,  $\alpha$ 1AT through mutagenesis from an inhibitor of neutrophil elastase (an extracellular enzyme) into an inhibitor of furin (an intracellular enzyme). The minimal P4-P1 peptide sequence that is required for recognition and an efficient cleavage by furin is -Arg (R)-X-X-R- (21). Hence, Anderson and co-workers replaced the P4 and P1 residues of the RCL of  $\alpha$ 1AT, changing it from <sup>355</sup>AIPM<sup>358</sup> to <sup>355</sup>RIPR<sup>358</sup>, and named this variant  $\alpha$ 1AT-Portland. *In vitro*, the engineered  $\alpha$ 1AT-Portland exhibited a potent inhibition toward furin and no longer inhibited neutrophil elastase (22).

## **Exosites**

The specificity of SERPINs is not only determined by their RCL sequences, but also by exosites (23). Exosites are secondary binding sites that are remote from the RCL cleavage site (24). Exosites refine SERPIN specificity in three ways. Firstly, an exosite facilitates a temporary docking site for a target protease, to improve protease binding at P1 residue of SERPIN. For example, when replacing RCL of α1-antichymotrypsin from P6-P3' with that of  $\alpha$ 1AT, the inhibition rate toward neutrophil elastase, was greatly reduced by 1,500-fold compared to wild-type  $\alpha$ 1AT (25). This suggests that the SERPIN body selectively contributes to its inhibitory function. Secondly, exosites on extended N- and C-termini assist the binding of target proteases or to specific sites to increase inhibition locally. Alpha 2-antiplasmin ( $\alpha$ 2AP) uses its C-terminal extension to bind to plasmin, but at the same time uses its N-terminal extension to cross-link to fibrin surface. As a result,  $\alpha$ 2AP that is cross-linked to fibrin, protects it from degradation. A human single nucleotide polymorphism affects this behavior of a2AP, with functional consequences for the cross-linking of  $\alpha$ 2AP to fibrin (26). Thirdly, exosites enable interaction with cofactors. The interaction of SERPIN with a cofactor tremendously boosts the inhibition rate of SERPINs and also refines their target specificity. A classic example is the contribution of heparin to the inhibition of coagulation enzymes by antithrombin (AT). The inhibition rate of thrombin by AT is increased by 10,000-fold in the presence of heparin (27). Heparin contains a pentasaccharide sequence that is recognized by the exosites in AT. This induces a conformational change in AT that increases its inhibitory capacity. Furthermore, the bound

Amino acid sequence alignments of human SERPIN reactive center loop.

TABLE 1   Amir	no acid	rmina		aligi			numa		אוויאר	eacti	vec	P4		,. P2	P1	P1′	P2'	P3′	P4'										C-terminal				
INHIBITORY	11 10												10	12		•••	12	10													inital		
SERPINA1	G	Т	Е	А	А	G	А	М	F	L	Е	А	1	Р	М	S	1	Р	Ρ	Е	V	-	-	-	-	К	F	Ν	K	Р	F		
SERPINA2	G	Т	Е	А	Т	G	А	Р	Н	L	Е	Е	K	А	W	S	К	Υ	Q	Т	V	-	_	_	_	М	F	Ν	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINA3	G	Т	Е	А	S	А	А	Т	А	V	К	1	Т	L	L	S	А	L	V	Е	Т	R	Т	1	V	R	F	Ν	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINA4	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	А	Т	Т	F	А	T	К	F	F	S	А	Q	Т	Т	Ν	R	Н	Т	L	R	F	Ν	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINA5	G	Т	R	А	А	А	А	Т	G	Т	1	F	Т	F	R	S	А	R	L	Ν	S	Q	R	L	V	-	F	Ν	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINA9	G	Т	Е	А	Т	А	А	Т	Т	Т	К	F	1	V	R	S	К	D	G	S	Y	F	Т	V	S	-	F	Ν	R	Т	F		
SERPINA10	G	Т	Е	А	V	А	G	1	L	S	Е	1	Т	А	Y	S	М	Ρ	Ρ	V	- I	-	-	-	-	К	V	D	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINA11	G	Т	Е	А	G	А	А	S	G	L	L	S	Q	Ρ	Ρ	S	L	Ν	Т	Μ	S	D	Ρ	Н	А	Н	F	Ν	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINA12	G	Т	Е	G	А	А	G	Т	G	А	Q	Т	L	Ρ	М	Е	Т	Ρ	L	V	V	К	1	-	-	-	-	D	К	Ρ	Υ		
SERPINB1	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	А	Т	А	G	1	А	Т	F	С	М	L	М	Ρ	Е	Е	Ν	-	F	Т	А	-	D	Н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB2	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	G	Т	G	G	V	М	Т	G	R	Т	G	н	G	G	Ρ	Q	-	F	V	А	-	D	Н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB3	G	А	Е	А	А	А	А	Т	А	V	V	G	F	G	S	S	Ρ	Т	S	Т	Ν	Е	Е	F	Н	С	-	Ν	н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB4	G	V	Е	А	А	А	А	Т	А	V	V	V	V	Е	L	S	S	Ρ	S	Т	Ν	Е	Е	F	С	С	-	Ν	н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB6	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	А	Т	А	А	- I	М	Μ	М	R	С	А	R	F	V	Ρ	R	-	F	С	А	-	D	Н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB7	G	Т	Е	А	Т	А	А	Т	G	S	Ν	I.	V	Е	K	Q	L	Ρ	Q	S	Т	L	-	F	R	А	-	D	Н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB8	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	А	Т	А	V	V	R	Ν	S	R	С	S	R	М	Е	Ρ	R	-	F	С	А	-	D	Н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB9	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	А	S	S	С	F	V	V	А	Е	С	С	М	Е	S	G	Ρ	R	F	С	А	-	D	Н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB10	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	G	S	G	S	Е	1	D	1	R	1	R	V	Ρ	S	- I	Е	-	F	Ν	А	-	Ν	Н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB11	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	А	Т	G	D	S	1	А	V	К	S	L	Ρ	М	R	А	Q	-	F	K	А	-	Ν	н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB12	G	Т	Q	А	А	А	А	Т	G	А	V	V	S	Е	R	S	L	R	S	W	V	Е	-	F	Ν	А	-	Ν	н	Ρ	F		
SERPINB13	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	А	Т	G	1	G	F	Т	V	Т	S	А	Ρ	G	н	Е	Ν	V	Н	С	-	-	Ν	Н	Ρ	F		
SERPINC1	G	S	Е	А	А	А	S	Т	А	V	V	1	А	G	R	S	L	Ν	Ρ	Ν	R	V	Т	F	K	А	-	Ν	R	Ρ	F		
SERPIND1	G	Т	Q	А	Т	Т	V	Т	Т	V	G	F	М	Ρ	L	S	Т	Q	V	R	-	-	-	F	Т	V	-	D	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINE1	G	Т	V	А	S	S	S	Т	А	V	1	V	S	А	R	Μ	А	Ρ	Е	Е	1	I	М	-	-	-	-	D	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINE2	G	Т	K	А	S	А	А	Т	Т	А	1	L	1	А	R	S	S	Ρ	Ρ	W	-	-	-	F	1	V	-	D	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINE3	G	Т	K	А	S	G	А	Т	А	L	L	L	L	К	R	S	R	1	Ρ	1	-	-	-	F	K	А	-	D	R	Ρ	F		
SERPINF2	G	V	Е	А	А	А	А	Т	S	-	- I	А	Μ	S	R	Μ	S	L	S	S	-	-	-	F	S	V	-	Ν	R	Ρ	F		
SERPING1	G	V	Е	А	А	А	А	S	А	-	- I	S	V	А	R	Т	L	L	V	-	-	-	-	F	Е	V	-	Q	Q	Ρ	F		
SERPINI1	G	S	Е	А	А	А	V	S	G	Μ	- I	А	1	S	R	Μ	А	V	L	Υ	Ρ	Q	V	1	V	-	-	D	Н	Ρ	F		
SERPINI2	G	S	Е	А	А	Т	S	Т	G	1	н	1	Ρ	V	1	Μ	S	L	А	Q	S	Q	-	F	1	А	-	Ν	Н	Ρ	F		
NON-INHIBITO	ORY																																
SERPINA6	G	V	D	Т	А	G	S	Т	G	V	Т	L	Ν	L	Т	S	K	Ρ	1	1	L	R	Ν	Q	-	-	-	-	-	Ρ	F		
SERPINA7	G	Т	Е	А	А	А	V	Ρ	Е	V	Е	L	S	D	Q	Ρ	Е	Ν	Т	F	L	Н	Ρ	1	1	Q	1	D	R	S	F		
SERPINA8	E	R	Е	Ρ	Т	Е	S	Т	Q	Q	L	Ν	K	Ρ	Е	V	L	Е	V	Т	L	Ν	R	-	-	-	-	-	-	Ρ	F		
SERPINB5	G	G	D	S	1	Е	V	Ρ	G	А	R	1	L	Q	Н	K	D	Е	-	-	L	Ν	А	D	Н	-	-	-	-	Ρ	F		
SERPINF1	G	А	G	Т	Т	Ρ	S	Ρ	G	L	Q	Ρ	А	Н	L	Т	F	Ρ	-	-	L	D	Υ	Н	L	Ν	Q	-	-	Ρ	F		
SERPINH1	G	Ν	Ρ	F	D	Q	D	1	Υ	G	R	Е	Е	L	R	S	Ρ	K	-	-	L	F	Υ	А	D	Н	-	-	-	Ρ	F		

heparin polysaccharide molecule forms a scaffold that facilitates interaction between thrombin and AT.

## LESSONS FROM HUMAN SERPIN DEFICIENCIES

SERPIN deficiencies show us how SERPINs are involved in physiology.

## Alpha 1-Antitrypsin (α1AT)

Alpha 1-antitrypin is a 52 kDa glycoprotein that strongly inhibits neutrophil elastase. It is encoded by the SERPINA1 gene (28) and is abundantly present in plasma (150-300

mg/dL). Its levels can increase during acute phase reactions.  $\alpha$ 1AT has a relatively long circulating half-life of 4.5–6 days. By comparison, it is about 3 days, 2.6 days, 1 day, and only 1–2 h for AT,  $\alpha$ 2AP, C11NH, and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1), respectively (29, 30). Alpha 1-antitrypin is a powerful protease inhibitor. It inhibits neutrophil elastase at the association rate constant of 6.5 × 10<sup>7</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>.s<sup>-1</sup> (31). Functional  $\alpha$ 1AT deficiency associates with increases risk of pulmonary emphysema and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). In this condition, uncontrolled neutrophil elastase activity destructs extracellular matrix components such as collagen and elastin in lung alveolar that leads to remodeling of the lung architecture (32). Replacement therapy
is indicated for the treatment of pulmonary disease due to severe  $\alpha$ 1AT deficiency, along with other pharmacologic therapies such as bronchodilator and anti-inflammatory drugs (33). Alpha 1-antitrypsin is susceptible to pathologic intracellular aggregation as a result of mutations. As  $\alpha$ 1AT is mainly expressed in the liver, it forms aggregates that accumulate intracellularly in hepatocytes, which consequently leads to liver diseases such as chronic hepatitis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (34).

### C1 Esterase Inhibitor (C1INH)

C1INH is encoded by the SERPING1 gene. It is a heavily glycosylated glycoprotein (105 kDa; six N- and ten O-glycosylation sites) (35). C1INH inhibits C1s and C1r of the classical complement pathway. It is also a major inhibitor of enzymes in the plasma contact system, i.e., plasma kallikrein (PKa) and activated factor XII (FXIIa) (36).

The clinical phenotype of C1INH deficiency is surprising. Rather than a complement-related disorder, C1INH deficiency causes an overproduction of bradykinin because of an underregulated contact system. This subsequently leads to hereditary angioedema (37); a disorder characterized by tissue swelling (38). Surprisingly, there is little evidence for excessive intrinsic coagulation, resulting in thrombosis. Plasma-derived C1INH and recombinant C1INH are a treatment of choice for patients with angioedema.

Compared to other SERPINs, C1INH is a relatively poor protease inhibitor, which generally inhibits its targets at the rate constants of about  $10^5 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{.s}^{-1}$ . By comparison, other SERPINs such as  $\alpha 1AT$ , AT, PAI-1, and  $\alpha 2AP$  have rate constants of about  $10^7 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{.s}^{-1}$  (39). Due to its poor inhibitory capability and short circulation time, high dose infusion is required for C1INH replacement therapy in HAE patients.

Similar to  $\alpha$ 1AT, some mutations can cause C1INH polymerization and subsequent hepatocellular accumulation (40). In heterozygous patients, the resulting aggregates contain both mutant and wildtype C1INH, as a result of protein-protein interactions. This explains why patients can have plasma C1INH levels below 50%.

### Antithrombin

Antithrombin is a broad inhibitor of blood coagulation proteases. It inhibits thrombin and factor Xa (FXa) and to a lesser extent, factor IXa, XIa, XIIa, PKa, tissue plasminogen activator, urokinase, and plasmin (41–43). AT is encoded by SERPINC1 gene. Low plasma AT levels increases the risk of deep vein thrombosis, pulmonary embolism and ischemic stroke (44). Pharmacological prophylaxis management is only recommended for AT deficient individuals with some clinical circumstances that provoke thrombosis (e.g., surgery, immobility, pregnancy). Current treatment and prophylaxis include low-molecular weight heparin, vitamin K antagonists, plasma-derived or recombinant human AT replacement therapy (45).

### SERPINS AS THERAPEUTIC AGENTS BEYOND REPLACEMENT THERAPY

SERPIN replacement therapies are valuable to restore deficiencies. However, SERPINs have also been studied in animal studies for their therapeutic potential beyond this application. For example, C1INH has been investigated for its therapeutic benefit toward a number of inflammation-related complications. In a porcine model for hemorrhage, a bolus injection of recombinant human C1INH, decreased tissue complement activation and attenuated metabolic acidosis. Furthermore, it reduced circulating tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  and attenuated renal, intestinal, and lung injury in a dose-dependent manner (46). Pretreatment of Wistar rats with human plasma-derived C1INH exhibited protective effects in ischemia/reperfusion injury of lower extremities and associated lung damage. After 3h of hind limb ischemia and 24-h reperfusion, C1INH significantly reduced edema formation in the reperfused muscle as well as in the lung, improved muscle viability, and decreased plasma levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (47).

In clinical studies, administration of C1INH was found to attenuate renal function, but not overall mortality in septic patients (48). In capillary leak syndrome, which may occur secondary to bone marrow transplantation, systemically increased capillary permeability leads to hypertension. Administration of C1INH concentrate improves the overall outcome from 14 (placebo) to 57% over a mean observation period of 9 months after the symptoms (49). Finally, C1INH treatment appeared to confer a benefit in reducing the need for dialysis post-transplant and improved renal function at 12 months post-transplant compared to controls in kidney transplant recipients (50).

### Lessons From *a*1AT-Pittsburgh

Alpha 1 antitrypsin-Pittsburgh is a rare mutation within the RCL of  $\alpha$ 1AT. It was first reported in 1,978 and caused severe bleeding episodes in a boy who carried the mutation (51). This single substitution mutation from methionine (M) to arginine (R) at position 358 (M358R), causes a dramatic change in the target specificity of  $\alpha$ 1AT.  $\alpha$ 1AT-Pittsburgh is a strong inhibitor of PKa, FXIIa, thrombin, plasmin, and activated protein C (APC), but no longer inhibits neutrophil elastase (52–57).

Alpha 1 antitrypsin-Pittsburgh has been investigated as a therapy for sepsis. In this setting, thrombin and APC, are thought to contribute to cardinal manifestations of gram-negative septicemia, including hypotensive shock and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Recombinant  $\alpha 1$ AT-Pittsburgh was investigated in a piglet *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* sepsis model (58). Pretreatment with low doses of recombinant  $\alpha 1$ AT-Pittsburgh attenuates the characteristic decreases in the functional concentrations of AT, FXI, and fibrinogen. In addition,  $\alpha 1$ AT-Pittsburgh-pretreated group had higher survival rate compared to control. In contrast, in a primate model of *Escherichia coli* sepsis, treatment with recombinant  $\alpha 1$ AT-Pittsburgh showed no benefit and even exacerbated the associated coagulopathy (59). This unfavorable outcome may have been caused by an overly broad inhibitory spectrum of  $\alpha$ 1AT-Pittsburgh, which includes inhibition of APC (60, 61). There is little to no experience with the application of  $\alpha$ 1AT-Pittsburgh in human clinical studies. Most probably, its apparent lack of specificity makes its development as a therapeutic agent unfavorable.

### **DESIGNER SERPINS**

### **Refined Versions of** *α***1AT-Pittsburgh**

In order to narrow down the specificity of a1AT-Pittsburgh to FXIIa and PKa, Schapira et al. (53) mutated the RCL of alAT-Pittsburgh by replacing proline (P) with alanine (A) at the P2 position. As a result, the RCL now imitates the RCL of C1INH, where P2-P1 residues are A and R. This results in a <sup>357</sup>AR<sup>358</sup> α1AT mutant. The second-order rate constants show that  ${}^{357}AR^{358}\alpha 1AT$  mutant inhibits PKa better than α1AT-Pittsburgh and C1INH by 5.2- and 21.2-fold, respectively. However, this 357 AR358 a1AT mutant inhibits β-FXIIa and thrombin less efficiently (3.8 and 4.9-fold, respectively). This can be explained by the peptide sequence substrate preference of thrombin, which prefers P at P2 position (62). As a consequence, the <sup>357</sup>AR<sup>358</sup> α1AT mutant does not prolong the thrombin time in plasma of Wistar rats. Moreover, rats that were pretreated with  $^{357}AR^{358}$   $\alpha$ 1AT mutant (0.7 mg) were protected from  $\beta$ -FXIIainduced hypotensive reaction, which is driven by PKa-mediated bradykinin production. A patent application on this invention was filed (US4973668A) in 1990 as a PKa inhibitor. However, to our knowledge, this variant has never been further evaluated for its therapeutic value.

In 2002, Sulikowski et al. (39) developed  $\alpha$ 1AT-Pittsburgh variants. For this design, they used information from synthetic peptide substrate studies to target PKa and C1s, but not APC. Based on this information, they changed P3-P2 residues of  $\alpha$ 1AT-Pittsburgh from isoleucine-proline to either leucine-glycine ( $^{356}$ LGR $^{358}$ ) or proline-phenylalanine ( $^{356}$ PFR $^{358}$ ). The investigators found that the first mutant  $^{356}$ LGR $^{358}$  remained a broad-spectrum inhibitor of C1s, PKa, FXIIa, and also APC. However, the second mutant  $^{356}$ PFR $^{358}$  showed increased specificity toward PKa, but inhibited all other enzymes less efficiently than mutant  $^{356}$ LGR $^{358}$ . In other experiments, an additional mutant was developed, based on  $^{56}$ LGR $^{358}$  in which the RCL's P4' residue was changed from a P to glutamine (E;  $^{356}$ LGRSIPE $^{362}$ ). However, this additional change did not show beneficial effects.

Another interesting, more recent example of therapeutic SERPIN development is found in the field of hemophilia. In this bleeding disorder, Polderdijk et al. (57) sought to restore the hemostatic balance by developing a strong inhibitor of APC. The investigators chose  $\alpha$ 1AT-Pittsburgh as a template for the

### REFERENCES

 Rawlings ND, Barrett AJ, Thomas PD, Huang X, Bateman A, Finn RD. The MEROPS database of proteolytic enzymes, their substrates and inhibitors in 2017 and a comparison with peptidases in the PANTHER database. *Nucl Acids Res.* (2018) 46:D624–32. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1134 development of a strong APC inhibitor. Hereto, they replaced the P2 and P1' residues of  $\alpha$ 1AT-Pittsburgh with a bulky lysine (K) to avoid interaction with thrombin, resulting in a <sup>357</sup>KRK<sup>359</sup>  $\alpha$ 1AT mutant. This mutant specifically inhibits APC, over other coagulation proteases. The <sup>357</sup>KRK<sup>359</sup>  $\alpha$ 1AT mutant has no effects on the PT, aPTT assays or thrombin generation in normal pooled plasma. However, it promotes thrombin generation in plasma from patients with hemophilia A or hemophilia B, indicating its specificity and procoagulant properties. Moreover, the mutant demonstrated efficacy in two different mouse models for hemophilia.

All in all, these studies demonstrate the possible applications of SERPINs beyond replacement therapy. Presently, SERPIN therapies are very costly. For example, the cost of a single-used vial of plasma-derived C1INH is up to \$2,300/500 units (63) and the cost of a 2-day treatment with a recombinant AT is approximately \$23,000/patient (64). However, these molecules are native protein sequences. The possibility to fine-tune SERPIN specificity and efficacy may reduce the required dosing, thereby potentially lowering the cost. In addition, the use of alternative SERPIN back bones may have dramatic consequences for therapeutic half-life. For example,  $\alpha$ 1AT has a much longer half-life than C1INH (29, 30).

We expect that an  $\alpha$ 1AT variant with the inhibitory profile of C1INH will retain this favorable property, enabling costeffective prophylactic therapy. Finally, liver-specific expression of (designer) SERPINs through gene therapy holds great promise for long-term treatment of enzyme-driven disorders.

### CONCLUSION

Together, these studies show that engineered SERPINs hold promise for the treatment of a wide variety of diseases. This motivates researchers to find ways to improve this unique class of molecules and extend their application well-beyond disorders in the hemostatic system.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

WS, CM, and SdM performed literature searches and wrote the manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

WS gratefully acknowledges financial support from the Royal Thai Government. CM gratefully acknowledges the Landsteiner Foundation for Blood Transfusion Research and the Netherlands Thrombosis Foundation.

- Drag M, Salvesen GS. Emerging principles in protease-based drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2010) 9:690–701. doi: 10.1038/nrd3053
- 3. Elliott PR, Pei XY, Dafforn TR, Lomas DA. Topography of a 2.0 A structure of alpha1-antitrypsin reveals targets for rational drug design to prevent conformational disease. *Protein Sci.* (2000) 9:1274–81. doi: 10.1110/ps.9.7.1274

- Dementiev A, Simonovic M, Volz K, Gettins PG. Canonical inhibitorlike interactions explain reactivity of alpha1-proteinase inhibitor Pittsburgh and antithrombin with proteinases. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:37881–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M305195200
- Huntington JA, Read RJ, Carrell RW. Structure of a serpin-protease complex shows inhibition by deformation. *Nature* (2000) 407:923–6. doi: 10.1038/35038119
- Engh R, Lobermann H, Schneider M, Wiegand G, Huber R, Laurell CB. The S variant of human alpha 1-antitrypsin, structure and implications for function and metabolism. *Protein Eng.* (1989) 2:407–15. doi: 10.1093/protein/ 2.6.407
- Lucas A, Yaron J. R., Zhang L, Ambadapadi S. Overview of serpins and their roles in biological systems methods *Mol Biol.* (2018) 1826:1–7. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8645-3\_1
- Law RH, Zhang Q, McGowan S, Buckle AM, Silverman GA, Wong W, et al. An overview of the serpin superfamily. *Genome Biol.* (2006) 7:216. doi: 10.1186/gb-2006-7-5-216
- Irving JA, Pike RN, Lesk AM, Whisstock JC. Phylogeny of the serpin superfamily: implications of patterns of amino acid conservation for structure and function. Genome *Res.* (2001) 10:1845–64. doi: 10.1101/gr.GR-1478R
- UniProt Consortium T. UniProt: the universal protein knowledgebase. Nucl Acids Res. (2018) 46:2699. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky092
- Gettins PG. Serpin structure, mechanism, and function. Chem Rev. (2002) 102:4751–804. doi: 10.1021/cr010170+
- Schechter I, Berger A. On the size of the active site in proteases. *I Papain Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (1967) 27:157–62. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(67)80055-X
- Huntington JA. Serpin structure, function and dysfunction. J Thromb Haemost. (2011) 9 (Suppl. 1):26–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04360.x
- Huntington JA, Carrell RW. The serpins: nature's molecular mousetraps. Sci Prog. (2001) 84:125–36. doi: 10.3184/003685001783239032
- Lawrence DA, Ginsburg D, Day DE, Berkenpas MB, Verhamme IM, Kvassman JO, et al. Serpin-protease complexes are trapped as stable acyl-enzyme intermediates. J Biol Chem. (1995) 270:25309–12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.43.25309
- Maddur AA, Swanson R, Izaguirre G, Gettins PG, Olson ST. Kinetic intermediates en route to the final serpin-protease complex: studies of complexes of alpha1-protease inhibitor with trypsin. J Biol Chem. (2013) 288:32020–35. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.510990
- Lawrence DA, Olson ST, Muhammad S, Day DE, Kvassman JO, Ginsburg D, et al. Partitioning of serpin-proteinase reactions between stable inhibition and substrate cleavage is regulated by the rate of serpin reactive center loop insertion into beta-sheet A. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:5839–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.8.5839
- Hopkins PC, Carrell RW, Stone SR. Effects of mutations in the hinge region of serpins. *Biochemistry* (1993) 32:7650–7. doi: 10.1021/bi00081a008
- Lawrence DA, Olson ST, Palaniappan S, Ginsburg D. Serpin reactive center loop mobility is required for inhibitor function but not for enzyme recognition. J Biol Chem. (1994) 269:27657–62.
- Zhou A, Carrell RW, Huntington JA. The serpin inhibitory mechanism is critically dependent on the length of the reactive center loop. J Biol Chem. (2001) 276:27541–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102594200
- Molloy SS, Bresnahan PA, Leppla SH, Klimpel KR, Thomas, G. Human furin is a calcium-dependent serine endoprotease that recognizes the sequence Arg-X-X-Arg and efficiently cleaves anthrax toxin protective antigen. *J Biol Chem.* (1992) 267:16396–402.
- Anderson ED, Thomas L, Hayflick JS, Thomas, G. Inhibition of HIV-1 gp160dependent membrane fusion by a furin-directed alpha 1-antitrypsin variant. *J Biol Chem.* (1993) 268:24887–91.
- Gettins PG, Olson ST. Exosite determinants of serpin specificity. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:20441–5. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R800064200
- Yegneswaran S, Tiefenbrunn TK, Fernandez JA, Dawson PE. Manipulation of thrombin exosite I, by ligand-directed covalent modification. J Thromb Haemost. (2007) 5:2062–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007.02712.x
- Plotnick MI, Schechter NM, Wang ZM, Liu X, Rubin, H. Role of the P6-P3' region of the serpin reactive loop in the formation and breakdown of the inhibitory complex. *Biochemistry* (1997) 36:14601–8. doi: 10.1021/bi97 1530j

- Christiansen VJ, Jackson KW, Lee KN, McKee PA. The effect of a single nucleotide polymorphism on human alpha 2-antiplasmin activity. *Blood* (2007) 109:5286–92. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-01-065185
- Olson ST, Richard B, Izaguirr G, Schedin-Weiss S, Gettins PGW. Molecular mechanisms of antithrombin-heparin regulation of blood clotting proteinases. a paradigm for understanding proteinase regulation by serpin family protein proteinase inhibitors. *Biochimie* (2010) 92:1587–96. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2010.05.011
- Schultze HE, Göllner I, Heide K, Schönenberger M, and Schwick, G. Zur Kenntnis der α-Globuline des menschlichen Normalserums. J Chem Sci. (1955) 10:463–473.
- Rau JC, Beaulieu LM, Huntington JA, Church FC. Serpins in thrombosis, hemostasis and fibrinolysis. J Thromb Haemost. (2007) 5(Suppl. 1):102–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007.02516.x
- Karnaukhova E. C1-Esterase inhibitor: biological activities and therapeutic applications. J Hematol Thromb Dis. (2013) 1:113. doi: 10.4172/2329-8790.1000113
- Beatty K, Bieth J, Travis J. Kinetics of association of serine proteinases with native and oxidized alpha-1-proteinase inhibitor and alpha-1-antichymotrypsin. J Biol Chem. (1980) 255:3931–4.
- Gooptu B, Ekeowa UI, Lomas DA. Mechanisms of emphysema in alphalantitrypsin deficiency: molecular and cellular insights. *Eur Respir J.* (2009) 34:475–88. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00096508
- 33. GOLD. GOLD 2018 Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (2018).
- Teckman JH, Blomenkamp KS. Pathophysiology of Alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency liver disease. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2017) 1639:1–8. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7163-3\_1
- 35. Stavenhagen K, Kayili HM, Holst S, Koeleman CAM, Engel R, Wouters D, et al. N- and O-glycosylation analysis of human c1-inhibitor reveals extensive mucin-type o-glycosylation. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2018) 17:1225–38. doi: 10.1074/mcp.RA117.000240
- Kaplan AP, Ghebrehiwet, B. The plasma bradykinin-forming pathways and its interrelationships with complement. *Mol Immunol.* (2010) 47:2161–9. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2010.05.010
- Ancellin N, Colmont C, Su J, Li Q, Mittereder N, Chae SS, et al. Extracellular export of sphingosine kinase-1 enzyme. Sphingosine 1-phosphate generation and the induction of angiogenic vascular maturation. J Biol Chem. (2002) 277:6667–75. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102841200
- De Maat S, Hofman ZLM, Maas, C. Hereditary angioedema: the plasma contact system out of control. J Thromb Haemost. (2018) 16:1674–85. doi: 10.1111/jth.14209
- Sulikowski T, Bauer BA, Patston PA. alpha(1)-Proteinase inhibitor mutants with specificity for plasma kallikrein and C1s but not C1. *Protein Sci.* (2002) 11:2230–6. doi: 10.1110/ps.0207302
- Haslund D, Ryo LB, Seidelin Majidi S, Rose IK, Skipper KA, Fryland T, et al. Dominant-negative SERPING1 variants cause intracellular retention of C1-inhibitor in hereditary angioedema. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:388–405. doi: 10.1172/JCI98869
- Jordan RE, Oosta GM, Gardner WT, and Rosenberg, R. D. The kinetics of hemostatic enzyme-antithrombin interactions in the presence of low molecular weight heparin. *J Biol Chem.* (1980) 255:10081–90.
- 42. Pixley RA, Schapira M, Colman RW. Effect of heparin on the inactivation rate of human activated factor XII by antithrombin III. *Blood* (1985) 66:198–203.
- Gozzo AJ, Nunes VA, Cruz-Silva I, Carmona AK, Nader HB, Faljoni-Alario A, et al. Heparin modulation of human plasma kallikrein on different substrates and inhibitors. *Biol Chem.* (2006) 387:1129–38. doi: 10.1515/BC.2006.139
- Marciniak E, Farley CH, DeSimone PA. Familial thrombosis due to antithrombin 3 deficiency. *Blood* (1974) 43:219–31.
- Patnaik MM, Moll S. Inherited antithrombin deficiency: a review. Haemophilia (2008) 14:1229–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2516.2008.01830.x
- 46. Dalle Lucca JJ, Li Y, Simovic M, Pusateri AE, Falabella M, Dubick MA, et al. Effects of C1 inhibitor on tissue damage in a porcine model of controlled hemorrhage. *Shock* (2012) 38:82–91. doi: 10.1097/SHK.0b013e31825a3522
- Duehrkop C, Banz Y, Spirig R, Miescher S, Nolte MW, Spycher M, et al. C1 esterase inhibitor reduces lower extremity ischemia/reperfusion injury and associated lung damage. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e72059. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072059

- Caliezi, C, Zeerleder, S, Redondo, M, Regli, B, Rothen HU, Zürcher-Zenklusen R, et al. C1-inhibitor in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock: beneficial effect on renal dysfunction. *Crit Care Med.* (2002) 30:1722–8.
- Nürnberger W, Heying R, Burdach S, Göbel U. C1 esterase inhibitor concentrate for capillary leakage syndrome following bone marrow transplantation. Ann Hematol. (1997) 75:95–101.
- 50. Jordan SC, Choi J, Aubert O, Haas M, Loupy A, Huang E, et al. A phase I/II, double-blind, placebo-controlled study assessing safety and efficacy of C1 esterase inhibitor for prevention of delayed graft function in deceased donor kidney transplant recipients. *Am J Transl.* (2018) 18:2955–64. doi: 10.1111/ajt.14767
- Lewis JH, Iammarino RM, Spero JA, Hasiba U. Antithrombin Pittsburgh: an alpha1-antitrypsin variant causing hemorrhagic disease. *Blood* (1978) 51:129–37.
- Schapira M, Ramus MA, Jallat S, Carvallo D, Courtney M. Recombinant alpha 1-antitrypsin Pittsburgh (Met 358—Arg) is a potent inhibitor of plasma kallikrein and activated factor XII fragment. J Clin Invest. (1986) 77:635–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI112347
- Schapira M, Ramus MA, Waeber B, Brunner HR, Jallat S, Carvallo D, et al. Protection by recombinant alpha 1-antitrypsin Ala357 Arg358 against arterial hypotension induced by factor XII fragment. J Clin Invest. (1987) 80:582–5. doi: 10.1172/JCI113108
- Patston PA, Roodi N, Schifferli JA, Bischoff R, Courtney M, Schapira M. Reactivity of alpha 1-antitrypsin mutants against proteolytic enzymes of the kallikrein-kinin, complement, and fibrinolytic systems. *J Biol Chem.* (1990) 265:10786–91.
- Schapira M, Scott CF, Colman RW. Contribution of plasma protease inhibitors to the inactivation of kallikrein in plasma. J Clin Invest. (1982) 69:462–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI110470
- Heeb MJ, Griffin JH. Physiologic inhibition of human activated protein C by alpha 1-antitrypsin. J Biol Chem. (1988) 263:11613–6.
- Polderdijk SG, Adams TE, Ivanciu L, Camire RM, Baglin TP, Huntington JA. Design and characterization of an APC-specific serpin for the treatment of hemophilia. *Blood* (2017) 129:105–13. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-05-718635
- Colman RW, Flores DN, De La Cadena RA, Scott CF, Cousens L, Barr PJ, et al. Recombinant alpha 1-antitrypsin Pittsburgh attenuates experimental gram-negative septicemia. *Am J Pathol.* (1988) 130:418–26.

- Harper PL, Taylor FB, DeLa Cadena RA, Courtney M, Colman RW, Carrell RW. Recombinant antitrypsin Pittsburgh undergoes proteolytic cleavage during E. coli sepsis and fails to prevent the associated coagulopathy in a primate model. *Thromb Haemost.* (1998) 80:816–21. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1615364
- 60. Heeb MJ, Bischoff R, Courtney M, Griffin JH. Inhibition of activated protein C by recombinant alpha 1-antitrypsin variants with substitution of arginine or leucine for methionine358. *J Biol Chem.* (1990) 265:2365–9.
- Emmerich J, Alhenc-Gelas M, Gandrille S, Guichet C, Fiessinger JN, Aiach M. Mechanism of protein C deficiency in a patient with arginine 358 alpha 1-antitrypsin (Pittsburgh mutation): role in the maintenance of hemostatic balance. J Lab Clin Med. (1995) 125:531–9.
- Backes BJ, Harris JL, Leonetti F, Craik CS, Ellman JA. Synthesis of positional-scanning libraries of fluorogenic peptide substrates to define the extended substrate specificity of plasmin and thrombin. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2000) 18:187–93. doi: 10.1038/72642
- 63. Cocchio C, Marzella N. Cinryze, a human plasma-derived c1 esterase inhibitor for prophylaxis of hereditary angioedema. *P T* (2009) 34:293–328.
- Salas CM, Miyares MA. Antithrombin III utilization in a large teaching hospital. P T (2013) 38:764–79.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** CM is consultant to Shire. CM and SdM are founders of SERPINx BV, a biotech spinout company of University Medical Center Utrecht.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sanrattana, Maas and de Maat. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Genetic Variation of Kallikrein-Kinin System and Related Genes in Patients With Hereditary Angioedema

Camila Lopes Veronez<sup>1</sup>, Anne Aabom<sup>2</sup>, Renan Paulo Martin<sup>1,3</sup>, Rafael Filippelli-Silva<sup>1</sup>, Rozana Fátima Gonçalves<sup>4</sup>, Priscila Nicolicht<sup>1</sup>, Agatha Ribeiro Mendes<sup>1</sup>, Jane Da Silva<sup>5</sup>, Mar Guilarte<sup>6</sup>, Anete Sevciovic Grumach<sup>7</sup>, Eli Mansour<sup>8</sup>, Anette Bygum<sup>2</sup> and João Bosco Pesquero<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biophysics, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Department of Dermatology and Allergy Centre, Odense University Hospital, Odense, Denmark, <sup>3</sup> Institute of Genetic Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States, <sup>4</sup> Private Allergy and Immunology Clinic, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, <sup>5</sup> Department of Medicine, Allergy Clinic of Professor Polydoro Ernani de São Thiago University Hospital, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianopolis, Brazil, <sup>6</sup> Allergy Section, Internal Medicine Department, Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron, Barcelona, Spain, <sup>7</sup> Division of Clinical Immunology, Faculty of Medicine ABC, Santo André, Brazil, <sup>8</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, University of Campinas, Campinas, Brazil

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Giancarlo Castaman, Università degli Studi di Firenze, Italy

### Reviewed by:

Coen Maas, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands Christian Drouet, Université Grenoble Alpes, France

\*Correspondence:

João Bosco Pesquero jbpesquero@gmail.com

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 01 December 2018 Accepted: 30 January 2019 Published: 21 February 2019

#### Citation:

Veronez CL, Aabom A, Martin RP, Filippelli-Silva R, Gonçalves RF, Nicolicht P, Mendes AR, Da Silva J, Guilarte M, Grumach AS, Mansour E, Bygum A and Pesquero JB (2019) Genetic Variation of Kallikrein-Kinin System and Related Genes in Patients With Hereditary Angioedema. Front. Med. 6:28. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00028 Hereditary angioedema (HAE) is an autosomal dominant disease caused by C1-INH deficiency due to mutations in SERPING1 (C1-INH-HAE) in most of the cases, or by specific mutations in factor XII gene, F12 (F12-HAE). Identification of polymorphisms in the genes encoding proteins from key pathways driving HAE can help to understand how genetic diversity contributes to its phenotypic variability. Here, 15 genes related to the Kallikrein-Kinin System (KKS) were analyzed by next generation sequencing in 59 patients with C1-INH-HAE or F12-HAE from Brazil, Denmark and Spain, and 19 healthy relatives in a total of 31 families. We identified 211 variants, from which 23 occurred only in Danish subjects and 79 were found only in Brazilian individuals, resulting in 109/211 variations in common between European and Brazilian population in the HAE families analyzed. BDKRB2 and CPM presented a large number of variants in untranslated regions, 46/49 and 19/24, respectively; whereas ACE (n = 26), SERPING1 (n = 26), CPM (n = 24), and NOS3 (n = 16) genes presented the higher number of variants directly affecting amino acid sequence. Despite the large amount of variants identified, the lack of association between genotype and phenotype indicates that the modulation of HAE symptom requires a more complex regulation, probably involving pathways beyond the KKS, epigenetics and environmental factors. Considering the new HAE types recently described, molecules involved in the regulation of vasculature and in plasminogen activation become promising targets for future genetic studies.

Keywords: hereditary angioedema, Kallikrein-Kinin System, genetic variation, genotype-phenotype correlation, C1 inhibitor deficiency, *F12* mutation

### INTRODUCTION

Hereditary angioedema (HAE) is a rare autosomal dominant disease caused by deleterious mutations in *SERPING1*, leading to quantitative or functional C1-inhibitor deficiency (C1-INH-HAE) (1). Less frequently, specific mutations in *F12* gene (F12-HAE) can be detected in patients with HAE with normal C1-inhibitor (2, 3). In addition, two new forms of HAE have been

76

reported, HAE with mutations in angiopoietin-1 gene (ANGPT1) (4) and HAE with mutations in plasminogen gene (PLG) (5). A non-determined but substantial proportion of patients with HAE and normal C1-inhibitor cannot be explained by mutational findings at the moment and therefore is described as HAE of unknown cause (U-HAE) (1, 6). C1-INH-HAE and F12-HAE are related to the Kallikrein-Kinin System (KKS) activation and augmented production of bradykinin (BK), leading to vasodilation and angioedema episodes (1). In the KKS, factor XII (encoded by F12 gene) activates plasma kallikrein (KK; *KLKB1* gene), which hydrolyzes high molecular weight kininogen (HMWK; KNG1 gene) releasing BK (7). BK binds the B2-receptor (BDKRB2 gene) leading to endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation (NOS3 gene). Carboxypeptidases N and M (genes CPN and CPM) metabolize BK into des-Arg9-BK, which preferentially activates B1-receptor (BDKRB1). Deleterious variations in genes responsible for the control of BK release, as SERPING1, or its metabolization, as CPN, CPM, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE), and neprilysin (MME), are able to increase the amount of BK released or its half-life, leading to or intensifying angioedema episodes. Whereas, deleterious variations in F12, KLKB1, and KNG1 could impair BK formation, working as a protective factor in BK-mediated angioedema (7). Although a small phenotype distinction can be noticed in HAE subtypes (2), there is a huge variation in clinical characteristics even among carriers of the same disease-causing mutation (1, 6).

A typical genome differs from the reference human genome at 4.1-5.0 million sites with >99.9% being single nucleotide polymorphisms and short indels (8). This large number of variants can possibly be disease-causing or may contribute to phenotypic variation and drug-response susceptibility. Indeed, a cumulative effect of multiple polymorphisms may lead to complex-trait genetic diseases (8). Here, we hypothesize that variants in the KKS could explain the phenotypic variation observed in HAE.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Patients**

Seventy-eight subjects analyzed by targeted next-generation sequencing (NGS) belonged to 26 C1-INH-HAE families (45 mutation carriers, 15 healthy relatives) and 5 F12-HAE families (14 mutation carriers, 4 healthy relatives) (**Table 1**). Additional 56 HAE patients were included in the study and had single gene mutations sequenced by Sanger. Patients were previously diagnosed by biochemical C1-INH and C4 measurements and *SERPING1* and/or *F12* genotyping by Sanger sequencing.

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of ethical standards of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki with written informed consent from all subjects. The

protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee in Research of Universidade Federal de São Paulo ( $n^{\circ}56522$ ).

### **Genetic Analysis**

Since only a few possible genetic variants have been suggested to be associated to the HAE phenotype (9-13), we explored 15 genes related to KKS in individuals from Brazil, Denmark, and Spain, by NGS as previously described (14). Briefly, the targeted genes (ACE, MME, KNG1, KLKB1, KLK1, F12, ENPEP, BDKRB1, BDKRB2, NOS3, TAC1, CPN1, CPM, SERPING1, PRCP) were amplified from patients' DNA extracted from blood samples by using Ion AmpliSeq<sup>TM</sup> Library Kit-2.0V (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA). NGS was performed with the Ion 316<sup>TM</sup> Chip-v2 in Ion PGM<sup>TM</sup> Sequencer, which determined the amount of sequence data analyzed. To guarantee a high-quality coverage (minimum 20X) we limited the panel to the 15 selected genes, in a total of 366 amplicons. Torrent Suit v3.2.1 and Ion Reporter 4.0 (Life Technologies) were used to data analysis and interpretation of variants. Probably pathogenic variants, low coverage regions and SERPING1 and F12 coding regions were validated by Sanger sequencing. Variants annotation was performed using Ingenuity® Variant Analysis (Qiagen) and Metacore<sup>TM</sup> (Thomson Reuters).

In addition to the 78 subjects evaluated by NGS, in 56 HAE patients the exons 2 and 3 of *BDKRB2* were also sequenced by Sanger method (11 C1-INH-HAE and 45 U-HAE). U-HAE patients were diagnosed according to Cicardi et al.'s guidelines (1). Distribution of variants between groups was calculated by Chi-square test.

All datasets generated and analyzed in this study are included in the manuscript and the Supplementary Files (**Tables S1, S2**).

### **Clinical Characteristics**

Patients were grouped and compared according to nationality (Brazilian vs. European), HAE type (C1-INH-HAE vs. F12-HAE), edema localization (face, extremities, abdominal pain, upper respiratory tract, and genitals), mean frequency of attacks (per year) and duration of episodes (days). Patients were categorized in three groups according to the disease onset: (1) <12-year-old, (2) from 12 to 25-year-old, and (3) >25-year-old. Mean frequency and duration of swelling episodes data were considered at baseline without prophylaxis or acute treatment. The frequency of attacks was divided in low (<13 attacks per year), medium (from 13 to 24), and high (>24). Patients were also grouped according to the mean duration of swelling episodes in short duration (<2 days), medium (2–3 days), and long duration (>3 days). Distribution of variants was compared within the selected groups.

### RESULTS

### NGS Analysis

In 26 C1-INH-HAE families, 23 mutations were considered responsible for HAE, and all F12-HAE patients carried p.Thr328Lys (**Table 1**). A total of 211 different variants were identified in the 15 genes analyzed. Nine alterations occurred in the 5'-UTR (4.3%) and 89 in the 3'-UTR (42.2%). Missense

Abbreviations: ACE, angiotensin-converting enzyme; C1-INH-HAE, hereditary angioedema with C1 inhibitor deficiency; F12-HAE, hereditary angioedema with mutation in *F12* gene; HMWK, high molecular weight kininogen; KK, Plasma Kallikrein; KKS, Kallikrein-Kinin System; U-HAE, hereditary angioedema of unknown cause.

### TABLE 1 | Families analyzed by NGS.

HAE type	Fam ID	Nat	Mutation le	ading to HAE	Mutation type	N° symptomatic/ asymptomatic	Healthy relatives (no mutation)
			cDNA change	Protein change			
C1-INH-HAE	1	D	c22-2A>G	None	Regulatory region	6/0	1
	2	D	c.23insT	p.(Thr9fs)	Frameshift	1/0	0
	3	В	c.51+1G>T	?	Splicing defect	1/0	0
	4	В	c. 51+2T>C	?	Splicing defect	2/0	0
	5	В	c.97_115del15	p.(Asp33fs)	Frameshift	1/0	0
	6	D	c.143_144delCA	p.(Thr48fs)	Frameshift	2/0	0
	7	D	c.143_144delCA	p.(Thr48fs)	Frameshift	1/0	0
	8	D	c.143_144delCA	p.(Thr48fs)	Frameshift	1/0	0
	9	В	c.550G>C	p.Gly184Arg	Missense	1/0	0
	10	D	c.597C>G	p.Tyr199Ter	Nonsense	1/0	0
	11	D	c.668delA	p.(Gln223fs)	Frameshift	1/0	0
	12	В	c.752T>C	p.Leu251Pro	Missense	1/0	0
	13	D	c.762_763delCA	p.(Asn254fs)	Frameshift	2/0	0
	14	D	c.795G>A	p.Trp265Ter	Nonsense	1/0	0
	15	D	c.838_846del9	p.Ser280_Pro282del	Inframe	1/0	0
	16	D	c.878T>C	p.lle293Thr	Missense	1/0	0
	17	В	c.889G>A	p.Ala297Thr	Missense	2/0	0
	18	D	c.1029+4delA	?	Splicing defect	1/0	0
	19	В	c.1104delA	p.(Asp369fs)	Frameshift	2/0	0
	20	В	c.1353_1354delGA	p.(Glu451fs)	Frameshift	1/0	1
	21	В	c.1369G>C	p.Ala457Pro	Missense	8/0	13
	22	D	c.1397G>A	p.Arg466His	Missense	1/0	0
	23	D	c.1417G>A	p.Val473Met	Missense	2/0	0
	24	В	c.1431C>A	p.Phe477Leu	Missense	1/0	0
	25	В	c.1480C>T	p.Arg494Ter	Nonsense	2/0	0
	26	D	c.1480C>T	p.Arg494Ter	Nonsense	1/0	0
12-HAE	27	В	c.983C>A	p.Thr328Lys	Missense	4/2	0
	28	В	c.983C>A	p.Thr328Lys	Missense	3/0	3
	29	В	c.983C>A	p.Thr328Lys	Missense	2/0	0
	30	В	c.983C>A	p.Thr328Lys	Missense	1/0	1
	31	S	c.983C>A	p.Thr328Lys	Missense	2/0	0

The mutations in SERPING1 and F12 identified as causative of HAE in each family are described. The number of symptomatic and asymptomatic mutation carriers, and healthy relatives (without mutation) analyzed by NGS are shown in the last columns. B, Brazilian; D, Danish; Fam ID, family identification; Nat, nationality; S, Spanish; ?, not known.

mutations corresponded to 22.7% of the total, followed by synonymous (21.8%), small insertions/deletions leading to frameshift (3.8%), non-sense (1.9%), splice site (1.4%), and intronic alterations (1.9%). A list containing all variants is found in Table S1 (Supplementary Material). BDKRB2 presented the highest number of variants (n = 49), followed by ACE (n = 26) and SERPING1 (n = 26), and CPM (n = 24). The distribution of variants per type or per gene was not significantly between C1-INH-HAE and F12-HAE groups (Chi-square test with Yates' correction). Considering only variants leading to change in the structure of the protein (missense, nonsense, indels, and predicted splicing sites), the genes in which more mutations were found were SERPING1 (n = 23) and ACE (n = 10). No probably damaging variants were identified in BDKRB1, CPN/M, KNG1, KLK1, ENPEP, PRCP, or TAC1 genes. Few studies suggest tissue kallikrein (KLK1 gene) may be involved in HAE manifestations (15). Tissue kallikrein releases Lys-BK from low molecular weight kininogen (also encoded by KNG1), which is converted into BK by aminopeptidases (16) or into Lys-des-Arg9-BK by carboxypeptidases.

### **BDKBR2** Variants

The change p.Arg14Cys in *BDKRB2* was found 15 individuals, and plGly354Glu in 16, without significant difference in distribution among HAE subtypes (p = 0.1203 and p = 0.1900, respectively, Chi-square test). The alterations p.Val376Met (rs141958164) and p.Val208Ile (rs139203012) were found in one U-HAE patient each.

# Clinical Features and Phenotype-Genotype Association

We found 23 mutations exclusively in Danish individuals and 79 only in Brazilians, resulting in 109/211 mutations in common between European and Brazilian HAE families analyzed.

We compared the symptomatic patients regarding the presence of facial swellings (43/57), swellings of extremities

(41/57), abdominal swellings (45/57), upper airways (28/57), and edema of the genitalia (21/57). The first attacks occurred before the age of 12 in 26 patients (24 C1-INH-INH, 2 F12-HAE) (mean = 6.7 years); between 12 and 25 years of age in 21 patients (20 C1-INH-HAE, 5 F12-HAE) (mean = 17), and after 25 years of age in eight (3 C1-INH-HAE, 5 F12-HAE) (mean = 33.8). Most of the patients reported to experience up to 12 swelling episodes/year without prophylaxis (31/47; mean = 4.6). Nine C1-INH-HAE patients reported 13–24 attacks/year (mean = 19.8), and seven reported more than 24 attacks/year (mean = 43.2).

Distribution of variants was compared within the selected groups, but no specific mutation was significantly associated to any of the clinical characteristic selected. However, five missense mutations were classified as probably damaging by all *in silico* predictive software (excluding *SERPING1* variations) (**Table 2**).

### DISCUSSION

HAE can be caused by C1-INH deficiency, in which more than 300 different mutations have already been considered responsible for the disease (17). A smaller proportion of HAE patients present specific mutations affecting a proline-rich region of factor XII that leads to loss of glycosylation and enhanced autoactivation mechanism of the zymogen activating the KKS (18). In spite of the large mutational spectrum of *SERPING1* in HAE, the variation in the presentation of symptoms seems not to be related to the type of the disease-causing mutation or even with functional levels of C1-INH (19). Therefore, the search for new genetic biomarkers could not only explain the variation in HAE symptomatology, but also be used in diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment response. Proteins of the KKS are strong candidates to be regulating the severity and frequency of HAE attacks, since they are directly involved in the BK-release pathway.

In this study, a large number of variants was found in a regulatory portion of the 3'-untranslated *BDKRB2* region (20). Also, 40/78 individuals presented the 9 bp deletion in the exon 1 of *BDKRB2*, described to increase B2-receptor expression (21).

However, no correlation was found with these variants and HAE clinical characteristics suggesting that the regulation of B2-receptor expression through these regions is not strong enough to modulate HAE attacks itself, in agreement with previous data (22).

Variants classified as probably pathogenic in *ACE* (p.Gly354Arg, p.Tyr244Cys, p.Thr916Met) were found in Brazilian and Danish symptomatic patients, and p.Arg324Trp was found only in one non-affected relative (family 21). Since ACE degrades BK, deleterious alterations could increase BK half-life, favoring longer edema episodes. It has been demonstrated that ACE activity inversely correlates with severity scores in F12-HAE (23); in contrast, C1-INH-HAE severity is not depending on ACE, but highly depends on aminopeptidase P activity (24). However, the C1-INH-HAE patients carrying these mutations had distinguished clinical features from each other (**Table 2**).

The mutation p.Cys548Tyr in KLKB1, found in two patients from family 1 and one asymptomatic mutation carrier from family 27 (F12-HAE), has been associated with KK deficiency in a compound heterozygosity with the change p.Trp402Ter (25). KK deficiency is a rare autosomal recessive condition which causes an augmented activated partial thromboplastin time, but no coagulation anomalies. Therefore, coexistence of KK deficiency could attenuate or even abolish the symptoms of HAE, since it is the key enzyme responsible for BK release. The only missense mutation found together with p.Cys548Tyr was the high frequent polymorphism p.Ser143Asn (66/78). This polymorphism was shown to cause KK deficiency with the change p.Gly125Arg, both in homozygosity (26) and lying in the apple domain 2 of the heavy chain of KK, through which kallikrein interacts with HMWK domain 6 (27). However, p.Ser143Asn was found in heterozygosity in the three patients carrying the p.Cys548Tyr, discarding the hypothesis that this association could be responsible by itself for the lack of symptoms observed in the F12-HAE carrier. Furthermore, the Cys548 lies in the catalytic domain of KK, far from the apple domain 2.

Gene	Protein change	Nat	Patient/ family	Age (years)	Onset (years)	Frequency (per year)	Duration (days)	Face	Extremities	Abdominal	Upper airways	Genitalia
ACE	p.G354R	В	1/17	49	16	12	3	-	×	-	×	-
		В	2/17	25	NI	<1	<1	-	_	×	-	-
		D	1/14	54	10	4	3	×	×	×	×	×
	p.Y244C	D	6/1	73	15	<1	2–3	×	×	×	-	-
		В	1/24	42	7	2	3	×	×	×	×	×
	p.T916M	D	3/1	71	21	3	2–3	×	×	×	-	-
		D	7/1	36	10	18	3	×	×	×	×	-
NOS3	p.D287N	D	5/1	16	3	2	NI	-	_	×	-	-
KLKB1	p.C548Y	D	3/1	71	21	3	2–3	×	×	×	-	-
		D	6/1	73	15	<1	2–3	×	×	×	-	-
		В	4/27	51	Asympt.	Asympt.	Asympt.	Asympt.	Asympt.	Asympt.	Asympt.	Asympt.

The mutations were analyzed as probably pathogenic when classified as damaging for all the in silico software assessed (SIFT, PolyPhen-2, PROVEAN, and CADD). Asympt, asymptomatic; NI, not identified.

Pathogenicity level of most of the new variants cannot be confirmed only by *in silico* analysis (28). For example, the variant p.Thr328Lys in *F12* is responsible for most of F12-HAE cases (3, 18), but is classified as benign by many pathogenicity predictors. Therefore, the discovery of new and rare variants possibly involved in HAE pathogenesis requires not only experimental evidences to assure the pathogenicity degree of each variant but also the analysis of the overlap effect of different variations and genes. Thus, despite the large number of variants identified in KKS and related genes in this work, the small number of subjects included and the lack of biochemical and functional analysis on the variants are some limitations.

The studies of modulating factors in HAE must combine the discovery of new mutations, genotype-phenotype association including a large number of patients, and consider epigenetic and environmental factors. To our knowledge, this is the largest study exploring different genes in many HAE families. We expect that the disclosure of the variants here presented in HAE patients and the new recent findings in U-HAE will encourage further studies correlating the KKS and the regulation of vasculature, as well as larger international multicentric studies.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CV coordinated the analysis, and drafted the manuscript. AA and AB designed data collection. CV, PN, and AM performed all the experiments. CV, RM, and RF-S performed the bioinformatics analysis. AA, RG, JD, MG, AG, EM, and AB performed the data collection instruments, and coordinated data collection. AB conceptualized the study and supervised data collection. JP conceptualized and designed the study, coordinated and supervised all the experiments and analysis and revised the

### REFERENCES

- Cicardi M, Aberer W, Banerji A, Bas M, Bernstein JA, Bork K, et al. Classification, diagnosis, and approach to treatment for angioedema: consensus report from the hereditary angioedema international working group. *Allergy* (2014) 69:602–16. doi: 10.1111/all.12380.
- Bork K, Wulff K, Witzke G, Hardt J. Hereditary angioedema with normal C1-INH with versus without specific F12 gene mutations. *Allergy* (2015) 70:1004–12. doi: 10.1111/all.12648
- Veronez CL, Moreno AS, Constantino-Silva RN, Maia LSM, Ferriani MPL, Castro FFM, et al. Hereditary Angioedema with Normal C1 Inhibitor and F12 mutations in 42 Brazilian families. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. (2018) 6:1209–16.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2017.09.025
- Bafunno V, Firinu D, D'Apolito M, Cordisco G, Loffredo S, Leccese A, et al. Mutation of the angiopoietin-1 gene (ANGPT1) associates with a new type of hereditary angioedema. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2018) 141:1009–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.05.020
- Bork K, Wulff K, Steinmuller-Magin L, Braenne I, Staubach-Renz P, Witzke G, et al. Hereditary angioedema with a mutation in the plasminogen gene. *Allergy* (2018) 73:442–50. doi: 10.1111/all.13270
- Bouillet L, Boccon-Gibod I, Launay D, Gompel A, Kanny G, Fabien V, et al. Hereditary angioedema with normal C1 inhibitor in a French cohort: clinical characteristics and response to treatment with icatibant. *Immun Inflamm Dis.* (2017) 5:29–36. doi: 10.1002/iid3.137
- 7. Hofman ZL, Relan A, Zeerleder S, Drouet C, Zuraw B, Hack CE. Angioedema attacks in patients with hereditary angioedema: Local manifestations of a

manuscript. All the authors drafted, reviewed and approved the manuscript.

### FUNDING

This study received grants from Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP) (grant numbers 2013/02661-4, 2014/27198-8 and 2015/25494-1).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to the patients and their families for being part of this study, and to Dr. Claus Koch from the Department of Cancer & Inflammation Research, Institute of Molecular Medicine, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2019.00028/full#supplementary-material

Table S1 | Genetic variants found by NGS in HAE families. All the 211 variantsfound in the 15 genes analyzed in the 78 subjects are listed in the table.Pathogenicity prediction from SIFT (D, damaging; T, tolerated), PolyPhen-2 (B,benign; P, possibly damaging; D, damaging), PROVEAN (D, damaging; N,non-damaging) and CADD (threshold > 20) indicate the *in silico* analysis results.<sup>†</sup> Found only in Danish individuals.

 Table S2 | Full dataset of genetic variants and clinical data. The sheet entitled

 Genetic Variants contains all the variants found by NGS before validation and

 patients filtering (raw data). Variants with the annotation ARTIFACT in the column

 Functional Class correspond to the variations not confirmed by Sanger sequencing

 validation and discarded in the final evaluation. The sheet Patients Raw contains

 the chip and barcode identification, and clinical data from all the patients initially

 sequenced, including U-HAE patients posteriorly excluded from NGS analysis.

systemic activation process. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2016) 138:359-66. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.02.041

- Genomes Project Consortium, Auton A, Brooks LD, Durbin RM, Garrison EP, Kang HM, et al. A global reference for human genetic variation. *Nature* (2015) 526:68–74. doi: 10.1038/nature15393
- Speletas M, Szilágyi Á, Csuka D, Koutsostathis N, Psarros F, Moldovan D, et al. F12-46C/T polymorphism as modifier of the clinical phenotype of hereditary angioedema. *Allergy* (2015) 70:1661–4. doi: 10.1111/all.12714
- Piñero-Saavedra M, González-Quevedo T, Saenz de San Pedro B, Alcaraz C, Bobadilla-González P, Fernández-Vieira L, et al. Hereditary angioedema with F12 mutation: clinical features and enzyme polymorphisms in 9 Southwestern Spanish families. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2016) 117:520-6. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2016.09.001
- Gianni P, Loules G, Zamanakou M, Kompoti M, Csuka D, Psarros F, et al. Genetic Determinants of C1 inhibitor deficiency angioedema age of onset. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2017) 174:200–4. doi: 10.1159/000481987
- Cumming SA, Halsall DJ, Ewan PW, Lomas DA. The effect of sequence variations within the coding region of the C1 inhibitor gene on disease expression and protein function in families with hereditary angio-oedema. J Med Genet. (2003) 40:e114. doi: 10.1136/jmg.40.10.e114
- Duponchel C, Di Rocco C, Cicardi M, Tosi M. Rapid detection by fluorescent multiplex PCR of exon deletions and duplications in the C1 inhibitor gene of hereditary angioedema patients. *Hum Mutat.* (2001) 17:61–70. doi: 10.1002/1098-1004(2001)17:1<61::AID-HUMU7>3.0.CO;2-9
- Veronez CL, da Silva ED, Lima Teixeira PV, Cagini N, Constantino-Silva RN, Grumach AS, et al. Genetic analysis of hereditary angioedema in a Brazilian

family by targeted next generation sequencing. *Biol Chem.* (2016) 397:315–22. doi: 10.1515/hsz-2015-0212

- Charest-Morin X, Hébert J, Rivard GÉ, Bonnefoy A, Wagner E, Marceau F. Comparing pathways of bradykinin formation in whole blood from healthy volunteers and patients with hereditary angioedema Due to C1 inhibitor deficiency. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2183. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2018.02183
- Goto Y, Hattori A, Ishii Y, Mizutani S, Tsujimoto M. Enzymatic properties of human aminopeptidase a. Regulation of its enzymatic activity by calcium and angiotensin IV. J Biol Chem. (2006) 281:23503–13. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M603191200
- Kalmar L, Hegedus T, Farkas H, Nagy M, Tordai A. HAEdb: a novel interactive, locus-specific mutation database for the C1 inhibitor gene. *Hum Mutat.* (2005) 25:1–5. doi: 10.1002/humu.20112
- Björkqvist J, de Maat S, Lewandrowski U, Di Gennaro A, Oschatz C, Schönig K, et al. Defective glycosylation of coagulation factor XII underlies hereditary angioedema type III. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:3132–46. doi: 10.1172/JCI77139
- Kaplan AP, Maas C. The search for biomarkers in hereditary angioedema. Front Med. (2017) 4:206. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00206
- Zamorano R, Suchindran S, Gainer JV. 3'-Untranslated region of the type 2 bradykinin receptor is a potent regulator of gene expression. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*. (2006) 290:F456–64. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00009.2005
- Lung CC, Chan EK, Zuraw BL. Analysis of an exon 1 polymorphism of the B2 bradykinin receptor gene and its transcript in normal subjects and patients with C1 inhibitor deficiency. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (1997) 99:134–46.
- Freiberger T, Vyskocilová M, Kolárová L, Kuklínek P, Krystufková O, Lahodná M, et al. Exon 1 polymorphism of the B2BKR gene does not influence the clinical status of patients with hereditary angioedema. *Hum Immunol.* (2002) 63:492–4. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(02)00397-X
- Charignon D, Ghannam A, Defendi F, Ponard D, Monnier N, López Trascasa M, et al. Hereditary angioedema with F12 mutation: factors modifying the clinical phenotype. *Allergy* (2014) 69:1659–65. doi: 10.1111/all. 12515

- Drouet C, Désormeaux A, Robillard J, Ponard D, Bouillet L, Martin L, et al. Metallopeptidase activities in hereditary angioedema: effect of androgen prophylaxis on plasma aminopeptidase P. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2008) 121:429–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.10.048
- Lombardi AM, Sartori MT, Cabrio L, Fadin M, Zanon E, Girolami A. Severe prekallikrein (Fletcher factor) deficiency due to a compound heterozygosis (383Trp stop codon and Cys529Tyr). *Thromb Haemost.* (2003) 90:1040–5. doi: 10.1160/TH03–05-0275
- 26. Katsuda I, Maruyama F, Ezaki K, Sawamura T, Ichihara Y. A new type of plasma prekallikrein deficiency associated with homozygosity for Gly104Arg and Asn124Ser in apple domain 2 of the heavy-chain region. *Eur J Haematol.* (2007) 79:59–68. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0609.2007.00871.x
- Renné T, Sugiyama A, Gailani D, Jahnen-Dechent W, Walter U, Müller-Esterl W. Fine mapping of the H-kininogen binding site in plasma prekallikrein apple domain 2. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2002) 2:1867–73. doi: 10.1016/S1567-5769(02)00170-4
- 28. Richards S, Aziz N, Bale S, Bick D, Das S, Gastier-Foster J, et al. Standards and guidelines for the interpretation of sequence variants: a joint consensus recommendation of the american college of medical genetics and genomics and the association for molecular pathology. *Genet Med.* (2015) 17:405–24. doi: 10.1038/gim.2015.30

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Veronez, Aabom, Martin, Filippelli-Silva, Gonçalves, Nicolicht, Mendes, Da Silva, Guilarte, Grumach, Mansour, Bygum and Pesquero. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Increased Reactive Oxygen Species Generation Contributes to the Atherogenic Activity of the B2 Bradykinin Receptor

Alexander Perhal<sup>1</sup>, Stefan Wolf<sup>1</sup>, Yahya F. Jamous<sup>1</sup>, Andreas Langer<sup>1</sup>, Joshua Abd Alla<sup>1</sup> and Ursula Quitterer<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Molecular Pharmacology, Department of Chemistry and Applied Biosciences, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup> Department of Medicine, Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Alvin H. Schmaier, Case Western Reserve University, United States

### Reviewed by:

Chao Fang, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, China Joao Bosco Pesquero, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil

\*Correspondence:

Ursula Quitterer ursula.quitterer@pharma.ethz.ch

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 07 December 2018 Accepted: 04 February 2019 Published: 21 February 2019

### Citation:

Perhal A, Wolf S, Jamous YF, Langer A, Abd Alla J and Quitterer U (2019) Increased Reactive Oxygen Species Generation Contributes to the Atherogenic Activity of the B2 Bradykinin Receptor. Front. Med. 6:32. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00032 Atherosclerosis and ensuing cardiovascular disease are major causes of death with insufficient treatment options. In search for pathomechanisms of atherosclerosis, we investigated the impact of the B2 bradykinin receptor, Bdkrb2, on atherosclerotic lesion formation, because to date it is not clear whether the B2 bradykinin receptor is atheroprotective or atherogenic. As a model of atherosclerosis, we used hypercholesterolemic ApoE-deficient (apolipoprotein E-deficient) mice, which develop atherosclerotic lesions in the aorta with increasing age. The role of Bdkrb2 in atherosclerosis was studied in ApoE-deficient mice, which were either Bdkrb2-deficient, or had moderately increased aortic B2 bradykinin receptor protein levels induced by transgenic BDKRB2 expression under control of the ubiquitous CMV promoter. We found that Bdkrb2 deficiency led to a significantly decreased atherosclerotic plaque area whereas transgenic BDKRB2 expression enhanced atherosclerotic lesion formation in the aorta of ApoE-deficient mice at an age of 8 months. Concomitantly, the aortic content of reactive oxygen species (ROS) was higher in BDKRB2-expressing mice whereas Bdkrb2 deficiency decreased aortic ROS levels of ApoE-deficient mice. In addition, aortic nitrate as a marker of nitric oxide activity and the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) co-factor, tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) were reduced in BDKRB2-expressing ApoE-deficient mice. The decreased aortic BH4 content could be a consequence of increased ROS generation and down-regulated aortic expression of the BH4-synthesizing enzyme, Gch1 (GTP cyclohydrolase 1). In agreement with a causal involvement of decreased BH4 levels in the atherogenic function of BDKRB2, we found that treatment with the BH4 analog, sapropterin, significantly retarded atherosclerotic plaque formation in BDKRB2-expressing ApoE-deficient mice. Together our data show that the B2 bradykinin receptor is atherogenic, and the atherosclerosis-promoting function of BDKRB2 is partially caused by decreased aortic BH4 levels, which could account for eNOS uncoupling and further enhancement of ROS generation.

Keywords: BDKRB2, reactive oxygen species, atherosclerosis, hypercholesterolemia, GCH1, Apoe, AGTR1, ACE

82

### INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease are leading causes of death worldwide (1, 2). The high morbidity and mortality of atherosclerotic vascular disease is in part attributed to limited treatment options (1, 2). Elucidation of pathomechanisms with the identification of potential new targets to improve the pharmacotherapy of atherosclerosis therefore is of great interest (1–3). To study pathomechanisms of atherosclerosis, hypercholesterolemic, apolipoprotein E (*ApoE*)-deficient mice are often used as a model because these mice reproduce major features of atherosclerotic vascular disease such as hypercholesterolemia-induced atherosclerotic lesion formation in the vascular system with increasing age (4–8).

In this study, we investigated the role of the B2 bradykinin receptor (BDKRB2) in atherosclerotic lesion formation. To date it is not known whether BDKRB2 is atheroprotective or atherogenic. Due to the blood pressure-lowering and nitric oxide- (NO)-generating activity, the B2 bradykinin receptor is considered to exert cardioprotection (9, 10). This cardioprotective potential of B2 bradykinin receptor stimulation by the agonist bradykinin and related kinins of the kinin-kallikrein system is exploited therapeutically with ACE (angiotensin-converting enzyme) inhibitors. ACE inhibition not only blunts the generation of the vasopressor angiotensin II but also prevents the proteolytic degradation of bradykinin (9, 10). The contribution of bradykinin to the antihypertensive activity of ACE inhibitors is well-documented in experimental models and patients (11, 12). On the other hand, the atherosclerosis-decreasing potential of ACE-inhibition is reportedly independent from bradykinin and B2 bradykinin receptor stimulation (13). Moreover, bradykinin and related kinins are pro-inflammatory peptides, and inflammation is an established risk factor of atherosclerosis (14, 15). In addition, beneficial B2 bradykinin receptor-stimulated nitric oxide (NO) generation and vasodilation are impaired in atherosclerosis (16). Hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis are known to cause endothelial dysfunction with concomitant uncoupling of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), which then generates atherosclerosis-promoting reactive oxygen species (ROS) instead of atheroprotective NO (17-19).

In view of this scenario, we investigated the impact of the B2 bradykinin receptor on atherosclerotic lesion development. To study the role of the B2 bradykinin receptor (*Bdkrb2*) in atherosclerosis, we used (i) *ApoE*-/- mice with endogenously expressed *Bdkrb2*, (ii) *ApoE*-/- mice with *Bdkrb2* deficiency, and (iii) *ApoE*-/- mice with moderately increased transgenic *BDKRB2* expression level. We found that transgenic B2 receptor expression enhanced atherosclerotic plaque formation in the aorta of *ApoE*-/- mice whereas *Bdkrb2* deficiency retarded the development of atherosclerosis.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Experimental Model of Atherosclerosis, and Generation of Transgenic Mice

The study was performed with three groups of male mice, i.e., (i) apolipoprotein E-deficient (*ApoE*-/-) mice in B6 (C57Bl/6J)

background (4-8), (ii) double-deficient Bdkrb2-/-ApoE-/- mice (B2-/-ApoE-/-), and (iii) ApoE-/- mice with transgenic expression of BDKRB2 under control of the ubiquitous CMV immediate-early promoter/enhancer (derived from plasmid pcDNA3, Invitrogen AG - Thermo Fisher Scientific). Bdkrb2deficient mice in B6 background were obtained by backcross breeding of Bdkrb2-/- mice (20) for ten generations into B6 background. Double-deficient, Bdkrb2-/- and ApoE-/- mice, were subsequently generated by cross-breeding, and identified by genotyping PCR. For transgenic expression of BDKRB2, the BDKRB2 transgene (2 ng/ $\mu$ L) was injected into the pronucleus of fertilized oocytes isolated from super-ovulated ApoE-/- mice with B6 background followed by transfer of 2-cell embryos into pseudo-pregnant CD-1 foster mice similarly as described (21). After weaning at an age of 3-4 weeks, PCR genotyping was performed with ear-punch biopsies. Founder mice of the FO generation were identified with stable integration of the transgenic DNA into the genomic mouse DNA and used for further breeding. Due to the pathologic phenotype in ApoE-/- background, Tg-CMVBDKRB2 (Tg-B2++) mice with ApoE-deficiency only were used for phenotyping but otherwise, the colony of Tg-CMVBDKRB2 mice was maintained on the B6 background without ApoE-deficiency (C57BL/6-Tg-(CMVBDKRB2)Sjaa; Janvier No. 181.281 ETH Zurich). Phenotyping was determined with 8-month-old mice. Mice were kept on a 12 h light/12 h dark cycle, had free access to food and water, and were fed a standard rodent chow diet (Ain-93-based diet without addition of tocopherol acetate) containing 7% fat and 0.15% cholesterol. As indicated, 3-month-old mice received sapropterin (10 mg/kg/d, in drinking water, freshly prepared, every day) for 5 months. Treatment of Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice and ApoE-/- mice with the ACE inhibitor, captopril (20 mg/kg/d, in drinking water, freshly prepared, every day) was started at an age of 3 months and continued for 5 months until the end of the observation period at 8 months. At the end of the study, anesthetized mice (ketamine/xylazine 100 mg/10 mg per kg body-weight) were perfused intracardially with ice-cold, sterile PBS, the aorta was rapidly dissected on ice and processed for further analysis. All animal experiments were performed according to NIH guidelines, and reviewed and approved by the local committee on animal care and use (Cantonal Veterinary office, Zurich).

### Biochemical Assays and Aortic Atherosclerotic Lesion Determination

The atherosclerotic lesion area was determined in the aorta by quantitative image analysis of oil red O-stained aortas opened longitudinally (7, 8). The area of the aortic intima with pathologic intimal atherosclerotic lesions was determined with hematoxylin-eosin-stained, aortic paraffin sections of the aortic arch. The aortic content of BH4 was determined as described (22). The content of reactive oxygen species (ROS) was determined by quantitative fluorescence evaluation of dihydroethidium- (DHE)-stained aortic cryosections (8, 23). The aortic expression of *Gch1* (GTP cyclohydrolase 1) was assessed after reverse transcription of mRNA into cDNA followed by quantitative real-time qRT-PCR using a LightCycler 480 Instrument (Roche). For quantitative real-time qRT-PCR, total

aortic RNA was isolated by the RNeasy Mini kit according to the protocol of the manufacturer (Qiagen). RNA purity was confirmed by an absorbance ratio A260/280 of  $\sim$ 2.0. The absence of RNA degradation and RNA quality were further controlled by the presence of bright bands of 18S and 28S ribosomal RNA in denaturing RNA electrophoresis. RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA by the Transcriptor High Fidelity cDNA Synthesis Kit and subjected to qRT-PCR using the LightCycler<sup>®</sup> 480 System with the LightCycler<sup>®</sup> 480 SYBR Green I Master reaction mix according to the protocol of the manufacturer (Roche Molecular Systems). Primer sequences used for determination of Gch1 expression by qRT-PCR were as follows: Gch1 forward 5'-GCC GCTTACTCGTCCATTCT-3', and Gch1 reverse 5-CCACCG CAATCTGTTTGGTG-3'. Specific amplification of the Gch1 fragment of 358 bp was controlled by agarose gel electrophoresis. Total number of B2 bradykinin receptor binding sites was determined with aortic smooth muscle cells in HEPES-buffered DMEM (supplemented with 1% BSA, protease inhibitors and enalaprilat) by saturation radioligand binding (for 2 h at 4°C) with increasing concentrations (0.1-10 nM) of [2,3-prolyl-3,4-<sup>3</sup>H(N)]bradykinin (79-96 Ci/mmol; Perkin Elmer) in the absence and presence of 10 µM HOE140 to determine non-specific binding. Likewise, the number AT1 receptor binding sites was determined with Sar<sup>1</sup>,[<sup>125</sup>I]Tyr<sup>4</sup>,Ile<sup>8</sup>-angiotensin II (2200 Ci/mmol; Perkin Elmer) in the absence and presence of  $10 \,\mu M$ losartan. Aortic vascular smooth muscle cells were isolated from aortas of ApoE-/-, Bdkrb2-/-ApoE-/-, Tg-B2++ApoE-/- and non-transgenic B6 control mice at an age of 6-10 days. For vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) isolation, aortas from 10 to 15 mice were dissected. Aortas were endothelium-denuded and minced with a scalpel followed by a washing step with HEPESbuffered DMEM (supplemented with 1 mM L-glutamine, 100 I.U./ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin) and digestion at 37°C with collagenase (2 mg/ml of collagenase type 2) under constant agitation with a magnetic stirrer. The first digestion step was discarded and in subsequent steps, the enzyme solution was exchanged every 5 min. Cells were filtered through a nylon mesh (pore size 40 µm) and collected in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS. After the aortic tissue was digested, cell fractions were pooled. Thereafter, cells were collected by centrifugation (300 x g), plated on cell culture plates and cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS as described (24). Total inositol phosphates of aortic smooth muscle cells were determined as described (25). The specific B2 bradykinin receptor-stimulated signal is given and was determined by bradykinin stimulation (100 nM) in the absence and presence of  $10\,\mu\text{M}$  of the B2specific antagonist, HOE140. Aortic Gch1 protein contents were determined by immunoblot detection with GCH1/Gch1specific antibody (GCH1 monoclonal antibody M01, clone 4A12, Cat. No. H00002643-M01, Abnova) similarly as detailed previously (25). Aortic tissue nitrate content was determined with a fluorometric assay kit according to the protocol of the manufacturer (Cayman Chemical).

### **Statistical Analysis**

All data are presented as mean  $\pm$  s.d. Analysis of variance followed by a Post-test as indicated was performed to determine

statistical significance between more than two groups. Statistical significance was set at a p-value of < 0.05. Statistical evaluation was performed with GraphPad PRISM 7.0.

### RESULTS

### Increased Number of Aortic B2 Bradykinin Receptors in Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- Mice

To investigate the role of the B2 bradykinin receptor in atherosclerosis, we used hypercholesterolemic ApoE-/- mice as an experimental model of atherosclerosis. These mice develop atherosclerotic lesions in the vascular system and the aorta with increasing age (4-8). In frame of our study, we compared three groups of ApoE-/- mice with different expression levels of the B2 bradykinin receptor, i.e., (i) ApoE-/- mice in B6 (C57Bl/6J) background with endogenous Bdkrb2 expression level, (ii) ApoE-/- mice in B6 background, which are deficient in the B2 bradykinin receptor gene, Bdkrb2-/-ApoE-/ (B2-/-ApoE-/-), and (iii) ApoE-/- mice in B6 background with transgenic expression of BDKRB2 under control of the ubiquitous CMV promoter, Tg-B2++ApoE-/mice (Figure 1A). Because the genetic background has a strong influence on the atherosclerotic phenotype of ApoE-/- mice (26), all groups of transgenic mice used in our study had identical B6 background. To obtain Bdkrb2-/- mice with pure B6 (C57Bl/6J) background, we performed 2 years of backcrossing of Bdkrb2-/- mice into the B6 background for more than 10 generations. These Bdkrb2-/- mice with B6 background were then used for cross-breeding with ApoE-/- mice, to finally obtain homozygous mice, which were double-deficient in Bdkrb2 and ApoE (Bdkrb2-/- and ApoE-/-). To generate mice with moderately increased BDKRB2 level, we generated BDKRB2transgenic mice in ApoE-/- background with expression of BDKRB2 under control of the ubiquitous CMV promoter. We used the CMV promoter, because the endogenous B2 bradykinin receptor is also ubiquitously expressed. Male offspring of these three study groups of mice with different expression levels of the B2 bradykinin receptor were used to analyze the impact of this receptor on the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis (Figure 1A).

We initially characterized the vascular B2 bradykinin receptor content of study groups. B2 bradykinin receptor levels on aortic vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) isolated from different transgenic mouse lines were determined by radioligand binding. Our data show that B2 bradykinin receptor levels were moderately increased on VSMC of Tg-B2++ApoE-/mice compared to ApoE-/- mice, i.e., the total number of B2 receptor bindings sites was 72.9  $\pm$  10.5 fmol/mg on Tg-B2++ApoE-/- VSMC compared to 43.7  $\pm$  8.2 fmol/mg in ApoE-/- mice with endogenous Bdkrb2 level and 44.1  $\pm$  7.7 fmol/mg in non-transgenic B6 mice (Figure 1B). As a control, the B2 bradykinin receptor was absent in VSMC from doubledeficient, B2-/-ApoE-/- mice (Figure 1B). In contrast to the B2 bradykinin receptor, numbers of angiotensin II AT1 receptor binding sites were not significantly different between all study groups (Figure 1B). Endogenously expressed and transgenic



**FIGURE 1** | Increased number of aortic B2 bradykinin receptors in Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- mice. (A) Overview of three study groups of *ApoE*-/- mice. (B) B2 bradykinin receptor binding sites (upper) and angiotensin II AT1 receptor binding sites (lower) were determined with aortic vascular smooth muscle cells isolated from three study groups of *ApoE*-/- mice and non-transgenic B6 mice (mean  $\pm$  s.d.; n = 6; \*\*\*p < 0.001 (B6 and *ApoE*-/- vs. B2-/-*ApoE*-/- and Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/-); Tukey's test). (C) The specific B2 bradykinin receptor-stimulated increase in total inositol phosphate levels (B2-stimul. IPs) was determined with aortic vascular smooth muscle cells isolated from different study groups ( $\pm$ s.d.; n = 3 biological replicates; \*\*\*p < 0.001 (Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/-) vs. B6 and *ApoE*-/-; \*\*\*p < 0.001 (B2-/-*ApoE*-/-) vs. B6, *ApoE*-/-, and Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/-; Tukey's test).

B2 bradykinin receptors of aortic smooth muscle cells were functional and mediated an increase in total inositol phosphate levels upon bradykinin stimulation (**Figure 1C**).

Together these data show that transgenic *BDKRB2* expression under control of the ubiquitous CMV promoter led to a moderately increased number of B2 bradykinin receptor binding sites on aortic smooth muscle cells of Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- mice whereas the B2 receptor was absent in B2-/-ApoE-/- mice with deficiency of the B2 bradykinin receptor gene, *Bdkrb2*.

### Transgenic *BDKRB2* Expression Enhances Atherosclerotic Lesion Formation Whereas Bdkrb2 Deficiency Leads to a Decreased Atherosclerotic Plaque Area in the Aorta of *ApoE-/-* Mice

To investigate the impact of the B2 bradykinin receptor on atheroma formation, we determined the atherosclerotic lesion area in the aorta of 8-month-old ApoE-/- mice. As outlined before, the study compared three different groups of mice, i.e., (i) ApoE-/- mice with endogenous Bdkrb2 expression level, (ii) B2-/-ApoE-/- mice with Bdrkb2 deficiency, and (iii) Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice with moderately increased B2 receptor level due to transgenic BDKRB2 expression. All mice had B6 background. Atherosclerotic lesion area in the aorta was quantified by oil red O staining (Figure 2A). We found that transgenic BDKRB2 expression led to a significantly enhanced atherosclerotic plaque formation in the aorta of Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice, i.e., the atherosclerotic lesion area was increased 2.2  $\pm$  0.4-fold in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice compared to ApoE-/mice with endogenous Bdkrb2 level (Figure 2B). In contrast, B2 bradykinin receptor deficiency led to a significantly decreased atherosclerotic plaque area in double-deficient, B2-/-ApoE-/mice compared to ApoE-/- mice with endogenously expressed Bdkrb2 (Figure 2B). These data provide strong evidence that the B2 bradykinin receptor enhances the progression of atherosclerotic plaque formation in the aorta of 8-month-old *ApoE*-/- mice as an experimental model of atherosclerosis.

### Transgenic *BDKRB2* Expression Leads to an Increased Aortic ROS Content in Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- Mice

Enhanced generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is a major contributor to atherosclerotic plaque formation in experimental models of atherosclerosis and involved in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis in patients (8, 18, 27). We asked whether the B2 bradykinin receptor led to an increased aortic ROS content of Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice. Aortic ROS was detected in situ by dihydroethidium (DHE) staining (8, 23). Quantitative image analysis shows that the ROS production in the aorta of BDKRB2-expressing Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice was significantly increased compared to ApoE-/- mice with endogenous B2 receptor expression level, i.e., aortic ROS levels of Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice were 1.6  $\pm$  0.3-fold higher than those of ApoE-/- mice (Figures 3A,B). Vice versa, there was a significant decrease in the aortic ROS content of doubledeficient B2-/-ApoE-/- mice compared to ApoE-/- mice with intact Bdkrb2 gene (Figures 3A,B). Taken together, the B2 bradykinin receptor mediates an enhanced production of ROS



in the aorta of atherosclerosis-prone Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- mice with hypercholesterolemia.

# The Aortic Nitrate Content as a Marker of NO Activity and the Nitric Oxide Synthase (NOS) Cofactor Tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) Are Decreased in Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- Mice

On vascular endothelial cells, the B2 bradykinin receptor is known for its nitric oxide (NO)-stimulating function (10, 28, 29). Nitric oxide is considered as a major atheroprotective factor released from intact endothelium (30, 31). On the other hand, cardiovascular risk factors such as hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis trigger endothelial dysfunction (29, 30), which leads to endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) uncoupling (19). Uncoupled eNOS produces atherogenic superoxide instead of atheroprotective NO (19). In agreement with previous data on defective NO generation in hypercholesterolemic ApoE-/- mice (32), the aortic tissue nitrate content as a marker of NO activity in vivo (33), was significantly decreased in ApoE-/- mice compared to non-transgenic B6 mice, i.e the aortic nitrate of ApoE-/mice was 539  $\pm$  89 nmol/g compared to 1031  $\pm$  158 nmol/g in B6 mice (Figure 4A). Transgenic expression of BDKRB2 further decreased the aortic nitrate content in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice compared to ApoE-/-mice with endogenous Bdkrb2 expression (Figure 4A). Vice versa, deficiency of Bdkrb2 led



to a significantly increased aortic nitrate content of Bdkrb2-/-ApoE-/- mice compared to ApoE-/- mice (**Figure 4A**). This finding is complementary to previous data, which show that deficiency of Bdkrb2 increases the serum nitrate level (34). Nevertheless, the aortic nitrate content of Bdkrb2-/-ApoE-/mice was not normalized to B6 control level by B2 bradykinin receptor deficiency (**Figure 4A**), most likely because defective NO generation in atherosclerotic Bdkrb2-/-ApoE-/- mice has additional causes, which are independent of Bdkrb2, e.g., ApoEdeficiency-induced hypercholesterolemia. Together these data show that the B2 bradykinin receptor mediates a decrease in aortic nitrate content as a marker of dysfunctional aortic (e)NOS activity in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice whereas deficiency of Bdkrb2increases the aortic nitrate level in Bdkrb2-/-ApoE-/- mice.



The eNOS uncoupling during the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis was partially attributed to down-regulation of the (e)NOS cofactor, tetrahydrobiopterin, BH4 (35, 36). We asked whether the decreased aortic nitrate content of BDKRB2transgenic Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice was accompanied by changes in aortic BH4 levels. We measured the aortic BH4 content and found that transgenic BDKRB2 expression led to a decrease in the aortic BH4 content of Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice, which was  $2.48 \pm 0.56$  pmol/mg in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice compared to  $5.23 \pm 1.09$  pmol/mg in *ApoE*-/- mice with endogenous *Bdkrb2* expression level (Figure 4B). For comparison, aortic BH4 levels were not significantly different between ApoE-/- mice with Bdkrb2-deficiency and non-transgenic B6 mice (Figure 4B). This observation could be due to the fact that there are two opposing mechanisms acting on the aortic BH4 level in Bdkrb2-/-ApoE-/- mice, i.e., (i) ApoE deficiency, which decreases the aortic BH4 content, and (ii) Bdkrb2 deficiency, which counteracts the ApoE deficiency-induced BH4 decrease. The net result is a normalization of aortic BH4 content in *Bdkrb2-/-ApoE-/-* mice toward the level of non-transgenic B6 mice (Figure 4B).

Histologic evaluation of hematoxylin-eosin-stained aortic specimens from the different groups of ApoE-/- mice confirmed the enhanced atherosclerosis progression of Tg-B2++/ApoE-/- mice by an increased intimal atherosclerotic lesion area in the aortic arch of Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice with transgenic *BDKRB2* expression compared to ApoE-/- mice with endogenous *Bdkrb2* expression, and double-deficient B2-/-ApoE-/- mice (**Figures 4C,D**). Together these data show a decrease in (e)NOS

activity as documented by a reduced aortic content of nitrate and depletion of the (e)NOS co-factor, BH4, by the B2 bradykinin receptor in hypercholesterolemic Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice with concomitantly enhanced atherosclerotic lesion development.

# The Major BH4-Synthesizing Enzyme, *Gch1* (GTP Cyclohydrolase 1) Is Down-Regulated by *BDKRB2* in Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- Mice

We searched for the mechanism underlying the aortic decrease in the (e)NOS cofactor, BH4, which was triggered by the B2 bradykinin receptor. BH4 deficiency in atherosclerosis could be caused by at least two different mechanisms, i.e., by (i) BH4 oxidation as a consequence of increased ROS levels (cf. Figure 3), and (ii) impaired BH4 synthesis due to decreased levels/activity of the GTP cyclohydrolase 1 (Gch1), which is the rate-limiting enzyme in tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) biosynthesis (36, 37). Previous data have shown that endothelial Gch1 activity and expression are decreased by various cardiovascular risk factors (37). Therefore, we determined the aortic expression level of Gch1 in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice. Our data show that aortic Gch1 expression levels were significantly decreased in BDKRB2expressing Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice compared to ApoE-/- mice with endogenous Bdkrb2 levels, i.e., aortic Gch1 levels were 2.1fold lower in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice compared to ApoE-/- mice (Figure 5A). For comparison, the aortic Gch1 expression level of B2–/–*ApoE*–/– mice with *Bdkrb2* deficiency was not significantly different from non-transgenic B6 mice (Figure 5A). As a control,



immunoblot detection of the aortic Gch1 protein confirmed the significant decrease of the aortic Gch1 content in *BDKRB2*-expressing Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice compared to *ApoE*-/- mice with and without endogenously expressed *Bdkrb2* (**Figure 5B**).

### Treatment With the BH4 Analog, Sapropterin, Retards Atherosclerotic Plaque Formation and Decreases the Aortic ROS Content of Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/-Mice

Is there a causal relationship between decreased aortic BH4 levels and enhanced atherosclerotic plaque formation in BDKRB2-expressing, Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice? To address this question, we treated Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice with the BH4 analog, sapropterin. Treatment outcome of 8-monthold mice was evaluated after 5 months of treatment. Our experiments show that BH4 supplementation retards the enhanced atherosclerotic plaque formation of Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice (Figures 6A,B). In contrast, the effect of BH4 in ApoE-/- mice with endogenously expressed Bdkrb2 was not significant (Figure 6B). Concomitantly, supplementation of BH4 also decreased the exaggerated aortic ROS content of Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice (Figures 6A,C). As a control, saproterin treatment led to increased aortic BH4 levels in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice and ApoE-/- mice with endogenous Bdkrb2 levels (Figure 6D). These experiments show that BH4 supplementation is capable to counteract the atherosclerosispromoting ROS generation in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice with transgenic BDKRB2 expression.

### ACE Inhibition With Captopril Inhibits Atherosclerotic Plaque Accumulation in Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- Mice

The angiotensin II AT1 receptor is a major contributor to atherosclerosis-promoting ROS generation in ApoE-/- mice (8, 38-40). Atherogenic functions of the AT1 receptor are enhanced

by BDKRB2 (25, 41), and atherosclerosis-related endothelial dysfunction can be prevented by inhibition of angiotensin II AT1 receptor stimulation with an inhibitor of the angiotensin II-generating ACE (42, 43). Because BDKRB2 enhanced the endothelial dysfunction of Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice, we asked whether inhibition of ACE-dependent angiotensin II generation in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice could retard the BDKRB2-enhanced atherosclerosis progression. To address this question, we treated Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice with the ACE inhibitor, captopril (20 mg/kg/d) for 5 months. Atherosclerotic lesion area was evaluated of oil red O-stained aortas and revealed that captopril largely prevented the accumulation of atherosclerotic plaques in 8 month-old Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice (Figures 7A,B). In agreement with previous studies (7, 8), captopril also inhibited the formation of atherosclerotic lesions in ApoE-/- control mice with endogenous Bdkrb2 expression (Figures 7A,B). Taken together, inhibition of ACE-dependent angiotensin II AT1 receptor activation is capable to prevent the BDKRB2enhanced atherosclerotic lesion development in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice. Consequently, the atherogenic function of the B2 bradykinin receptor in ApoE-/- mice involves a synergistic interplay between the B2 bradykinin receptor and angiotensin II-stimulated AT1 receptor activation.

### DISCUSSION

In this study, we investigated the impact of the B2 bradykinin receptor on atherosclerotic lesion formation in hypercholesterolemic ApoE-/- mice as a model of atherosclerosis. We found that a moderately increased *BDKRB2* level in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice led to a significantly enhanced progression of atherosclerotic lesion development whereas deficiency of *Bdkrb2* retarded the accumulation of atherosclerotic plaques in *Bdkrb2*-/-*ApoE*-/- mice.

In search for pathomechanisms underlying the enhanced atherogenesis triggered by *BDKRB2*, we detected an increased aortic ROS content in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice compared to



**FIGURE 6** | Treatment with the BH4 analog, sapropterin, retards atherosclerotic plaque formation and decreases the aortic ROS content of Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- mice. (**A**-**C**) Enhanced atherosclerotic plaque formation of Tg-B2++*ApoE*-/- mice is retarded, and aortic ROS content is decreased by treatment with sapropterin. In (**A**), representative oil red O-stained aortas (left panels) and DHE-stained aortic sections (right panels) from TgB2++*ApoE*-/- mice are shown (bar: 100  $\mu$ m; right panels). Panels (**B**,**C**) present quantitative data (mean ± s.d.; n = 4; \*\*\*p < 0.001 vs. all other groups of mice; Tukey's test). (**D**) Aortic BH4 contents of study groups (mean ± s.d.; n = 4; \*\*\*p < 0.001 vs. BH4-treated mice; Tukey's test).

*ApoE*-/- mice with endogenous *Bdkrb2* expression level. In addition, the endogenous *Bdkrb2* contributes to enhanced ROS generation in *ApoE*-/- mice because the aortic ROS content



was significantly lower in double-deficient *Bdkrb2–/–ApoE–* /– mice compared to *ApoE–/–* mice with intact endogenous *Bdkrb2* gene. The increased vascular ROS level could directly contribute to enhanced atherosclerotic lesion formation because ROS is known to accelerate atherogenesis in animal models of atherosclerosis and patients with atherosclerotic vascular disease (8, 18, 27). Aortic ROS generation in ApoE-/- mice was previously attributed to the atherosclerosis-enhancing function of the angiotensin II AT1 receptor, which generates ROS by activation of NADPH oxidases (8, 38). Activation of the AT1 receptor in experimental models of atherosclerosis and patients with cardiovascular disease is increased due to hypercholesterolemia-induced up-regulation of the systemic renin angiotensin system (39, 40). Our study identifies the B2 bradykinin receptor as another player involved in enhanced ROS generation in ApoE-/- mice. B2 bradykinin receptor-enhanced ROS generation could as well be mediated by the AT1 receptor, which becomes hyperactive by protein complex formation with the B2 bradykinin receptor (25, 41). Notably, endogenous Bdkrb2 levels are sufficient to sensitize the AT1 receptor-stimulated response, and the AT1-sensitizing function of the B2 bradykinin receptor does not require bradykinin (25, 41). In agreement with a bradykinin-independent function of the B2 bradykinin receptor in atherosclerosis, treatment of ApoE-/- mice with the B2 bradykinin receptor-specific antagonist, HOE140, did not alter atherosclerosis progression (13). However, the (brady)kiningenerating kallikrein system was not active in this study, because treatment with the B2-specific antagonist, HOE140, had no effect on blood pressure, neither under basal conditions nor upon blood pressure lowering with the ACE inhibitor, ramipril (13). Thus, bradykinin-dependent and bradykinin-independent effects need to be considered in the atherosclerosis-promoting activity of the B2 bradykinin receptor depending on the activation state of the kinin-kallikrein system.

As a consequence of the AT1-receptor sensitizing activity, the B2 bradykinin receptor could mediate a decrease in the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) cofactor, BH4, which is inactivated by ROS (37). Decreased BH4 leads to uncoupled eNOS, which in turn generates more ROS. The decrease in aortic BH4 content could synergistically be aggravated by downregulation of Gch1, which is the rate-limiting enzyme in BH4 synthesis. In concert with hypercholesterolemia, BDKRB2 and Bdkrb2 could decrease vascular Gch1 expression and protein level by activation of Gi-coupled signaling because hypercholesterolemia and Gicoupled signaling are both known to down-regulate Gch1 (44-46). The ensuing depletion of vascular BH4 could contribute to eNOS uncoupling in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis (35). The uncoupled eNOS generates detrimental ROS instead of atheroprotective NO (Figure 8). Transgenic animal models support that Gch1 deficiency and reduced vascular BH4 accelerate atherosclerosis whereas supplementation of BH4 or Gch1 expression reverse these deficits and retard atherosclerosis (19, 35, 47). In agreement with these findings, we found that treatment with BH4 decreased aortic ROS levels and dampened the atherosclerosis-enhancing effect of BDKRB2.

It is well-established that the bradykinin-potentiating effect of ACE inhibitors contributes to cardio-protection [**Figure 8A**, (9, 10)]. However, the atherosclerosis-lowering potential of ACE inhibition does not necessarily rely on bradykinin-stimulated *Bdkrb2* activation, e.g., when there is no activation of the (brady)kinin-generating kallikrein system (13). A B2-specific antagonist, HOE140, also had no effect on atherosclerosis



progression in ApoE-/- mice without ACE inhibition (13), most likely because the beneficial NO-generating capacity of endothelial B2 bradykinin receptor stimulation is impaired in atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease [Figure 8B, (42, 43, 48)]. Because atherosclerosis progression in ApoE-/- mice is not affected by the B2-specific antagonist, HOE140 (13), atherosclerosis promotion by Bdkrb2 in ApoE-/- mice could largely be mediated by the angiotensin II AT1 receptorsensitizing function of Bdkrb2, which is bradykinin-independent (25, 41). In agreement with this conclusion, our study shows that inhibition of angiotensin II AT1 receptor stimulation by an ACE inhibitor completely prevents atherosclerotic lesion formation in Tg-B2++ApoE-/- mice. Thus, under hypercholesterolemia, the B2 bradykinin receptor gene is atherogenic, leads to increased vascular ROS, mediates a decrease in (e)NOS activity as evidenced by a reduced aortic nitrate content, and enhances aortic BH4 deficiency (Figure 8B). BH4 depletion contributes to the atherogenic activity of the B2 bradykinin receptor because supplementation with BH4 was sufficient to inhibit aortic ROS and retard atherosclerosis progression triggered by transgenic BDKRB2 expression (Figure 8B).

Enhanced ROS generation in hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis is largely attributed to angiotensin II AT1 receptor stimulation (8, 38). Consequently, inhibition of detrimental AT1 receptor-stimulated ROS generation by an ACE inhibitor or AT1 antagonist in animal models and patients could exert a dual protective function regarding the atherogenic activity of *BDKRB2*, i.e., (i) restoration of protective B2 bradykinin receptor signaling, and (ii) neutralization of the AT1-sensitizing function of *BDKRB2*. Symptoms of the herein deduced atherogenic activity of the B2 bradykinin receptor can be prevented by ACE inhibition, which inhibits sensitized AT1 receptor signaling, blunts exaggerated ROS generation, and heals uncoupled eNOS in atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease (42, 43, 47). Consequently, the agonist-stimulated B2 bradykinin receptor could become anti-atherogenic upon treatment with an ACE inhibitor, which prevents endothelial dysfunction triggered by oxidized low-density lipoproteins in a B2 bradykinin receptor stimulation-dependent manner (49).

Taken together, our study shows that the atherosclerosisenhancing function of the ubiquitously expressed B2 bradykinin receptor involves a synergistic interplay between enhanced ROS generation, dysfunctional NO activity and AT1 receptor activation. Pathomechanisms identified in this study could act in concert with already established B2 and/or AT1 receptor-dependent atherogenic activities. Notably, the following mechanisms mediated by the B2 and/or AT1 receptor could play a direct or indirect role in B2 bradykinin receptorenhanced atherosclerosis: (I) The B2 bradykinin receptor could promote atherosclerosis by the reduced activation of atheroprotective AT1-inhibitory receptors, AGTR2 and MAS1 (34, 50-52), which are directly down-regulated by the B2 bradykinin receptor and angiotensin II AT1 receptor (34, 53) and indirectly dampened via angiotensin II AT1mediated ACE2 down-regulation (54). (II) In addition, the B2 bradykinin receptor could enhance atherogenesis by decreasing

### REFERENCES

- Libby P, Bornfeldt KE, Tall AR. Atherosclerosis: successes, surprises and future challenges. *Circ Res.* (2016) 118:531–4. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.308334
- Bergheanu SC, Bodde MC, Jukema JW. Pathophysiology and treatment of atherosclerosis: current view and future perspective on lipoprotein modification treatment. *Neth Heart J.* (2017) 25:231–42. doi: 10.1007/s12471-017-0959-2
- Li M, Qin M, Kyler K, Xu J. Endothelial-vascular smooth muscle cells interactions in atherosclerosis. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2018) 5:151. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00151
- Plump AS, Smith JD, Hayek T, Aalto-Setälä K, Walsh A, Verstuyft JG, et al. Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. *Cell* (1992) 71:343–53. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(92)90362-G
- Nakashima Y, Plump AS, Raines EW, Breslow JL, Ross R. ApoE-deficient mice develop lesions of all phases of atherosclerosis throughout the arterial tree. *Arterioscler Thromb*. (1994) 14:133–40. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.14.1.133
- AbdAlla S, Lother H, Langer A, el Faramawy Y, Quitterer U. Factor XIIIA transglutaminase crosslinks AT1 receptor dimers of monocytes at the onset of atherosclerosis. *Cell* (2004) 119:343–54. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.10.006
- Abd Alla J, Langer A, Elzahwy SS, Arman-Kalcek G, Streichert T, Quitterer U. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition down-regulates the proatherogenic chemokine receptor 9 (CCR9)-chemokine ligand 25 (CCL25) axis. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:23496–505. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.117481
- Abd Alla J, El Faramawy Y, Quitterer U. Microarray gene expression profiling reveals antioxidant-like effects of angiotensin II inhibition in atherosclerosis. *Front Physiol.* (2013) 4:148. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2013.00148

the expression of the vasculoprotective endothelial Kruppel-like factor 4, KLF4 (55), which is directly downregulated by angiotensin II AT1 stimulation [(56); NCBI GEO dataset GSE19286 in Abd Alla et al. (7)], and indirectly down-regulated by reduced Mas receptor activation (57). (III) And finally, the B2 bradykinin receptor-stimulated atherogenesis could involve the enhanced aortic infiltration with macrophages and inflammatory immune cells, which is promoted by angiotensin II AT1 receptor signaling directly (7, 58), and indirectly by B2 bradykinin and angiotensin II AT1 receptor-mediated downregulation of Mas, which accounts for a decreased expression of atheroprotective sirtuin 1, SIRT1 (34, 57, 59). In view of this panoply of different atherogenic functions, specific targeting of the detrimental B2 - AT1 receptor axis could be envisaged as a potential approach to treat not only atherosclerosis but also related pro-thrombotic activities triggered by the B2 bradykinin and angiotensin II AT1 receptors (34, 60, 61).

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AP, SW, YJ, AL, and JA performed experiments. JA generated transgenic mice. All authors evaluated data. UQ conducted the study, designed experiments and wrote the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

### FUNDING

This work was supported in part by Schweizerischer Nationalfonds zur Förderung der Wissenschaftlichen Forschung Grant 310030 169354 (to UQ).

- Manolis AJ, Marketou ME, Gavras I, Gavras H. Cardioprotective properties of bradykinin: role of the B(2) receptor. *Hypertens Res.* (2010) 33:772–7. doi: 10.1038/hr.2010.82
- Hartman JC. The role of bradykinin and nitric oxide in the cardioprotective action of ACE inhibitors. *Ann Thorac Surg.* (1995) 60:789–92. doi: 10.1016/0003-4975(95)00192-N
- Bouaziz H, Joulin Y, Safar M, Benetos A. Effects of bradykinin B2 receptor antagonism on the hypotensive effects of ACE inhibition. Br J Pharmacol. (1994) 113:717–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5 381.1994.tb17052.x
- Gainer JV, Morrow JD, Loveland A, King DJ, Brown NJ. Effect of bradykinin-receptor blockade on the response to angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor in normotensive and hypertensive subjects. N Engl J Med. (1998) 339:1285–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199810293391804
- Keidar S, Attias J, Coleman R, Wirth K, Schölkens B, Hayek T. Attenuation of atherosclerosis in apoliprotein E-deficient mice by ramipril is dissociated from its antihypertensive effect and from potentiation by bradykinin. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* (2000) 35:64–72. doi: 10.1097/00005344-20 0001000-00008
- Sharma JN. The kallikrein-kinin system: from mediator of inflammation to modulator of cardioprotection. *Inflammopharmacology* (2005) 12:591–6. doi: 10.1163/156856005774382760
- Pant S, Deshmukh A, Gurumurthy GS, Pothineni NV, Watts TE, Romeo F, et al. Inflammation and atherosclerosis—revisited. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther. (2014) 19:170–8. doi: 10.1177/1074248413504994
- Kuga T, Egashira K, Mohri M, Tsutsui H, Harasawa Y, Urabe Y, et al. Bradykinin-induced vasodilation is impaired at the atherosclerotic site but is preserved at the spastic site of human coronary arteries *in vivo*. *Circulation* (1995) 92:183–9. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.92.2.183

- Gimbrone MA, Garcia-Cardena G. Endothelial cell dysfunction and the pathobiology of atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* (2016) 118:620–36. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306301
- Li H, Horke S, Förstermann U. Vascular oxidative stress, nitric oxide and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* (2014) 237:208–19. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.09.001
- Kawashima S, Yokoyama M. Dysfunction of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2004) 24:998–1005. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000125114.88079.96
- Borkowski JA, Ransom RW, Seabrook GR, Trumbauer M, Chen H, Hill RG, et al. Targeted disruption of a B2 bradykinin receptor gene in mice eliminates bradykinin action in smooth muscle and neurons. *J Biol Chem.* (1995) 270:13706–10. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.23.13706
- Abd Alla J, Graemer M, Fu X, Quitterer U. Inhibition of G-protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 prevents the dysfunctional cardiac substrate metabolism in fatty acid synthase transgenic mice. J Biol Chem. (2016) 291:2583–600. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.702688
- Alp NJ, Mussa S, Khoo J, Cai S, Guzik T, Jefferson A, et al. Tetrahydrobiopterin-dependent preservation of nitric oxide-mediated endothelial function in diabetes by targeted transgenic GTP-cyclohydrolase I overexpression. J Clin Invest. (2003) 112:725–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI17786
- Edwards DH, Li Y, Ellinsworth DC, Griffith TM. The effect of inorganic arsenic on endothelium-dependent relaxation: role of NADPH oxidase and hydrogen peroxide. *Toxicology* (2013) 305:50–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2013.01.019
- Villa-Bellosta R, Hamczyk MR. Isolation and culture of aortic smooth muscle cells and *in vitro* calcification assay. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2015) 1339:119–29. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2929-0\_8
- Quitterer U, Fu X, Pohl A, Bayoumy KM, Langer A, AbdAlla S. Beta-Arrestin1 prevents preeclampsia by down-regulation of mechanosensitive AT1-B2 receptor heteromers. *Cell* (2019) 176:318–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.050
- Dansky HM, Charlton SA, Sikes JL, Heath SC, Simantov R, Levin LF, et al. Genetic background determines the extent of atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (1999) 19:1960–8. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.19.8.1960
- Kattoor AJ, Pothineni NVK, Palagiri D, Mehta JL. Oxidative stress in atherosclerosis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* (2017) 19:42. doi: 10.1007/s11883-017-0678-6
- Boulanger C, Schini VB, Moncada S, Vanhoutte PM. Stimulation of cyclic GMP production in cultured endothelial cells of the pig by bradykinin, adenosine diphosphate, calcium ionophore A23187 and nitric oxide. Br J Pharmacol. (1990) 101:152–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.1990.tb12105.x
- Emori T, Hirata Y, Kanno K, Marumo F. Bradykinin stimulated endothelial nitric oxide (NO) production by calcium/calmodulin-dependent NO synthase. *Hypertens Res.* (1993) 16:131–7. doi: 10.1291/hypres.16.131
- Libby P, Aikawa M, Jain MK. Vascular endothelium and atherosclerosis. *Handb Exp Pharmacol.* (2006) 176 (Pt. 2):285–306. doi: 10.1007/3-540-36028-X\_9
- Cannon RO. Role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular disease: focus on the endothelium. Clin Chem. (1998) 44:1809–19.
- 32. Khambata RS, Ghosh SM, Rathod KS, Thevathasan T, Filomena F, Xiao Q, et al. Antiinflammatory actions of inorganic nitrate stabilize the atherosclerotic plaque. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:E550–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1613063114
- Barton M, Haudenschild CC, D'Uscio LV, Shaw S, Münter K, Lüscher TF. Endothelin ETA receptor blockade restores NO-mediated endothelial function and inhibits atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1998) 95:14367–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.24.14367
- 34. Fang C, Stavrou E, Schmaier AA, Grobe N, Morris M, Chen A, et al. Angiotensin 1-7 and Mas decrease thrombosis in Bdkrb2-/- mice by increasing NO and prostacyclin to reduce platelet spreading and glycoprotein VI activation. *Blood* (2013) 121:3023–32. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-09-459156
- 35. Li L, Chen W, Rezvan A, Jo H, Harrison DG. Tetrahydrobiopterin deficiency and nitric oxide synthase uncoupling contribute to atherosclerosis induced by disturbed flow. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2011) 31:1547–54. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.226456
- 36. Douglas G, Hale AB, Patel J, Chuaiphichai S, Al Haj Zen A, Rashbrook VS, et al. Roles for endothelial cell and macrophage Gch1 and tetrahydrobiopterin

in atherosclerosis progression. Cardiovasc Res. (2018) 114:1385-99. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvy078

- Channon KM. Tetrahydrobiopterin: regulator of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vascular disease. *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* (2004) 14:323–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2004.10.003
- Garrido AM, Griendling KK. NADPH oxidases and angiotensin II receptor signalling. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2009) 302:148–58. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2008.11.003
- Daugherty A, Rateri DL, Lu H, Inagami T, Cassis LA. Hypercholesterolemia stimulates angiotensin peptide synthesis and contributes to atherosclerosis through the AT1A receptor. *Circulation* (2004) 110:3849–757. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000150540.54220.C4
- Diet F, Pratt RE, Berry GJ, Momose N, Gibbons GH, Dzau VJ. Increased accumulation of tissue ACE in human atherosclerotic coronary artery disease. *Circulation* (1996) 94:2756–67. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.94.11.2756
- AbdAlla S, Lother H, Quitterer U. AT1-receptor heterodimers show enhanced G-protein activation and altered receptor sequestration. *Nature* (2000) 407:94–8. doi: 10.1038/35024095
- Cannon RO. Potential mechanisms for the effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors on endothelial dysfunction: the role of nitric oxide. Am J Cardiol. (1998) 82:S8–10. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(98)90422-2
- 43. Hornig B, Landmesser U, Kohler C, Ahlersmann D, Spiekermann S, Christoph A, et al. Comparative effect of ace inhibition and angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonism on bioavailability of nitric oxide in patients with coronary artery disease: role of superoxide dismutase. *Circulation* (2001) 103:799–805. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.103.6.799
- 44. Leiva A, Fuenzalida B, Salsoso R, Barros E, Toledo F, Gutierrez J, et al. Tetrahydrobiopterin role in human umbilical vein endothelial dysfunction in maternal supraphysiological hypercholesterolemia. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2016) 1862:536–44. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.01.021
- 45. Machida T, Hamaya Y, Izumi S, Hamaya Y, Iizuka K, Igarashi Y, et al. Sphingosine 1-phospate inhibits nitric oxide production induced by interleukin-1beta in rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2008) 325:200–9. doi: 10.1124/jpet.107.127290
- Kapatos G, Stegenga SL, Hirayama K. Identification and characterization of basal and cyclic AMP response elements in the promoter of the rat GTP cyclohydrolase I gene. J Biol Hem. (2000) 275:5947–67. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.8.5947
- 47. Takaya T, Hirata K, Yamashita T, Shinohara M, Sasaki N, Inoue N, et al. A specific role for eNOS-derived reactive oxygen species in atherosclerosis progression. *Arterioscleros Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2007) 27:1632–7. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.142182
- Gödecke A, Ziegler M, Ding Z, Schrader J. Endothelial dysfunction of coronary resistance vessels in apoE-/- mice involves NO but not prostacyclin-dependent mechanisms. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2002) 53:253–62. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(01)00432-1
- Berkenboom G, Langer I, Carpentier Y, Grosfils K, Fontaine J. Ramipril prevents endothelial dysfunction induced by oxidized lipoproteins: a bradykinin-dependent mechanism. *Hypertension* (1997) 30(3 Pt. 1):371–6. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.30.3.371
- AbdAlla S, Lother H, Abdel-tawab AM, Quitterer U. The angiotensin II AT2 receptor is an AT1 receptor antagonist. J Biol Chem. (2001) 276:39721–6. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M105253200
- 51. Hu C, Dandapat A, Chen J, Liu Y, Hermonat PL, Carey RM, et al. Over-expression of angiotensin II type 2 receptor (agtr2) reduces atherogenesis and modulates LOX-1, endothelial nitric oxide synthase and heme-oxygenase-1 expression. *Atherosclerosis* (2008) 199:288–94. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.11.006
- 52. Yang G, Istas G, Höges S, Yakoub M, Hendgen-Cotta U, Rassaf T, et al. Angiotensin-(1-7)-induced Mas receptor activation attenuates atherosclerosis through a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism in apolipoproteinE-KO mice. *Pflugers Arch.* (2018) 470:661–7. doi: 10.1007/s00424-018-2108-1
- Ouali R, Berthelon MC, Begeot M, Saez JM. Angiotensin II receptor subtypes AT1 and AT2 are down-regulated by angiotensin II through AT1 receptor by different mechanisms. *Endocrinology* (1997) 138:725–33. doi: 10.1210/endo.138.2.4952
- 54. Koka V, Huang XR, Chung AC, Wang W, Truong LD, Lan HY. Angiotensin II up-regulates angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE),

but down-regulates ACE2 via the AT1-ERK/p38 MAP kinase pathway. *Am J Pathol.* (2008) 172:1174–83. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2 008.070762

- Zhou G, Hamik A, Nayak L, Tian H, Shi H, Lu Y, et al. Endothelial kruppellike factor 4 protects against atherothrombosis in mice. J Clin Invest. (2012) 122:4727–31. doi: 10.1172/JCI66056
- 56. Higuchi K, Nakaoka Y, Shioyama W, Arita Y, Hashimoto T, Yasui T, et al. Endothelial Gab1 deletion accelerates angiotensin II-dependent vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Circ J.* (2012) 76:2013–40. doi: 10.1253/c ircj.CJ-11-1507
- Stavrou EX, Fang C, Merkulova A, Alhalabi O, Grobe N, Antoniak S, et al. Reduced thrombosis in Klkb1-/- mice is mediated by increased Mas receptor, prostacyclin, Sirt1, and KLF4 and decreased tissue factor. *Blood* (2016) 125:710–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-01-550285
- Marchesi C, Paradis P, Schiffrin EL. Role of the renin-angiotensin system in vascular inflammation. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2008) 29:367–74. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2008.05.003
- Stein S, Matter CM. Protective roles of SIRT1 in atherosclerosis. Cell Cycle (2011) 10:640–7. doi: 10.4161/cc.10.4.14863

- Schmaier AH. A novel antithrombotic mechanism mediated by the receptors of the kallikrein/kinin and renin-angiotensin systems. *Front Med.* (2016) 3:61. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2016.00061
- Brown NJ, Vaughan DE. Role of angiotensin II in coagulation and fibrinolysis. *Heart Fail Rev.* (1999) 3:193–8. doi: 10.1023/A:1009757416302

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor and reviewer JBP declared their involvement as co-editors in the Research Topic, and confirm the absence of any other collaboration.

Copyright © 2019 Perhal, Wolf, Jamous, Langer, Abd Alla and Quitterer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Polyphosphates and Complement** Activation

### Edward M. Conway\*

Division of Hematology, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Centre for Blood Research, Life Sciences Institute, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

To sustain life in environments that are fraught with risks of life-threatening injury, organisms have developed innate protective strategies such that the response to wounds is rapid and localized, with the simultaneous recruitment of molecular, biochemical, and cellular pathways that limit bleeding and eliminate pathogens and damaged host cells, while promoting effective healing. These pathways are both coordinated and tightly regulated, as their over- or under-activation may lead to inadequate healing, disease, and/or demise of the host. Recent advances in our understanding of coagulation and complement, a key component of innate immunity, have revealed an intriguing linkage of the two systems. Cell-secreted polyphosphate promotes coagulation, while dampening complement activation, discoveries that are providing insights into disease mechanisms and suggesting novel therapeutic strategies.

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Alvin H. Schmaier, Case Western Reserve University, United States

### Reviewed by:

Wei Li, Marshall University, United States Gary Eugene Gilbert, Harvard Medical School, United States

### \*Correspondence:

Edward M. Conway ed.conway@ubc.ca

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 10 January 2019 Accepted: 18 March 2019 Published: 04 April 2019

### Citation:

Conway EM (2019) Polyphosphates and Complement Activation. Front. Med. 6:67. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00067 Keywords: innate immunity, thrombosis, inflammation, coagulation, age-related macular degeneration, mouse models, C1-esterase inhibitor, membrane attack complex

### INTRODUCTION

Two major blood-borne proteolytic cascades, complement and coagulation, are fully integrated to cooperatively fight infections and prevent excessive bleeding from wounds. Interplay between these systems is evolutionarily conserved, as evident in the horseshoe crab, a "living fossil" representing arthropods from 500 million years ago (1–3). The released contents of hemocytes induce clotting and destroy invading pathogens and toxins. Complement and coagulation pathways in mammals now appear more distinct, but interactions are increasingly being recognized. Elucidation of the links is yielding novel treatments, including, eculizumab, an effective anti-complement antibody that prevents thrombosis in paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria (PNH) and atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome (aHUS) (4, 5). More therapies for other common diseases will undoubtedly enter the clinic in coming years (6).

In this report, I review the complement system, highlighting some key mechanisms by which it is regulated, and how it interfaces with coagulation [Readers are referred to excellent reviews of the coagulation cascade (7–10)]. I then focus on recently uncovered insights into the role of the polyanion polyphosphate (polyP)—known to promote coagulation—in dampening complement activation. This will be followed by a discussion of how such an apparent dichotomy in the function of polyP is physiologically relevant.

94

### **COMPLEMENT ACTIVATION**

Comprising over 30 soluble and membrane-bound proteins, complement contributes to innate immunity and provides a bridge to adaptive immunity (11–13). Complement activation is triggered by exposure of blood to damage-associated molecular patterns that include, for example, pathogens, host DNA from damaged cells, lipids and oligosaccharides (Figure 1). Three pathways-lectin (LP), classical (CP), and alternative (AP)converge with generation of C3 convertases that proteolyse C3 into C3b and release the anaphylatoxin C3a. The CP is triggered by C1q recognition of antibodies bound to antigens or microbial surfaces. C1q may also recognize other targets, such as C-reactive protein, apoptotic cells, and microbes. It circulates in complex with zymogens of serine proteases C1r and C1s (C1qr<sup>2</sup>s<sup>2</sup>). When C1q binds to its target, C1r autoactivates and activates C1s (15) which in turn cleaves C4, releasing C4a, and C4b, the latter which covalently binds to target surfaces. C2 binds to immobilized C4b and is cleaved by C1s into C2b and C2a, allowing C2a to complex with C4b and form the CP C3 convertase, C4b2a. The LP is similar to the CP (16), but pathogen recognition comprises mannose binding lectin (MBL), ficolins and/or collectin-11. These circulate bound to MBL-associated zymogens of serine proteases MASP1/MASP3 and MASP2 and bind to sugars or N-acetylated groups on micro-organisms. MASP1 autoactivates and cleaves C2 and activates MASP2, while MASP2 cleaves C2 and C4, yielding the C4b2a LP C3 convertase (17).

The AP is constitutively active, sustained by a "tick-over" mechanism in which small amounts of C3 are hydrolyzed to C3(H<sub>2</sub>O) (18), exposing a binding site for factor B (FB). Circulating factor D (FD) cleaves FB into Ba and Bb, the latter which binds to C3(H<sub>2</sub>O) to form a fluid-phase C3 convertase which cleaves C3 to C3b and C3a. With exposure to a pathogen or damaged cell, more C3a and C3b are generated (19), resulting in formation of the AP C3 convertase, C3bBb. Complement is amplified via the AP as the pathways converge and form cell bound C3 convertases. The additional C3b binds to C4b2b and C3bBb, yielding C4bBb(C3b)<sub>n</sub> and C3bBb(C3b)<sub>n</sub>, which thus become C5 convertases, cleaving C5 into C5b and C5a. C5b is the trigger for the terminal pathway, which spontaneously proceeds with sequential assembly of C6, C7, C8, and multiple C9 subunits, forming the C5b-9 pore-like, lytic membrane attack complex (MAC) that targets invading pathogens and promotes prothrombinase assembly and tissue factor (TF) activation (20).

C5a is a pleiotropic biologically active peptide, exhibiting potent anaphylatoxin properties. C5a also triggers coagulation and inflammation via TF by endothelial cells and monocytes, release/exposure of VWF and P-selectin by endothelial cells and platelets, secretion of inflammatory cytokines, expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules, and release of platelet granule



of surveillance molecules, C1q, MBL, collectins and ficolins, of specific danger signals. The alternative pathway is constitutively "on," due to spontaneous hydrolysis of C3. The pathways converge to form C3 convertases: C4b2a for the classical and lectin pathways, C3bBb for the alternative pathway. C4a and C3a, are released with cleavage of C4 and C3, respectively. As C3b is further generated, C5 convertases C4bBbC3b and C3bBbC3b are formed, resulting in liberation of the most potent anaphylatoxin C5a, in conjunction with C5b. C5b is the initial component required for spontaneous assembly of the C5b-9 membrane attack complex (MAC) which polymerizes and induces lysis of the cellular target. MBL, mannose binding lectin, CRP, C-reactive protein, CHO, carbohydrate, MASP, MBL associated serine protease. Figure and legend from Conway (14).

contents that further promote coagulation and complement activation (21–24).

### **REGULATION OF COMPLEMENT**

Complement activation is down-regulated at numerous steps. This ensures a highly localized and temporally appropriate response that spares the host from undesired damage. Acquired or genetic alterations in factors that regulate complement are commonly associated with disease, often featuring varying degrees of vascular-thrombosis. Characterization of these pathways is revealing novel strategies for drug development (6, 25, 26). In the following, I describe a few of the mechanisms by which complement activation is dampened. References for more comprehensive reviews are provided (13, 25, 27–29).

C1-esterase inhibitor (C1-INH) is a serine protease inhibitor that highlights the coordinated regulation of coagulation and complement (10). In coagulation, C1-INH interferes with the proteolytic activities of factor XIa, factor XIIa, and kallikrein, suppressing the contact/intrinsic pathways of coagulation and inflammation. In complement, C1-INH interferes with C1r, C1s, MASP1, and MASP2, preventing formation of the CP/LP convertases. The inhibitory activity of C1-INH is variably potentiated by polyanions, such as heparin (15, 30). Thus, heparin augments C1-INH inhibition of factor XIa and MASP2 (31), but actually dampens C1-INH neutralization of factor XIIa (32), and has almost no effect on C1-INH inhibition of kallikrein, C1r or MASP1 (32, 33). These differential effects of C1-INH that are partly dependent on the cofactor activity of the polyanion, heparin, may help explain why functional deficiencies of C1-INH are not associated clinically with thrombosis.

The major fluid-phase negative regulator of the AP is factor H (FH) (34). Synthesized primarily by the liver, but also by endothelial cells and platelets, FH binds to C3b and glycosaminoglycans of host cells where it suppresses complement by acting as a cofactor for protease factor I (FI) mediated inactivation of C3b to iC3b, accelerating decay of the AP C3 convertase, and competing with FB binding to C3b. Patients with FH mutations are at increased risk of developing aHUS and cardiovascular disease (35–37). FH also binds to VWF in Weibel-Palade bodies and/or facilitates ADAMTS13-mediated proteolysis of ultra large VWF (38–41), providing protection against thrombosis.

The membrane-bound complement receptor (CR)1, glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-linked CD55, and CD46 are also decay accelerating factors for C3b-containing convertases. Moreover, CR1 and CD46 promote FI-mediated proteolysis of C3b to iC3b (42). Interesting for their distinct clinical presentations, CD46 deficiency is implicated in aHUS (43), while CD55 deficiency is associated with PNH (44).

Assembly and function of the MAC are also regulated to limit host cell damage. The GPI-linked CD59, deficiency of which is also associated with PNH (45), binds to C8 and C9 and prevents C9 polymerization (46). Clusterin binds to C7, C8, and C9, inducing structural changes that reduce integration of C5b-9 into the membrane (47). Vitronectin also prevents C5b-9 membrane binding by promoting formation of a soluble C5b-7 complex (48).

The activities of C3a and C5a are reduced via several coagulation-related enzymes. C5a is proteolysed by plasmin and matrix metalloproteinase 12 (49), while carboxypeptidase B2 (CPB2) [also referred to as activated thrombin-activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor (TAFIa)] (50), reduces the activity of C3a and C5a by cleaving their C-terminal basic amino acids.

### PolyP, Coagulation, and Complement

PolvP is a ubiquitously expressed, linear, anionic polymer of monophosphate units, linked by phosphoanhydride bonds (51). Polymer lengths vary from  $\sim$ 25 to 1,000 units in mammalian cells (52), extending to thousands of units in some bacteria (53). It is abundant in the dense granules of platelets (54, 55), released to the cell surface and/or into the circulation upon activation (55, 56), likely in a charge-neutral form, bound to divalent cations ( $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Mg^{2+}$ ) and amines (54). Rather than acting as a calcium ion chelator and anticoagulant, polyP promotes coagulation at multiple steps in the cascade (57-61). Long chain polyP is believed to provide a template for autoactivation of factor XII, thereby also triggering inflammation via factor XIIa-mediated activation of the kallikrein-kinin system (62). Shorter forms of polyP released particularly from platelets, bind directly to thrombin (63), fibrinogen, (64), factors XI and XII, pre/kallikrein, high molecular weight kininogen and VWF (56), amplifying generation of factor XIa and thrombin, enhancing the activation of factor V, inactivating tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI), and integrating into the fibrin clot, rendering it more resistant to fibrinolysis (57). The physiologic relevance of several of these and other polyP-coagulation/fibrinolysis interactions remain incompletely protein understood, but targeting polyP is gaining wide interest as a safe anti-thrombotic (65).

In view of its profound pro-coagulant effects, we predicted that polyP would similarly activate complement. Somewhat surprising, polyP did exactly the opposite (Figure 2). In a C1-INH-dependent manner, polyP dampened C1s-mediated cleavage of C4 and C2 in gel-based assays and cell systems (67). Binding studies revealed that C1-INH directly interacts with the serine protease domain of C1s at a rate that is augmented ~90-fold by the presence of polyP-an effect similar to that seen with heparin. Not formally tested, the data suggested that polyP similarly potentiates C1-INH interactions with MASP2. Interestingly, like heparin, polyP had little potentiating effect on C1r (33). However, these parallels with heparin are limited, since heparin accelerates neutralization of thrombin by antithrombin (AT) >2,000fold (68), whereas polyP has no effect on the thrombin-AT interaction (57).

PolyP also significantly interferes with activation of the terminal pathway of complement (69) in a size and concentration-dependent manner. It destabilizes C5b-6, reducing the ability of C5b-7 and C5b-8 to bind to and integrate into the target membrane. Other pathways by which polyP might modulate complement activation have not yet been explored, however, given its highly anionic charge,



C1s cleaves C4 and C2 to generate the C4b2a C3 convertase, which ultimately leads to formation of the C5b,6 complex, and assembly of the C5b-9 membrane attack complex (MAC). PolyP or heparin potentiate the inhibitory function of C1-INH via direct interactions with C1-INH and the target protease, C1s. PolyP also destabilizes C5b,6, thereby dampening formation of the MAC. Interestingly, in spite of binding to factors XIa and XIIa, reduced levels or function of C1-INH do not cause thrombosis, possibly due in part to differential effects of polyP, heparin) on the function of the target enzymes. The over-riding effect of polyP in a serum-based endothelial cell culture system is to suppress complement activation. Figure and legend from Wijeyewickrema et al. (66).

its stability in a calcium-nanoparticle form (62), and its wide expression profile, it is likely that polyP has multiple effects on this innate immune pathway, analogous to its role in coagulation.

### **RELEVANCE OF polyP IN COMPLEMENT**

In the face of its pro-coagulant and pro-inflammatory properties, what might be the physiologic relevance of polyP in complement activation? The complement-dampening effect of polyP does not entirely conflict with the defined role of polyP in other biological systems. PolyP is prominently expressed in several cellular compartments of prokaryotes, where it exhibits prosurvival properties as an energy source, a metal ion chelator, a molecular chaperone, in enhancing pathogenicity (70–72), and in some cases, protecting against complement mediated death (73).

One can speculate on how polyP and C1-INH might co-operate in host protection. C1-INH is synthesized by and found on the surface of endothelial cells (74). Endothelial cells also display abundant glycosaminoglycans on their surface as heparan sulfate. PolyP, released by activated cells and found at low concentrations in the blood of healthy individuals (75, 76) would be available to bind to C1-INH on the endothelium, where it could potentiate the function of C1-INH, allowing the C1-INH:polyanion complex to recruit and neutralize target proteases, such as C1s and/or MASP2. Binding of the polyanion first to C1-INH is required for optimal neutralization of C1s. Such an order of events would best keep complement activation in check. PolyP would also be positioned to dampen generation of MAC on the host cell surface. In such a scenario, the activated endothelial cell would be protected against hostmediated destruction, while retaining its prothrombotic and pro-inflammatory properties.

This model may also apply to other cells. As mentioned, polyP is abundant in platelets and released upon activation (54, 55, 77). C1-INH is also found in platelets, secreted and deposited on the activated platelet membrane (78). Although initially housed in separate granules, platelet activation results in colocalization of polyP and C1-INH in and on the platelet (66). High levels of polyP on activated platelets would therefore readily dampen complement activation by potentiating the inhibitory properties of C1-INH and interfering with the terminal pathway (69), overall protecting the underlying host cells from innate destruction, while allowing the platelets to promote hemostasis-thrombosis and inflammation. Interestingly, polyP also binds to FH (69) and may similar to C1-INH, coat and protect host cells (34) from complement activation, convertase assembly and MAC binding/integration. Disturbances in the release of adequate polyP might therefore be predicted to result in disease. This is in fact evident in patients with dense granule storage pool diseases (79) who have low platelet polyP (80) and exhibit a bleeding diathesis and organ dysfunction secondary to excessive inflammation.

### Taking Advantage of the Complement-Dampening Properties of polyP for Therapeutic Purposes

Immediate clinical application of the finding that polyP, a naturally occurring and easily synthesized polyanion that suppresses complement activation, is enticing but not without challenges. Depending on the length, dose and formulation, systemic delivery of polyP may entail risk of thrombosis. However, polyP has been administered safely in vivo, providing protection against endotoxininduced sepsis in a mouse model (81). If validated, one could envisage using polyP for a wide range of disorders with excess complement activation. Our group has limited in vivo testing of polyP to study its role in protecting against age-related macular degeneration (AMD). AMD is a common cause of blindness where over-activation of complement is a major pathogenic driver (82). In a mouse model of laser-induced AMD, intravitreal administration of polyP dampened the pathologic neovascularization and complement deposition to a similar extent as currently used anti-VEGF targeted therapies (83). No adverse effects of polyP were observed, providing strong rationale for further exploration.

### REFERENCES

- Krem MM, Di Cera E. Evolution of enzyme cascades from embryonic development to blood coagulation. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2002) 27:67–74. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(01)02007-2
- Dodds AW. Which came first, the lectin/classical pathway or the alternative pathway of complement? *Immunobiology*. (2002) 205:340–54. doi: 10.1078/0171-2985-00137
- Iwanaga S. The molecular basis of innate immunity in the horseshoe crab. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2002) 14:87–95. doi: 10.1016/S0952-7915(01)00302-8
- Gruppo RA, Rother RP. Eculizumab for congenital atypical hemolytic-uremic syndrome. N Engl J Med. (2009) 360:544–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc0809959
- Hillmen P, Young NS, Schubert J, Brodsky RA, Socie G, Muus P, et al. The complement inhibitor eculizumab in paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. *N Engl J Med.* (2006) 355:1233–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa061648
- Gialeli C, Gungor B, Blom AM. Novel potential inhibitors of complement system and their roles in complement regulation and beyond. *Molecul Immunol.* (2018) 102:73–83. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2018.05.023
- Swieringa F, Spronk MH H, Heemskerk WMJ. van der Meijden PEJ. Integrating platelet and coagulation activation in fibrin clot formation. *Res Pract Thromb Haemost.* (2018) 2:450–460. doi: 10.1002/rth2.12107
- Weidmann H, Heikaus L, Long AT, Naudin C, Schluter H, Renne T. The plasma contact system, a protease cascade at the nexus of inflammation, coagulation and immunity. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2017) 1864:2118–27. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2017.07.009
- Versteeg HH, Heemskerk JW, Levi M, Reitsma PH. New fundamentals in hemostasis. *Physiol Rev.* (2013) 93:327–58. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00016.2011
- De Maat SZ, Hofman LM, Maas C. Hereditary angioedema: the plasma contact system out of control: reply. J Thromb Haemost. (2018) 16:2349–51. doi: 10.1111/jth.14269

### CONCLUSION

In the last 20–30 years, major inroads have been made in delineating the molecular mechanisms by which complement, coagulation and inflammation intersect. The preceding discussion underlines the unique role that polyP plays in suppressing complement, while promoting coagulation and inflammation. Further understanding of how polyP modulates complement activation through the induction of structural changes in key factors in these different proteolytic cascades, and/or interactions with other proteins and cells, will reveal novel sites for therapeutic intervention for a range of thrombotic and inflammatory disorders.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

EC is supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), and the Canada Foundations for Innovation (CFI). He holds a Tier 1 Canada Research Chair in Endothelial Cell Biology and is an Adjunct Scientist with the Canadian Blood Services.

- Ricklin D, Lambris JD. Complement-targeted therapeutics. Nat Biotechnol. (2007) 25:1265–75. doi: 10.1038/nbt1342
- Mihlan M, Blom AM, Kupreishvili K, Lauer N, Stelzner K, Bergstrom F, et al. Monomeric C-reactive protein modulates classic complement activation on necrotic cells. *FASEB J*. (2011) 25:4198–210. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-186460
- Killick J, Morisse G, Sieger D, Astier AL. Complement as a regulator of adaptive immunity. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2018) 40:37–48. doi: 10.1007/s00281-017-0644-y
- Conway EM. Complement-coagulation connections. Blood Coagul Fibrinol. (2018) 29:243–51. doi: 10.1097/MBC.00000000000720
- Wijeyewickrema LC, Yongqing T, Tran TP, Thompson PE, Viljoen JE, Coetzer TH, et al. Molecular determinants of the substrate specificity of the complement-initiating protease, C1r. J Biol Chem. (2013) 288:15571–80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.451757
- Degn SE, Jensen L, Hansen AG, Duman D, Tekin M, Jensenius JC, et al. Mannan-binding lectin-associated serine protease (MASP)-1 is crucial for lectin pathway activation in human serum, whereas neither MASP-1 nor MASP-3 is required for alternative pathway function. *J Immunol.* (2012) 189:3957–69. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201736
- Dobo J, Schroeder V, Jenny L, Cervenak L, Zavodszky P, Gal P. Multiple roles of complement MASP-1 at the interface of innate immune response and coagulation. *Molecul Immunol.* (2014) 61:69–78. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2014.05.013
- Lachmann PJ, Hughes-Jones NC. Initiation of complement activation. Springer Semin Immunopathol. (1984) 7:143–62. doi: 10.1007/BF0 1893018
- Saggu G, Cortes C, Emch HN, Ramirez G, Worth RG, Ferreira VP. Identification of a novel mode of complement activation on stimulated platelets mediated by properdin and C3(H2O). *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:6457– 67. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300610

- Langer F, Spath B, Fischer C, Stolz M, Ayuk FA, Kroger N, et al. Rapid activation of monocyte tissue factor by antithymocyte globulin is dependent on complement and protein disulfide isomerase. *Blood.* (2013) 121:2324–35. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-10-460493
- Hamad OA, Ekdahl KN, Nilsson PH, Andersson J, Magotti P, Lambris JD, et al. Complement activation triggered by chondroitin sulfate released by thrombin receptor-activated platelets. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2008) 6:1413–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.03034.x
- 22. Martel C, Cointe S, Maurice P, Matar S, Ghitescu M, Theroux P, et al. Requirements for membrane attack complex formation and anaphylatoxins binding to collagen-activated platelets. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e18812. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018812
- Oikonomopoulou K, Ricklin D, Ward PA, Lambris JD. Interactions between coagulation and complement-their role in inflammation. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2012) 34:151–65. doi: 10.1007/s00281-011-0280-x
- Bosmann M, Grailer JJ, Ruemmler R, Russkamp NF, Zetoune FS, Sarma JV, et al. Extracellular histones are essential effectors of C5aR- and C5L2-mediated tissue damage and inflammation in acute lung injury. *FASEB J*. (2013) 27:5010–21. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-236380
- Harris CL, Pouw RB, Kavanagh D, Sun R, Ricklin D. Developments in anticomplement therapy, from disease to clinical trial. *Molecul Immunol.* (2018) 102:89–119. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2018.06.008
- Reddy YN, Siedlecki AM, Francis JM. Breaking down the complement system: a review and update on novel therapies. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. (2017) 26:123–8. doi: 10.1097/MNH.000000000000305
- Baines AC, Brodsky RA. Complementopathies. *Blood Rev.* (2017) 31:213–23. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2017.02.003
- Liszewski MK, Java A, Schramm EC, Atkinson JP. Complement dysregulation and disease: insights from contemporary genetics. *Annual Rev Pathol.* (2017) 12:25–52. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-012615-044145
- Mizuno M, Suzuki Y, Ito Y. Complement regulation and kidney diseases: recent knowledge of the double-edged roles of complement activation in nephrology. *Clin Exp Nephrol.* (2018) 22:3–14. doi: 10.1007/s10157-017-1405-x
- Pike RN, Wijeyewickrema LC. The molecular switches controlling the interaction between complement proteases of the classical and lectin pathways and their substrates. *Curr Opin Struct Biol.* (2013) 23:820–7. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2013.07.016
- Dobo J, Harmat V, Beinrohr L, Sebestyen E, Zavodszky P, Gal P. MASP-1, a promiscuous complement protease: structure of its catalytic region reveals the basis of its broad specificity. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:1207–14. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901141
- Pixley RA, Schmaier A, Colman RW. Effect of negatively charged activating compounds on inactivation of factor XIIa by Cl inhibitor. Arch Biochem Biophys. (1987) 256:490–8. doi: 10.1016/0003-9861(87)90606-0
- 33. Sim RB, Arlaud GJ, Colomb MG. Kinetics of reaction of human C1-inhibitor with the human complement system proteases C1r and C1s. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (1980) 612:433–49. doi: 10.1016/0005-2744(80)90126-6
- Licht C, Pluthero FG, Li L, Christensen H, Habbig S, Hoppe B, et al. Plateletassociated complement factor H in healthy persons and patients with atypical HUS. *Blood.* (2009) 114:4538–45. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-205096
- Ferreira VP, Herbert AP, Cortes C, McKee KA, Blaum BS, Esswein ST, et al. The binding of factor H to a complex of physiological polyanions and C3b on cells is impaired in atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:7009–18. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0804031
- 36. Saunders RE, Abarrategui-Garrido C, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Goicoechea de Jorge E, Goodship TH, Lopez Trascasa M, et al. The interactive Factor Hatypical hemolytic uremic syndrome mutation database and website: update and integration of membrane cofactor protein and Factor I mutations with structural models. *Hum Mutat*. (2007) 28:222–34. doi: 10.1002/humu.20435
- Buraczynska M, Ksiazek P, Zukowski P, Benedyk-Lorens E, Orlowska-Kowalik G. Complement factor H gene polymorphism and risk of cardiovascular disease in end-stage renal disease patients. *Clin Immunol.* (2009) 132:285–90. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2009.04.005
- Feng S, Liang X, Cruz MA, Vu H, Zhou Z, Pemmaraju N, et al. The interaction between factor H and Von Willebrand factor. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e73715. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073715

- Rayes J, Roumenina LT, Dimitrov JD, Repesse Y, Ing M, Christophe O, et al. The interaction between factor H and VWF increases factor H cofactor activity and regulates VWF prothrombotic status. *Blood.* (2014) 123:121–5. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-495853
- Nolasco L, Nolasco J, Feng S, Afshar-Kharghan V, Moake J. Human complement factor H is a reductase for large soluble von Willebrand factor multimers-brief report. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2013) 33:2524–8. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302280
- Turner N, Nolasco L, Nolasco J, Sartain S, Moake J. Thrombotic microangiopathies and the linkage between von Willebrand factor and the alternative complement pathway. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* (2014) 40:544–50. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1383547
- Kim DD, Song WC. Membrane complement regulatory proteins. Clin Immunol. (2006) 118:127–36. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2005.10.014
- Kavanagh D, Goodship TH, Richards A. Atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome. Br Med Bull. (2006) 77–78:5–22. doi: 10.1093/bmb/ldl004
- Hill A, Richards SJ, Hillmen P. Recent developments in the understanding and management of paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria. Br J Haematol. (2007) 137:181–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06554.x
- 45. Risitano AM. Paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria and the complement system: recent insights and novel anticomplement strategies. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2013) 735:155–72. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-4118-2\_10
- Ninomiya H, Sims PJ. The human complement regulatory protein CD59 binds to the alpha-chain of C8 and to the "b"domain of C9. J Biol Chem. (1992) 267:13675–80.
- Falgarone G, Chiocchia G. Chapter 8: clusterin: a multifacet protein at the crossroad of inflammation and autoimmunity. *Adv Cancer Res.* (2009) 104:139–70. doi: 10.1016/S0065-230X(09)04008-1
- Podack ER, Kolb WP, Muller-Eberhard HJ. The SC5b-7 complex: formation, isolation, properties, and subunit composition. J Immunol. (1977) 119:2024–9.
- Bellac CL, Dufour A, Krisinger MJ, Loonchanta A, Starr AE, Auf dem Keller U, et al. Macrophage matrix metalloproteinase-12 dampens inflammation and neutrophil influx in arthritis. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 9:618–32. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.006
- Campbell WD, Lazoura E, Okada N, Okada H. Inactivation of C3a and C5a octapeptides by carboxypeptidase R and carboxypeptidase N. *Microbiol Immunol.* (2002) 46:131–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.2002.tb02669.x
- Harold FM. Inorganic polyphosphates in biology: structure, metabolism, and function. *Bacteriol Rev.* (1966) 30:772–94.
- Kornberg A, Rao NN, Ault-Riche D. Inorganic polyphosphate: a molecule of many functions. *Ann Rev Biochem.* (1999) 68:89–125. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.68.1.89
- Brown MR, Kornberg A. The long and short of it polyphosphate, PPK and bacterial survival. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2008) 33:284–90. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2008.04.005
- Ruiz FA, Lea CR, Oldfield E, Docampo R. Human platelet dense granules contain polyphosphate and are similar to acidocalcisomes of bacteria and unicellular eukaryotes. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:44250–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M406261200
- Muller F, Mutch NJ, Schenk WA, Smith SA, Esterl L, Spronk HM, et al. Platelet polyphosphates are proinflammatory and procoagulant mediators *in vivo. Cell.* (2009) 139:1143–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.001
- Montilla M, Hernandez-Ruiz L, Garcia-Cozar FJ, Alvarez-Laderas I, Rodriguez-Martorell J, Ruiz A. Polyphosphate binds to human von Willebrand factor *in vivo* and modulates its interaction with Glycoprotein Ib. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2012) 10:2315–23. doi: 10.1111/jth.12004
- Smith SA, Mutch NJ, Baskar D, Rohloff P, Docampo R, Morrissey JH. Polyphosphate modulates blood coagulation and fibrinolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:903–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0507195103
- Smith SA, Morrissey JH. Polyphosphate enhances fibrin clot structure. *Blood.* (2008) 112:2810–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-145755
- Smith SA, Choi SH, Davis-Harrison R, Huyck J, Boettcher J, Rienstra CM, et al. Polyphosphate exerts differential effects on blood clotting, depending on polymer size. *Blood*. (2010) 116:4353–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-266791
- Smith SA, Morrissey JH. Polyphosphate: a new player in the field of hemostasis. *Curr Opin Hematol.* (2014) 21:388–94. doi: 10.1097/MOH.00000000000069

- Travers RJ, Smith SA, Morrissey JH. Polyphosphate, platelets, and coagulation. Int J Lab Hematol. (2015) 37 (Suppl. 1):31–5. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.12349
- Maas C, Renne T. Coagulation factor XII in thrombosis and inflammation. Blood. (2018) 131:1903–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-04-569111
- Mutch NJ, Myles T, Leung LL, Morrissey JH. Polyphosphate binds with high affinity to exosite II of thrombin. J Thromb Haemost. (2010) 8:548–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03723.x
- Mutch NJ, Engel R, Uitte de Willige S, Philippou H, Ariens RA. Polyphosphate modifies the fibrin network and down-regulates fibrinolysis by attenuating binding of tPA and plasminogen to fibrin. *Blood.* (2010) 115:3980–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-11-254029
- Travers RJ, Shenoi RA, Kalathottukaren MT, Kizhakkedathu JN, Morrissey JH. Nontoxic polyphosphate inhibitors reduce thrombosis while sparing hemostasis. *Blood.* (2014) 124:3183–90. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-577932
- Wijeyewickrema LC, Lameignere E, Hor L, Duncan RC, Shiba T, Travers RJ, et al. Polyphosphate is a novel cofactor for regulation of complement by a serpin, C1 inhibitor. *Blood.* (2016) 128:1766–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-02-699561
- 67. Lameignere E, Wijeyewickrema L, O'Byrne A, Ocariza LM, Shiba T, Smith S, et al. Polyphosphate acts as a cofactor for C1-inhibitor-mediated regulation of the classical pathway of complement. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2015) (Suppl. 2):616.
- Olson ST, Richard B, Izaguirre G, Schedin-Weiss S, Gettins PG. Molecular mechanisms of antithrombin-heparin regulation of blood clotting proteinases. A paradigm for understanding proteinase regulation by serpin family protein proteinase inhibitors. *Biochimie*. (2010) 92:1587–96. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2010.05.011
- Wat J, Foley JH, Krisinger MJ, Ocariza LM, Lei V, Wasney G, et al. Polyphosphate suppresses complement via the terminal pathway. *Blood*. (2014) 123:768–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-07-515726
- Castuma CE, Huang R, Kornberg A, Reusch RN. Inorganic polyphosphates in the acquisition of competence in *Escherichia coli. J Biol Chem.* (1995) 270:12980–3. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.22.12980
- Moreno SN, Docampo R. Polyphosphate and its diverse functions in host cells and pathogens. *PLoS Pathog.* (2013) 9:e1003230. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003230
- Gray MJ, Wholey WY, Wagner NO, Cremers CM, Mueller-Schickert A, Hock NT, et al. Polyphosphate is a primordial chaperone. *Mol Cell*. (2014) 53:689–99. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.01.012
- Zhang Q, Li Y, Tang CM. The role of the exopolyphosphatase PPX in avoidance by Neisseria meningitidis of complement-mediated killing. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:34259–68. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.154393

- Schmaier AH, Murray SC, Heda GD, Farber A, Kuo A, McCrae K, et al. Synthesis and expression of C1 inhibitor by human umbilical vein endothelial cells. J Biol Chem. (1989) 264:18173–9.
- Schroder HC, Kurz L, Muller WE, Lorenz B. Polyphosphate in bone. Biochemistry. (2000) 65:296–303.
- Brandt S, Krauel K, Jaax M, Renne T, Helm CA, Hammerschmidt S, et al. Polyphosphates form antigenic complexes with platelet factor 4 (PF4) and enhance PF4-binding to bacteria. *Thromb Haemost.* (2015) 114:1189–98. doi: 10.1160/TH15-01-0062
- Labberton L, Long AT, Gendler SJ, Snozek CL, Stavrou EX, Nickel KF, et al. A flow cytometry-based assay for procoagulant platelet polyphosphate. *Cytometry*. (2018) 94:369–73. doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.21492
- Schmaier AH, Smith PM, Colman RW. Platelet C1- inhibitor. A secreted alpha-granule protein. J Clin Invest. (1985) 75:242–50. doi: 10.1172/JCI 111680
- 79. Hurford MT, Sebastiano C. Hermansky-pudlak syndrome: report of a case and review of the literature. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* (2008) 1:550–4.
- Hernandez-Ruiz L, Saez-Benito A, Pujol-Moix N, Rodriguez-Martorell J, Ruiz FA. Platelet inorganic polyphosphate decreases in patients with delta storage pool disease. J Thromb Haemost. (2009) 7:361–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.03238.x
- Terashima-Hasegawa M, Ashino T, Kawazoe Y, Shiba T, Manabe A, Numazawa S. Inorganic polyphosphate protects against lipopolysaccharide-induced lethality and tissue injury through regulation of macrophage recruitment. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2018) 159:96–105. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2018.11.017
- Clark SJ, Bishop PN. The eye as a complement dysregulation hotspot. Semin Immunopathol. (2018) 40:65–74. doi: 10.1007/s00281-017-0649-6
- Ocariza LM, Huang J, O'Byrne A, Smith S, Morrissey JH, Cui J, et al. Polyphosphate protects against laser-induced choroid neovascularization. In: *ARVO Meeting, ARVO Meeting Abstract.* (Seattle: WA) (2016).

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Conway. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Polyphosphate as a Target for Interference With Inflammation and Thrombosis

### Reiner K. W. Mailer\*, Lorena Hänel, Mikel Allende and Thomas Renné

Institute of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

Activated platelets and mast cells expose the inorganic polymer, polyphosphate (polyP) on their surfaces. PolyP initiates procoagulant and proinflammatory reactions and the polymer has been recognized as a therapeutic target for interference with blood coagulation and vascular hyperpermeability. PolyP content and chain length depend on the specific cell type and energy status, which may affect cellular functions. PolyP metabolism has mainly been studied in bacteria and yeast, but its roles in eukaryotic cells and mammalian systems have remained enigmatic. In this review, we will present an overview of polyP functions, focusing on intra- and extracellular roles of the polymer and discuss open questions that emerge from the current knowledge on polyP regulation.

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Keith McCrae, Cleveland Clinic, United States

### Reviewed by:

Wei Li, Marshall University, United States Brian R. Branchford, University of Colorado Denver, United States

> \*Correspondence: Reiner K. W. Mailer r.mailer@uke.de

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 07 January 2019 Accepted: 28 March 2019 Published: 12 April 2019

### Citation:

Mailer RKW, Hänel L, Allende M and Renné T (2019) Polyphosphate as a Target for Interference With Inflammation and Thrombosis. Front. Med. 6:76. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00076 Keywords: polyphosphate, factor XII, hereditary angioedema, thrombosis, inflammation, coagulation, immune activation, vascular permeability

### POLYPHOSPHATE METABOLISM

Inorganic polyphosphate (polyP) is abundantly found in every cell in nature, however previous studies had mainly focused on prokaryotes to investigate polyP metabolism. PolyP is a polyanion consisting of up to several hundreds of phosphate units (P<sub>i</sub>) linked by energy-rich phosphoanhydride bonds. PolyP is formed in bacteria by polyP kinase through transfer of ATP/GTP's  $\gamma$ -phosphate residues onto the nascent polymer chain (1, 2), while depolymerization of polyP is catalyzed by exopolyphosphatase (ppx) (3). Dependency of polyP for bacterial growth and survival initiated efforts to develop drugs that target polyP metabolism [reviewed in (4–6)].

Eukaryotic polyP metabolism is poorly understood with exception for S. cerevisiae cells. Yeast expresses a polyP polymerase, vacuolar transporter chaperone, and polyP phosphatases including exopolyphosphatase (Ppx1), endopolyphosphatases (Ppn1) and diadenosine and diphosphoinositol phosphohydrolase (Ddp1) (7-10). Despite intensive investigations, mammalian homologs for these polyP-related enzymes have not been identified, however diphosphoinositol polyP phosphohydrolases (DIPPs) have been shown to degrade polyP in alkaline conditions (10). The same report also demonstrated that intracellular polyP concentrations were dependent on enzymes regulating inositol phosphorylation, such as phospholipase C, inositol polyP multikinase and inositol hexakisphosphate kinase (Ip6k1) in yeast (10). Notably, genetic ablation of Ip6k1, a gene coding for the kinase that generates diphospho-moieties through phosphorylation of the 5-position of inositol penta- and hexakisphosphate, has been shown to reduce platelet polyP levels in mice (11). Together, the data suggest that polyP is intertwined with polyphosphorylated inositol metabolism. Multiple cellular processes are regulated by the (poly)phosphorylated inositol, including signal transduction,  $Ca^{2+}$  channel permeability and gene expression [reviewed in (12)]. Particularly, immune cell activation depends on membrane-bound phosphoinositides and soluble inositol phosphates [reviewed in (13)].

PolyP-Mediated Reactions

In yeast, intracellular concentrations of Pi are sensed through Pi-responsive signaling (Pho-regulon) mediated by both, polyP and diphosphoinositol pentakisphosphate (14, 15). Under phosphate-limiting growth conditions, the transcription factor Pho4 controls expression of high affinity P<sub>i</sub> transporters and secreted acid phosphatases to replenish intracellular Pi. Orthologs of the yeast Pho-regulon seem not to exist in multicellular eukaryotes. However, Pi sensor domains have been identified as part of Pi transporters that are conserved among various organisms and share a SPX domain (16). This common SPX domain, named after yeast Syg1 and Pho81 and human XPR1 (xenotropic and polytropic retrovirus receptor 1), binds to diphosphoinositol pentakisphosphate and increases polyP synthesis in yeast and plants. Mice with conditional deficiency of Xpr1 in renal tubular cells develop proximal tubular dysfunction (17). In humans, impaired XPR1 function due to mutations in the P<sub>i</sub> exporter is associated with primary familial brain calcification (18). These findings indicate a link between P<sub>i</sub> sensing, intracellular Pi levels and polyP, although further studies in eukaryotes are required to elucidate polyP regulation in vivo.

### INTRACELLULAR ROLES OF POLYPHOSPHATE

High cytoplasmic polyP levels have been found in various cell lines, including NIH3T3 fibroblasts, Vero epithelial kidney cells and Jurkat CD4+ T cells (19). Tissues with high energy demand and high regeneration or proliferation capacity (e.g., brain, heart, liver, and cancer cells) are rich in polyP (19–21). In line with polyP's function as energy storage pool, defective polyP synthesis confers disadvantages for growth and survival of bacteria, fungi and protozoa (9, 22, 23). In bacteria, polyP is bound to Ca<sup>2+</sup> ions and complexed with poly- $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate forming membrane channels utilized for DNA uptake (24, 25).

In eukaryotes, polyP has functions in mitochondria and the polymer is enriched within the intermembrane compartment and uncouplers of oxidative phosphorylation decrease mitochondrial polyP levels in *S. cerevisiae* (26, 27). Degradation of polyP using Ppx1 polyphosphatase, that is localized to the mitochondrial intermembrane space by a cytochrome c-derived targeting sequence, decreases the membrane potential and increases NADH levels in mitochondria (28, 29). Moreover, polyP appears to contribute to opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore in cardiac myocytes. In these cells in culture, Ppx1-mediated polyP degradation inhibits mitochondrial Ca<sup>2+</sup> ion accumulation and interferes with Ca<sup>2+</sup>-induced cell death that is associated with myocardial infarction and ischemia reperfusion injury (30).

Based on the function of the polymer for growth and survival, polyP is believed to have a role in malignant diseases. In cancer cells, polyP has been detected in epithelial tumor cell lines derived from prostate and mammary gland as well as in primary myeloma B cells (21, 31, 32). In addition to cancer-associated pro-coagulant activities of extracellular polyP (see below), the polymer facilitates various intracellular functions in cancer cells. PolyP increases the kinase activity of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) in MCF-7 tumor cells and accumulates at nucleolar transcription sites in myeloma cells. In contrast, Ppx1-mediated polyP degradation and actinomycin D-induced transcription inhibition abrogate these polyP effects (31, 32). Together, the data suggest, that polyP may act as metabolic driving force in different cellular compartments, thereby promoting tumorigenesis.

As a negatively charged polymer, polyP exerts chaperone activity in bacteria such as E. coli (33, 34). Short and long chain polvP regulate ribosomal translation efficiency and ribosomal protein degradation, indicating a differential role of polyP dependent on chain lengths in bacterial protein biosynthesis (35, 36). Similarly to the polymer starch and its monomeric form glucose, polyP is condensed phosphate and reduces the concentration of Pi and thus the intracellular osmotic pressure conferred by the ion. The polymer acts as P<sub>i</sub> storage pool and serves as non-enzymatic protein (pyro-)phosphorylation mediator (37, 38) [as does inositol pyrophosphate (39, 40)] in eukaryotes. PolyP also activates the cytoplasmic portion of transient receptor potential (TRP) A1 and melastatin 8 in neurons (41, 42). Moreover, a recent report identified a glucokinase that relies on polyP as phosphoryl donor in the liver (43), indicating that future research on tissue-specific polyP functions may broaden our view of its physiological roles in various cell types. In this context, Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent, mTOR- and TRP-regulated immune responses could be a potential target for polyP.

Besides its established mitochondrial and nuclear distribution, polyP accumulates in intracellular vesicles. Yeast, parasites, mast cells and platelets store polyP in vacuoles, acidocalcisomes, heparin-containing granules and dense granules, respectively (44-48). Ca<sup>2+</sup>-complexed polyP derived from these acidic organelles is insoluble, retained on the plasma membrane in nanoparticle form upon release and provides the procoagulant surface for factor XII (FXII) contact activation (49). PolyP-containing vesicles are also found in lysosomerelated organelles derived from fibroblasts and astrocytes (50, 51). The latter cell type releases polyP as a neurotransmitter from lysosomes expressing vesicular nucleotide transporter in response to pH changes, exogenous polyP and  $Ca^{2+}$  ion signaling (52). Taken together, these studies indicate that polyP have fundamental functions for secretion and possibly stability of lysosome-related vesicles in other cell types, such as immune cells. However, quantification of Pi via malachite green assay and <sup>32</sup>P<sub>i</sub> via radiodetection obtained from hydrolysed polyP has to be interpreted with caution, since microbial contaminations interfered with these assays to detect polyP in human granulocytes in a previous report [update to (53)]. Analysis of in vivo polyP functions is an area of ongoing research and recently a flow cytometry-based assay has been established to quantify the polymer on cell surfaces (54). Table 1 provides a summary of polyP functions in different organisms, cell populations and intracellular compartments.

### EXTRACELLULAR POLYPHOSPHATES

While intracellular polyP activities are established only recent data have revealed a role of extracellular polyP in mammalian and human cardiovascular biology. The *in vivo* activation of FXII in the initiating steps of the intrinsic blood coagulation

Organism	Location	PolyP-function	Effect	References
Bacteria	Various phyla	PolyP metabolism	Increased virulence	(22)
		Membrane pore formation	Vector uptake	(25)
		Protein biosynthesis	Expression control, chaperone activity	(33–36)
Fungi	S. cerevisiae	P <sub>i</sub> sensing	P <sub>i</sub> regulon	(16)
		P <sub>i</sub> metabolism	P <sub>i</sub> reservoir	(37)
		Mitochondrial energy storage	Supported oxidative phosphorylation	(27)
	D. discoideum	PolyP secretion	Growth inhibition	(55, 56)
Animals	Amoeba histolyticum	PolyP metabolism	Increased biological fitness	(23)
	Osteoblasts	Mineralization inhibition	Apatite binding	(57)
	Myocytes	Mitochondrial permeability transition pore activation	Ca <sup>2+</sup> ion accumulation	(30)
	Hepatocytes	Metabolic contribution	Metabolic control	(28, 43)
	Neurons	TRPA1, TRPM8 signaling	Stimulating co-factor	(41, 42)
	Astrocytes	Vesicular release	Neurotransmitter	(51, 52)
	Fibroblasts	Fibroblast growth factor binding	Unknown	(50, 58, 59)
	Epithelial cells	mTOR pathway	Proliferation	(31)
	Endothelial cells	mTOR, P2Y <sub>1</sub> , and Wnt pathways	Induced apoptosis, permeability, cell adhesion	(60–63)
	Platelets	PolyP secretion	Bradykinin formation	(48)
	Platelets	PolyP secretion	FXIIa-mediated coagulation	(48, 64)
	Platelets	Extracellular nuclear protein binding	Increased vascular permeability	(62)
	Mast cells, basophils	PolyP secretion	Bradykinin formation	(46)
	Neutrophils	mTOR inhibition, autophagy induction	NET formation	(65)
	Plasma B cells	Unknown mechanism	Apoptosis	(66)
	Plasma	Increased C1 esterase inhibitor activity	Matrix for C1 esterase inhibitor regulation	(67)
	Plasma	Complement system	Inhibition	(68)
	Plasma	Platelet factor 4 binding	Autoimmune-induced thrombocytopenia	(69)

system has been an enigma for many years [reviewed in (70)]. FXII activation by binding to negatively charged kaolin or ellagic acid ("contact activation") provides the mechanistic basis for activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), the clinical coagulation test (with an estimated 4-5 billion tests annually). However, the natural surface that induces FXII contact activation in vivo had been unknown. Activated platelets induce plasma clotting in a FXII-dependent manner, indicating that platelets release FXII-activating structures. Studies in mice and human plasma revealed that polyP serves as the long sought FXIIactivating surface on activated platelets linking primary and secondary hemostasis. Vice versa, humans with polyP deficiency (Hermansky Pudlak Syndrome) have defective platelet-driven FXII activation and clotting [(48) and reviewed in (71) and (72)]. In addition to FXII activation, polyP has been reported to modulate other coagulation reactions in vitro, however a potential role of these pathways in vivo remains to be demonstrated (64, 73-75). The chain length of synthetic polyP determines its solubility and FXII activation capacity in plasma (76). However, natural platelet polyP forms insoluble  $Ca^{2+}$  ionrich nanoparticles independently of the chain length of the polyP molecules that are maintained on the surfaces of procoagulant platelets and thus activate FXII (49). Hence size of polyP does not matter for FXII-activating potency of the physiologically occurring Ca<sup>2+</sup>-saturated polymer. Similarly to polyP, also synthetic polyI:C, a dsRNA analog that activates Toll-like receptor 3, has been shown to have pro-coagulant activity (77).

PolyP is a chelator for positive metal ions and dense granules of platelets contain polyP bound to Ca<sup>2+</sup> and possible  $Zn^{2+}$  ions at high concentrations (47). In plasma, Ca<sup>2+</sup>-saturated polyP has a half-life of about 90 min (76), due to degradation by polyphosphatases, such as alkaline phosphatase that has exopolyphosphatase activity (48, 78). Synthetic polyP derived from melted phosphoric acid is mostly complexed to Na<sup>+</sup> ions. Counterions regulate structure, biophysical properties and biological activities of polyP (49). Most of the in vitro studies have been performed with synthetic (often  $Ca^{2+}$ -free) polyP in the absence of phosphatases. Physiologically occurring Ca<sup>2+</sup>-polyP is not soluble and operates on the cell surface. The low solubility in plasma challenges suggested functions for the extracellular polymer in solution. In contrast Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free synthetic polyP of short and medium sized chain length (50-150 Pi moieties) depletes free Ca<sup>2+</sup> ions leading to anti-coagulant effects similarly to EDTA (76).

Most cell culture experiments have been performed with medium sized synthetic polyP ( $10-50 \mu$ M, based on monophosphate units). In buffer or plasma environments *in vitro*, synthetic polyP is associated with an array of binding partners, including von Willebrand factor, coagulation factors XII, V and XI, complement factors C1s, C5b6, C6, and C7

(64, 68, 73, 74). Medium chain polyP and heparin have been reported to bind C1 esterase inhibitor (C1INH), thereby increasing function of the inhibitor (67, 79). However, FXII is readily activated by platelet-derived polyP to initiate the intrinsic coagulation cascade in vivo, indicating that increased activity of physiologic C1INH levels following polyanion binding is not sufficient to prevent FXIIa-driven coagulation. In contrast, high dosages of C1INH (15 IU/kg) but not low dosages (7.5 IU/kg) decrease ischemia/reperfusion injuries (80), suggesting that polyP binding to supra-physiological C1INH levels has the capacity for regulating thrombosis. The amount of polyP exposed on activated platelet surface is not precisely known, and it remains to be analyzed whether low amounts of plateletderived C1INH that is retained on the surface of activated platelets and is possibly bound to polyP have a role in regulating serine proteases in vivo (81).

PolyP increases endothelial cell permeability *in vivo*, stimulates expression of cell adhesion molecules and induces apoptosis in culture (60). Follow-up studies, have elucidated the pathways involved in these endothelial reactions. PolyP application activates NF- $\kappa$ b and β-catenin pathways via receptor for advanced glycation end products, P2Y<sub>1</sub> receptor signaling and Wnt signaling (61, 62). *Vice versa*, the anti-thyroid drug methylthiouracil interferes with polyP-mediated inflammation of the endothelium *in vivo* (82). On the other hand, probiotic-derived polyP improves epithelial barrier function and may contribute to immunomodulatory mechanisms against commensal bacteria in the gut via NF- $\kappa$ b inhibition (83).

High extracellular polyP levels (>500  $\mu$ M) elicit scaffolding effects that control amyloidogenic processes (84). In addition, polyP binds to fibroblast growth factor (FGF) (58). However, possible effects of polyP-FGF complexes on FGF-receptor signaling have remained controversial, as both increased and inhibited mitogenic activities have been reported (58, 59). A possible explanation for the dual activities might be that FXII, which initially promotes angiogenesis via urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR) signaling (85), gets rapidly depleted following polyP application via binding of FXIIa to C1INH. In the presence of serum-derived C1INH, FXIIa gets rapidly cleared and might limit FXII(a)/uPAR-driven pathways. Supporting this idea, tumor cells secrete exosomes that expose polyP and are associated with worse outcome involving immune evasion possibly through reduced FXII(a)/uPAR-driven differentiation of tumor-reactive T cell subsets (21, 86, 87). Moreover, human plasma cells induce apoptosis following polyP treatment, whereas other lymphocyte populations do not (66).

Presentation of polyP on activated platelets allows for contact of polyP with immune cells. Activation of platelets increases the intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  ion concentration via stromal interaction molecule 1 to release  $Ca^{2+}$  ions from the sarcoplasmatic reticulum (88), which opens store-operated calcium entry channels in the plasma membrane (89).  $Ca^{2+}$ -mediated platelet activation mirrors the process of T cell stimulation (90). Moreover, conjugates of platelet-CD4+ T cells have been reported (91) and T-cell proliferation and differentiation is modulated by platelet-released molecules, such as platelet factor 4 (92), soluble CD40 ligand (93), ADP/ATP (94) and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (95). Recent findings also suggest that platelets inhibit pro-inflammatory interleukin (IL)-17 secreting effector T helper (Th17) cells in a tumor model (96). Taken together, these studies suggest that polyP modulates immune responses via direct or indirect pathways.

Neutrophils express FXII that is translocated to the plasma membrane upon activation and facilitates uPAR signaling via an autocrine mechanism (97). FXII signaling in neutrophils is independent of FXII cleavage and promotes adhesion, migration and formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NET). In transfer experiments, neutrophils derived from FXII-deficient bone marrow show reduced tissue infiltration and better wound healing in the host, compared to neutrophils derived from wildtype bone marrow. PolyP treatment of neutrophils in vitro is independent on uPAR signaling and promotes the generation of NET through decreased mTOR acitivity and autophagy induction (65). Supporting a link between polyP and neutrophils, neutrophil-mediated inflammation is reduced in polyP-deficient mice in two independent mouse models with (i) genetic IP6K1 ablation or (ii) pharmacological IP6K1 inhibition (98). The data suggest that both neutrophil FXII and platelet-derived polyP contribute to NET formation.

Both polyP and heparin are negatively charged polymers and polyP has been shown to substitute for heparin. Both heparin and polyP derived from mast cells drive the activation of the kallikrein-kinin system (46, 99). Antibodies that recognize complexes of platelet factor 4 (PF4) bound to heparin induce platelet aggregation in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT). These antibodies also cross-react with PF4/polyP complexes (69), indicating that polyP might contribute to HIT offering a rational for the recently described heparin-independent HIT forms (100).

### POLYPHOSPHATE-MEDIATED INFLAMMATION

PolyP promotes the autocatalytic activation of FXII to the serine protease FXIIa and FXIIa production is amplified by the protease plasma kallikrein (PKa) through a feed-forward mechanism of FXIIa-cleaved plasma prekallikrein (PK, fluid phase activation). Deficiency in FXII is not associated with obvious abnormalities in humans and mice. However, FXII-deficient plasma (Hageman trait) has a prolonged aPTT. Mice lacking FXII (F12<sup>-/-</sup>) have largely defective arterial and venous thrombus formation (101) and are protected from thromboembolic diseases without showing hemostatic abnormalities (48, 102). The impact of FXII on thrombosis recently steered the World Health Organization to establish an international standard for human plasma-derived FXII (103). The fact that FXII deficiency is not associated with bleeding, suggests that FXII-mediated intrinsic blood coagulation contributes to other vascular pathways rather than hemostasis [reviewed in (104)].

FXII and FXIIa are both ligands of uPAR that is expressed on antigen-presenting cells and promotes differentiation of pro-inflammatory Th17 cells (85, 87). Consistently,  $F12^{-/-}$  mice were shown to be protected from Th17-driven experimental



autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) development (87). Autoimmune diseases, such as EAE, require the extravasation of auto-reactive Th1 and Th17 cells to infiltrate and attack target cell structures. Furthermore, FXIIa increases vascular permeability via the kallikrein-kinin system, in which bradykinin (BK) is produced by PKa-mediated high molecular weight kininogen cleavage. BK is a peptide hormone and BK signal transduction is mediated by G-coupled kinin B1 and B2 receptors on endothelial cells as well as leukocytes [reviewed in (105)]. Kinin B1 receptor expression is induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1 $\beta$ ) and stimulated by BK and the C-terminal truncated BK derivate des-Arg(9)BK, whereas constitutively expressed kinin B2 receptors recognize BK [reviewed in (106)]. Deficiency in kinin B1 receptors affects Th-cell migration and outcome in murine EAE models and possibly humans with multiple sclerosis (107), suggesting that several FXII-dependent pathways can interact with T-cell homeostasis. In line with this notion, increased populations of Th17 cells have been reported in patients with defective FXIIa regulation (108).

Proteolytic activity of FXIIa is regulated by C11NH, a serpin that irreversibly inhibits FXIIa through covalent binding into its reactive center. C11NH also has the capacity to inhibit several other serine proteases, including PKa, active factor XI (FXIa) and complement factors C1r and C1s. Impaired FXIIa inhibition augments BK formation by the kallikrein-kinin system and is associated with a BK-mediated life-threatening inherited swelling disorder, hereditary angioedema (HAE) [reviewed in (109)]. C11NH deficiency has no impact on thrombosis and HAE patients have a normal thromboembolic risk [reviewed in (110)]. HAE is a rare disease that is mainly autosomal dominant inherited and characterized by reduced C11NH levels (HAE

type I) or function (HAE type II). In addition HAE has been reported in patients with normal C1 esterase inhibitor activity (HAE type III). Disease-causing HAE type III mutations have been mapped to the F12 gene. Analysis of mutant FXII T309K and T309R (positions refer to the mature protein) revealed that mutant FXII is defective in a single O-linked glycosylation, which promotes contact-driven FXIIa formation (111). Additionally, the mutations create new serine protease cleavage sites and thus increase FXIIa- and plasmin-mediated mutant FXII zymogen activation (112). Other HAE type III associated mutations have been linked to plasminogen and angiopoeitin (113, 114). While BK is short-lived and degraded within seconds, the activity of FXIIa or activation of FXII is increased in HAE leading to sustained and prolonged BK formation (115, 116). A schematic overview depicting PolyP/FXII-mediated pathways is shown in Figure 1.

In addition to the kallikrein-kinin system, FXIIa triggers the intrinsic blood coagulation pathway that has a role in thrombus formation [reviewed in (117)]. Thrombi occlude vessels causing tissue ischemia but also function in host defense in a concept termed "immunothrombosis." A recent report on bacterial sepsis-associated pro-coagulant mechanisms showed that inflammation-driven thrombosis occurs earlier in the spleen compared to liver despite similar bacterial burden in both organs, suggesting that organ-specific environment rather than bacterial components contribute to microthrombus formation (118). Bacteria-derived polyP is highly pro-coagulant *in vitro*, however, it is unknown whether bacteria have the capacity to expose or secrete their long chain polyP (>1,000 P<sub>i</sub> moieties).

Intracellular polyP gets released during necrosis and may act as a damage associated molecular pattern inducing immune



responses through P2Y signaling (62). Indeed, long chain polyP induces thrombosis via FXII activation but also leads to platelet activation and consumptive coagulopathy (119). Moreover, polyP serves as phosphoryl donor for adenylate kinase in the extracellular space (120). Thus, polyP may regulate ADP/ATP ratio and signaling via purinergic receptors in immune cells. An overview of the complex network by which polyP impacts on cellular mechanisms in different cell types to facilitate coagulation and inflammation is depicted in **Figure 2**.

### INTERFERENCE WITH POLYPHOSPHATE FUNCTIONS

Intracellular polyP levels have been modulated in *S. cerevisiae* through phosphate starvation and abrogation of the mitochondrial membrane potential by uncouplers (27), indicating that intracellular polyP broadly influences cell metabolism. Moreover, Ppx1-mediated degradation of polyP regulates mitochondrial Ca<sup>2+</sup> ion efflux (30).

Mammalian enzymes that control formation and degradation of polyP have remained unknown. To interfere with polyP/FXIIadriven inflammation plasma derived C1INH (Berinert<sup>TM</sup>) and B2R antagonist (Icatibant<sup>TM</sup>) dampen bradykinin formation and signaling and have been used for treatment of excessive bradykinin-mediated swellings in HAE patients (121, 122). Neutralizing FXIIa antibody 3F7 prevents thromboembolism and bradykinin generation with minimal therapy-associated adverse effects such as increased bleeding (123). Interference with the extracellular polyP/FXII pathway is a promising strategy to dampen coagulation and inflammation [reviewed in (124)]. To directly target extracellular polyP, neutralization and degradation approaches have been tested. Structural homology of polyP and heparin suggests that the polycation protamine sulfat, the heparin antidote, can also neutralize polyP. Indeed, polyP inhibitor screening identified various polycation substrates, such as spermidine, histone H1, polymyxin B and cationic polymers as possible agents for interference with polyP-mediated coagulation and inflammation (125). Moreover, the recombinant polyPbinding domains of *E. coli* ppx (PPX\_ $\Delta$ 12) bind to polyP with high affinity and block polyP-mediated FXII activation. Similarly, degradation of polyP with recombinant ppx inhibits arterial and venous thrombus formation without interfering with hemostasis, indicating that polyP operates via FXII in *in vivo* coagulation (126).

Interference with polyP developed evolutionary in bloodsucking insects. Sand flies express salivary proteins that enable the insects to feed on mammalian blood without triggering BKmediated itching or FXIIa-mediated clotting. These proteins, termed PdSP15a and PdSP15b, provide a positively charged helix that efficiently binds to and neutralizes polyP (127). Taken together, polyP inhibition has been shown to block thrombosis and inflammation and provides an opportunity for efficient and safe future treatment.

### OUTLOOK

Recent advantages to visualize, measure and detect polyP and to modulate polyP metabolism offers the possibility to analyze cell-specific roles for polyP (11, 28, 126, 128). Open research questions include regulation of polyP in mammalians

and eukaryotic cells, and possibilities to target polyP-mediated activities in therapeutic settings.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

RM wrote the manuscript and created the figures. LH, MA, and TR reviewed the manuscript.

### REFERENCES

- Ahn K, Kornberg A. Polyphosphate kinase from Escherichia coli. Purification and demonstration of a phosphoenzyme intermediate. J Biol Chem. (1990) 265:11734–9.
- Zhang H, Ishige K, Kornberg A. A polyphosphate kinase (PPK2) widely conserved in bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2002) 99:16678–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.262655199
- Akiyama M, Crooke E, Kornberg A. An exopolyphosphatase of Escherichia coli. The enzyme and its ppx gene in a polyphosphate operon. *J Biol Chem.* (1993) 268:633–9.
- Xie L, Jakob U. Inorganic polyphosphate, a multifunctional polyanionic protein scaffold. J Biol Chem. (2018) 294:2180–90. doi: 10.1074/jbc.REV118.002808
- Gautam LK, Sharma P, Capalash N. Bacterial polyphosphate kinases revisited: role in pathogenesis and therapeutic potential. *Curr Drug Targets.* (2018) 20:292–301. doi: 10.2174/1389450119666180801120231
- Rao NN, Gómez-García MR, Kornberg A. Inorganic polyphosphate: essential for growth and survival. Annu Rev Biochem. (2009) 78:605–47. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.77.083007.093039
- Hothorn M, Neumann H, Lenherr ED, Wehner M, Rybin V, Hassa PO, et al. Catalytic core of a membrane-associated eukaryotic polyphosphate polymerase. *Science*. (2009) 324:513–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1168120
- Wurst H, Kornberg A. A soluble exopolyphosphatase of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Purification and characterization. *J Biol Chem.* (1994) 269:10996– 1001.
- Sethuraman A, Rao NN, Kornberg A. The endopolyphosphatase gene: essential in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:8542–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.151269398
- Lonetti A, Szijgyarto Z, Bosch D, Loss O, Azevedo C, Saiardi A. Identification of an evolutionarily conserved family of inorganic polyphosphate endopolyphosphatases. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:31966–74. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.266320
- Ghosh S, Shukla D, Suman K, Lakshmi BJ, Manorama R, Kumar S, et al. Inositol hexakisphosphate kinase 1 maintains hemostasis in mice by regulating platelet polyphosphate levels. *Blood.* (2013) 122:1478–86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-01-481549
- Hatch AJ, York JD. SnapShot: inositol phosphates. *Cell.* (2010) 143:1030– 1030 e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.045
- Sauer K, Cooke MP. Regulation of immune cell development through soluble inositol-1,3,4,5-tetrakisphosphate. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2010) 10:257–71. doi: 10.1038/nri2745
- Auesukaree C, Homma T, Tochio H, Shirakawa M, Kaneko Y, Harashima S. Intracellular phosphate serves as a signal for the regulation of the PHO pathway in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *J Biol Chem.* (2004) 279:17289–94. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M312202200
- Lee YS, Mulugu S, York JD, O'Shea EK. Regulation of a cyclin-CDK-CDK inhibitor complex by inositol pyrophosphates. *Science*. (2007) 316:109–12. doi: 10.1126/science.1139080
- Wild R, Gerasimaite R, Jung JY, Truffault V, Pavlovic I, Schmidt A, et al. Control of eukaryotic phosphate homeostasis by inositol polyphosphate sensor domains. *Science*. (2016) 352:986–90. doi: 10.1126/science. aad9858
- Ansermet C, Moor MB, Centeno G, Auberson M, Hu DZ, Baron R, et al. Renal fanconi syndrome and hypophosphatemic rickets in the absence of xenotropic and polytropic retroviral receptor in the nephron. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2017) 28:1073–8. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016070726

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work has been funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG. German Research Foundation)—Projektnummer A11-SFB 877 and Projektnummer B8-SFB 841 and an European Research Council grant (ERC-StG-2012-311575\_F-12).

- Legati A, Giovannini D, Nicolas G, López-Sánchez U, Quintáns B, Oliveira JR, et al. Mutations in XPR1 cause primary familial brain calcification associated with altered phosphate export. *Nat Genet.* (2015) 47:579–81. doi: 10.1038/ng.3289
- Kumble KD, Kornberg A. Inorganic polyphosphate in mammalian cells and tissues. J Biol Chem. (1995) 270:5818–22. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.11.5818
- Lynn WS, Brown RH. Synthesis of polyphosphate by rat liver mitochondria. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. (1963) 11:367–71.
- Nickel KF, Ronquist G, Langer F, Labberton L, Fuchs TA, Bokemeyer C, et al. The polyphosphate-factor XII pathway drives coagulation in prostate cancer-associated thrombosis. *Blood.* (2015) 126:1379–89. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-01-622811
- 22. Wang L, Yan J, Wise MJ, Liu Q, Asenso J, Huang Y, et al. Distribution patterns of polyphosphate metabolism pathway and its relationships with bacterial durability and virulence. *Front Microbiol.* (2018) 9:782. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00782
- Zhang H, Gómez-García MR, Brown MR, Kornberg A. Inorganic polyphosphate in Dictyostelium discoideum: influence on development, sporulation, and predation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:2731–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500023102
- 24. Reusch RN, Sadoff HL. Putative structure and functions of a polybeta-hydroxybutyrate/calcium polyphosphate channel in bacterial plasma membranes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1988) 85:4176–80.
- Castuma CE, Huang R, Kornberg A, Reusch RN. Inorganic polyphosphates in the acquisition of competence in Escherichia coli. J Biol Chem. (1995) 270:12980–3. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.22.12980
- Kulakovskaya TV, Lichko LP, Vagabov VM, Kulaev IS. Inorganic polyphosphates in mitochondria. *Biochemistry*. (2010) 75:825–31. doi: 10.1134/S0006297910070035
- Pestov NA, Kulakovskaya TV, Kulaev IS. Inorganic polyphosphate in mitochondria of Saccharomyces cerevisiae at phosphate limitation and phosphate excess. *FEMS Yeast Res.* (2004) 4:643–8. doi: 10.1016/j.femsyr.2003.12.008
- Abramov AY, Fraley C, Diao CT, Winkfein R, Colicos MA, Duchen MR, et al. Targeted polyphosphatase expression alters mitochondrial metabolism and inhibits calcium-dependent cell death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:18091–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0708959104
- Pavlov E, Aschar-Sobbi R, Campanella M, Turner RJ, Gómez-García MR, Abramov AY. Inorganic polyphosphate and energy metabolism in mammalian cells. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:9420–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.013011
- Seidlmayer LK, Gomez-Garcia MR, Blatter LA, Pavlov E, Dedkova EN. Inorganic polyphosphate is a potent activator of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore in cardiac myocytes. J Gen Physiol. (2012) 139:321–31. doi: 10.1085/jgp.201210788
- Wang L, Fraley CD, Faridi J, Kornberg A, Roth RA. Inorganic polyphosphate stimulates mammalian TOR, a kinase involved in the proliferation of mammary cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:11249–54. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1534805100
- 32. Jimenez-Nuñez MD, Moreno-Sanchez D, Hernandez-Ruiz L, Benítez-Rondán A, Ramos-Amaya A, Rodríguez-Bayona B, et al. Myeloma cells contain high levels of inorganic polyphosphate which is associated with nucleolar transcription. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1264–71. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.051409
- Gray MJ, Wholey WY, Wagner NO, Cremers CM, Mueller-Schickert A, Hock NT, et al. Polyphosphate is a primordial chaperone. *Mol Cell*. (2014) 53:689–99. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.01.012
- 34. Yoo NG, Dogra S, Meinen BA, Tse E, Haefliger J, Southworth DR, et al. Polyphosphate stabilizes protein unfolding intermediates as soluble amyloid-like oligomers. J Mol Biol. (2018) 430:4195–208. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2018.08.016
- McInerney P, Mizutani T, Shiba T. Inorganic polyphosphate interacts with ribosomes and promotes translation fidelity *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Mol Microbiol*. (2006) 60:438–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05103.x
- 36. Kuroda A, Nomura K, Ohtomo R, Kato J, Ikeda T, Takiguchi N, et al. Role of inorganic polyphosphate in promoting ribosomal protein degradation by the Lon protease in *E. coli. Science.* (2001) 293:705–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1061315
- Vagabov VM, Trilisenko LV, Kulaev IS. Dependence of inorganic polyphosphate chain length on the orthophosphate content in the culture medium of the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Biochemistry*. (2000) 65:349–54.
- Azevedo C, Livermore T, Saiardi A. Protein polyphosphorylation of lysine residues by inorganic polyphosphate. *Mol Cell.* (2015) 58:71–82. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2015.02.010
- Saiardi A, Bhandari R, Resnick AC, Snowman AM, Snyder SH. Phosphorylation of proteins by inositol pyrophosphates. *Science*. (2004) 306:2101–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1103344
- Bhandari R, Saiardi A, Ahmadibeni Y, Snowman AM, Resnick AC, Kristiansen TZ, et al. Protein pyrophosphorylation by inositol pyrophosphates is a posttranslational event. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:15305–10. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707338104
- Kim D, Cavanaugh EJ. Requirement of a soluble intracellular factor for activation of transient receptor potential A1 by pungent chemicals: role of inorganic polyphosphates. J Neurosci. (2007) 27:6500–9. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0623-07.2007
- Zakharian E, Thyagarajan B, French RJ, Pavlov E, Rohacs T. Inorganic polyphosphate modulates TRPM8 channels. *PLoS ONE*. (2009) 4:e5404. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0005404
- Ali A, Wathes DC, Swali A, Burns H, Burns S. A novel mammalian glucokinase exhibiting exclusive inorganic polyphosphate dependence in the cell nucleus. *Biochem Biophys Rep.* (2017) 12:151–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrep.2017.09.004
- Lander N, Cordeiro C, Huang G, Docampo R. Polyphosphate and acidocalcisomes. *Biochem Soc Trans.* (2016) 44:1–6. doi: 10.1042/BST20150193
- Hernández-Ruiz L, Sáez-Benito A, Pujol-Moix N, Rodríguez-Martorell J, Ruiz FA. Platelet inorganic polyphosphate decreases in patients with delta storage pool disease. J Thromb Haemost. (2009) 7:361–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.03238.x
- Moreno-Sanchez D, Hernandez-Ruiz L, Ruiz FA, Docampo R. Polyphosphate is a novel pro-inflammatory regulator of mast cells and is located in acidocalcisomes. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:28435–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.385823
- Ruiz FA, Lea CR, Oldfield E, Docampo R. Human platelet dense granules contain polyphosphate and are similar to acidocalcisomes of bacteria and unicellular eukaryotes. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:44250–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M406261200
- Müller F, Mutch NJ, Schenk WA, Smith SA, Esterl L, Spronk HM, et al. Platelet polyphosphates are proinflammatory and procoagulant mediators *in vivo. Cell.* (2009) 139:1143–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.001
- Verhoef JJ, Barendrecht AD, Nickel KF, Dijkxhoorn K, Kenne E, Labberton L, et al. Polyphosphate nanoparticles on the platelet surface trigger contact system activation. *Blood.* (2017) 129:1707–17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-08-734988
- Pisoni RL, Lindley ER. Incorporation of [32P]orthophosphate into long chains of inorganic polyphosphate within lysosomes of human fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem.* (1992) 267:3626–31.
- Holmström KM, Marina N, Baev AY, Wood NW, Gourine AV, Abramov AY. Signalling properties of inorganic polyphosphate in the mammalian brain. *Nat Commun.* (2013) 4: 1362. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2364
- Angelova PR, Iversen KZ, Teschemacher AG, Kasparov S, Gourine AV, Abramov AY. Signal transduction in astrocytes: localization and release of inorganic polyphosphate. *Glia.* (2018) 66:2126–36. doi: 10.1002/glia. 23466

- Cowling RT, Birnboim HC. Incorporation of [32P]orthophosphate into inorganic polyphosphates by human granulocytes and other human cell types. J Biol Chem. (1994) 269:9480–5.
- Labberton L, Long AT, Gendler SJ, Snozek CL, Stavrou EX, Nickel KF, et al. A flow cytometry-based assay for procoagulant platelet polyphosphate. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom.* (2018) 94:369–73. doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.21492
- Suess PM, Gomer RH. Extracellular polyphosphate inhibits proliferation in an autocrine negative feedback loop in dictyostelium discoideum. J Biol Chem. (2016) 291:20260–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.737825
- Suess PM, Watson J, Chen W, Gomer RH. Extracellular polyphosphate signals through Ras and Akt to prime Dictyostelium discoideum cells for development. J Cell Sci. (2017) 130:2394–404. doi: 10.1242/jcs.2 03372
- Hoac B, Kiffer-Moreira T, Millán JL, McKee MD. Polyphosphates inhibit extracellular matrix mineralization in MC3T3-E1 osteoblast cultures. *Bone*. (2013) 53:478–86. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2013.01.020
- Shiba T, Nishimura D, Kawazoe Y, Onodera Y, Tsutsumi K, Nakamura R, et al. Modulation of mitogenic activity of fibroblast growth factors by inorganic polyphosphate. *J Biol Chem.* (2003) 278:26788–92. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M303468200
- Han KY, Hong BS, Yoon YJ, Yoon CM, Kim YK, Kwon YG, et al. Polyphosphate blocks tumour metastasis via anti-angiogenic activity. *Biochem J.* (2007) 406:49–55. doi: 10.1042/BJ20061542
- Bae JS, Lee W, Rezaie AR. Polyphosphate elicits pro-inflammatory responses that are counteracted by activated protein C in both cellular and animal models. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2012) 10:1145–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2012.04671.x
- Hassanian SM, Ardeshirylajimi A, Dinarvand P, Rezaie AR. Inorganic polyphosphate promotes cyclin D1 synthesis through activation of mTOR/Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in endothelial cells. J Thromb Haemost. (2016) 14:2261–73. doi: 10.1111/jth.13477
- Dinarvand P, Hassanian SM, Qureshi SH, Manithody C, Eissenberg JC, Yang L, et al. Polyphosphate amplifies proinflammatory responses of nuclear proteins through interaction with receptor for advanced glycation end products and P2Y1 purinergic receptor. *Blood.* (2014) 123:935–45. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-09-529602
- Hassanian SM, Dinarvand P, Smith SA, Rezaie AR. Inorganic polyphosphate elicits pro-inflammatory responses through activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin complexes 1 and 2 in vascular endothelial cells. *J Thromb Haemost*. (2015) 13:860–71. doi: 10.1111/jth.12899
- Smith SA, Mutch NJ, Baskar D, Rohloff P, Docampo R, Morrissey JH. Polyphosphate modulates blood coagulation and fibrinolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:903–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0507195103
- Chrysanthopoulou A, Kambas K, Stakos D, Mitroulis I, Mitsios A, Vidali V, et al. Interferon lambda1/IL–29 and inorganic polyphosphate are novel regulators of neutrophil-driven thromboinflammation. *J Pathol.* (2017) 243:111–22. doi: 10.1002/path.4935
- Hernandez-Ruiz L, González-García I, Castro C, Brieva JA, Ruiz FA. Inorganic polyphosphate and specific induction of apoptosis in human plasma cells. *Haematologica*. (2006) 91:1180–6.
- Wijeyewickrema LC, Lameignere E, Hor L, Duncan RC, Shiba T, Travers RJ, et al. Polyphosphate is a novel cofactor for regulation of complement by a serpin, C1 inhibitor. *Blood.* (2016) 128:1766–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-02-699561
- Wat JM, Foley JH, Krisinger MJ, Ocariza LM, Lei V, Wasney GA, et al. Polyphosphate suppresses complement via the terminal pathway. *Blood*. (2014) 123:768–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-07-515726
- Cines DB, Yarovoi SV, Zaitsev SV, Lebedeva T, Rauova L, Poncz M, et al. Polyphosphate/platelet factor 4 complexes can mediate heparin-independent platelet activation in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood Adv.* (2016) 1:62–74. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2016000877
- Long AT, Kenne E, Jung R, Fuchs TA, Renné T. Contact system revisited: an interface between inflammation, coagulation, and innate immunity. J Thromb Haemost. (2016) 14:427–37. doi: 10.1111/jth.13235
- Nickel KF, Long AT, Fuchs TA, Butler LM, Renné T. Factor XII as a Therapeutic target in thromboembolic and inflammatory diseases. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2017) 37:13–20. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.308595

- Maas C, Renné T. Coagulation factor XII in thrombosis and inflammation. Blood. (2018) 131:1903–909. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-04-569111
- Choi SH, Smith SA, Morrissey JH. Polyphosphate is a cofactor for the activation of factor XI by thrombin. *Blood.* (2011) 118:6963–70. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-368811
- Mutch NJ, Engel R, Uitte de Willige S, Philippou H, Ariëns RA. Polyphosphate modifies the fibrin network and down-regulates fibrinolysis by attenuating binding of tPA and plasminogen to fibrin. *Blood.* (2010) 115:3980-8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-11-254029
- 75. Biswas I, Panicker SR, Cai X, Mehta-D'souza P, Rezaie AR. Inorganic polyphosphate amplifies high mobility group box 1-mediated von willebrand factor release and platelet string formation on endothelial cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2018) 38:1868–77. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.311165
- 76. Smith SA, Choi SH, Davis-Harrison R, Huyck J, Boettcher J, Rienstra CM, et al. Polyphosphate exerts differential effects on blood clotting, depending on polymer size. *Blood.* (2010) 116:4353–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-266791
- Smith SA, Gajsiewicz JM, Morrissey JH. Ability of polyphosphate and nucleic acids to trigger blood clotting: some observations and caveats. *Front Med.* (2018) 5:107. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00107
- Lorenz B, Schröder HC. Mammalian intestinal alkaline phosphatase acts as highly active exopolyphosphatase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2001) 1547:254–61. doi: 10.1016/S0167-4838(01)00193-5
- Rajabi M, Struble E, Zhou Z, Karnaukhova E. Potentiation of C1-esterase inhibitor by heparin and interactions with C1s protease as assessed by surface plasmon resonance. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2012) 1820:56–63. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2011.10.008
- Heydenreich N, Nolte MW, Göb E, Langhauser F, Hofmeister M, Kraft P, et al. C1-inhibitor protects from brain ischemia-reperfusion injury by combined antiinflammatory and antithrombotic mechanisms. *Stroke*. (2012) 43:2457–67. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.660340
- Schmaier AH, Amenta S, Xiong T, Heda GD, Gewirtz AM. Expression of platelet C1 inhibitor. *Blood.* (1993) 82:465–74.
- Min G, Ku SK, Jeong S, Baek MC, Bae JS. Suppressive effects of methylthiouracil on polyphosphate-mediated vascular inflammatory responses. J Cell Mol Med. (2016) 20:2333–40. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.12925
- Segawa S, Fujiya M, Konishi H, Ueno N, Kobayashi N, Shigyo T, et al. Probiotic-derived polyphosphate enhances the epithelial barrier function and maintains intestinal homeostasis through integrin-p38 MAPK pathway. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e23278. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023278
- Cremers CM, Knoefler D, Gates S, Martin N, Dahl JU, Lempart J, et al. Polyphosphate: a conserved modifier of amyloidogenic processes. *Mol Cell.* (2016) 63:768–80. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2016.07.016
- LaRusch GA, Mahdi F, Shariat-Madar Z, Adams G, Sitrin RG, Zhang WM, et al. Factor XII stimulates ERK1/2 and Akt through uPAR, integrins, and the EGFR to initiate angiogenesis. *Blood.* (2010) 115:5111–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-236430
- Nickel KF, Labberton L, Long AT, Langer F, Fuchs TA, Stavrou EX, et al. The polyphosphate/factor XII pathway in cancer-associated thrombosis: novel perspectives for safe anticoagulation in patients with malignancies. *Thromb Res.* (2016) 141(Suppl. 2):S4–7. doi: 10.1016/S0049-3848(16)30353-X
- Göbel K, Pankratz S, Asaridou CM, Herrmann AM, Bittner S, Merker M, et al. Blood coagulation factor XII drives adaptive immunity during neuroinflammation via CD87-mediated modulation of dendritic cells. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:11626. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11626
- Varga-Szabo D, Braun A, Kleinschnitz C, Bender M, Pleines I, Pham M, et al. The calcium sensor STIM1 is an essential mediator of arterial thrombosis and ischemic brain infarction. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:1583–91. doi: 10.1084/jem.20080302
- Braun A, Varga-Szabo D, Kleinschnitz C, Pleines I, Bender M, Austinat M, et al. Orail (CRACM1) is the platelet SOC channel and essential for pathological thrombus formation. *Blood.* (2009) 113:2056–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-07-171611
- Feske S, Wulff H, Skolnik EY. Ion channels in innate and adaptive immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. (2015) 33:291–353. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112212
- 91. Zamora C, Cantó E, Nieto JC, Ortiz MA, Diaz-Torné C, Diaz-Lopez C, et al. Functional consequences of platelet binding to T lymphocytes

in inflammation. J Leukoc Biol. (2013) 94:521–9. doi: 10.1189/jlb.02 13074

- Liu CY, Battaglia M, Lee SH, Sun QH, Aster RH, Visentin GP. Platelet factor 4 differentially modulates CD4+CD25+ (regulatory) versus CD4+CD25- (nonregulatory) T cells. J Immunol. (2005) 174:2680–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.5.2680
- Huang J, Jochems C, Talaie T, Anderson A, Jales A, Tsang KY, et al. Elevated serum soluble CD40 ligand in cancer patients may play an immunosuppressive role. *Blood.* (2012) 120:3030–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-05-427799
- Huang S, Apasov S, Koshiba M, Sitkovsky M. Role of A2a extracellular adenosine receptor-mediated signaling in adenosine-mediated inhibition of T-cell activation and expansion. *Blood.* (1997) 90:1600–10.
- Tran DQ, Andersson J, Wang R, Ramsey H, Unutmaz D, Shevach EM. GARP (LRRC32) is essential for the surface expression of latent TGF-beta on platelets and activated FOXP3+ regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:13445–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901944106
- Rachidi S, Metelli A, Riesenberg B, Wu BX, Nelson MH, Wallace C, et al. Platelets subvert T cell immunity against cancer via GARP-TGFbeta axis. *Sci Immunol.* (2017) 2:eaai7911. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aai7911
- Stavrou EX, Fang C, Bane KL, Long AT, Naudin C, Kucukal E, et al. Factor XII and uPAR upregulate neutrophil functions to influence wound healing. J Clin Invest. (2018) 128:944–59. doi: 10.1172/JCI92880
- Hou Q, Liu F, Chakraborty A, Jia Y, Prasad A, Yu H, et al. Inhibition of IP6K1 suppresses neutrophil-mediated pulmonary damage in bacterial pneumonia. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaal4045. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aal4045
- Oschatz C, Maas C, Lecher B, Jansen T, Björkqvist J, Tradler T, et al. Mast cells increase vascular permeability by heparin-initiated bradykinin formation *in vivo. Immunity.* (2011) 34:258–68. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.02.008
- 100. Krauel K, Preuße P, Warkentin TE, Trabhardt C, Brandt S, Jensch I, et al. Fibronectin modulates formation of PF4/heparin complexes and is a potential factor for reducing risk of developing HIT. *Blood.* (2018) 133:978– 89. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-05-850370
- 101. Renné T, Pozgajová M, Grüner S, Schuh K, Pauer HU, Burfeind P, et al. Defective thrombus formation in mice lacking coagulation factor XII. J Exp Med. (2005) 202:271–81. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050664
- 102. Kleinschnitz C, Stoll G, Bendszus M, Schuh K, Pauer HU, Burfeind P, et al. Targeting coagulation factor XII provides protection from pathological thrombosis in cerebral ischemia without interfering with hemostasis. J Exp Med. (2006) 203:513–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.20052458
- 103. Wilmot HV, Hockley J, Rigsby P, Gray E. Establishment of the World Health Organization first international standard for factor XII, Plasma, Human. *Front Med.* (2018) 5:46. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00046
- Bickmann JK, Baglin T, Meijers JCM, Renné T. Novel targets for anticoagulants lacking bleeding risk. *Curr Opin Hematol.* (2017) 24:419–26. doi: 10.1097/MOH.0000000000367
- Böckmann S, Paegelow I. Kinins and kinin receptors: importance for the activation of leukocytes. J Leukoc Biol. (2000) 68:587–92. doi: 10.1189/jlb.68.5.587
- 106. McLean PG, Perretti M, Ahluwalia A. Kinin B(1) receptors and the cardiovascular system: regulation of expression and function. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2000) 48:194–210. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(00)00184-X
- 107. Göbel K, Pankratz S, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Bittner S, Schuhmann MK, Langer HF, et al. Blockade of the kinin receptor B1 protects from autoimmune CNS disease by reducing leukocyte trafficking. J Autoimmun. (2011) 36:106–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2010.11.004
- 108. Arcoleo F, Lo Pizzo M, Misiano G, Milano S, Romano GC, Muggeo V, et al. The complex alteration in the network of IL–17-type cytokines in patients with hereditary angioedema. *Clin Exp Med.* (2018) 18:355–61. doi: 10.1007/s10238-018-0499-0
- 109. De Maat S, Hofman LM, Maas C. Hereditary angioedema: the plasma contact system out of control. J Thromb Haemost. (2018) 16:1674–85. doi: 10.1111/jth.14209
- Bender L, Weidmann H, Rose-John S, Renné T, Long AT. Factor XII-driven inflammatory reactions with implications for anaphylaxis. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8: 1115. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01115
- 111. Björkqvist J, de Maat S, Lewandrowski U, Di Gennaro A, Oschatz C, Schönig K, et al. Defective glycosylation of coagulation factor XII

underlies hereditary angioedema type III. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:3132–46. doi: 10.1172/JCI77139

- 112. de Maat S, Björkqvist J, Suffritti C, Wiesenekker CP, Nagtegaal W, Koekman A, et al. Plasmin is a natural trigger for bradykinin production in patients with hereditary angioedema with factor XII mutations. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2016) 138:1414–23 e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.02.021
- 113. Dewald G. A missense mutation in the plasminogen gene, within the plasminogen kringle 3 domain, in hereditary angioedema with normal C1 inhibitor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2018) 498:193–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.12.060
- 114. Bafunno V, Firinu D, D'Apolito M, Cordisco G, Loffredo S, Leccese A, et al. Mutation of the angiopoietin–1 gene (ANGPT1) associates with a new type of hereditary angioedema. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:1009–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.05.020
- 115. Csuka D, Veszeli N, Imreh É, Zotter Z, Skopál J, Prohászka Z, et al. Comprehensive study into the activation of the plasma enzyme systems during attacks of hereditary angioedema due to C1-inhibitor deficiency. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (2015) 10:132. doi: 10.1186/s13023-015-0351-5
- Björkqvist J, Nickel KF, Stavrou E, Renné T. In vivo activation and functions of the protease factor XII. Thromb Haemost. (2014) 112:868–75. doi: 10.1160/TH14-04-0311
- 117. Naudin C, Burillo E, Blankenberg S, Butler L, Renné T. Factor XII contact activation. Semin Thromb Hemost. (2017) 43:814–26. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1598003
- 118. Beristain-Covarrubias N, Perez-Toledo M, Flores-Langarica A, Zuidscherwoude M, Hitchcock JR, Channell WM, et al. Salmonellainduced thrombi in mice develop asynchronously in the spleen and liver and are not effective bacterial traps. *Blood.* (2019) 133:600–4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-08-867267
- 119. Zilberman-Rudenko J, Reitsma SE, Puy C, Rigg RA, Smith SA, Tucker EI, et al. Factor XII activation promotes platelet consumption in the presence of bacterial-type long-chain polyphosphate *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2018) 38:1748–60. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.311193
- 120. Müller WEG, Wang S, Neufurth M, Kokkinopoulou M, Feng Q, Schröder HC, et al. Polyphosphate as a donor of high-energy phosphate for the synthesis of ADP and ATP. J Cell Sci. (2017) 130:2747–56. doi: 10.1242/jcs.204941
- 121. Craig TJ, Bewtra AK, Bahna SL, Hurewitz D, Schneider LC, Levy RJ, et al. C1 esterase inhibitor concentrate in 1085 Hereditary Angioedema attacks-final results of the I.M.P.A.C.T.2 study. *Allergy*. (2011) 66:1604–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2011.02702.x

- 122. Lumry WR, Li HH, Levy RJ, Potter PC, Farkas H, Moldovan D, et al. Randomized placebo-controlled trial of the bradykinin B(2) receptor antagonist icatibant for the treatment of acute attacks of hereditary angioedema: the FAST-3 trial. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2011) 107:529-37. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2011.08.015
- 123. Worm M, Köhler EC, Panda R, Long A, Butler LM, Stavrou EX, et al. The factor XIIa blocking antibody 3F7: a safe anticoagulant with anti-inflammatory activities. *Ann Transl Med.* (2015) 3:247. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2305-5839.2015.09.07
- 124. Weidmann H, Heikaus L, Long AT, Naudin C, Schlüter H, Renné T. The plasma contact system, a protease cascade at the nexus of inflammation, coagulation and immunity. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res.* (2017) 1864(11 Pt B):2118–27. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2017.07.009
- 125. Smith SA, Choi SH, Collins JN, Travers RJ, Cooley BC, Morrissey JH. Inhibition of polyphosphate as a novel strategy for preventing thrombosis and inflammation. *Blood.* (2012) 120:5103–10. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-07-444935
- 126. Labberton L, Kenne E, Long AT, Nickel KF, Di Gennaro A, Rigg RA, et al. Neutralizing blood-borne polyphosphate *in vivo* provides safe thromboprotection. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:12616. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12616
- 127. Alvarenga PH, Xu X, Oliveira F, Chagas AC, Nascimento CR, Francischetti IM, et al. Novel family of insect salivary inhibitors blocks contact pathway activation by binding to polyphosphate, heparin, and dextran sulfate. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2013) 33:2759–70. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302482
- 128. Angelova PR, Agrawalla BK, Elustondo PA, Gordon J, Shiba T, Abramov AY, et al. In situ investigation of mammalian inorganic polyphosphate localization using novel selective fluorescent probes JC-D7 and JC-D8. ACS Chem Biol. (2014) 9:2101–10. doi: 10.1021/cb5000696

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Mailer, Hänel, Allende and Renné. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Kinins Released by Erythrocytic Stages of *Plasmodium falciparum* Enhance Adhesion of Infected Erythrocytes to Endothelial Cells and Increase Blood Brain Barrier Permeability via Activation of Bradykinin Receptors

Leandro S. Silva<sup>1</sup>, Alessandro S. Pinheiro<sup>1</sup>, Douglas E. Teixeira<sup>1</sup>, Rodrigo P. Silva-Aguiar<sup>1</sup>, Diogo B. Peruchetti<sup>1</sup>, Julio Scharfstein<sup>1</sup>, Celso Caruso-Neves<sup>1,2</sup> and Ana Acacia S. Pinheiro<sup>1\*</sup>

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Alvin H. Schmaier, Case Western Reserve University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Wei Li, Marshall University, United States Coen Maas, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands

> \*Correspondence: Ana Acacia S. Pinheiro acacia@biof.ufrj.br

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 14 December 2018 Accepted: 27 March 2019 Published: 16 April 2019

#### Citation:

Silva LS, Pinheiro AS, Teixeira DE, Silva-Aguiar RP, Peruchetti DB, Scharfstein J, Caruso-Neves C and Pinheiro AAS (2019) Kinins Released by Erythrocytic Stages of Plasmodium falciparum Enhance Adhesion of Infected Erythrocytes to Endothelial Cells and Increase Blood Brain Barrier Permeability via Activation of Bradykinin Receptors. Front. Med. 6:75. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00075 <sup>1</sup> Instituto de Biofísica Carlos Chagas Filho, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Instituto Nacional de Ciência e Tecnologia em Medicina Regenerativa, INCT-Regenera, Conselho Nacional de Pesquisa e Desenvolvimento (CNPq), Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

**Background:** *Plasmodium falciparum*, the etiologic agent of malaria, is a major cause of infant death in Africa. Although research on the contact system has been revitalized by recent discoveries in the field of thrombosis, limited efforts were done to investigate the role of its proinflammatory arm, the kallikrein kinin system (KKS), in the pathogenesis of neglected parasitic diseases, such as malaria. Owing to the lack of animal models, the dynamics of central nervous system (CNS) pathology caused by the sequestration of erythrocytic stages of *P. falciparum* is not fully understood. Given the precedent that kinins destabilize the blood brain barrier (BBB) in ischemic stroke, here we sought to determine whether *Plasmodium falciparum* infected erythrocytes (*Pf*-iRBC) conditioned medium enhances parasite sequestration and impairs BBB integrity via activation of the kallikrein kinin system (KKS).

**Methods:** Monolayers of human brain endothelial cell line (BMECs) are preincubated with the conditioned medium from *Pf*-iRBCs or RBCs (controls) in the presence or absence of HOE-140 or DALBK, antagonists of bradykinin receptor B2 (B2R) and bradykinin receptor B1 (B1R), respectively. Following washing, the treated monolayers are incubated with erythrocytes, infected or not with *P. falciparum* mature forms, to examine whether the above treatment (i) has impact on the adhesion of *Pf*-iRBC to BMEC monolayer, (ii) increases the macromolecular permeability of the tracer BSA-FITC, and (iii) modifies the staining pattern of junctional proteins (ZO-1 and  $\beta$ -catenin).

**Results:** We found that kinins generated in the parasite conditioned medium, acting via bradykinin B2 and/or B1 receptors (i) enhanced *Pf*-iRBC adhesion to the endothelium monolayer and (ii) impaired the endothelial junctions formed by ZO-1 and  $\beta$ -catenin, consequently disrupting the integrity of the BBB.

**Conclusions:** Our studies raise the possibility that therapeutic targeting of kinin forming enzymes and/or endothelial bradykinin receptors might reduce extent of *Pf*-iRBC sequestration and help to preserve BBB integrity in cerebral malaria (CM).

Keywords: malaria, Plasmodium falciparum, KKS, bradykinin, endothelial barrier

# INTRODUCTION

Still recognized as major cause of death in Africa, severe malaria is a complex multi-system disorder caused by infection with *Plasmodium falciparum*. Afflicting millions of people per year [219 million cases worldwide in WHO (1)], the major complications of acute infection with *P. falciparum* are cerebral malaria (CM), pulmonary edema, acute renal failure, severe anemia, and/or bleeding (2). Although the number of patients that develop CM is relatively low (incidence of 1,120/100,000 infected children/year in the endemic areas of Africa), the lethality in children under 5 years old is high (3–5).

The human phases of the malaria life cycle include a silent liver stage which produces infective merozoytes that, subsequently, establish the blood phase of the disease, by invading erythrocytes. Within red blood cells, several cycles of asexual reproduction occur resulting in elevated number of parasites and human disease (6).

In Plasmodium falciparum malaria, erythrocytes containing mature parasites are sequestered in the brain vascular bed, consequently causing obstruction of microvessels, reduced blood flow, and cerebral hypoxia (7). Proinflammatory cytokines are thought to aggravate the infection-associated microvasculopathy that characterizes severe disease (8). This observation is followed by the accumulation of activated platelets and leukocytes, including CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, within the brain microvasculature (9). Besides the classical components required for the development of effector T lymphocytes, there are indications in the literature that the renin angiotensin system (RAS) is involved in this process (10). Accordingly, our group demonstrated that angiotensin II (Ang II) acts as a co-stimulatory molecule during activation and development of effector function of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in vitro and in vivo, by using Ag-specific transgenic mice lacking the AT1 receptor (11-13). Moreover, we have also demonstrated that cerebral edema as well as the infiltration of T cells into the brain of infected mice were attenuated by captopril, the inhibitor of angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) (14). The dual-role of ACE connects two distinct proteolytic pathways: RAS and the kallikrein kinin system (KKS). Besides to be responsible for the formation of Ang II, ACE is also able to degrade kinins (15). KKS is an inflammatory mechanism that proteolytically generates proinflammatory kinins, such as the proinflammatory bradykinin (BK). In infectious diseases, the unbalance between pro and anti-coagulant responses may influence infectiousassociated vasculopathies (16). In the past years, progress in the understanding of the role of the KKS in the pathogenesis of experimental Chagas disease revealed that BK-induced microvascular leakage translates into mutual benefits to the host/parasite relationship (17, 18).

In the malaria field, although the notion that sequestration of infected erythrocytes to the microvascular brain endothelium is required for the development of CM is well-accepted (19, 20), there have been reports that patients infected with Plasmodium vivax develop CNS pathology without obvious signs of parasite sequestration in the brain (21, 22). Experimental models of cerebral malaria (ECM) have unveiled a number of common pathogenic features with the human CM. For example, in both cases the infection-associated vasculopathy includes platelet activation, coagulopathy, vascular leakage, edema, microhemorrages, vascular occlusion, and adhesion of activated leukocytes (23-25). Also, it has been proposed that Pf-iRBC might activate the KKS through contact activation by surface-exposed phophatidylserine (26-29). Relying on falcipains, Pf-iRBC directly cleaves internalized kininogens, to release proinflammatory kinins, such as BK Bagnaresi et al. (30). More recently, we demonstrated that the short-lived BK is detectable (mass spectrometry) in culture supernatants of PfiRBCs treated with ACE inhibitors (31). Using monolayers of BMECs as a model of BBB (32, 33), here we provide in vitro evidence that BK accumulating in the supernatant of Pf-iRBC cultures (i) enhance the adhesion of Pf-iRBC adhesion to BMECs (ii) impair the integrity of the brain blood barrier.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Drugs

D-sorbitol, HEPES, glucose, sodium bicarbonate, hypoxanthine, bradykinin (Arg-Pro-Pro-Gly-Phe-Ser-Pro-Phe-Arg), B2 receptor (B2R) antagonist, HOE-140, B1 receptor (B1R) antagonist des-Arg<sup>9</sup>-[Leu<sup>8</sup>]-BK (DALBK) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

## **Ethics Statement**

Healthy volunteers were randomly selected for collection of A<sup>+</sup> blood samples. All procedures were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Hospital Universitário Clementino Fraga Filho from the Federal University of Rio de Janeiro (Permit Number 074/10). All volunteers provided written informed consent for the collection and subsequent use of the samples to maintain parasite cultures.

## Parasite Culture

*Plasmodium falciparum* from the W2 strain (chloroquine resistant, mefloquine sensitive), were cultured in RPMI 1,640 medium (Invitrogen) supplemented with  $50 \mu g/mL$  gentamicin (Invitrogen) and  $10\% A^+$ -type human plasma at  $5\% A^+$ -hematocrit, obtained from healthy donors, using citrate as anti-coagulant agent. Parasite cultures were maintained under a gas-controlled atmosphere (5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 5% O<sub>2</sub>, and 90% N<sub>2</sub>) as

described by Trager and Jansen (34). Parasitemia was assessed by light microscopy in thin blood smears stained with hematologic staining by analyzing at least 10 random microscopic fields. Parasitemia was calculated as a percentage of the number of infected cells in 100 erythrocytes.

# Culture Synchronization and Generation of the Conditioned Medium

Erythrocytic stages of *P. falciparum* were synchronized by treatment with 5% D-sorbitol (10 min). Mature forms of malaria parasites are known to have osmotic fragility and are sensitive to 5% D-sorbitol (35). After discarding mature forms, the suspension of parasitized erythrocytes, enriched in young trophozoites, was washed and reintroduced in the above described culture medium to allow for schizont formation. Conditioned medium was obtained by incubating schizont cultures (3–5% parasitemia) for 24 h, a timepoint in which schizonts give rise to young trophozoites. After centrifugation of *Pf*-iRBC (2,500 rpm, for 10 min), the supernatant (conditioned medium) was collected and freshly applied to BMEC monolayers. As control, the supernatant of non-infected erythrocytes suspensions, maintained in the same culture conditions of infected erythrocytes, for 24 h, was used.

# Brain Microvascular Endothelial Cell (BMEC) Culture

The brain microvascular endothelial cells (BMEC) are an immortalized cell line that has been previously described and used as a BBB model in studies of the trans-migration of African trypanosomes (32, 33). The BMECs were cultured in medium 199 (M199, Sigma Aldrich) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and antibiotics (Sigma Chem Co; St. Louis, MO) (complete medium), at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

### **Adhesion Assay**

To assess Pf-iRBC adhesion to endothelial cells, BMEC were plated in 24-well culture chambers (Nunc, New York, USA)  $(5 \times 10^4 \text{ cells/well})$  and cultured for 24 h. After that, BMECs were treated or not overnight with Pf-iRBC conditioned medium (20%) or control conditioned medium (normal RBC). Where indicated, the BMEC treatment with conditioned medium was performed in medium supplemented with the B2R or B1R antagonists (10<sup>-7</sup> M HOE-140 or DALBK). Next, the BMECtreated monolayers were incubated with Pf-iRBCs (4  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> cells/well, 5% parasitemia) or control RBCs for 1 h. Nonadherent erythrocytes were gently washed away with PBS, and the remaining cells were fixed and stained with hematologic staining (commercial kit from Laborclin, Brazil, BR). The number of adhered erythrocytes per BMEC was determined by direct counting in light microscopy, considering at least 10 random microscopic field. The data are expressed as Adhesion index calculated according to Souza et al. (36): Adhesion Index (AI) = {[(BMEC with bound erythrocytes)/total BMEC number]  $\times$ [(erythrocytes bound to BMEC)/total BMEC number]}  $\times$  100.

## **Permeability Assay**

Permeability was accessed through BSA-FITC transendothelial transport (37). Briefly, BMEC cell line was grown until confluence on Transwell chamber inserts of 6.5 mm diameter and 8  $\mu$ m pore (Corning Costar). The endothelial monolayer culture in the upper compartment was exposed to RPMI control medium, *Pf*-iRBC (4 × 10<sup>5</sup> cells), 20% conditioned medium, 10<sup>-7</sup> bradykinin (BK), 10<sup>-7</sup> HOE 140. BSA-FITC (15  $\mu$ g/mL) was simultaneously added to the upper compartment of each Transwell unit. After 14 h of incubation times, endothelial monolayer permeability of BSA-FITC flux across intact monolayers to the lower compartment was measured through fluorimetry (SpectraMax M2, Molecular Devices) at emission/excitation wavelengths of 495/520 nm.

### Immunofluorescence

The immunofluorescence experiments were carried out as before (38, 39). Briefly, BMEC cells were grown in coverslips and treated as described above. After treatment, cells were fixed in paraformaldehyde 4% for 15 min, followed by membrane permeabilization with PBS-Triton X-100 0.2% for 15 min. Cells were blocked with PBS-BSA 5%, and antibody against ZO-1 (617,300, Invitrogen) and  $\beta$ -catenin (sc-7963, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) was incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Anti-rabbit Alexa-Fluor 488 and Anti-mouse Alexa-Fluor 546 (Life Technology) was incubated to detect ZO-1 and β-catenin, respectively. Nuclei were stained with DAPI. Cells were mounted with anti-fading mounting medium (Vectashield, Vector Laboratories). Images were acquired with a confocal microscope Leica TCS SP8 (Leica) and software LAS X, and the final images were analyzed with Fiji software. Images were acquired at 630x and the scale bar represents 20 µm.

# HK-Alexa Fluor 488 Uptake

The HK-Alexa Fluor 488 uptake was measured as described by Bagnaresi et al. (30). Briefly, schizont-enriched *P. falciparum* cultures were incubated overnight with 70  $\mu$ g/mL high molecular weight kininogen conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488 (HK-Alexa Fluor 488) at 37°C. The cells were harvested, washed with PBS 1x and plated in poly-lysine-coated microscope dishes. Parasites nuclei were stained with DAPI. Images were acquired with a confocal microscope Leica TCS SP8 (Leica) and software LAS X, and the final images were analyzed with Fiji software. Images were acquired at 630x and the scale bar represents 5  $\mu$ m.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The results are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard error of at least three independent experiments. GraphPad Prism 7 (version 7.0, GraphPad Software, San Diego California, U. S. A., www. graphpad.com) was used for statistical analysis. Differences between groups were compared by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by the Tukey post-test. Significance was determined as P < 0.05.

# RESULTS

# *P. falciparum* Conditioned Medium Increases Sequestration of Infected Erythrocytes to BMEC Monolayers

Although it is well-established that iRBCs are recognized and sequestered by the endothelium, the influence of soluble compounds produced during the erythrocytic cycle in this process is still poorly known. Thus, in the first experimental group, we analyzed the influence of *P. falciparum* conditioned medium in the sequestration of Pf-iRBCs to BMEC monolayers. Conditioned medium was originated from a 24 h schizont culture (3–5% parasitemia) as described in the Material and methods section. For controls, we obtained supernatants from 24 h cultures of non-infected erythrocytes. Sub-confluent BMEC cultures were treated with the respective supernatant, overnight, and subsequently exposed to fresh Pf-iRBCs, for 1 h. We observed that the pre-incubation of BMEC with increasing proportions of the conditioned medium enhanced PfiRBC adhesion at 20% (**Figures 1A,B**). At this concentration,



**FIGURE 1** Adhesion of *Pf*-iRBCs to BMEC monolayers is increased by the supernatant from *P. falciparum* culture. BMEC were cultured in 24-well plates ( $4 \times 10^5$  cells/well) for 24 h and incubated with *Pf*-iRBCs ( $5 \times 10^4$  erythrocytes/well, 5% parasitemia). When indicated, BMEC were treated with different compounds before incubation with *Pf*-iRBCs. The adhesion index was determined by direct counting of adhered erythrocytes per BMEC, as described in the Materials and methods. **(A)** Representative images of adhesion of *Pf*-iRBCs to BMEC monolayers. Arrows indicates adhered *Pf*-iRBCs. Scale bar =  $50 \,\mu$ m. **(B)** Adhesion index was determined in BMEC preincubated or not with increasing concentrations of *Pf*-iRBC conditioned medium (CM), *overnight*, before incubation with *Pf*-iRBCs. **(C)** Adhesion index was determined in BMECs preincubated or not with 20% control medium (CT-M), 20% *Pf*-iRBC conditioned medium (CM) or  $10^{-7}$  M BK before incubation with *Pf*-iRBCs. **(D,E)** Effect of  $10^{-7}$  M DALBK or  $10^{-7}$  M HOE-140 on the adhesion of *Pf*-iRBCs to BMEC. BMECs were pretreated with drugs for 30 min prior to overnight incubation with conditioned medium **(D)** or BK **(E)**. CT-M, control medium, obtained from a suspension of non-infected erythrocytes; CM, *P. falciparum* conditioned medium; RBC, basal adherence of non-infected erythrocytes; *Pf*-iRBCs, *P. falciparum*-infected erythrocytes. Results are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM from three different experiments. \*Statistically significant differences compared with RBCs, #statistically significant different compared with RBCs (*P* < 0.05).

the conditioned medium produced 2-fold increase in PfiRBCs binding to endothelial cells. The stimulatory effect of the conditioned medium was comparable to the effect of addition of  $10^{-7}$  M BK alone (Figure 1C). To characterize the receptors activated by the parasite conditioned medium, we preincubated the monolayer of BMECs with  $10^{-7}$  M DALBK (B1R antagonist) or HOE-140 (B2R antagonist) before adding the *Pf*-iRBC conditioned medium (Figure 1D) or BK (Figure 1E). Notably, both antagonists abolished the subsequent adhesion of Pf-iRBC to BMECs. Of further interest, none of these GPCR blockers changed the basal levels of adhesion of infected erythrocytes. These results suggest that the adhesion of erythrocytic stages of P. falciparum to BMECs was enhanced by kinins generated in the PfiRBC conditioned medium (30). Accordingly, when infected cultures enriched with mature forms of the parasite were incubated with 70 µg/mL HK-Alexa Fluor 488, we observed the fluorescent substrate inside infected cells, revealed by immunofluorescence, but not in non-infected erythrocytes (Figure 2).

## *P. falciparum* Conditioned Medium Directly Induces Permeability of the BMEC Monolayer

Using fluorimetry and album-FITC as a macromolecular tracer, we sought to measure the permeability of a confluent BMEC monolayer prepared in a transwell system. The permeability measurements were made after incubating the BMEC monolayer overnight with 20% *P. falciparum* conditioned medium vs. 20% control medium (CT-M) obtained from 24 h culture of non-infected erythrocytes. Our results showed that the conditioned medium induced a 10-fold increase in BMEC permeability over the effect of the control (**Figure 3**). Of note, the intensity of the permeability response induced by Pf-iRBC conditioned medium was equivalent to responses induced by  $10^{-7}$  M BK

alone (**Figure 3**). Importantly, addition of the B2R antagonist HOE-140  $(10^{-7} \text{ M})$  stabilized the barrier function in BMECs incubated either with BK or parasite-conditioned medium. As observed in the results obtained in the endothelial cell adhesion assay, we found that the B1R blocker DALBK  $(10^{-7} \text{ M})$  partially protected the barrier from the permeability-inducing signals generated in the parasite-conditioned medium or BK (**Figure 3**). Hence, these pharmacological studies linked



**FIGURE 3** | *P. falciparum* conditioned medium induces endothelial barrier disruption in a BKR-dependent manner. Confluent BMEC monolayers, cultivated in the upper chamber of a transwell system, were pretreated or not with  $10^{-7}$  M HOE140 or  $10^{-7}$  M DALBK, for 30 min, before overnight incubation with 20% conditioned medium or  $10^{-7}$  M BK. The next day, cells were washed and incubated with  $15 \,\mu$ g/mL BSA-FITC, for 15 min. The supernatant from the lower chamber was collected for fluorimetry analysis. Bar graph representing the amount of fluorescence detected in the lower chamber for each experimental setup. Albumin permeability was expressed in arbitrary units as the mean  $\pm$  SE of at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance compared with 'control; #BK or conditioned medium (P < 0.05).











**FIGURE 5** Proposed model for the effect of kinins liberated in the supernatant of cultures of *P. falciparum*-infected erythrocytes in the sequestration of iRBCs and endothelial permeability. Erythrocytes that freely traffic in the blood flow acquire adherent properties during *P. falciparum* malaria infection. PfEMP-1 expressed in the surface of infected erythrocytes is recognized by receptors in the endothelium promoting parasite sequestration. Kinins accumulated in the plasma, through B2R activation, enhances *Pf*-iRBC sequestration within the microvasculature and induce disruption of the endothelial junctions culminating in leakage.

the increased permeability response induced by the *Pf*-iRBC conditioned medium to BMEC activation via the kinin/ BKRs pathways.

# Kinins/B2R Axis Induces Permeability by Changing Morphological Distribution of Proteins From the Intercellular Junction

To further investigate the impact of the conditioned medium in BMEC permeability, we examined the morphological distribution of the components involved in the formation of interendothelial junction, e.g., ZO-1 and β-catenin. Typically, these proteins clearly co-localize in the periphery of the cell maintaining the integrity of the endothelial monolayer. However, in the presence of the parasite-conditioned medium (but not erythrocytes control medium) ZO-1 and  $\beta$ -catenin staining pattern was not clearly visualized. Consistent with the opening of intercellular gaps, these results suggested that the barrier function of the BMECs was disrupted (Figure 4A). Importantly, the steady-state localization of ZO-1 and  $\beta$ -catenin were restored by  $10^{-7}$ M HOE-140, hence reinforcing the conclusion that kinins, acting via B2R, are responsible for the permeabilityinducing properties of the Pf-iRBC conditioned medium (Figure 4A). In parallel, the direct effect of  $10^{-7}$ M BK on the structural assembly of the intercellular junction was evaluated. BK, through B2R activation, reproduced similar results compared with the addition of Pf-iRBC supernatant (Figure 4B).

Collectively, our results suggest that kinins generated during cultivation of *P. falciparum* erythrocytic stages might contribute to the pathogenesis of CM via two distinct, but not mutually exclusive activation pathways. The released BK (i) might favor *Pf*-iRBC sequestration within the microvasculature and (ii) disrupt the integrity of the endothelial junctions, inducing interstitial edema (**Figure 5**). Both mechanisms seem to be dependent on B2R activation.

# DISCUSSION

Although sequestration of erythrocytic stages of *P. falciparum* is thought to be a crucial event in the pathogenesis of CM (7), the hemostatic derangements are thought to be aggravated by formation of microthrombi, local or systemic production of proinflammatory cytokines. Despite progress in the molecular characterization of the parasite factors that promote adhesive interactions of *Pf*-iRBC with the endothelium (40, 41), the lack of experimental models to investigate the dynamics of infection by human species of *Plasmodium* has limited progress in this field. *In vitro* experiments using mature forms (schizonts) of parasitized erythrocytes showed upregulated endothelial expression of tissue factor, a trigger of fibrin-formation via the extrinsic pathway of coagulation (27). Multiple mechanisms may promote intravascular activation of the contact system (intrinsic pathway) following the sequestration of *Pf*-iRBC in

the cerebral microvessels. For example, it is well-established that formation of microthrombi is potentiated by fibrin as a result of contact system activation by negatively charged platforms (26–29). Along similar lines, DNA associated to neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) was also identified as a trigger of Factor XII, the serine protease that generates plasma kallikrein, the main BK-forming serine protease in the blood (15, 42).

Early *in vitro* studies performed by our group revealed that parasitized erythrocytes might modulate immunity and vascular homeostasis via activation of the reninangiotensin system (RAS) (11–13). Given awareness that the hypertensive ACE efficiently degrades kinins, follow up studies performed with ACE inhibitors identified the presence of this nanopeptide in the parasite conditioned medium (31). Interestingly, in this context, independent studies by Bagnaresi et al. (30) demonstrated that high molecular weight kininogen is internalized and processed by E-64sensitive kinin releasing cysteine proteases in different species of *Plasmodium*.

Although we did not investigate the mechanisms by which *P. falciparum* might generate kinins in the conditioned medium, the levels of this short-lived nanopeptide were sufficiently high to destabilize endothelial junctions and promote enhanced diffusion of the albumin-FITC tracer through the BMECs. B1R antagonist (DALBK) inhibited the adhesion of *Pf*-iRBCs to the endothelial cells as efficiently as B2R antagonist (HOE-140). Also, both antagonists efficiently rescued the barrier function of BMECs, along with the restoration of the peripheral staining of  $\beta$ -catenin and ZO-1 in the BMECs. In summary, our results suggest that kinins generated by erythrocytic stages of *P. falciparum* might disrupt BBB integrity following parasite sequestration in microvessels.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

Healthy volunteers were randomly selected for collection of A+ blood samples. All procedures were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Hospital Universitário Clementino Fraga Filho from the Federal University of Rio de Janeiro (Permit Number 074/10). All volunteers provided written informed consent for the collection and subsequent use of the samples to maintain parasite cultures.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LS performed all experiments, collected, organized and analyzed all data. ASP and DT performed all cell cultures, parasite synchronization, and adhesion experiments. RS-A performed immunofluorescence experiments and helped with data organization. DP helped with drafting and revision of the manuscript. JS and CC-N helped with data interpretation, drafting, and revision of the manuscript; AASP conceived and designed the work, drafted, and revised the manuscript.

### FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the following Brazilian agencies: Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (www.cnpq.br) 304682/2015-2 (AASP); 303793/2015-5 (CC-N); and Fundação Carlos Chagas Filho de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de

## REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. WHO World Malaria Report. Geneva: World Health Organization (2017).
- Trampuz A, Jereb M, Muzlovic I, Prabhu RM. Clinical review: severe malaria. Crit Care. (2003) 7:315–23. doi: 10.1186/cc2183
- Idro R, Marsh K, John CC, Newton CR. Cerebral malaria: mechanisms of brain injury and strategies for improved neurocognitive outcome. *Pediatr Res.* (2010) 68:267–74. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e3181eee738
- Murray CJ, Rosenfeld LC, Lim SS, Andrews KG, Foreman KJ, Haring D, et al. Global malaria mortality between 1980 and 2010: a systematic analysis. *Lancet*. (2012) 379:413–31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60034-8
- Murray CJ, Ortblad KF, Guinovart C, Lim SS, Wolock TM, Roberts DA, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence and mortality for HIV, tuberculosis, and malaria during 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet*. (2014) 384:1005–70. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60844-8
- Ashley EA, Pyae Phyo A, Woodrow CJ. Malaria. Lancet. (2018) 391:1608–21. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30324-6
- O'Sullivan JM, O'Donnell JS. Platelets in malaria pathogenesis. Blood. (2018) 132:1222-4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-08-865618
- McMorran BJ, Wieczorski L, Drysdale KE, Chan JA, Huang HM, Smith C, et al. Platelet factor 4 and Duffy antigen required for platelet killing of *Plasmodium falciparum. Science.* (2012) 338:1348–51. doi: 10.1126/science.1228892
- 9. Ghazanfari N, Mueller SN, Heath WR. Cerebral malaria in mouse and man. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2016. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02016
- Hoch NE, Guzik TJ, Chen W, Deans T, Maalouf SA, Gratze P, et al. Regulation of T-cell function by endogenously produced angiotensin II. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. (2009) 296:R208–216. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90521.2008
- Silva-Filho JL, Souza MC, Henriques MG, Morrot A, Savino W, Nunes MP, et al. AT1 receptor-mediated angiotensin II activation and chemotaxis of T lymphocytes. *Mol Immunol.* (2011) 48:1835–43. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2011.05.008
- Silva-Filho JL, Caruso-Neves C, Pinheiro AAS. Angiotensin II type-1 receptor (AT1R) regulates expansion, differentiation, and functional capacity of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:35997. doi: 10.1038/srep 35997
- Silva-Filho JL, Caruso-Neves C, Pinheiro AAS. Targeting angiotensin II type-1 receptor (AT1R) inhibits the harmful phenotype of plasmodium-specific CD8+ T cells during blood-stage malaria. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*. (2017) 7:42. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00042
- Silva-Filho JL, Souza MC, Ferreira-Dasilva CT, Silva LS, Costa MF, Padua TA, et al. Angiotensin II is a new component involved in splenic T lymphocyte responses during *Plasmodium berghei* ANKA infection. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e62999. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062999
- Schmaier AH. The contact activation and kallikrein/kinin systems: pathophysiologic and physiologic activities. J Thromb Haemost. (2016) 14:28–39. doi: 10.1111/jth.13194
- Oehmcke S, Herwald H. Contact system activation in severe infectious diseases. J Mol Med. (2010) 88:121–6. doi: 10.1007/s00109-009-0564-y

Janeiro–FAPERJ (www.faperj.br): E-26/202.950/2016 (AASP); E-26/202.833/2017 (CC-N).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Guacyara da Motta from Federal University of São Paulo to gently provide the HK-Alexa Fluor 488 for the HK-Alexa Fluor 488 uptake assay and Mr. Mario Luiz da Silva Bandeira (Faperj fellowships) for the technical support.

- Scharfstein J, Ramos PIP, Barral-Netto M. G protein-coupled kinin receptors and immunity against pathogens. *Adv Immunol.* (2017) 136:29–84. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2017.05.007
- Scharfstein J. Subverting bradykinin-evoked inflammation by co-opting the contact system: lessons from survival strategies of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. *Curr Opin Hematol.* (2018) 25:347–57. doi: 10.1097/MOH.00000000000444
- Milner DA Jr. Rethinking cerebral malaria pathology. Curr Opin Infect Dis. (2010) 23:456–63. doi: 10.1097/QCO.0b013e32833c3dbe
- White NJ, Turner GDH, Medana IM, Dondorp AM, Day NPJ. The murine cerebral malaria phenomenon. *Trends Parasitol.* (2010) 26:11–5. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2009.10.007
- Silamut K, Phu NH, Whitty C, Turner GD, Louwrier K, Mai NT, et al. A quantitative analysis of the microvascular sequestration of malaria parasites in the human brain. *Am J Pathol.* (1999) 155:395–410. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65136-X
- Barber BE, William T, Grigg MJ, Parameswaran U, Piera KA, Price RN, et al. Parasite biomass-related inflammation, endothelial activation, microvascular dysfunction and disease severity in vivax malaria. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004558. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004558
- Desruisseaux MS, Machado FS, Weiss LM, Tanowitz HB, Golightly LM. Cerebral malaria: a vasculopathy. *Am J Pathol.* (2010) 176:1075–8. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.091090
- Cabrales P, Zanini GM, Meays D, Frangos JA, Carvalho LJ. Murine cerebral malaria is associated with a vasospasm-like microcirculatory dysfunction, and survival upon rescue treatment is markedly increased by nimodipine. *Am J Pathol.* (2010) 176:1306–15. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090691
- Nacer A, Movila A, Baer K, Mikolajczak SA, Kappe SH, Frevert U. Neuroimmunological blood brain barrier opening in experimental cerebral malaria. *PLoS Pathog.* (2012) 8:e1002982. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002982
- Eda S, Sherman IW. Cytoadherence of malaria-infected red blood cells involves exposure of phosphatidylserine. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2002) 12:373– 84. doi: 10.1159/000067908
- Francischetti IM, Seydel KB, Monteiro RQ. Blood coagulation, inflammation, and malaria. *Microcirculation*. (2008) 15:81–107. doi: 10.1080/10739680701451516
- Burnier L, Fontana P, Kwak BR, Angelillo-Scherrer A. Cell-derived microparticles in haemostasis and vascular medicine. *Thromb Haemost.* (2009) 101:439–51. doi: 10.1160/TH08-08-0521
- Lang PA, Kasinathan RS, Brand VB, Duranton C, Lang C, Koka S, et al. Accelerated clearance of *Plasmodium*-infected erythrocytes in sickle cell trait and annexin-A7 deficiency. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2009) 24:415–28. doi: 10.1159/000257529
- Bagnaresi P, Barros NM, Assis DM, Melo PM, Fonseca RG, Juliano MA, et al. Intracellular proteolysis of kininogen by malaria parasites promotes release of active kinins. *Malar J.* (2012) 11:156. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-11-156
- Silva LS, Peruchetti DB, Silva CTF, Ferreira-DaSilva AT, Perales J, Caruso-Neves C, et al. Interaction between bradykinin B2 and Ang-(1-7) Mas receptors regulates erythrocyte invasion by Plasmodium falciparum. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2016) 1860:2438–44. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.20 16.07.011
- 32. Grab DJ, Garcia-Garcia JC, Nikolskaia OV, Kim YV, Brown A, Pardo CA, et al. Protease activated receptor signaling is required for African trypanosome

traversal of human brain microvascular endothelial cells. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2009) 3:e479. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000479

- Nikolskaia OV, Lima AP, Kim YV, Lonsdale-Eccles JD, Fukuma T, et al. Bloodbrain barrier traversal by African trypanosomes requires calcium signaling induced by parasite cysteine protease. *J Clin Invest.* (2006) 116:2739–47. doi: 10.1172/JCI27798.
- Trager W, Jensen JB. Human malaria parasites in continuous culture. Science. (1976) 193:673–5. doi: 10.1126/science.781840
- Lambros C, Vanderberg JP. Synchronization of *Plasmodium falciparum* erythrocytic stages in culture. *J Parasitol.* (1979) 65:418–20. doi: 10.2307/3280287
- 36. Souza MC, Paixão FH, Ferraris FK, Ribeiro I, Henriques Md. Artesunate exerts a direct effect on endothelial cell activation and nf-κb translocation in a mechanism independent of plasmodium killing. *Malar Res Treat.* (2012) 2012:679090. doi: 10.1155/2012/679090
- Khoy K, Nguyen MVC, Masson D, Bardy B, Drouet C, Paclet MH. Transfusion-related acute lung injury: critical neutrophil activation by anti-HLA-A2 antibodies for endothelial permeability. *Transfusion*. (2017) 57:1699–708. doi: 10.1111/trf.14134
- Peruchetti DB, Silva-Aguiar RP, Siqueira GM, Dias WB, Caruso-Neves C. High glucose reduces megalin-mediated albumin endocytosis in renal proximal tubule cells through protein kinase B O-GlcNAcylation. *J Biol Chem.* (2018) 293:11388–400. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA117.001337
- Silva-Aguiar RP, Bezerra NCF, Lucena MC, Sirtoli GM, Sudo RT, Zapata-Sudo G, et al. O-GlcNAcylation reduces proximal tubule proteinreabsorption and

promotes proteinuria in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *J Biol Chem.* (2018) 293:12749–58. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.001746

- Gillrie MR, Ho M. Dynamic interactions of *Plasmodium* spp. with vascular endothelium. *Tissue Barriers*. (2017) 5:e1268667. doi: 10.1080/21688370.2016.1268667
- Helms G, Dasanna AK, Schwarz US, Lanzer M. Modeling cytoadhesion of *Plasmodium falciparum*-infected erythrocytes and leukocytes-common principles and distinctive features. *FEBS Lett.* (2016) 590:1955–71. doi: 10.1002/1873-3468.12142
- 42. Schmaier AH. Plasma prekallikrein: its role in hereditary angioedema and health and disease. *Front Med.* (2018) 5:3. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2 018.00003

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Silva, Pinheiro, Teixeira, Silva-Aguiar, Peruchetti, Scharfstein, Caruso-Neves and Pinheiro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Hereditary Angioedema-Associated Acute Pancreatitis in C1-Inhibitor Deficient and Normal C1-Inhibitor Patients: Case Reports and Literature Review

Camila Lopes Veronez<sup>1</sup>, Régis Albuquerque Campos<sup>2</sup>, Rosemeire Navickas Constantino-Silva<sup>3</sup>, Priscila Nicolicht<sup>1</sup>, João Bosco Pesquero<sup>1</sup> and Anete Sevciovic Grumach<sup>3\*</sup>

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Evi X. Stavrou, Case Western Reserve University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Coen Maas, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands Marc Riedl, University of California, San Diego, United States

\*Correspondence:

Anete Sevciovic Grumach asgrumach@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 19 December 2018 Accepted: 01 April 2019 Published: 17 April 2019

#### Citation:

Veronez CL, Campos RA, Constantino-Silva RN, Nicolicht P, Pesquero JB and Grumach AS (2019) Hereditary Angioedema-Associated Acute Pancreatitis in C1-Inhibitor Deficient and Normal C1-Inhibitor Patients: Case Reports and Literature Review. Front. Med. 6:80. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00080 <sup>1</sup> Department of Biophysics, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> Department of Clinical Immunology, Universidade Federal da Bahia, Salvador, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> Department of Clinical Immunology, Faculdade de Medicina ABC, Santo André, Brazil

Abdominal pain due to intestinal swellings is one of the most common manifestations in hereditary angioedema (HAE). Bowel swellings can cause severe abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea, which may lead to misdiagnosis of gastrointestinal disorders. In rare cases, HAE abdominal attacks can be accompanied by acute pancreatitis. Here, we report 3 patients with HAE and acute pancreatitis and present a literature review of similar cases. Patients with confirmed diagnosis of HAE secondary to C1-inhibitor (C1-INH) deficiency (n = 2) and HAE with normal C1-INH and F12 mutation (F12-HAE) (n = 1) were included. Pancreatitis was diagnosed based on clinical symptoms and high lipase and amylase levels. Three HAE patients were diagnosed with acute pancreatitis based on increased amylase levels during severe abdominal swelling episodes. Two were previously diagnosed with HAE type I and one with F12-HAE. Pancreatitis was efficiently treated in two patients using loatibant, with pain relief within hours. When conservatively treated, pancreatitis pain took longer time to resolve. Eighteen pancreatitis cases in HAE with C1-INH deficiency were previously reported and none in F12-HAE. Most patients (12/18) underwent invasive procedures and/or diagnostic methods. Although rare, severe abdominal HAE attacks could cause pancreatitis; HAE-specific treatments may be efficient for HAE-associated pancreatitis. HAE should be considered as a differential diagnosis of acute idiopathic pancreatitis. To our knowledge, this is the first report of HAE-associated pancreatitis in a F12-HAE patient treated with Icatibant.

Keywords: hereditary angioedema, acute pancreatitis, abdominal swelling, C1-inhibitor deficiency, F12 mutation

Hereditary angioedema (HAE) is an autosomal dominant disease caused mostly by deleterious mutations in the gene encoding the C1-inhibitor (C1-INH) (C1-INH-HAE). It occurs in quantitative and functional C1-INH deficiency (type I) or functional C1-INH deficiency (type II) (OMIM #106100) (1). Another group of patients present with clinical characteristics of HAE with normal C1-INH (2). In these cases, HAE can be caused by specific mutations in *F12* gene (F12-HAE) (OMIM #610618) (2). Recently, HAE with normal C1-INH has been linked to mutations in genes encoding plasminogen (3) and angiopoietin 1 (4), however, there are still patients with unknown genetic cause.

The characteristic symptoms are nonpruritic and nonpitting swelling of submucosal or subcutaneous tissues involving the face, hands, feet, arms, legs, intestines, genitourinary tract, and upper airways, which can be life threatening (5). HAE symptoms generally last 2–5 days before resolving spontaneously without treatment; the most common trigger factors include emotional stress, infections, trauma, medical and surgical procedures, and estrogens (1, 5).

Abdominal pain is one of the most common manifestations of HAE (5, 6). Bowel swellings can cause severe abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. These symptoms may lead to misdiagnosis of gastrointestinal disorders; consequently, patients are frequently submitted to invasive procedures and unnecessary surgeries (5–7). In rare cases, HAE abdominal attacks can be accompanied by acute pancreatitis; this association is not fully understood and/or documented. Herein, we described 3 patients with HAE who presented with pancreatitis and abdominal attacks concomitantly and a review of other cases previously described in the literature.

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of ethical standards of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee in Research of Universidade Federal de São Paulo (n°56522). Written informed consent for publication was obtained from all the participants of this case report.

# **CASE PRESENTATION**

### Case 1

A 21-year-old male patient presented to the emergency with severe abdominal pain of 7 h and 8 vomiting episodes. The first test showed normal amylase (93 U/L; normal 30-110 U/L) and slightly augmented lipase levels (332 U/L; normal 23-300 U/L). Analgesics were administered with partial improvement of pain. The second test performed 8 h after patient's admission revealed increase in levels of amylase to 292 U/L and lipase to 1,159 U/L, indicating acute pancreatitis. An increased volume of pancreatic tail, but no gallbladder, was observed through endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed intestinal swelling. Two years before this episode of pancreatitis, he had been diagnosed with HAE type I, characterized by low C1-INH and C4 levels. The onset of HAE occurred at 1 year of age and consisted of facial edema triggered by trauma. Since then, he has been presenting with intermittent and irregular swelling episodes of the hands and feet, abdominal pain, and 3 episodes of upper airway edema. Due to HAE diagnosis, Icatibant (30 mg) was administered 19 h after admission, and the pain significantly reduced within 3 h. Amylase (69 U/L; normal 30–110 U/L) and lipase (165 U/L; normal 23–300 U/L) normalized 18 h after Icatibant injection and the patient was discharged the next day.

# Case 2

A 47-year-old female patient with C1-INH-HAE diagnosed 8 years earlier, presented to the emergency department with distended abdomen and severe abdominal pain lasting 24h. The first test revealed increased amylase 210 U/L (normal 28-100 U/L), which considering a longer duration of abdominal pain indicated the development of pancreatitis. Since the hospital located in the North of Brazil had no vacancy, a single dose of Icatibant (30 mg) provided by the patient was administered and she was subsequently discharged. The next day, she presented with almost complete relief from the abdominal pain; in a total of 7 days, amylase and lipase reduced to normal levels. This patient has been presenting with recurrent angioedema attacks in the abdomen, face, limbs, and a few episodes in the upper airways, since she was 28-year-old. At that age, she underwent appendectomy and was misdiagnosed with Familial Mediterranean Fever. Only after 11 years, was she correctly diagnosed with C1-INH-HAE, confirmed using low C4 (6 mg/dL; normal 10-40 mg/dL) and C1-INH plasma levels (2 mg/dL; normal 19-40 mg/dL). She was treated with a prophylactic use of plasma-derived C1-INH and Icatibant during the attacks.

# Case 3

A 52-year-old female patient with F12-HAE (mutation p.Thr328Lys) had the onset of angioedema attacks at 16 years of age, during her first pregnancy. Symptoms were edema affecting the face, hands, and feet and abdominal pain. Currently, angioedema episodes occur monthly despite tranexamic acid prophylaxis (500 mg/day), mostly affecting gastrointestinal tract. Recently, one abdominal attack required 4 days of hospitalization. Pancreatitis was diagnosed using acute abdominal pain, high serum amylase levels (391 U/L; normal 25–125 U/L), and pathological signs at abdominal ultrasonography (US). She had normal leucocyte and platelet counts, total bilirubin, and aspartate aminotransferase. She was conservatively treated for pancreatitis due to the lack of the specific medication for HAE.

# DISCUSSION

Acute pancreatitis is diagnosed if a patient presents with at least two of the following characteristics: (a) severe and persistent acute abdominal pain, (b) high serum lipase and/or amylase (3 times the normal upper limit), (c) and/or characteristic findings of pancreatitis on imaging tests (computed tomography, MRI, or US) (8). In addition, if the major and minor risk factors for acute pancreatitis is absent, like gallstones and alcohol misuse,

Herefores     N/gender       Case 1     1/M       Case 2     1/F       Case 3     1/F       Brickman et al. (10)     3/ ND       Cutler et al. (11)     1/F       Matesic et al. (12)     1/M	<	type	Amylase (IU/L) (normal range)	Lipase (IU/L) (normal range)	Prophylactic treatment	Ellect	invasive procedures
n et al. (10) t al. (11) et al. (12)	21						
n et al. (10) t al. (11) et al. (12)	!	_	292 (30–110)	1,159 (23–300)	Icatibant (30 mg)	Significant abdominal pain relief within 3h.	ERCP.
an et al. (10) t al. (11) : et al. (12)	47	-	210 (28–100)	QN	Icatibant (30 mg)	Alleviation of symptoms in hour and resolution in 48 h.	Appendectomy.
Ó	52	E12-HAE	391 (25-125)	QN	Withholding food intake, intravenous hydration, analgesics.	Improvement in a few days.	DN
	QN	-	Q	QN	ND	ND	Abdominal surgery in 2 patients. Marsupialization.
	44	-	95–100; 150 (<85)	400 (0-210)	Danazol, diphenhydramine, corticotropin, propranolol, hydrocortisone.	Unsuccessful	Esophagogastroduodenoscopy, ERCP, appendectomy, tonsillectomy.
	40	-	1,117 (0–130)	11,485 (0–95)	Intravenous hydration, antibiotic prophylaxis, analgesics, nasogastric decompression, proton pump inhibitor. Prophylactic danazol (200 mg/day).	Marked improvement in 3 days. Resolution in 7 days.	Esophagogastroduodenoscopy, ERCP.
Chung et al. (22) 1/F	51	QN	369	1,735	Withholding food intake, intravenous hydration, analgesics. Prophylactic danazol.	Improvement in a few days.	QN
Majoni and Smith (13) 1/M	43	-	340 (35–110)	Q	C1-INH concentrate. Discharged of danazol due to renal impairment.	Abdominal pain resolved in 24 h. Normalization of amylase in 3 days. Resolution in 7 days.	Tonsillectomy, appendectomy.
Marín Garcia et al. (14) 1/M	49	=	445 (25–115)	2,342 (114–286)	ND Prophylactic tranexamic acid (20 mg/day) after discharge.	Q	Tonsillectomy, endoscopy.
Cancian et al. (15) 1/F	32	-	Q	Q	C1-INH concentrate (18 U/kg).	Alleviation of symptoms in 30 min and resolution in 16 h. Normalization of amylase in 24 h.	QN
Czaller et al. (16) 1/F	29	-	2,615 (28–100 U/L)	1,452 (13–60 U/L)	C1-INH concentrate (500 IU) twice, methimazole sodium, drotaverine. Decembratio docazol	Alleviation of symptoms in 4 h and resolution in 24 h.	Appendectomy.
Ben Maamer et al. (1 7) 1./F	73	-	869 U/L	1,235 U/L	Propriytation darrazion. Intravenous fluids, antibiotic prophylaxis, analgesics, nasogastric decompression, proton pump inhibitor. Prophylactic danazol (200 mg/day).	Alleviation of symptoms in 5 days. Discharge after 14 days.	Esophagogastroduodenoscopy.

 TABLE 1 | Case reports of pancreatitis in HAE patients.

References	N°/gender Age,y	Age,y	HAE type	Amylase (IU/L) (normal range)	Lipase (IU/L) (normal range)	Treatment for attacks / Prophylactic treatment	Effect	Invasive procedures
Berger et al. (18)	M/F	Ø	-	1,440 (10–100 U/L)	180 (16–65 U/L)	Fluids, papaverin, Iow-fat diet (before HAE diagnostic). C1-INH concentrate (after HAE diagnostic).	Alleviation of symptoms, normalization of amylase and lipase levels. Disappearance of symptoms within minutes.	Cholecystectomy.
Loudin et al. (19)	1/F	20	_	QN	663 IU/L	C1-INH concentrate (20 mg/kg).	Disappearance of symptoms after 30 min. Lipase decreased to 142 IU/L.	Cholecystectomy, endoscopic ultrasound.
Aksoy et al. (20)	1/M	55	_	QN	QN	ND Prophylactic danazol (200 mg/day).	ND Free of symptoms (3-month follow-up).	Laparotomy, partial omentectomy.
Hirose et al. (21)	1/ND	QN	I or II	ND	QN	DN	ND	QN

and hereditary or drug-induced pancreatitis, other uncommon causes must be considered for an effective management (9).

The first report of pancreatitis associated with HAE is from 1986, which describes 3 C1-INH-HAE patients with recurrent abdominal attacks found to develop idiopathic chronic pancreatitis (10). In the sequence, more 12 independent cases have been reported, all are C1-INH-HAE (11–22) (**Table 1**). Although abdominal attacks are quite frequent among the different types of HAE, monitoring pancreatic enzymes is not routinely performed. Aksoy et al. (20) described a male patient diagnosed with HAE type I only after presenting with 4–5 episodes of abdominal pain and pancreatitis, despite that swelling of the face, lips, and tongue had occurred in the first attack (20). In another report, a 6-year-old boy with acute pancreatitis was diagnosed with HAE only after 10 hospitalizations in a period of 18 months. Within this period, this patient underwent cholecystectomy, however, no gallstones were found (16).

Not only is pancreatitis underdiagnosed, HAE patients frequently undergo invasive or improper diagnostic methods and treatments (5, 23), especially when they present with isolated or predominantly abdominal swellings. Patient 2 underwent appendectomy and spent years relying on a wrong diagnosis. In Case 1, the patient was submitted to an ERCP during the pancreatitis investigation. Likewise, in the other 15 published cases, 7 invasive diagnostic procedures and 12 surgeries possibly related to HAE had been done (**Table 1**). These include 3 appendectomies and 3 tonsillectomies, 2 cholecystectomies, 2 non-specified abdominal surgeries, 1 laparotomy, 1 omentectomy, and 1 marsupialization (**Table 1**). In a prospective study, one Japanese patient presented with acute abdomen with intestinal edema; acute pancreatitis was newly diagnosed with C1-INH-HAE (21).

Patients with HAE and normal C1-INH present with similar clinical manifestations as HAE-C1-INH ones. Some authors described facial edema as the most frequent event among F12-HAE (24), nevertheless, we observed that more than 60% of these patients had recurrent abdominal swellings (6). Here, we report the first patient with pancreatitis associated with HAE attack.

During HAE attacks, the obstruction of pancreatic duct or ampulla of Vater can result from duodenal edema, the most probable cause of pancreatitis in this situation. Pancreatic edema itself is not reported in HAE. Aksoy et al. (20) reported mild pancreatic duct dilation and side duct ectasia using magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography during an HAE-associated pancreatitis episode, supporting the hypothesis that obstruction of pancreatic duct is responsible for pancreatitis in HAE (20); however, in other case reports, pancreatic duct presented normal (12, 17, 19). The obstruction of pancreatic duct causes the blockage of pancreatic secretion, leading to zymogen granules fusion with lysosomes, trypsinogen activation, and autodigestive injury of acinar cells, stimulating inflammatory response (9).

Since angioedema attacks resolve spontaneously in 2–5 days, HAE-associated acute pancreatitis should also disappear within a few days. This was observed in Case 3, and in the reviewed cases in which pancreatitis was treated conservatively (11, 12, 17, 18). However, we cannot establish if the episode described in Case 3 is a pancreatitis associated with an HAE swelling,

or a single acute pancreatitis, since no specific medication was administered. Indeed, as well as HAE abdominal attacks are frequently misdiagnosed and mistreated, a comprehensive evaluation of abdominal pain in HAE patients unsuccessfully treated with specific medication should be performed.

When specific treatment for acute HAE attacks was administered (C1-INH replacement), the alleviation and resolution of symptoms was remarkably faster, within hours to a maximum of 1 day (13, 15, 16, 18, 19). C1-INH administration was beneficial in different experimental animal models of pancreatitis (25–27), but ineffective in others (28). Although the benefits of C1-INH therapy are questionable in general pancreatitis, the cases here reviewed indicate good efficacy in HAE-associated pancreatitis.

For the first time, we observed improvement of clinical symptoms caused by abdominal pain and pancreatitis with the administration of Icatibant, a specific antagonist of bradykinin B2 receptor, in Cases 1 and 2. B2 receptor antagonists were shown to diminish pain associated to pancreatic (29), to reduce pancreatic plasma extravasation, and pancreatic neutrophil influx (30), and to reduce serum amylase and lipase (31) in different pancreatitis-induced models. Although a direct activation of B2 receptors in pancreatitis pathogenesis can be speculated (by both circulating or local bradykinin released by tissue kallikrein), the role of the kinin system in pancreatitis is still unknown.

To our knowledge, other treatments available for acute HAE attacks have not reported for pancreatitis yet. In addition to patient from Case 1, six of the reported patients were under prophylactic treatment with danazol, an attenuated androgen which increases the production of hepatic C1-INH. On the other side, danazol can also be associated with pancreatitis development (9, 32), but in this case, pancreatitis should not resolve spontaneously. Moreover, elevated liver enzymes, a common sign of steroid injury, had been described in only one of the patients presenting pancreatitis and taking danazol (12). One of our patients (case 3) presented with high gamma-glutamyl transferase and slightly high alanine aminotransferase, but she was under long-term prophylaxis with tranexamic acid, a plasmin inhibitor, and not steroids. Moreover, we could not find a causative association between danazol prophylaxis and HAE-associated pancreatitis in any of the 18 cases described.

# REFERENCES

- Maurer M, Mager M, Ansotegui I, Aygören-Pürsün E, Betschel S, Bork K, et al. The international WAO/EAACI guideline for the management of hereditary angioedema—the 2017 revision and update. *Allergy*. (2018) 73:1575–96. doi: 10.1111/all.13384
- Zuraw BL. Hereditary angioedema with normal C1 inhibitor: four types and counting. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:884–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.01.015
- Bork K, Wulff K, Steinmüller-Magin L, Braenne I, Staubach-Renz P, Witzke G, et al. Hereditary angioedema with a mutation in the plasminogen gene. *Allergy*. (2018) 73:442–50. doi: 10.1111/all.13270

In conclusion, we present here the first description of HAE-associated acute pancreatitis in a F12-HAE patient and the first cases treated with icatibant. Although HAE attacks are rarely associated with pancreatitis, our findings and the review of literature suggest to investigate HAE in idiopathic pancreatitis. Likewise, pancreatitis signs should be searched for in severe abdominal attacks in HAE patients to avoid further complications. The efficient response to C1-INH replacement and B2 receptor antagonist (Icatibant) indicates that specific drugs for HAE attacks can be useful options for HAE-associated pancreatitis in addition to the conservative treatment.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of ethical standards of the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki with written informed consent from all subjects. The protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee in Research of Universidade Federal de São Paulo ( $n^{\circ}56522$ ).

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CV, RC-S, and PN performed the analysis and reviewed the literature. CV conceptualized and drafted the manuscript. RAC and AG performed the data collection instruments, and coordinated data collection. AG and JP conceptualized the study, coordinated and supervised data collection. All the authors drafted, reviewed and approved the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This work received grants from Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP–grants numbers 2013/02661-4, 2014/27198-8, and 2015/25494-1) and from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq–grant number 407714/2018-9).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Fernanda Gontijo Minafra Silveira Santos from the Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais for helpful discussion on clinical cases.

- Bafunno V, Firinu D, D'Apolito M, Cordisco G, Loffredo S, Leccese A, et al. Mutation of the angiopoietin-1 gene (ANGPT1) associates with a new type of hereditary angioedema. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2018) 141:1009–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.05.020
- Cicardi M, Aberer W, Banerji A, Bas M, Bernstein JA, Bork K, et al. Classification, diagnosis, and approach to treatment for angioedema: consensus report from the Hereditary Angioedema International Working Group. Allergy. (2014) 69:602–16. doi: 10.1111/all.12380
- Veronez CL, Moreno AS, Constantino-Silva RN, Maia LSM, Ferriani MPL, Castro FFM, et al. Hereditary angioedema with normal C1 inhibitor and F12 mutations in 42 brazilian families. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. (2018) 6:1209–16.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2017.09.025

- Grumach AS, Valle SO, Toledo E, de Moraes Vasconcelos D, Villela MM, Mansour E, et al. Hereditary angioedema: first report of the Brazilian registry and challenges. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* (2013) 27:e338–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2012.04670.x
- Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, Gooszen HG, Johnson CD, Sarr MG, et al. Classification of acute pancreatitis--2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. *Gut.* (2013) 62:102-11. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302779
- Lankisch PG, Apte M, Banks PA. Acute pancreatitis. *Lancet.* (2015) 386:85–96. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60649-8
- Brickman CM, Tsokos GC, Balow JE, Lawley TJ, Santaella M, Hammer CH, et al. Immunoregulatory disorders associated with hereditary angioedema. I. Clinical manifestations of autoimmune disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (1986) 77:749–57.
- 11. Cutler AF, Yousif EA, Blumenkehl ML. Hereditary angioedema associated with pancreatitis. *South Med J.* (1992) 85:1149–50.
- Matesic D, Fernández Pérez ER, Vlahakis NE, Hagan JB. Acute pancreatitis due to hereditary angioedema. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. (2006) 97:611–4. doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)61089-7
- Majoni SW, Smith SR. Membranous nephropathy in a patient with hereditary angioedema: a case report. J Med Case Rep. (2008) 2:328. doi: 10.1186/1752-1947-2-328
- Marín García D, Ceballos Torres A, Ruiz Serrato A, García Ordóñez MÁ. Acute pancreatitis associated with hereditary angioedema. *Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2010) 33:633–7. doi: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2010. 07.005
- Cancian M, Vettore G, Realdi G. An uncommon cause of acute pancreatitis. Hereditary angioedema-induced acute pancreatitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2011) 140:33,370. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.02.064
- Czaller I, Molnár K, Csuka D, Varga L, Farkas H. Successful outcome using C1inhibitor concentrate in acute pancreatitis caused by hereditary angioedema. *Gastroenterol Nurs.* (2011) 34:60–3. doi: 10.1097/SGA.0b013e3182 0b269c
- Ben Maamer A, Zaafouri H, Haoues N, Cherif A. Acute pancreatitis due to hereditary angioedema. *Tunis Med.* (2011) 89:579–80.
- Berger TD, Garty BZ. Hereditary angioedema presenting as recurrent acute pancreatitis. *Pediatrics*. (2016) 137:e20150620. doi: 10.1542/peds.20 15-0620
- Loudin M, Modiano N, Sallay S. Rapid improvement of pancreatitis secondary to hereditary angioedema with C1 inhibitor administration. *Am J Med.* (2016) 129:e75–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.02.045
- Aksoy EK, Koklu S, Ozturk O, Koklu H, Karcaaltincaba M, Sezgin O. Hereditary angioedema: a rare cause of pancreatitis. *Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol.* (2016) 40:e48–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinre.2016. 02.002
- Hirose T, Kimbara F, Shinozaki M, Mizushima Y, Yamamoto H, Kishi M, et al. Screening for hereditary angioedema (HAE) at 13 emergency centers in Osaka, Japan: a prospective observational study. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e6109. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000006109
- 22. Chung D, Busse P, Oh M. Hereditary angioedema and Pancreatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2007) 119:S273. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2006.12.438

- Giavina-Bianchi P, Arruda LK, Aun MV, Campos RA, Chong-Neto HJ, Constantino-Silva RN, et al. Brazilian guidelines for hereditary angioedema management - 2017 update part 1: definition, classification and diagnosis. *Clinics.* (2018) 73:e310. doi: 10.6061/clinics/2018/e310
- Bork K, Wulff K, Witzke G, Hardt J. Hereditary angioedema with normal C1-INH with versus without specific F12 gene mutations. *Allergy.* (2015) 70:1004–12. doi: 10.1111/all.12648
- Ruud TE, Aasen AO, Pillgram-Larsen J, Stadaas JO. Effects on peritoneal proteolysis and hemodynamics of prophylactic infusion with C1 inhibitor in experimental acute pancreatitis. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* (1986) 21:1018–24.
- Yamaguchi H, Weidenbach H, Luhrs H, Lerch MM, Dickneite G, Adler G. Combined treatment with C1 esterase inhibitor and antithrombin III improves survival in severe acute experimental pancreatitis. *Gut.* (1997) 40:531–5.
- Vesentini S, Benetti L, Bassi C, Bonora A, Campedelli A, Zamboni G, et al. Effects of cholinesterase inhibitor in experimental acute pancreatitis in rats. Preliminary results. *Int J Pancreatol.* (1993) 13:217–20.
- Niederau C, Brinsa R, Niederau M, Lüthen R, Strohmeyer G, Ferrell LD. Effects of C1-esterase inhibitor in three models of acute pancreatitis. *Int J Pancreatol.* (1995) 17:189–96.
- Chen Q, Vera-Portocarrero LP, Ossipov MH, Vardanyan M, Lai J, Porreca F. Attenuation of persistent experimental pancreatitis pain by a bradykinin B2 receptor antagonist. *Pancreas.* (2010) 39:1220–5. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e3181df1c90
- Camargo EA, Ferreira T, Ribela MT, de Nucci G, Landucci EC, Antunes E. Role of substance P and bradykinin in acute pancreatitis induced by secretory phospholipase A2. *Pancreas.* (2008) 37:50–5. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e3185d9b9b
- Hirata M1, Hayashi I, Yoshimura K, Ishii K, Soma K, Ohwada T, et al. Blockade of bradykinin B(2) receptor suppresses acute pancreatitis induced by obstruction of the pancreaticobiliary duct in rats. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2002) 135:29–36. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0704462
- Balasch J, Martinez-Román S, Carreras J, Vanrell JA. Acute pancreatitis associated with danazol treatment for endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (1994) 9:1163–5.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** AG and CV received grants from Shire International GmbH (Investigator Initiated Research-IST-BRA-000778 and IIR-BRA-002232).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Veronez, Campos, Constantino-Silva, Nicolicht, Pesquero and Grumach. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Paroxysmal Permeability Disorders: Development of a Microfluidic Device to Assess Endothelial Barrier Function

Maddalena Alessandra Wu<sup>1\*</sup>, Daria Tsvirkun<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Lionel Bureau<sup>2,3</sup>, Isabelle Boccon-Gibod<sup>5</sup>, Mehdi Inglebert<sup>2</sup>, Alain Duperray<sup>6,7</sup>, Laurence Bouillet<sup>5</sup>, Chaouqi Misbah<sup>2,3</sup> and Marco Cicardi<sup>8</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences, ASST Fatebenefratelli Sacco, Luigi Sacco Hospital, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Univ. Grenoble Alpes, LIPHY, Grenoble, France, <sup>3</sup> CNRS, LIPHY, Grenoble, France, <sup>4</sup> Belozersky Institute of Physico-chemical Biology, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia, <sup>5</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Grenoble, Grenoble, France, <sup>6</sup> Univ. Grenoble Alpes, IAB, Grenoble, France, <sup>7</sup> INSERM, IAB, Grenoble, France, <sup>8</sup> IRCCS-Istituti Clinici Scientifici Maugeri, University of Milan, Milan, Italy

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Alvin H. Schmaier, Case Western Reserve University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Andrew Yee, Baylor College of Medicine, United States Brian R. Branchford, University of Colorado Denver, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Maddalena Alessandra Wu maddalena.wu@unimi.it; maddalena.ale.wu@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 13 December 2018 Accepted: 09 April 2019 Published: 24 April 2019

#### Citation:

Wu MA, Tsvirkun D, Bureau L, Boccon-Gibod I, Inglebert M, Duperray A, Bouillet L, Misbah C and Cicardi M (2019) Paroxysmal Permeability Disorders: Development of a Microfluidic Device to Assess Endothelial Barrier Function. Front. Med. 6:89. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00089 **Background:** Paroxysmal Permeability Disorders (PPDs) are pathological conditions caused by periodic short lasting increase of endothelial permeability, in the absence of inflammatory, degenerative, ischemic vascular injury. PPDs include primary angioedema, idiopathic systemic capillary leak syndrome and some rare forms of localized retroperitoneal-mediastinal edema.

Aim: to validate a microfluidic device to study endothelial permeability in flow conditions.

**Materials and Methods:** we designed a microchannel network (the smallest channel is  $30\mu$ m square section). Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs) were cultured under constant shear stress in the networks. Endothelial permeability assessment was based on interaction of biotinylated fibronectin used as a matrix for HUVECs and FITC-conjugated avidin. The increase in endothelial permeability was identified as changes in fluorescence intensity detected by confocal fluorescent microscopy.

**Results:** The microchannels were constantly perfused with a steady flow of culture medium, ensuring a physiologically relevant level of shear stress at the wall of  $\sim$ 0.2 Pa. Our preliminary results demonstrated that circulation of culture medium or plasma from healthy volunteers was associated with low fluorescence of fibronectin matrix. When bradykinin diluted in culture medium was perfused, an increase in average fluorescence was detected.

**Conclusion:** Our microvasculature model is suitable to study endothelial functions in physiological flow conditions and in the presence of factors like bradykinin known as mediator of several PPDs. Therefore, it can be a promising tool to better understand the mechanisms underlying disorders of endothelial permeability.

Keywords: endothelial permeability, endothelial function, Paroxysmal Permeability Disorders, microfluidic device, microchip, shear stress, angioedema, idiopathic systemic capillary leak syndrome

# BACKGROUND

The vascular endothelium is considered as a complex organ, which is responsible for the dynamic control of vessel functions, such as the transport of fluids and proteins from the intrato the extravascular space (and vice versa), the modulation of the immune response, the regulation of the balance between procoagulant and anticoagulant factors, nutrients' trafficking, angiogenesis and the orchestration of organ development (1). The endothelium is continuously exposed to shear stress and changes in pressure, including rhythmic fluctuations due to heart beating. Endothelial cells (ECs) are physiologically separated by an intercellular space of 6-8 nm. ECs' membrane proteins allow tightly controlled and regulated passage of water, gases, electrolytes and small molecules through this intercellular space. Fluid exchange between intravascular and extravascular space occurs via diffusion and filtration. Proteins cross the vascular wall via either paracellular and transcellular pathways. The first one is controlled by the dynamic opening and closing of interendothelial junctions (2), the latter includes vesicular transport systems, fenestrae, and biochemical transporters (3).

The sieving properties and permeability of the endothelium depend on the function of specialized selective junctional regions which link ECs one to another. These junction regions are organized mainly by two types of contacts with different functions: adherens junctions (AJs) initiate cell-to-cell contacts and promote their maturation and maintenance; tight junctions (TJs) regulate the passage of ions and solutes through the paracellular route (4–6). ECs express cell-type-specific transmembrane adhesion proteins such as VE-cadherin (also known as CD144) as a core protein of AJs and claudin-5 at TJs (7).

VE-cadherin is expressed in essentially all types of vessels. Different mediators including histamine, tumor necrosis factor, platelet activating factor, and vascular endothelial growth factor as well as changes in fluid shear stress are able to induce phosphorylation of VE-cadherin,  $\beta$ -catenin, and p120. This phosphorylation results in an increased permeability of the endothelial monolayer, changes in flow sensing, and vascular remodeling (2–5, 8–10). VE-cadherin may also be phosphorylated through inhibition of associated phosphatases, e.g., the VE-PTP phosphatase, which is endothelial-specific (11). Other pathways that may modify endothelial permeability are VE-cadherin cleavage and regulation of its expression (12).

Phenotypic heterogeneity is a key feature of the vascular endothelium, which displays different morphology, behavior, biosynthetic repertoire according to different sites (13–15).

Over the past decade there has been an explosion of interest in the thin ( $\sim$ 500 nm), gel-like endothelial glycocalyx layer that coats the luminal surface of blood vessels and participates in the regulation of a wide range of vascular functions (16). It is currently known that its main functions include modulation of vessel permeability to water and macromolecules; mechanotransduction of fluid shear stress and pressure to the endothelial cytoskeleton and regulation of shear stress-mediated NO production; regulation of red and white blood cells' adhesion as well as modulation of the inflammatory response via binding

of inflammatory cytokines (16). Alterations and shedding of the glycocalyx can contribute to the pathophysiology of very severe conditions such as septic or hemorrhagic shock (17, 18).

Since ECs are exposed to signals from both surrounding tissues and flowing blood, their regulatory pathways are numerous and cross interacting. It is known that several soluble mediators can influence ECs via many receptors, activating a number of intracellular pathways, which influence each other and result in multiple feedback mechanisms, able to modify endothelial permeability either directly or indirectly, rapidly or through long-term processes (19, 20). Moreover, endothelial cells' behavior might be influenced not only by hemodynamic forces but also by factors such as changes in blood oxygenation, temperature and pH. There is a huge variety of mediators, receptors, junctions and pathways, which are constantly exposed to hemodynamic forces and, as the musical instruments of an orchestra, interact one with another, each one with its specific role and timing, in order to generate a complex harmony, namely the fine modulation of endothelial permeability.

## PAROXYSMAL PERMEABILITY DISORDERS

Over the decades the term "endothelial dysfunction" has been applied to a huge variety of conditions associated with alterations of the endothelial morphology and functions.

For instance, thickening of the intima, proliferation of smooth muscle cells, formation of the fibrous plaques, changes of the vasa vasorum, loss of endothelium-derived nitric oxide, alterations of the endothelial glycocalyx, hyper-adhesiveness of the vascular lining toward platelets especially in complex hemodynamic shear stress regions are the processes lying at the basis of atherosclerosis, which is responsible for coronary, cerebral, peripheral artery and aortic diseases (21, 22).

The term "endothelial dysfunction" has been also used with reference to the loss of the ability of the endothelium to regulate vascular resistance. This alteration might imply chronic structural changes of the endothelial cell barrier as it happens in pulmonary hypertension (23). However, in some conditions the alterations of the endothelial morphology and functions are transient followed by a restoration almost to normal after the resolution of the acute phase. Among the latter conditions is for instance sepsis, which is characterized by increased leukocyte adhesion and trafficking, altered vasomotor tone, loss of endothelial barrier function, shifts in hemostatic balance and programmed cell death, even though endothelial structural changes can also occur—nuclear vacuolization, cytoplasmic swelling and fragmentation, ECs detachment (24).

It is possible to distinguish a variety of diseases which are due to recurrent alterations of endothelial permeability, with no inflammatory, degenerative, ischemic vascular injury and complete *restitutio ad integrum* after each episode. For these cases we would like to propose a sort of a new nosological entity, namely the Paroxysmal Permeability Disorders (PPDs) in the effort of grouping conditions that are due to periodic dysfunction of endothelial permeability and probably share some common **TABLE 1** | Paroxysmal Permeability Disorders: features for inclusion/exclusion together with currently identifiable clinical phenotypes.

#### PAROXYSMAL PERMEABILITY DISORDERS

#### CRITERIA

#### Features for inclusion

- Recurrent self-limiting local or systemic interstitial edema
- For non-lethal episodes, complete healing max 1 week, mostly 1–3 days
- Any underlying clinical condition causing increase in endothelial permeability (infections, systemic inflammation, allergy, malignancy, injury, autoimmune disease etc.)

- Local signs of inflammation, ischemia-necrosis, tissue degeneration

#### **CLINICAL PHENOTYPES**

#### Primary Angioedema

- Idiopathic histaminergic angioedema
- Hereditary/acquired angioedema due to C1 inhibitor deficiency
- Hereditary angioedema with normal C1 inhibitor
- Idiopathic non-histaminergic angioedema

#### Idiopathic Systemic Capillary Leak Syndrome Yet poorly defined forms of periodic edema

- Recurrent retroperitoneal edema
- Recurrent female periodic edema of unknown origin
- Recurrent edema in patients with hypereosinophilia (Gleich's syndrome)

pathophysiological mechanisms, although they are characterized by different clinical pictures and differ in therapeutic approaches (**Table 1**).

Among such diseases we include clinical conditions which can be rapidly lethal, due to a localized process (e.g., laryngeal edema in primary angioedema) or to a systemic derangement (e.g., hypovolemic shock due to massive plasma and protein extravasation in idiopathic systemic capillary leak syndrome). PPDs also include some yet poorly defined forms of periodic edema. Scanty data are available about the pathogenesis of some of these conditions, possible triggers and means to correctly treat them, avoiding acute and long-term complications.

### **Primary Angioedema**

Hereditary angioedema due to C1 inhibitor deficiency or dysfunction (C1-INH-HAE) is a rare autosomal dominant disorder (prevalence around 1:50,000 people in the general population) characterized by localized, non-pitting edema of the skin and submucosal tissues of the upper respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts, without significant wheals or pruritus, due to a temporary increase in vascular permeability. It represents the best characterized form of primary angioedema, a group of conditions where angioedema occurs in the absence of wheals and of an identified causative factor. The same group of pathological conditions include also the forms of hereditary angioedema related to Factor XII / Plasminogen /Angiopoietin 1 mutations and the forms with unknown etiology.

In these angioedema chronically recurrent symptoms cause significant personal, domestic, social, and occupational disability and exposes patients to the risk of death (due to asphyxia when the respiratory tract is involved) (25–27).

### Idiopathic Systemic Capillary Leak Syndrome

Idiopathic Systemic Capillary Leak Syndrome (ISCLS), also known as Clarkson's Disease (28), is a rare disorder (about 260 cases described) with recurrent potentially life-threatening episodes of distributive shock with hemoconcentration and hypoalbuminemia (29–32). During attacks, endothelial hyperpermeability results in leakage of water, solutes and plasma proteins (up to the size of 300kDa) into the interstitial space. The management of this condition is extremely challenging not only because of the intrinsic severity of the attacks but also because of the high risk of inducing iatrogenic damage both in the acute and post-acute phases, especially when a strategy of aggressive fluid replacement is erroneously chosen (33, 34).

# Yet Poorly Defined Forms of Periodic Edema

Among PPDs there are also conditions characterized by recurrent edema with no known trigger and/or etiology. We recently reported cases of significant isolated retroperitoneal edema (with no thickening of omentum/intestinal walls or ascites), with complete resolution after the acute crisis (35).

# ASSESSMENT OF ENDOTHELIAL PERMEABILITY

When investigating alterations of endothelial permeability, different kinds of strategies can be chosen. Depending on the specific clinical conditions under investigation, different parameters can be evaluated (e.g., cleaved high molecular weight kininogen in primary angioedema, hematocrit and albumin values in idiopathic systemic capillary leak syndrome). This strategy is certainly useful from the diagnosis point of view and can give some important clues to unveil some of the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying PPDs. The chase for a permeability increasing factor led Xie et al. to show that circulating angiopoietin 2 (Angpt2) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) are increased in acute but not in convalescent sera from ISCLS patients and both of them are able to induce endothelial hyperpermeability in vitro by disrupting endothelial adherent junctions (36). Angpt2 and VEGF cause endothelial cells' retraction without inducing cell death, with attenuation of membrane VE-cadherin and actin stress fiber formation (36). Likewise, research is ongoing to assess the role of the monoclonal component which can be found in the majority of ISCLS patients (32).

In order to investigate endothelial function, a variety of static *in vitro* models has been proposed and used in recent years and provided some relevant information to the understanding of B2 and B1 types of bradykinin receptor and gC1q receptor in the vascular leakage induced by plasma from C1 inhibitor deficient patients (37).

Microfluidic technology highly developed in physics is now widely used to create tools for cell biology (38). A variety of bioassays and investigations can be carried on in microfluidic systems where living cells can be cultured: cell migration and interaction, cancer cell invasion, drug delivery assays, wound healing, angiogenesis, thrombosis, studies of blood flow and shear stress etc. (38). The insights derived from this kind of research have potential implications to get some clues in clinical settings, both for a better understanding of some pathophysiological mechanisms (such as wound healing and cancer progression) and for searching of therapeutic approach (e.g., study of the blood brain barrier in order to achieve a better delivery of drugs).

Recently, different types of endothelial cells have been used in *in vitro* models to obtain organ-specific vascular models (39) and this is what we are also interested in.

# An Innovative Tool: The "Microvasculature-on-a-chip" Model

In order to test endothelial cells' behavior in a three dimensional dynamic model reproducing the influence of physiological flow and shear stress as an important part of "everyday life" of the endothelium, we developed and tested a "microvasculature-on-a-chip" microfluidic device (40).

Briefly, the model consists of 30µm-high microchannels organized in a branching/converging network (Figure 1A). At each branching point the width of each channel is divided by two, reaching  $30 \times 30 \,\mu\text{m}$  (height  $\times$  width, square section) in the middle part of the chip. Circuits were fabricated from PDMS and sealed with a glass coverslip at the bottom to allow high-resolution microscopy. Channel walls were coated with biotin-conjugated fibronectin (Cytoskeleton Inc, USA) as a matrix before seeding the circuit with Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs, PromoCell, Germany), chosen as a commonly used human model to study endothelial functions and physiology. HUVECs were cultured within the networks, in the presence of a steady flow of culture medium, ensuring a physiologically relevant level of fluid shear stress at the wall of  $\sim$ 0.2 Pa. In the present condition HUVECs were able to adhere to all four walls of each channel and to form a confluent monolayer within a few days after seeding (Figure 1A).

After reaching confluence, HUVECs' cytoplasm was stained with CellTracker Red (Molecular Probes<sup>TM</sup>) and the cells were exposed for 15 min to a constant flow of one of the following media: (i) usual endothelial cells culture medium (PromoCell, Germany) as a control, (ii) plasma from healthy volunteer blood was withdrawn in Sodium Citrate tubes, plasma was separated from cells by centrifugation and diluted 1:1 with medium for ECs culturing, (iii) bradykinin (Sigma, USA) diluted in endothelial cells culture medium at a concentration of 25  $\mu$ M. FITC-conjugated avidin (Molecular Probes<sup>TM</sup>) was finally added to the perfusion solution (final concentration is 25  $\mu$ g/ml for 5 min) before cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and their nuclei stained with Hoechst 33342 (Molecular Probes<sup>TM</sup>).

Laser Scanning Confocal Fluorescence Microscope (Zeiss, Germany) was used for cell imaging. 3D image stacks ( $425 \times 425 \times 35 \,\mu$ m in X, Y, and Z) of various parts of the microchannels were acquired with a 20x objective, with a sampling of 0.140

 $\mu$ m/pixel in the X/Y and 1.5  $\mu$ m/pixel in Z direction. The acquired image stacks were processed and analyzed using the Fiji open-source platform (41). 3D stacks were first transformed into 2D images by projecting (summing) the pixel intensities along the Z direction, for the 3 detection channels corresponding to nuclei, cytoplasm and avidin (see **Figure 1B**).

Under our experimental conditions, high-affinity interactions between FITC-avidin and biotinylated-fibronectin can take place only when avidin molecules have crossed the endothelial layer. By monitoring the fluorescence level associated with the presence of FITC-avidin bound to the walls of the microchannels, we can therefore assess the permeability of the endothelial monolayer. This was done by computing intensity histograms from the Z-projected 2D images (**Figure 1C**). In order to quantitatively compare such histograms for the three different media to which HUVECs were exposed, we took care to acquire all stacks using the same imaging parameters, and to compute histograms from sections of the microchannels spanning the same surface (namely 49,000  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> here). Doing so, we observe that (**Figure 1C**):

- no major difference in histogram peak or width can be seen between the control and the 50%-plasma from healthy volunteer conditions,
- (ii) in the circuit exposed to  $25\,\mu M$  solution of bradykinin the histogram is clearly shifted to larger intensity values compared to that obtained for the control.

Moreover, such a trend is confirmed when comparing the average intensity values computed from histograms measured over 3–6 different regions of the microchannel networks (**Figure 1D**): we observe a significantly higher average value ( $I_{Brad} = 230 \pm 76$ ) for the bradykinin-treated channels as compared to the control circuit ( $I_{Control} = 68 \pm 18$ ), whereas no statistical difference is found between control and plasma ( $I_{Plasma} = 77 \pm 23$ ) conditions. Since the intensity of the fluorescent signal depends on the quantity of FITC-avidin bound to the surfaces of the channels, this result can be considered as a sign of increased endothelial permeability after its exposure to bradykinin.

This was further confirmed by negative controls (images not shown) where we have imaged channels coated with nonbiotinylated fibronectin after exposure to FITC-avidin. When no cells were present in the channels (i.e., fibronectin freely accessible to avidin), we measure an average fluorescence intensity of  $15 \pm 8$ , barely different from the detection noise (I<sub>noise</sub> =10 ± 4), showing the very low level of non-specific binding of FITC-avidin to non-biotinylated fibronectin. With HUVECs cultured in such channels, we find an average intensity of  $38 \pm 6$ , with fluorescence being detected within the cytoplasm of cells but not at the channel walls, which suggests that a large fraction of the intensity detected in the control and plasma conditions above correspond to FITC-avidin internalized by the cells without reaching the underlying walls.

## DISCUSSION

Under the term Paroxysmal Permeability Disorders, we would like to gather pathological conditions which probably share some common pathophysiological mechanisms and whose humanistic



**FIGURE 1** (A) Left: picture of the channel network illustrating the branching/converging geometry used (scale bar: 2 mm). Right: merged images showing cell nuclei (blue) and cytoplasm (red) at the bottom, on the lateral walls and at the top of the channels (scale bar: 100 µm). (B) Z-summed images obtained from 3D-stacks showing nuclei (blue), cytoplasm (red), and wall-bound avidin (green) for the 3 conditions: control, 50%-plasma, and bradykinin. Image size is 425 × 425 µm. Imaged regions correspond to a merging point between two 60 µm-wide channels and one 120 µm-wide. (C) FITC intensity histograms (relative frequency as a function of pixel intensity) computed for the 3 conditions from the images shown in (A). (D) Average fluorescence intensity values measured for the various conditions over 3–6 different bifurcation areas of the networks. U and *P*-values correspond to two-samples Mann–Whitney *U*-tests showing that, at the 5% threshold, Bradykinin and Control data are different whereas Plasma and Control are not.

burden is remarkable not only because of possible lethality, but also because they can significantly affect patients' quality of life for long-term complication, social impact and anxiety related to fear of upcoming events. Increased knowledge and awareness of the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying these conditions has been the cornerstone for the development of new drugs in some cases (e.g., hereditary angioedema) and getting deeper insights is of pivotal importance in order to correctly treat these conditions and avoid acute and long-term complications.

In our study we propose to focus not only on soluble factors, mediators and receptors when investigating PPDs, but also on the endothelium itself as an active dynamic player with high impact on appropriate functioning of the vascular system. Our "microvasculature-on-a-chip" model can reproduce the size of real capillary beds and allows performing experiments in tightly controlled conditions: shear stress, specific fluid composition, varying humoral factors and mediators. Endothelial cells can be seeded into the systems, reaching a physiological confluent monolayer, expressing the main markers typical for endothelium including a glycocalyx lining the entire lumen of the channels (40). The microchannel networks are suitable to investigate normal and abnormal interactions between blood cells and vessel walls. In the next future endothelial cells from specific vessels' beds or from vessels with specific characteristics (e.g., microvascular endothelial cells) could be seeded into the system. It is also possible to conceive the elaboration of gene study assays, thanks to the possibility to collect cells from the device after challenge with different kinds of "stressors." Even though our results are very preliminary, our study confirms that the proposed three dimensional dynamic model is able to detect changes in endothelial permeability. Since our previous work (40) demonstrated HUVECs' longevity in the channels under constant culture medium flow, restoration of the endothelial barrier after exposure to the agents increasing intercellular junctions permeability is expected. Therefore, our microfluidic device could be a promising powerful tool to get deeper insights into the mechanisms underlying PPDs.

It should be noted that our "microvasculature-on-a-chip" model still has some limitations. First of all, the stiffness of polydimethylsiloxane is different from that of the glass coverslip at the bottom of the circuit, so that the extravascular "microenvironment" is still not very close to physiology and changes of some endothelial functions have to be carefully interpreted between the sides of the circuit. However, new strategies involving the use of soft hydrogels and materials mimicking the interstitial matrix may allow investigations which are more consistent with the conditions in vivo, with a possibility to evaluate not only endothelial permeability to fluids, but also the transport of molecules and flowing cells. Further refinement of the fabrication and cell seeding procedures will allow higher automation and reproducibility which is of high importance when dealing with cells exposure to different kinds of fluids (e.g., RBC suspension with varying hematocrit levels), circulating factors and mediators. The design of a microchamber surrounding the microchannels network and filled with interstitial-like matrix will open the way to test in more details the response of the system to plasma (and eventually blood) from angioedema and ISCLS-patients (collected both during attacks and in intercritical periods) as well as cells' migration through the endothelial monolayer in both directions.

Despite the above-mentioned limitations, we believe that the presented system may be suitable to investigate new therapeutic approaches, including, for instance, the delivery of drugs via innovative nanotechnologies. When investigating new treatments for ISCLS, we would like to evaluate the effect of agonist and antagonist of Tie 2 as AKB-9778 and Angt2. We hypothesize that AKB-9778 might be a valuable strategy not only to treat or prevent diabetic retinopathy, but also to treat systemic conditions characterized by increased permeability, such as ISCLS. Finally, we speculate that angioedema and ISCLS should be regarded as "simple disease models" in the huge scenario of conditions characterized by hyperpermeability and that our "microvasculature-on-a-chip" model can be a powerful tool to

### REFERENCES

- Cahill PA, Redmond EM. Vascular endothelium Gatekeeper of vessel health. *Atherosclerosis.* (2016) 248:97–109. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.03.007
- Dejana E, Tournier-Lasserve E, Weinstein BM. The control of vascular integrity by endothelial cell junctions: molecular basis and pathological implications. *Dev Cell*. (2009) 16:209–21. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2009.01.004
- Dvorak AM, Kohn S, Morgan ES, Fox P, Nagy JA, Dvorak HF. The vesiculovacuolar organelle (VVO): a distinct endothelial cell structure that provides a transcellular pathway for macromolecular extravasation. *J Leukoc Biol.* (1996) 59:100–15. doi: 10.1002/jlb.59.1.100
- Bazzoni G, Dejana E. Endothelial cell-to-cell junctions: molecular organization and role in vascular homeostasis. *Physiol Rev.* (2004) 84:869–901. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00035.2003
- Gonzalez-Mariscal L, Tapia R, Chamorro D. Crosstalk of tight junction components with signaling pathways. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2008) 1778:729– 56. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2007.08.018
- Garrido-Urbani S, Bradfield PF, Imhof BA. Tight junction dynamics: the role of junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs). *Cell Tissue Res.* (2014) 355:701– 15. doi: 10.1007/s00441-014-1820-1

advance in study and better understand alterations underlying this type of disorders.

Ethical approval was not required for this study in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

Involvement of human subjects was limited to blood withdrawals from healthy volunteers. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MW, DT, LiB, CM, and MC were responsible for the conceptualization of the study. DT, LiB, AD, and CM designed the microvasculature on a chip model. MW, IB-G, LaB collected blood samples from healthy volunteers; MW, DT, and MI developed the protocol to test endothelial permeability in the microfluidic device. MW, DT, and MI performed the experiments (from fabrication of the microchip and seeding of HUVECs to cell imaging with confocal fluorescence microscopy). MW, DT, and LiB were responsible for image processing and analysis. MW wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MW, DT, LiB, IB-G, AD, LaB, CM, and MC revised the original draft and helped in manuscript editing. CM and MC were in charge of supervision of all the steps of the study. CM and MC provided the resources to develop the project.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

LiB and CM acknowledge financial support from CNES (Centre National d'Etudes Spatiales). CM also thanks the French-German Uni-versity Programme Living Fluids (Grant CFDA-Q1-14) for financial support. DT thanks CNRS for all the financial support.

- 7. Radeva MY, Waschke J. Mind the gap: mechanisms regulating the endothelial barrier. *Acta Physiol.* (2018) 222:e12860. doi: 10.1111/apha.12860
- Orsenigo F, Giampietro C, Ferrari A, Corada M, Galaup A, Sigismund S, et al. Phosphorylation of VE-cadherin is modulated by haemodynamic forces and contributes to the regulation of vascular permeability *in vivo*. *Nat Commun.* (2012) 3:1208. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2199
- Potter MD, Barbero S, Cheresh DA. Tyrosine phosphorylation of VE-cadherin prevents binding of p120- and beta-catenin and maintains the cellular mesenchymal state. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:31906–12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M505568200
- Conway DE, Coon BG, Budatha M, Arsenovic PT, Orsenigo F, Wessel F, et al. VE-Cadherin phosphorylation regulates endothelial fluid shear stress responses through the polarity protein, L. *G N Curr Biol.* (2017) 27:2727. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.08.064
- Vockel M, Vestweber D. How T cells trigger the dissociation of the endothelial receptor phosphatase VE-PTP from VE-cadherin. *Blood.* (2013) 122:2512– 22. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-499228
- Su W, Kowalczyk AP. The VE-cadherin cytoplasmic domain undergoes proteolytic processing during endocytosis. *Mol Biol Cell.* (2017) 28:76– 84. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e16-09-0658

- Wagner DD, Frenette PS. The vessel wall and its interactions. Blood. (2008) 111:5271–81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-01-078204
- Aird WC. Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: I. Structure, function, and mechanisms. *Circ Res.* (2007) 100:158– 73. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000255691.76142.4a
- Aird WC. Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: II. Representative vascular beds. *Circ Res.* (2007) 100:174– 90. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000255690.03436.ae
- Curry FE, Adamson RH. Endothelial glycocalyx: permeability barrier and mechanosensor. *Ann Biomed Eng.* (2012) 40:828– 39. doi: 10.1007/s10439-011-0429-8
- De Backer D, Orbegozo Cortes D, Donadello K, Vincent JL. Pathophysiology of microcirculatory dysfunction and the pathogenesis of septic shock. *Virulence*. (2014) 5:73–9. doi: 10.4161/viru.26482
- Halbgebauer R, Braun CK, Denk S, Mayer B, Cinelli P, Radermacher P, et al. Hemorrhagic shock drives glycocalyx, barrier and organ dysfunction early after polytrauma. J Crit Care. (2018) 44:229–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2017.11.025
- Duran WN, Breslin JW, Sanchez FA. The NO cascade, eNOS location, and microvascular permeability. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2010) 87:254–61. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvq139
- Alexander B. The role of nitric oxide in hepatic metabolism. Nutrition. (1998) 14:376–90. doi: 10.1016/S0899-9007(97)00492-9
- Davies PF, Civelek M, Fang Y, Fleming I. The atherosusceptible endothelium: endothelial phenotypes in complex haemodynamic shear stress regions *in vivo. Cardiovasc Res.* (2013) 99:315–27. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvt101
- Mitra R, O'Neil GL, Harding IC, Cheng MJ, Mensah SA, Ebong EE. Glycocalyx in Atherosclerosis-relevant endothelium function and as a therapeutic target. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* (2017) 19:63. doi: 10.1007/s11883-017-0691-9
- Budhiraja R, Tuder RM, Hassoun PM. Endothelial dysfunction in pulmonary hypertension. *Circulation*. (2004) 109:159– 65. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000102381.57477.50
- Bermejo-Martin JF, Martin-Fernandez M, Lopez-Mestanza C, Duque P, Almansa R. Shared Features of endothelial dysfunction between sepsis and its preceding risk factors (Aging and Chronic Disease). J Clin Med. (2018) 7:400. doi: 10.3390/jcm7110400
- Cicardi M, Aberer W, Banerji A, Bas M, Bernstein JA, Bork K, et al. Classification, diagnosis, and approach to treatment for angioedema: consensus report from the Hereditary Angioedema International Working Group. *Allergy*. (2014) 69:602–16. doi: 10.1111/all.12380
- Longhurst H, Cicardi M. Hereditary angio-oedema. Lancet. (2012) 379:474– 81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60935-5
- Caballero T, Aygoren-Pursun E, Bygum A, Beusterien K, Hautamaki E, Sisic Z, et al. The humanistic burden of hereditary angioedema: results from the Burden of Illness Study in Europe. *Allergy Asthma Proc.* (2014) 35:47– 53. doi: 10.2500/aap.2013.34.3685
- Clarkson B, Thompson D, Horwith M, Luckey EH. Cyclical edema and shock due to increased capillary permeability. Am J Med. (1960) 29:193– 216. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(60)90018-8
- Ledochowski S, Freichet M, Prieur C, Friggeri A, Lega JC. An uncommon cause of distributive shock: Lessons from two consecutive cases of idiopathic systemic capillary leak syndrome (Clarkson's disease). *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med.* (2015) 34:251–3. doi: 10.1016/j.accpm.2015.05.003

- Aroney N, Ure S, White H, Sane S. Recurrent undifferentiated shock: Idiopathic Systemic Capillary Leak Syndrome. *Clin Case Rep.* (2015) 3:527– 30. doi: 10.1002/ccr3.280
- Rabbolini DJ, Ange N, Walters GD, Pidcock M, Randall KL. Systemic capillary leak syndrome: recognition prevents morbidity and mortality. *Intern Med J.* (2013) 43:1145–7. doi: 10.1111/imj.12271
- Druey KM, Parikh SM. Idiopathic systemic capillary leak syndrome (Clarkson disease). J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 140:663–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.10.042
- 33. Eo TS, Chun KJ, Hong SJ, Kim JY, Lee IR, Lee KH, et al. Clinical presentation, management, and prognostic factors of Idiopathic Systemic Capillary Leak Syndrome: a systematic review. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. (2018) 6:609–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2017.07.021
- Pineton de Chambrun M, Luyt CE, Beloncle F, Gousseff M, Mauhin W, Argaud L, et al. The Clinical Picture of Severe Systemic Capillary-Leak Syndrome Episodes Requiring ICU Admission. *Crit Care Med.* (2017) 45:1216–23. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002496
- Wu MA, Ippolito S, Zanichelli A, Perego F, Cicardi M. Recurrent retroperitoneal angioedema. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. (2018) 6:1384– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2018.04.019
- Xie Z, Ghosh CC, Patel R, Iwaki S, Gaskins D, Nelson C, et al. Vascular endothelial hyperpermeability induces the clinical symptoms of Clarkson disease (the systemic capillary leak syndrome). *Blood.* (2012) 119:4321– 32. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-08-375816
- Bossi F, Fischetti F, Regoli D, Durigutto P, Frossi B, Gobeil F Jr, et al. Novel pathogenic mechanism and therapeutic approaches to angioedema associated with C1 inhibitor deficiency. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2009) 124:1303– 04. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.08.007
- Velve-Casquillas G, Le Berre M, Piel M, Tran PT. Microfluidic tools for cell biological research. *Nano Today.* (2010) 5:28– 47. doi: 10.1016/j.nantod.2009.12.001
- Sato K, Sato K. Recent progress in the development of microfluidic vascular models. *Anal Sci.* (2018) 34:755–64. doi: 10.2116/analsci. 17R006
- Tsvirkun D, Grichine A, Duperray A, Misbah C, Bureau L. Microvasculature on a chip: study of the endothelial surface layer and the flow structure of red blood cells. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:45036. doi: 10.1038/srep 45036
- Schindelin J, Arganda-Carreras I, Frise E, Kaynig V, Longair M, Pietzsch T, et al. Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nat Methods*. (2012) 9:676–82. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2019

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Wu, Tsvirkun, Bureau, Boccon-Gibod, Inglebert, Duperray, Bouillet, Misbah and Cicardi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

132





# Kallikrein/K1, Kinins, and ACE/Kininase II in Homeostasis and in Disease Insight From Human and Experimental Genetic Studies, Therapeutic Implication

Francois Alhenc-Gelas<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Nadine Bouby<sup>1,2,3</sup> and Jean-Pierre Girolami<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> INSERM U1138-CRC, Paris, France, <sup>2</sup> CRC-INSERM U1138, Paris-Descartes University, Paris, France, <sup>3</sup> CRC-INSERM U1138, Sorbonne University, Paris, France, <sup>4</sup> I2MC-INSERM U1048, Toulouse, France

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Sadashiva Karnik, Cleveland Clinic Lerner College of Medicine, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Coen Maas, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands Michael Bader, Helmholtz Association of German Research Centers (H2), Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Francois Alhenc-Gelas francois.alhenc-gelas@inserm.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 03 January 2019 Accepted: 31 May 2019 Published: 27 June 2019

#### Citation:

Alhenc-Gelas F, Bouby N and Girolami J-P (2019) Kallikrein/K1, Kinins, and ACE/Kininase II in Homeostasis and in Disease Insight From Human and Experimental Genetic Studies, Therapeutic Implication. Front. Med. 6:136. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00136 Kallikrein-K1 is the main kinin-forming enzyme in organs in resting condition and in several pathological situations whereas angiotensin I-converting enzyme/kininase II (ACE) is the main kinin-inactivating enzyme in the circulation. Both ACE and K1 activity levels are genetic traits in man. Recent research based mainly on human genetic studies and study of genetically modified mice has documented the physiological role of K1 in the circulation, and also refined understanding of the role of ACE. Kallikrein-K1 is synthesized in arteries and involved in flow-induced vasodilatation. Endothelial ACE synthesis displays strong vessel and organ specificity modulating bioavailability of angiotensins and kinins locally. In pathological situations resulting from hemodynamic, ischemic, or metabolic insult to the cardiovascular system and the kidney K1 and kinins exert critical end-organ protective action and K1 deficiency results in severe worsening of the conditions, at least in the mouse. On the opposite, genetically high ACE level is associated with increased risk of developing ischemic and diabetic cardiac or renal diseases and worsened prognosis of these diseases. The association has been well-documented clinically while causality was established by ACE gene titration in mice. Studies suggest that reduced bioavailability of kinins is prominently involved in the detrimental effect of K1 deficiency or high ACE activity in diseases. Kinins are involved in the therapeutic effect of both ACE inhibitors and angiotensin II AT1 receptor blockers. Based on these findings, a new therapeutic hypothesis focused on selective pharmacological activation of kinin receptors has been launched. Proof of concept was obtained by using prototypic agonists in experimental ischemic and diabetic diseases in mice.

Keywords: angiotensin-converting enzyme, kallikrein (tissue), kinins, vasodilation, genetic human, genetic mouse models, Ischemic heart disease, diabetic nephropathy

Kallikrein-K1 is the main kinin-forming enzyme in organs (including blood vessels) in resting condition whereas angiotensin I-converting enzyme/kininase II (ACE) is the main kinin-inactivating enzyme in the circulation (being present in both endothelium and plasma) (1–3). Both ACE and kallikrein have other, non-kinin related physiological actions, which are especially well-documented for ACE, first known as the angiotensin I-activating/angiotensin II-generating enzyme [(4), **Figure 1**].



Bioavailability of kinins in organs depends mainly on the balance between activities of K1 and ACE, locally. Bioavailability of angiotensin II depends on renin but also on ACE which is the only enzyme, in the human species, releasing angiotensin II from angiotensin I in the circulation. While early conception of regulation of the circulation was based on endocrine action of the renin-angiotensin system governed by renal renin secretion and autocrine/paracrine activity of the kallikrein-kinin system in organs where K1 is synthesized, subsequent research corrected, and expanded this concept. Indeed, ACE is not uniformly synthesized in the vasculature and its abundance displays strong vessel and organ specificity. Vascular ACE content is high in the lung and very low in the kidney and to a lesser extent the heart (5-7). Accordingly, bioavailability of angiotensin II is reduced in heart and kidney compared to other organs while action of locally produced kinins is potentiated in these organs. Both contribute to limiting vasoconstriction and maintaining high blood flow, especially in the kidney (5-8). This is the anatomical and physiological basis of the role of ACE in homeostasis, and of its role in disease (see below). The action of ACE adds a paracrine component to the renin-angiotensin system, especially active in the lung but downregulated in the heart and kidney.

Conversely, the kallikrein-kinin system has been shown to have an endocrine component based, in man, on renal (and perhaps also arterial) secretion of K1 (9). In rodents, circulating K1 comes mainly from salivary glands, which are well-developed in these animals (10). Endocrine action of K1 remains however poorly documented compared to local paracrine action of the enzyme in kidney, arteries, and exocrine glands.

Recent research, based mainly on human and animal genetic studies has documented the largely unsuspected physiological role of K1 in the circulation and has also refined understanding of the role of ACE/kininase II.

### THE PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE OF K1

Kallikrein-K1 belongs to a large family of genetically and structurally related proteases but is the sole enzyme in the family

able to catalyze the hydrolysis of kininogens and release kinins (10, 11). In absence of specific inhibitors of K1 suitable for *in vivo* studies the issue of the physiological role of the enzyme was addressed through inactivation of the *Klk1* gene in the mouse and discovery of a loss of function polymorphism of K1 in man (12).

The K1 deficient mice grow and reproduce normally. They have normal blood pressure in resting condition but display arterial functional abnormalities (13-15). The mice have severe impairment of flow dependent vasodilatation, a prominent feature of arterial physiology ensuring proper delivery of blood to organs during variation in cardiac output [(13, 15), Figure 2]. Flow dependent dilatation is partly a kinin and kinin-B2 receptor mediated process with kinins released locally by arterial K1 from circulating and endothelial-bound kininogen acting in a paracrine/autocrine manner (15). This occurs in both buffer and resistance arteries (15, 17). The vasodilator effect of the angiotensin II AT2 receptor is also impaired in K1 deficient mice, extending to arteries observation of functional coupling between AT2 and B2 receptors originally made in the kidney and establishing role of K1 and kinins in this coupling (18-20). Overall, arterial functional abnormalities in K1 deficient mice are consistent with endothelial dysfunction, secondary to kinin deficiency (15, 17, 18).

Interestingly, heterozygote deficient mice with roughly 50% K1 activity also display a defective arterial phenotype, indicating that K1 activity level in arteries (where K1 is synthesized in low abundance compared to several other organs) is a critical factor for arterial function (15). This has been further documented in man (see below).

Despite having functional arterial abnormalities, K1 deficient mice have normal blood pressure regulation and conserved circadian variation in resting condition (13, 21). While K1 was initially discovered as a hypotensive agent, the enzyme, at physiological level, either does not significantly influences vascular resistance or its action is offset by compensatory regulations. However, K1 has anti-hypertensive action in at least one pathological setting. The K1 deficient mice, when challenged with salt and aldosterone, a treatment increasing K1 synthesis in wild-type mice, develop hypertension (see below).

While K1 is synthesized in high abundance in epithelial cells in the kidney (in the distal tubule) and in other exocrine glands, K1 deficient mice display only minor renal epithelial abnormalities related to calcium and potassium handling, with mild hypercalciuria and delayed response to dietary potassium load (13, 22, 23).

Interestingly, it has been possible to extent to man the observations made in K1 deficient mice. Indeed K1 activity level is genetically determined in man and this is caused, at least in part, by a loss of function polymorphism of the enzyme substituting an histidine for an arginine in a substrate binding subsite of the active site (R53H) (24–26). The mutation has an allele frequency of 0.03 and only heterozygote subjects (7% of white population) could be studied (26). But these partially deficient K1 subjects display functional arterial abnormalities evidenced by vascular echotracking study. These abnormalities, increase in sheer stress with paradoxical inward arterial remodeling, are, like in K1 deficient mice, suggestive of arterial endothelial dysfunction [(16), **Figure 2**].



**FIGURE 2** [Arterial dystunction in K1 deficient mice and human subjects partially deficient in K1 activity. Upper graph: impairment of flow-induced vasodilatation in carotid artery of K1 deficient mice. Homozygote (TK<sup>-/-</sup>) and heterozygote (TK<sup>+/-</sup>) mice with inactivated K1 gene compared to littermate wild type animals (TK<sup>+/+</sup>). \*p < 0.05 compared to littermate TK<sup>+/+</sup>. Note paradoxical vasoconstrictor response at low flow rate in TK<sup>-/-</sup> and partial defective phenotype of TK<sup>+/-</sup> mice (see text for discussion). Reproduced from Bergaya et al. (15). Lower panels: arterial dysfunction in subjects carrying the defective R53H mutation of K1 (heterozygote) and having roughly 50% K1 activity level of non-mutated, homozygous R53 subjects. Subjects were studied by vascular echotracking of brachial artery in basal condition, during hand ischemia and reactive hyperhemia and after nitroglycerin (GTN) administration. Study was repeated at contrasted dietary Na/K intake. Low Na-High K stimulates K1 synthesis in the kidney. Note increase in sheer stress (**A**) in R53H subjects with paradoxical reduction of arterial diameter (**B**). Reproduced from Azizi et al. (16). Observations in both man and mouse are indicative of endothelial dysfunction (see text).

The R53H subjects also display minor epithelial abnormalities related to calcium or potassium handling, similar to the mouse (27, 28).

Mouse and human genetic studies thus allowed recognizing, consistently in both species, the physiological role of K1 in the circulation and its role in the kidney.

Overall, in resting condition, K1 deficiency induces only minor vascular and renal abnormalities in young individuals, albeit it is not known whether these defects can eventually translate into altered life expectancy. But, in pathological situations resulting from hemodynamic, ischemic, or metabolic insult to the cardiovascular system and the kidney K1 exerts critical end-organ protective action and K1 deficiency results in severe worsening of the conditions, at least in the mouse. This is being discussed below.

### PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE OF ACE/KININASE II IN THE CIRCULATION AND IN THE KIDNEY

The ACE is an endothelial ectoenzyme, also secreted as a socalled soluble form in plasma by enzymatic cleavage separating the core molecule from its C-terminal transmembrane anchor (5, 29). Conversion of angiotensin I and inactivation of kinins are believed to occur mainly on the endothelial surface albeit, as said above, there is strong heterogeneity in endothelial ACE content along the vascular tree, with physiological consequence.

In man, ACE is mainly synthesized in small muscular arteries and in arterioles. Immunoreactive ACE is low or undetectable in large arteries and in veins. Only a fraction of capillaries in organs contains ACE, with two divergent exceptions, the lung and the kidney [(7), **Figure 3**].

In the pulmonary capillary bed high and homogeneous ACE content ensures conversion of angiotensin I and inactivation of bradykinin, both produced in the renal circulation and postrenal venous system and conveyed to the lung (7). In the renal circulation on the opposite, low or undetectable endothelial ACE content in face of high renin and angiotensin I concentrations limits local angiotensin II formation and consequently renal vasoconstriction (6, 7, 30). This is consistent with early studies documenting reduced angiotensin I conversion in the renal circulation (8). Kinins are also formed in abundance in the kidney interstitium from K1 synthesized in the distal tubule and released in both blood and urine. Lack of ACE in renal vessels potentiates the vascular action of kinin. Plasma ACE contributes to some extent to angiotensin I conversion and kinin inactivation in the renal circulation but cannot fully substitute for endothelial ACE in these functions (30, 31).

Bradykinin is the best substrate for ACE, i.e., the substrate with the most favorable kinetic parameters. Somatic ACE, which results from duplication of an ancestral gene, has two active sites and bradykinin is the best substrate for both ACE active sites (5, 32–36). ACE is not the only enzyme able of inactivating kinins in the circulation but because of its kinetic parameters it plays a major role, physiologically. Accordingly, kinins produced in organ interstitium by K1 in physiological or pathological conditions or in plasma by the other kallikrein, (pre)kallikrein (KLK1) when activated in pathological situations are quickly inactivated locally, except in the kidney (37, 38).

Interestingly, both theoretical and experimental evidences suggest that *in vivo* variations in ACE level influence largely bradykinin concentration but have little effect on angiotensin



FIGURE 3 | Endothelial ACE distribution along the human and rat vascular tree. Endothelial ACE is heterogeneously distributed in humans (black line). Large arteries contain no or little ACE while maximal ACE content is observed in small muscular arteries and arterioles. Only a fraction of capillaries network contains ACE. Venules and veins contain no or little ACE except some muscular veins in upper and lower extremities. Exceptions to this general scheme are the renal circulation and the pulmonary capillary network (not shown, see text for discussion). In the rat (gray line) ACE is more homogeneously distributed in arteries and veins, while only a fraction of capillaries contains ACE, like in man. ACE is also dowregulated in renal arterioles (not shown). #Immunoreactivity (IR) shown is scored from 0 (no reactivity detectable) to 3 (maximal reactivity) and refers to defined mAb concentrations. §Localization of endothelial cells: (a) aorta ascendens, arcus aortae, aorta descendens/thoracalis/abdominalis; (b) a. brachiocephalica, a. pulmonalis, a. iliaca communis, a. carotis communis; (c) a. iliaca interna/externa, a. carotis interna/externa, a. subclavia; (d) truncus coeliacus, a. renalis, a. mesenterica sup./inf., a. axillaris, a. femoralis; (e) a. brachialis, a. poplitea, a, tibialis ant./posterior, a, ulnaris, a, radialis, a, peronea; (f) a, dorsalis pedis, a. digitalis plantaris/palmaris; (g) small peripheral arteries; (h) pre-arterioles, arterioles; (i) capillaries; (j) venules; (k) small peripheral veins; (l) v. digitalis plantaris, v. dorsalis pedis, v. saphena parva, v. saphena magna; (m) v. digitalis palmaris, v. tibialis, v. poplitea; (n) v. axillaris, v. femoralis, v. jugularis ext./int; (o) v. iliaca int./ext., v. subclavia; (p) v. iliaca communis, v. brachiocephalica, v. renalis; (g) v. cava sup./inf. Reproduced from Metzger et al. (7).

II concentration (39–41). This is because of a superimposed negative regulatory loop in the renin-angiotensin system between renal angiotensin II concentration and renin secretion, offsetting any ACE-related increase in angiotensin II, at least in the kidney.

Angiotensin I-converting enzyme has other substrates, at least *in vitro*, for which the enzyme displays less favorable kinetic parameters than bradykinin or angiotensin II, like substance P and LHRH (35). It is not clear whether substance P and LHRH are metabolized by ACE physiologically (42). But hydrolysis of the hematopoietic peptide N-AcSDKP by the N-terminal active site of ACE has been documented both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (43). This peptide has been reported to have cardiac and renal anti-fibrotic action in experimental models (44).

Angiotensin I-converting enzyme, especially its N-terminal active site, can hydrolyse *in vitro* the Alzheimer amyloid Aβpeptide that is believed to be causally involved in Alzheimer disease (45, 46). But, while some evidence for a role of ACE in limiting progression of experimental neurodegenerative diseases has been obtained in animals the role of ACE in Alzheimer disease remains controversial, despite being suggested by some clinical studies (45–48).

Angiotensin I-converting enzyme has also been shown to behave as a signaling molecule in cells, independently of its

enzymatic activity, through phosphorylation of a serine in the short intracellular domain. Signaling is triggered by ACE inhibitor binding, likely as a result of ACE conformational change and dimerization, involves CK2 kinase, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 7, and c-Jun N-terminal kinase and induces expression of some endothelial genes, including the *ACE* gene (49, 50). However, no physiological agonist of this pathway has been identified and its physiological role remains undocumented. The ACE signaling is however probably involved in the welldocumented phenomenon of counter-regulatory increase in ACE synthesis during ACE inhibitor treatment (51). It has also been reported that ACE is involved in angiotensin II signaling *in vitro* in cultured cells but this observation remains of unknown physiological relevance (52).

Angiotensin I-converting enzyme levels are genetically determined in man. The above anatomical and physiological considerations are relevant to mechanistic issues pertaining to the well-documented role of genetic this variation in cardiovascular and renal diseases (see below).

# ROLE OF K1, KININS, AND ACE/KININASE II IN CARDIOVASCULAR AND RENAL DISEASES

Through pharmacological or genetic inactivation of K1 and kinin receptors in animals, manipulation of ACE/kininase II gene expression or activity as well as clinical studies it was shown that kinin release during hemodynamic, metabolic, or ischemic insult reduces organ damage, especially in the heart and kidney. This has been reviewed previously (37, 53, 54).

### Experimental Studies, Cardiac and Peripheral Ischemia, Diabetes, Hypertension

In cardiac ischemia-reperfusion in mice, genetic deficiency in K1 suppresses cardioprotective mechanisms limiting necrosis, like ischemic preconditioning [(55), Figure 4]. Moreover, deficiency in K1 abolishes the infarct-size reducing effect of an ACE inhibitor or an angiotensin II AT1 blocker and also the effect of the mitochondrial pore opening inhibitory drug cyclosporin A (55, 57, 58). Loss of the cardioprotective effect of ACE inhibitors in cardiac ischemia in K1 and kinin deficient mice is explained by the well-documented role of kinins in the beneficial effect of the drugs in this experimental model (59). Loss of the cardioprotective effect of AT1 blockers is also explained by kinin deficiency, because AT1 receptor inhibition increases renin secretion and angiotensin II production resulting in activation of the angiotensin II AT2 receptor. As discussed above, the AT 2 receptor is functionally coupled to K1 and kinins. This physiological pathway, inactivated in K1 or B2 receptor deficient mice, is shown here to play a prominent role in the effect of AT1 blockers in experimental cardiac ischemia (57, 60). For cyclosporin A, the mechanism of the permissive effect of K1 is less understood but may be related to direct mitochondrial action of the enzyme (58).

The effect of *Klk1* gene inactivation in acute cardiac ischemia is mimicked by duplication of the ACE gene, suggesting that kinin depletion plays a prominent role in organ damage in both genetic mouse models [(56, 61), **Figure 4**]. However, the deleterious cardiac effects of ACE gene duplication can be partially prevented by renin inhibition, indicating that both kinin depletion and enhanced local angiotensin II formation are involved in ACE-mediated cardiac damage in ischemia (56).

Cardiac or renal protective effect of kinins in ischemia has also been documented by studies in kininogen or kinin receptor deficient animals and in animals treated with kinin receptor antagonists (62). Kinins are potent endothelial activators promoting vasodilatation of collateral arteries thus increasing distal blood flow delivery and limiting thrombus extension by releasing endothelial mediators inhibiting platelet aggregation and triggering fibrinolysis (15, 63–66). Moreover, K1 and kinins exert cytoplasmic and mitochondrial actions decreasing oxidative stress in tissues (58, 67).

In chronic ischemic and post-ischemic diseases, vascular and cellular actions of kinins also prevent end-organ damage. In the ischemic hindlimb of diabetic mice or rats submitted to femoral ligation, an experimental situation where postischemic angiogenesis is impaired by diabetes, K1 and kinins exert vasodilatory and proangiogenic effects restoring distal blood flow. Deficiency in K1, kinins, or kinin receptors worsens hindlimb ischemia (68–70). Kinins exert proangiogenic effect through mobilization of progenitor cells with endothelial potentiality and also through mobilization and activation of macrophages (a so-called inflammatory response) (71–73).

In post-ischemic heart failure secondary to irreversible coronary occlusion, kinins prevent excess ventricular remodeling, which has deleterious electrophysiological and hemodynamic consequences. Deficiency in K1 or kininogen exaggerates remodeling and decreases long-term survival (74, 75). K1 is synthesized in the heart, although it is not clear whether synthesis occurs only in coronary vessels or also in cardiomyocytes. Kinins are involved in the cardioprotective effect of ACE inhibitors in post-ischemic heart failure and also in the effect of the renin inhibitor Aliskiren (74, 76). For Aliskiren, the mechanism proposed involves drug-induced increase in cardiac K1 synthesis, kinin release, and kinin B2 receptor activation, independently of renin inhibition (76).

## Diabetes

Diabetes is a disease where the role of K1 and kinins in limiting organ damage has been especially well-documented, experimentally. In mice rendered diabetic, the synthesis of K1, kininogen, and kinin receptors increases rapidly in the kidney after the onset of hyperglycemia. Inactivation of the *Klk1* gene aggravates diabetic nephropathy [(77), **Figure 5**]. The same aggravating effect is observed by inactivating the kinin B2 receptor gene (79). Diabetic nephropathy is both a vascular and a renal disease secondary to chronic hyperglycemia and in humans it is strongly linked, already at its early stage, to enhanced risk of coronary heart disease. Diabetic nephropathy can also



evolve into renal insufficiency, thus carrying dual cardiac and renal risk. Interestingly, in the Akita mouse with early onset insulinopenic diabetes, deficiency in kinin B2 receptor induces not only renal damage but also a generalized, pro-senescent phenotype of organs (80).

Synthesis and secretion of endothelial ACE increases in diabetes. Duplication of the ACE gene in insulinopenic mice accelerates development of diabetic nephropathy [(78), **Figure 5**]. As discussed above for cardiac ischemia, induction of similar, deleterious renal phenotypes in diabetes by either deficiency in K1 or overexpression of the *ACE* gene is consistent with kinin bioavailability having a major role in renal protection against hyperglycemia (77, 78). However, genetic increase in ACE can also potentiate angiotensin II formation locally and, for less understood reasons, angiotensin II action (56, 81). Angiotensin II is involved together with kinin depletion in the effect of ACE gene duplication, at least in the heart (56).

### Hypertension

An antihypertensive role of K1 has been repeatedly suggested after K1 was discovered by its hypotensive property (82). This role seems to be mainly exerted in the setting of salt and aldosterone excess, where renal K1 synthesis is stimulated, and may not be, or entirely be, kinin-mediated (83). K1, like other tubular proteases, may regulate sodium transporter activity in the kidney (53, 83). Deficiency in K1 has no effect in renovascular hypertension (one clip, one kidney), a renin rather than volume (salt) dependent type of hypertension (21).

Taken together, mice studies document that the physiological actions of K1 have, overall, beneficial consequence for preservation of end-organ trophicity and function in the settings of acute or chronic ischemia, chronic hyperglycemia and mineralocorticoid, and salt excess. The role of K1 is kininmediated in ischemia and in diabetes. ACE activity has, on the opposite, deleterious end-organ effect in ischemia or diabetes, through both local angiotensin II formation and kinin depletion.



**FIGURE 5** | Aggravating effect of inactivating the *KLK1* gene or duplicating the *ACE* gene on development of diabetic nephropathy in diabetic mice. Ordinate in both graphs: urinary albumin excretion. Upper graph, ACE gene titration; open symbols, non-diabetic mice; filled symbols, diabetic mice. Diamonds, one-copy mice; squares, two-copy mice (wild-type); circles, three-copy mice. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 compared to diabetic two-copy (WT) or one-copy mice; filled bars diabetic mice. Three-copy (WT) or one-diabetic mice; filled bars diabetic mice. \*\*\*p < 0.001 compared to non-diabetic mice. ##p < 0.01 compared to corresponding WT mice. Adapted from Bodin et al. (77) and Huang et al. (78).

# Clinical Studies, Genetic Variation in ACE/Kininase II Level, and Risk of Cardiovascular and Renal Diseases

Both ACE and K1 activity level are well-established quantitative genetic traits in man. This was first documented in familial transmission studies (24, 25, 84, 85). Genomic markers for these traits have been then identified. For K1, a frequent mutation in the active site (R53H, discussed above) is causally involved in the genetic variability of K1 activity (26). For ACE, an intronic insertion/deletion polymorphism is strongly associated with plasma and tissue ACE levels, although it is not clear whether this genomic variation is causally involved in the phenotype (through modulating mRNA stability and splicing) or is only a neutral marker in linkage disequilibrium with another, causal mutation (86–88). Despite extensive investigation of the ACE gene the putative causal mutation has however not been identified (5, 89).

In any case, the genetic variation in ACE level has been, quickly after its discovery, associated with susceptibility to and prognosis of cardiovascular and renal diseases. First observation was made for myocardial infarction in a landmark European multicenter study where the subjects homozygote for the ACE D allele, the allele which is associated with higher ACE levels, were found to be at increased risk (90, 91). The association has been reproduced in several other studies but not in all adequately powered studies, although it was consistently observed in the setting of diabetes (5, 92). ACE is probably a weak genetic risk factor for myocardial infarction in the general population, but its effect is potentiated by diabetes and reciprocally. Interestingly, mice carrying a duplication of the ACE gene and having a modest genetic increase in ACE level similar to that observed in humans homozygote for the D allele display reduced myocardial tolerance to cardiac ischemia, thus, documenting causality and mechanism behind the proposed clinical association (56) (**Figure 4**).

But, genetic variation in ACE level has been well-established as a risk factor for diabetic nephropathy, in type 1 diabetes. The association, originally found independently in the GENEDIAB study in Europe and at the Joslin clinic in the US, has been confirmed in the major cohort studies of type 1 diabetic patients, including the landmark DCTT/EDIC study [(92-100), Figure 6]. Hyperglycemic diabetic patients with genetically high ACE levels are at increased risk of developing nephropathy and the disease evolves more severely in these patients (92-100). Diabetic nephropathy is both a vascular and a renal disease and affected patients display, even at early stage of nephropathy clinically marked by elevated urinary albumin excretion and conserved renal function, increased incidence of cardiovascular events, especially myocardial infarction (101). Diabetic nephropathy was known to have a strong genetic determinism in type 1 diabetes (102). The ACE gene is the first recognized and so far best documented gene involved in the disease. Causality between genetically determined ACE level and renal involvement in diabetes was established by ACE gene titration (1 to 3 copies) in the mouse, as discussed above. Nephropathy develops faster in mice having three ACE gene copies and a moderate increase in ACE level, when the mice are rendered diabetic (78) (Figure 5).

In summary, through combined human genetic association studies and causality study in genetically modified mice ACE was established as a risk/prognosis factor for diabetic nephropathy in insulinopenic diabetes. As discussed above, both theoretical and experimental evidences suggest that reduced bioavailability of kinins is involved in the deleterious effect of ACE in diabetes. This is also supported by clinical physiology studies (103, 104).

On the other hand the defective K1 mutation was not found to be associated with cardiovascular and renal diseases so far, including in studies where ACE was associated. It can however be noted that because of the low allele frequency of the mutation only heterozygote subjects with partial deficiency in K1 activity were included in these studies.

## THERAPEUTIC DEVELOPMENT, SELECTIVE AGONISM OF KALLIKREIN-KININ

Based on the organ-protective action of K1 and kinins in ischemia and diabetes, a new therapeutic approach to



incidence of renal events (progression from physiological to pathological microalbuminuria or from a given stage of nephropathy to a higher stage) according to ACE genotype. D allele is co-dominantly associated with higher ACE levels. Reproduced from Hadjadj et al. (97). This study documents the role of the genetic variation in ACE level in susceptibility to and progression of diabetic nephropathy. Same observation was made in other patient populations, before and after this study. See text and Marre et al. (93) through Hadjadj et al. (100).

cardiovascular and renal diseases has been proposed, selective agonism of the kallikrein-kinin system. The topic has been reviewed previously (37, 105).

Rationale for developing pharmacological agonists of kallikrein-kinin is further based on the well-documented role of kinins in the therapeutic effect of both ACE inhibitors and angiotensin II AT1 receptor blockers, as discussed above. But, as K1 activity level is low in the cardiovascular system, kinins are only produced at slow rate in the circulation and ACE inhibitors, or angiotensin II AT1 blockers can only potentiate endogenously formed kinins. Low K1 activity and slow kinin formation might limit the therapeutic efficacy of current kinin-potentiating drugs (15, 37, 105).

Kallikrein cannot be easily targeted for pharmacological activation [albeit Aliskiren, a clinically approved compound originally designed as a renin inhibitor has been reported to stimulate K1 synthesis in the failing rat heart as discussed above, Koid et al. (76)]. Kallikrein gene therapy and additive transgenesis with the human klk1 gene have been attempted in animals, with report of beneficial effects in cardiac or peripheral ischemic and diabetic diseases (68, 106–110). However, kallikrein gene therapy is difficult evaluating experimentally, in part because of species specificity in K1 activity and it is unlikely to be ever developed in clinical practice (105, 111). Bradykinin and other natural kinins, such as des- Arg<sup>9</sup>-bradykinin, the endogenous B1 receptor agonist, cannot be used pharmacologically as therapeutic agents as they are readily

destroyed by peptidases, especially ACE or carboxypeptidase N, in the circulation (3).

Pseudo-peptide analogs of kinins have been synthesized. These compounds are potent kinin receptor agonists, selective for either the B1 or the B2 receptor and are resistant, by design, to peptidases action (112, 113). The agonists can be administered intravenously or chronically through osmotic micropumps (73, 114). The B2 agonist dose-dependently decreases blood pressure during acute administration but has no sustained hypotensive effect in chronic administration, probably as a consequence of counter-regulations. The B1 agonist has no effect on blood pressure (73, 114).

These prototypic agonists allowed establishing proof of concept for therapeutic efficacy of pharmacological kinin receptor activation in animals. They have also helped documenting the functions of the B1 and the B2 receptor in diseases because of their selectivity. Indeed, while the B2 receptor (B2R) is constitutively synthesized in the cardiovascular system and the kidney the B1 receptor (B1R) is considered as being only synthesized in pathological situations (115). Situations where B1R synthesis is induced include ischemia, chronic hyperglycemia, and also, interestingly, ACE inhibitor therapy (77, 115–118). Use of selective agonists in experimental diseases has further documented the physiological balance between the two receptor-subtypes and shown that the balance is strongly influenced by diabetes, especially in the heart.



The kinin receptor agonists have been tested in experimental ischemic and/or diabetic diseases in mice. Cardiac ischemiareperfusion is an experimental model for human ischemic heart disease. A B2R agonist administered at reperfusion largely reduces infarct size (by 47%). A B1R agonist has no effect. However, if the mice are rendered diabetic prior to inducing ischemia the B2R agonist loses its cardioprotective effect. But in these diabetic mice, the B1R agonist becomes efficient and largely reduces infarct size (by 44%). Cardioprotective signalization involves, for both receptors, phosphoinositide three kinase/Akt and extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2, GSK-3b inactivation and inhibition of mitochondrial pore opening [(114), Figure 7]. These observations suggest that B2R signaling is suppressed in the diabetic heart with compensatory induction of B1R, taking over cardioprotective signaling. Infarct size reducing effect of the B2R agonist is consistent with the role of the B2R in cardiac ischemia previously documented by using loss of function approaches. Interestingly, in this study, the B1R agonist was the only pharmacological agent tested displaying therapeutic effect in diabetic animals, as an ACE inhibitor, like the B2R agonist had no effect on infarct size (114) (Figure 7). Ischemic post-conditioning was also ineffective in diabetic animals. The mouse or rat diabetic heart is known to be resistant to established cardioprotective treatments. Interestingly, pharmacological B1R agonism is able to overcome this resistance (114).

Pharmacological kinin receptor agonism also displays therapeutic efficacy in chronic hindlimb ischemia in diabetic

mice. Mechanisms involved here pertain to angiogenesis rather than tissue tolerance to ischemia. While, in nondiabetic mice femoral artery ligation does not induce sustained hindlimb ischemia and distal perfusion is recovered in a few days through neovascularization, in diabetic mice with defective neovascularization capacity the hindlimb remains ischemic. Treatment of diabetic mice with either a B1R or a B2R agonist for 2 weeks following artery ligation enhances neovascularization and restores distal blood flow. Monocyte/macrophage mobilization, VEGF synthesis, and mobilization of progenitor cells are involved in the angiogenic effect of the agonists post-ischemia (73).

But B1R or B2R activation in diseases may not always be beneficial. Indeed, in cerebral ischemia-reperfusion in mice B2R activation increases mortality, perhaps through peripheral hemodynamic effects. The B1R agonist has no effect in nondiabetic mice. But interestingly, in diabetic mice, B1R agonist given at reperfusion decreases brain infarct size and reduces neurological deficits, further documenting efficiency of B1R agonism in improving tolerance to ischemia of diabetic organs (116). In a study of skin wound healing, which can be an important clinical issue in diabetic patients, pharmacological B2R activation delayed healing in non-diabetic or diabetic mice, while B2R inhibition corrected the healing defect observed in diabetic mice. Activation of B1R had no effect on wound healing in either non-diabetic or diabetic mice, despite induction of B1R synthesis in the wounded diabetic skin (117). Overall, mice studies document beneficial effects of B1 receptor agonism in ischemia in the setting of diabetes, consistently in the heart, brain, or hindlimb. B2R agonism has cardioprotective effect in cardiac ischemia and proangiogenic action in peripheral ischemia but deleterious effects in brain ischemia. Studies in diabetic nephropathy are still awaited. For retinopathy, role of kinins is controversial. Studies have suggested that some retinal vascular effects of B2R may be deleterious (119, 120). The issue might be clarified by gain of function studies with selective pharmacological agonists (37).

Results of experimental therapeutic studies should always be translated with caution to clinical situations, regarding both efficiency and tolerance of compounds tested. The present studies provide at least proof of concept for therapeutic action of selective pharmacological kinin receptor agonism. Kinin receptor agonists might have enhanced therapeutic efficacy compared to ACE inhibitors, especially in the diabetic heart. No unwanted effects, like hypotension, oedema, or abnormal psychomotor behavior suggestive of excessive pain suffering were observed during up to 2 weeks agonist treatment in the mice (73, 117). However, in the clinical setting, pharmacological B2R agonism might have serious unwanted side effects, including angioedema, pain or tumor development (37, 105, 121–123). This remains speculative. On the other hand, B1R agonism was consistently efficient in diabetic animals and had no detrimental or off-target

### REFERENCES

- 1. Abelous JE, Bardier E. Les substances hypotensives de l'urine humaine normale. CR Soc Biol. (1909) 66:511-20.
- Kraut H, Frey EK, Werle E. Der Nachweis eines Kreislaufhormon in der Pankreasdruse. *Hoppe-Seylers Z Physiol Chem.* (1930) 189:97–106. doi: 10.1515/bchm2.1930.189.3-4.97
- Erdos EG. Angiotensin I converting enzyme and the changes in our concepts through the years. Lewis K. Dahl memorial lecture. *Hypertension*. (1990) 16:363–70. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.16.4.363
- Skeggs LT Jr. Discovery of the two angiotensin peptides and the angiotensin convertingenzyme. *Hypertension*. (1993) 21:259–60. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.21.2.259
- Alhenc-Gelas F, Corvol P. Molecular and physiological aspect of angiotensin I-converting enzyme. In: Fray JS, Goodman HS, editors. *Handbook of Physiology Section 7*, Vol III. New-York, NY: American Physiological Society and Oxford University Press publishers (2000). p. 81–103.
- Metzger R, Bohle RM, Pauls K, Eichner G, Alhenc-Gelas F, Danilov SM, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme in non-neoplastic kidney diseases. *Kidney Int.* (1999) 56:1442–54. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1999.00660.x
- Metzger R, Franke FE, Bohle RM, Alhenc-Gelas F, Danilov SM. Heterogeneous distribution of angiotensin I-converting enzyme (CD143) in the human and rat vascular systems: vessel, organ and species specificity. *Microvasc Res.* (2011) 81:206–15. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2010.12.003
- Ng KK, Vane JR. The conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II in vivo. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Exp Pathol Pharmakol. (1968) 259:188–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00537778
- Azizi M, Emanueli C, Peyrard S, Maddedu P, Alhenc-Gelas F, Campbell DJ. Genetic and dietary control of plasma tissue kallikrein secretion and urinary kinins exretion in man. J Hypertens. (2008) 26:714–20. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e3282f4d1fa
- Scicli AG, Carbini LA, Carretero OA. The molecular biology of the kallikrein -kinin system: II. The rat gene family. J Hypertens. (1993) 11:775–80. doi: 10.1097/00004872-199308000-00002

effects in the experimental diseases studied so far. The B1R may not be involved in angioedema, contrary to the B2R. Indeed, selective blockade of the B2R, presumably resulting in enhanced kinin-induced B1R activation, is considered to improve outcome of angioedema crises. Clinical development of kinin receptor agonists, especially B1R, is worth considering.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

### **FUNDING**

This work was funded by INSERM, Paris-Descartes University, and Sorbonne University and by Asociation Robert Debre for Medical Research.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge the great contributions to clinical and experimental work of many collaborators that cannot be all listed here but can be identified in publications. They are grateful to the Frey-Werle Foundation for distinction and support.

- Harvey TJ, Hooper JD, Myers SA, Stephenson SA, Ashworth LK, Clements JA. Tissue-specific expression patterns and fine mapping of the human Kallikrein (KLK) locus on proximal 19q13.4. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:37397– 406. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M004525200
- Alhenc-Gelas F, Girolami JP. Molecular and genetic aspects of the Kallikreinkinin system. In: Bader M, editor. *Kinins. De Gruyter* Berlin (2012). p. 7–32.
- Meneton P, Bloch-Faure M, Hagege AA, Ruetten H, Huang W, Bergaya S, et al. Cardiovascular abnormalities with normal blood pressure in tissue kallikrein-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:2634–39. doi: 10.1073/pnas.051619598
- Trabold F, Pons S, Hagege AA, Bloch-Faure M, Alhenc-Gelas F, Giudicelli JF, et al. Cardiovascular phenotypes of kinin B2 receptorand tissue kallikrein-deficient mice. *Hypertension*. (2002) 40:90–5. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000021747.43346.95
- Bergaya S, Meneton P, Bloch-Faure M, Mathieu E, Alhenc-Gelas F, Levy BI, et al. Decreased flow-dependent dilation in carotid arteries of tissue kallikrein-knockout mice. *Circ Res.* (2001) 88:593–9. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.88.6.593
- Azizi M, Boutouyrie P, Bissery A, Agharazii M, Verbeke F, Stern, et al. Arterial and renal consequences of partial genetic deficiency in tissue kallikrein activity in humans. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:780–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI23669
- Hilgers RH, Bergaya S, Schiffers PM, Meneton P, Boulanger CM, Henrion D, et al. Uterine artery structural and functional changes during pregnancy in tissue kallikrein-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2003) 23:1826–32. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000090672.07568.60
- Bergaya S, Hilgers RH, Meneton P, Dong Y, Bloch-Faure M, Inagami T, et al. Flow-dependent dilation mediated by endogenous kinins requires angiotensin AT2 receptors. *Circ Res.* (2004) 94:1623–9. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000131497.73744.1a
- Carey RM, Wang ZQ, Siragy HM. Role of the angiotensin type 2 receptor in the regulation of blood pressure and renal function. *Hypertension*. (2000) 35:155–63. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.35.1.155
- 20. Tsutsumi Y, Matsubara H, Masaki H, Kurihara H, Murasawa S, Takai S, et al. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor overexpression activates the vascular

kinin system and causes vasodilation. J Clin Invest. (1999) 104:925–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI7886

- Griol-Charhbili V, Sabbah L, Colucci J, Vincent MP, Baudrie V, Laude D, et al. Tissue kallikrein deficiency and renovascular hypertension in the mouse. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* (2009) 296:R1385–91. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90411.2008
- Picard N, Van Abel M, Campone C, Seiler M, Bloch-Faure M, Hoenderop J, et al. Tissue Kallikrein-deficient mice display a defect in renal tubular calcium absorption. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2005) 16:3602–10. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2004110923
- El Moghrabi S, Houillier P, Picard N, Sohet F, Wootla B, Bloch-Faure MR, et al. Tissue kallikrein permits early renal adaptation to potassium load. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:13526–31. doi: 10.1073/pnas.09130 70107
- Zinner SH, Margolius HS, Rosner B, Keiser HR, Kass EH. Familial aggregationof urinary kallikrein concentration in childhood: relation to blood pressure, race and urinary electrolytes. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1976) 104:124–32. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a1 12282
- Berry TD, Hasstedt SJ, Hunt SC, Wu LL, Smith JB, Ash KO, et al. A gene for high urinary kallikrein may protect against hypertension in Utah kindreds. *Hypertension*. (1989) 13:3–8. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.13.1.3
- Slim R, Torremocha F, Moreau T, Pizard A, Hunt SC, Vuagnat A, et al. Loss-of-function polymorphism of the human kallikrein gene with reduced urinary kallikrein activity. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2002) 13:968–76.
- 27. Blanchard A, Azizi M, Peyrard S, Stern S, Alhenc-Gelas F, Houillier P, et al. Partial human genetic deficiency in tissue kallikrein activity and renal calcium handling. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2007) 2:320–5. doi: 10.2215/CJN.02630706
- Monteiro JS, Blanchard A, Curis E, Chambrey R, Jeunemaitre X, Azizi M. Partial genetic deficiency in tissue kallikrein impairs adaptation to high potassium intake in humans. *Kidney Int.* (2013) 84:1271–7. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.224
- 29. Wei L, Alhenc-Gelas F, Soubrier F, Michaud A, Corvol P, Clauser E. Expression and characterization of recombinant human angiotensin Iconverting enzyme. Evidence for a C-terminal transmembrane anchor and for a proteolytic processing of the secreted recombinant and plasma enzymes. J Biol Chem. (1991) 266:5540–6.
- Alhenc-Gelas F, Baussant T, Hubert C, Soubrier F, Corvol. The angiotensin converting enzyme in the kidney. J Hypertens. (1989) 7:S9–13. doi: 10.1097/00004872-198909007-00003
- Esther CR, Marino EM, Howard TE, Michaud A, Corvol P, Capecchi MR, et al. The critical role of tissue angiotensin-converting enzyme as revealed by gene targeting in mice. *J Clin Invest.* (1997) 99:2375–85. doi: 10.1172/JCI119419
- Soubrier F, Alhenc-Gelas F, Hubert C, Allegrini J, John M, Tregear G, et al. Two putative active centers in human angiotensin I-converting enzyme revealed by molecular cloning. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1988) 85:9386–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.85.24.9386
- Bernstein KE, Martin BM, Edwards AS, Bernstein EA. Mouse angiotensinconverting enzyme is a protein composed of two homologous domains. J Biol Chem. (1989) 264:11945–51.
- Lattion AL, Soubrier F, Allegrini J, Hubert C, Corvol P, Alhenc-Gelas F. The testicular transcript of the angiotensin I-converting enzyme encodes for the ancestral, non-duplicated form of the enzyme. *FEBS Lett.* (1989) 252:99–104. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(89)80897-X
- 35. Jaspard E, Wei L, Alhenc-Gelas F. Differences in the properties and enzymatic specificities of the two active sites of angiotensin I-converting enzyme (kininase II). Studies with bradykinin and other natural peptides. *J Biol Chem.* (1993) 268:9496–503.
- 36. Danilov S, Jaspard E, Churakova T, Towbin H, Savoie F, Wei L, et al. Structure-function analysis of angiotensin I-converting enzyme using monoclonal antibodies. Selective inhibition of the amino-terminal active site. *J Biol Chem.* (1994) 269:26806–14.
- Desposito D, Waeckel L, Potier L, Richer C, Roussel R, Bouby N, et al. Kallikrein(K1)-kinin-kininase (ACE) and end-organ damage in ischemia and diabetes: therapeutic implications. *Biol Chem.* (2016) 397:1217–22. doi: 10.1515/hsz-2016-0228

- Schmaier AH, McCrae KR. The plasma kallikrein -kinin system: its evolution from contact activation. J Thromb Haemost. (2007) 5:2323–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007.02770.x
- Takahashi N, Hagaman JR, Kim HS, Smithies O. Minireview: computer simulations of blood pressure regulation by the renin -angiotensin system. *Endocrinology*. (2003) 144:2184–90. doi: 10.1210/en.2002-221045
- Campbell DJ, Kladis A, and Duncan AM. Effects of converting enzyme inhibitors on angiotensin and bradykinin peptides. *Hypertension*. (1994) 23:439–49. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.23.4.439
- Alexiou T, Boon WM, Denton DA, Nicolantonio RD, Walker L, McKinley, et al. Angiotensinogen and angiotensin-converting enzyme gene copy number and angiotensin and bradykinin peptide levels in mice. *J Hypertens*. (2005) 23:945–54. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000166834.32817.41
- Defendini R, Zimmerman EA, Weare JA, Alhenc-Gelas F, Erdös EG. Angiotensin-converting enzyme in epithelial and neuroepithelial cells. *Neuroendocrinology*. (1983) 37:32–40. doi: 10.1159/000123512
- Azizi M, Rousseau A, Ezan E, Guyene TT, Michelet S, Grognet JM, et al. Acute angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition increases the plasma level of the natural stem cell regulator N-acetyl-seryl-aspartyl-lysyl-proline. *J Clin Invest.* (1996) 97:839–44. doi: 10.1172/JCI118484
- 44. Yang F, Yang XP, Liu YH, Xu J, Cingolani O, Rhaleb NE, et al. Ac-SDKP reverses inflammation and fibrosis in rats with heart failure after myocardial infarction. *Hypertension*. (2004) 43:229–36. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000107777.91185.89
- Hu J, Igarashi A, Kamata M, Nakagawa H. Angiotensin-converting enzyme degrades Alzheimer amyloid Aβ-peptide (Aβ); retards Aβ aggregation, deposition, fibril formation; and inhibits cytotoxicity. *J Biol Chem.* (2001) 276:47863–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M104068200
- Hemming ML, Selkoe DJ. Amyloid β-protein is degraded by cellular angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) and elevated by an ACE inhibitor. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:37644–50. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M508460200
- Bernstein KE, Koronyo Y, Salumbides BC, Sheyn J, Pelissier L, Lopes DH, Shah KH, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme overexpression in myelomonocytes prevents Alzheimer's-like cognitive decline. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:1000–12. doi: 10.1172/JCI66541
- Lehmann DJ, Cortina-Borja, M, Warden DR, Smith AD, Sleegers K, Prince JA, et al. Large meta-analysis establishes the ACE insertion-deletion polymorphism as a marker of Alzheimer's disease. Am J Epidemiol. (2005) 162:305–17. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwi202
- Fleming I. Signaling by the angiotensin-converting enzyme. *Circ Res.* (2006) 98:887–96. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000217340.40936.53
- Kohlstedt K, Gershome C, Friedrich M, Muller-Esterl W, Alhenc-Gelas F, Busse R, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) dimerization is the initial step in the ACE inhibitor-induced ACE signaling cascade in endothelial cells. *Mol Pharmacol.* (2006) 69:1725–32. doi: 10.1124/mol.105.020636
- Costerousse O, Allegrini J, Clozel JP, Menard J, Alhenc-Gelas F. Angiotensin I-converting enzyme inhibition but not angiotensin II suppression alters angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene expression in vessels and epithelia. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. (1998) 284:1180–7.
- 52. Guimarães PB, Alvarenga EC, Siqueira PD, Paredes-Gamero EJ, Sabatini RA, Morais RL, et al. Angiotensin II binding to angiotensin I-converting enzyme triggers calcium signaling. *Hypertension.* (2011) 57:965–72. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.167171
- Waeckel L, Potier L, Richer C, Roussel R, Bouby N, Alhenc-Gelas F. Pathophysiology of genetic deficiency in tissue kallikrein activity in mouse and man. *Thromb Haemost.* (2013) 110:476–83. doi: 10.1160/TH12-12-0937
- Kakoki M, Smithies O. The kallikrein-kinin system in health and in diseases of the kidney. *Kidney Int.* (2009) 75:1019–30. doi: 10.1038/ki. 2008.647
- 55. Griol-Charhbili V, Messadi-Laribi E, Bascands JL, Heudes D, Meneton P, Giudicelli J, et al. Role of tissue kallikrein in the cardioprotective effects of ischemic and pharmacological preconditioning in myocardial ischemia. *FASEB J.* (2005) 19:1172–4. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-3508fje
- Messadi E, Vincent MP, Griol-Charhbili V, Mandet C, Colucci J, Krege JH, et al. Genetically determined angiotensin converting enzyme level and myocardial tolerance to ischemia. *FASEB J.* (2010) 24:4691–700. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-165902

- Messadi-Laribi E, Griol-Charhbili V, Pizard A, Vincent MP, Heudes D, Meneton, P, et al. Tissue kallikrein is involved in the cardioprotective effect of AT1-receptor blockade in acute myocardial ischemia. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. (2007) 323:210–6. doi: 10.1124/jpet.107.124859
- Youcef G, Belaidi E, Waeckel L, Fazal L, Clemessy M, Vincent MP, et al. Tissue kallikrein is required for the cardioprotective effect of cyclosporin A in myocardial ischemia in the mouse. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2015) 94:22–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2015.01.007
- Linz W, Wiemer G, Gohlke P, Unger T, Scholkens BA. Contribution of kininsto the cardiovascular actions of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. *Pharmacol Rev.* (1995) 47:25–49.
- 60. Yang XP, Liu YH, Mehta D, Cavasin MA, Shesely E, Xu J, et al. Diminished cardioprotective response to inhibition of angiotensin-converting enzyme and angiotensin II type 1 receptor in B(2) kinin receptor gene knockout mice. *Circ Res.* (2001) 88:1072–9. doi: 10.1161/hh1001.090759
- Krege JH, Kim HS, Moyer JS, Jennette JC, Peng L, Hiller SK, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene mutations, blood pressures, and cardiovascular homeostasis. *Hypertension*. (1997) 29:150–7. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.29.1.150
- Yang XP, Liu YH, Scicli GM, Webb CR, Carretero OA. Role of kinins in the cardioprotective effect of preconditioning: study of myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in B2 kinin receptor knockout mice and kininogen-deficient rats. *Hypertension*. (1997) 30:735–40. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.30.3.735
- Brown NJ, Gainer JV, Murphey LJ, Vaughan DE. Bradykinin stimulates tissue plasminogen activator release from human forearm vasculature through B(2) receptor-dependent, NO synthase-independent, and cyclooxygenase-independent pathway. *Circulation*. (2000) 102:2190–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.18.2190
- Furchgott RF, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelium-derived relaxing and contracting factors. FASEB J. (1989) 3:2007–18. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.3.9.25 45495
- Campbell WB, Gebremedhin D, Pratt PF, Harder DR. Identification of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids as endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factors. *Circ Res.* (1996) 78:415–23. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.78.3.415
- Fisslthaler B, Popp R, Kiss L, Potente M, Harder DR, Fleming I, et al. Cytochrome P450 2C is an EDHF synthase in coronary arteries. *Nature*. (1999) 401:493–7. doi: 10.1038/46816
- Kayashima Y, Smithies O, Kakoki M. The kallikrein-kinin system and oxidative stress. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. (2012) 21:92–6. doi: 10.1097/MNH.0b013e32834d54b1
- Stone OA, Richer C, Emanueli C, van Weel V, Quax PH, Katare R, et al. Critical role of tissue kallikrein in vessel formation and maturation: implications for therapeutic revascularization. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2009) 29:657–64. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.182139
- Silvestre JS, Bergaya S, Tamarat R, Duriez M, Boulanger CM, Levy BI. Proangiogenic effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition is mediated by the bradykinin B(2) receptor pathway. *Circ Res.* (2001) 89:678– 83. doi: 10.1161/hh2001.097691
- Hillmeister P, Gatzke N, Dulsner A, Bader M, Schadock I, Hoefer I, et al. Arteriogenesis is modulated by bradykinin receptor signaling. *Circ Res.* (2011) 109:524–33. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.240986
- Krankel N, Katare RG, Siragusa M, Barcelos LS, Campagnolo P, Mangialardi G, et al. Role of kinin B2 receptor signaling in the recruitment of circulating progenitor cells with neovascularization potential. *Circ Res.* (2008) 103:1335– 43. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.179952
- Spinetti G, Fortunato O, Cordella D, Portararo P, Krankel N, Katare R, et al. Tissue kallikrein is essential for invasive capacity of circulating proangiogenic cells. *Circ Res.* (2011) 108:284–93. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.236786
- Desposito D, Potier L, Chollet C, Gobeil F Jr, Roussel R, Alhenc-Gelas F, et al. Kinin receptor agonism restores hindlimb post-ischemic neovascularization capacity in diabetic mice. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2015) 352:218–26. doi: 10.1124/jpet.114.219196
- 74. Liu YH, Yang XP, Mehta D, Bulagannawar M, Scicli GM, Carretero OA. Role of kinins in chronic heart failure and in the therapeutic effect of ACE inhibitors in kininogen-deficient rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. (2000) 278:H507–14. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2000.278.2.H507

- Pons S, Griol-Charhbili V, Heymes C, Fornes P, Heudes D, Hagege A, et al. Tissue kallikrein deficiency aggravates cardiac remodeling and decreases survival after myocardial infarction in mice. *Eur J Heart Fail*. (2008) 10:343– 51. doi: 10.1016/j.ejheart.2008.02.002
- Koid SS, Ziogas J, Campbell DJ. Aliskiren reduces myocardial ischemiareperfusion injury by a bradykinin B2 receptor- and angiotensin AT2 receptor-mediated mechanism. *Hypertension*. (2014) 63:768–73. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02902
- Bodin S, Chollet C, Goncalves-Mendes N, Gardes J, Pean F, Heudes, et al. Kallikrein protects against microalbuminuria in experimental type I diabetes. *Kidney Int.* (2009) 76:395–403. doi: 10.1038/ki.2009.208
- Huang W, Gallois Y, Bouby N, Bruneval P, Heudes D, Belair MF, et al. Genetically increased angiotensin I-converting enzyme level and renal complications in the diabetic mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:13330–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.231476798
- Kakoki M, Takahashi N, Jennette JC, Smithies O. Diabetic nephropathy is markedly enhanced in mice lacking the bradykinin B2 receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:13302–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0405449101
- Kakoki M, Kizer CM, Yi X, Takahashi N, Kim HS, Bagnell CR, et al. Senescence-associated phenotypes in Akita diabetic mice are enhanced by absence of bradykinin B2 receptors. *J Clin Invest.* (2006) 116:1302–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI26958
- Chollet C, Placier S, Chatziantoniou C, Hus-Citharel A, Caron N, Roussel, et al. Genetically increased angiotensin I-converting enzyme alters peripheral and renal vascular reactivity to angiotensin II and bradykinin in mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2018) 314:H350–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00356.2017
- Margolius HS, Geller RG, De Jong W, Pisano JJ, Sjoerdsma A. Urinary kallikrein excretion in hypertension. *Circ Res.* (1972) 31(Suppl 2):125–31.
- Waeckel L, Potier, Chollet C, Taveau C, Bruneval P, Roussel R, et al. Antihypertensive role of tissue kallikrein in hyperaldosteronism in the mouse. *Endocrinology*. (2012) 153:3886–96. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-1225
- Cambien F, Alhenc-Gelas F, Herbeth B, Andre JL, Rakotovao R, Gonzales MF, et al. Familial resemblance of plasma angiotensin-converting enzyme level: the Nancy Study. *Am J Hum Genet.* (1988) 43:774–80.
- Alhenc-Gelas F, Richard J, Courbon D, Warnet JM, Corvol P. Distribution of plasma angiotensin I-converting enzyme levels in healthy men: relationship to environmental and hormonal parameters. *J Lab Clin Med.* (1991) 117:33– 9.
- Rigat B, Hubert C, Alhenc-Gelas F, Cambien F, Corvol P, Soubrier F. An insertion/deletion polymorphism in the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene accounting for half the variance of serum enzyme levels. *J Clin Invest.* (1990) 86:1343–6. doi: 10.1172/JCI114844
- Costerousse O, Allegrini J, Lopez M, Alhenc-Gelas F. Angiotensin Iconverting enzyme in human circulating mononuclear cells: genetic polymorphism of expression in T-lymphocytes. *Biochem J.* (1993) 290(Pt 1):33–40. doi: 10.1042/bj2900033
- Danser AH, Schalekamp MA, Bax WA, van den Brink AM, Saxena PR, Riegger GA, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme in the human heart. Effect of the deletion/insertion polymorphism. *Circulation.* (1995) 92:1387– 8. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.92.6.1387
- Keavney B, McKenzie CA, Connell JM, Julier C, Ratcliffe PJ, Sobel E, et al. Measured haplotype analysis of the angiotensin-I converting enzyme gene. *Hum Mol Genet.* (1998) 7:1745–51. doi: 10.1093/hmg/7. 11.1745
- Cambien F, Poirier O, Lecerf L, Evans A, Cambou JP, Arveiler D, et al. Deletion polymorphism in the gene for angiotensin-converting enzyme is a potent risk factor for myocardial infarction. *Nature*. (1992) 359:641–4. doi: 10.1038/359641a0
- Cambien F, Costerousse O, Tiret L, Poirier O, Lecerf L, Gonzales MF, et al. Plasma level and gene polymorphism of angiotensin-converting enzyme in relation to myocardial infarction. *Circulation*. (1994) 90:669–76. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.90.2.669
- Sayed-Tabatabaei FA, Oostra BA, Isaacs A, van Duijn CM, and Witteman JC. ACE polymorphisms. *Circ Res.* (2006) 98:1123–33. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000223145.74217.e7
- 93. Marre M, Bernadet P, Gallois Y, Savagner F, Guyene TT, Hallab M, et al. Relationships between angiotensin I converting enzyme gene polymorphism,

plasma levels, and diabetic retinal and renal complications. *Diabetes*. (1994) 43:384–8. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.43.3.384

- Doria A, Warram JH, Krolewski AS. (1994) Genetic predisposition to diabetic nephropathy. Evidence for a role of the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene. *Diabetes*. (1994) 43:690–5. doi: 10.2337/diab.43.5.690
- 95. Marre M, Jeunemaitre X, Gallois Y, Rodier M, Chatellier G, Sert C, et al. Contribution of genetic polymorphism in the renin-angiotensin system to the development of renal complications in insulin-dependent diabetes: Genetique de la Nephropathie Diabetique (GENEDIAB) study group. J Clin Invest. (1997) 99:1585–95. doi: 10.1172/JCI119321
- 96. Parving HH, Jacobsen P, Tarnow L, Rossing P, Lecerf L, Poirier O, et al. Effect of deletion polymorphism of angiotensin converting enzyme gene on progression of diabetic nephropathy during inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme: observational follow up study. *BMJ*. (1996) 313:591–4. doi: 10.1136/bmj.313.7057.591
- Hadjadj S, Belloum R, Bouhanick B, Gallois Y, Guilloteau G, Chatellier G, et al. Prognostic value of angiotensin-I converting enzyme I/D polymorphism for nephropathy in type 1 diabetes mellitus: a prospective study. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2001) 12:541–9.
- Boright AP, Paterson AD, Mirea L, Bull SB, Mowjoodi A, Scherer SW, et al. Genetic variation at the ACE gene is associated with persistent microalbuminuria and severe nephropathy: the DCCT/EDIC genetics study. *Diabetes*. (2005) 54:1238–44. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54. 4.1238
- 99. Costacou T, Chang Y, Ferrell RE, Orchard TJ. Identifying genetic susceptibilities to diabetes-related complications among individuals at low risk of complications: an application of tree-structured survival analysis. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2006) 164:862–72. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwj287
- 100. Hadjadj S, Tarnow L, Forsblom C, Kazeem G, Marre M, Groop PH, et al. Association between angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphisms and diabetic nephropathy: case-control, haplotype, and family-based study in three European populations. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2007) 18:1284–91. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006101102
- Gross JL, de Azevedo MJ, Silveiro SP, Canani LH, Caramori ML, Zelmanovitz T. Diabetic nephropathy: diagnosis, prevention, and treatment. *Diabetes Care*. (2005) 28:164–76. doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.1.164
- 102. Seaquist ER, Goetz FC, Rich S, Barbosa J. Familial clustering of diabetic kidney disease. Evidence for genetic susceptibility to diabetic nephropathy. *N Engl J Med.* (1989) 320:1161–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJM1989050432 01801
- 103. Murphey LJ, Gainer JV, Vaughan DE, Brown N. Angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism modulates the human *in vivo* metabolism of bradykinin. *Circulation.* (2000) 102:829–32. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.8.829
- Marre M, Bouhanick B, Berrut G, Gallois Y, Le Jeune JJ, Chatellier G, et al. Renal changes on hyperglycemia and angiotensin-converting enzyme in type 1 diabetes. *Hypertension*. (1999) 33:775–80. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.33.3.775
- Alhenc-Gelas F, Bouby N, Richer C, Potier L, Roussel R, Marre M. Kinins as therapeutic agents in cardiovascular and renal diseases. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2011) 17:2654–62. doi: 10.2174/138161211797416002
- 106. Emanueli C, Minasi A, Zacheo A, Chao J, Chao L, Salis MB, et al. Local delivery of human tissue kallikrein gene accelerates spontaneous angiogenesis in mouse model of hindlimb ischemia. *Circulation*. (2001)103:125–32. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.103.1.125
- 107. Pinto YM, Bader M, Pesquero JB, Tschope C, Scholtens E, van Gilst WH, et al. Increased kallikrein expression protects against cardiac ischemia. *FASEB J*. (2000) 14:1861–3. doi: 10.1096/fj.99-1011fje
- 108. Silva JA Jr, Araujo RC, Baltatu O, Oliveira SM, Tschöpe C, Fink E, et al. Reduced cardiac hypertrophy and altered blood pressure control in transgenic rats with the human tissue kallikrein gene. *FASEB J.* (2000) 14:1858–60. doi: 10.1096/fj.99-1010fje

- 109. Tschöpe C, Walther T, Königer J, Spillmann F, Westermann D, Escher F, et al. Prevention of cardiac fibrosis and left ventricular dysfunction in diabetic cardiomyopathy in rats by transgenic expression of the human tissue kallikrein gene. *FASEB J.* (2004) 18:828–35. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0736com
- 110. Koch M, Spillmann F, Dendorfer A, Westermann D, Altmann C, Sahabi M, et al. Cardiac function and remodeling is attenuated in transgenic rats expressing the human kallikrein-1 gene after myocardial infarction. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2006) 550:143–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2006.08.054
- 111. Alhenc-Gelas F, Marchetti J, Allegrini J, Corvol P, Menard J. Measurement of urinary kallikrein activity. Species differences in kinin production. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (1981) 677:477–88. doi: 10.1016/0304-4165(81)90262-2
- 112. Belanger S, Bovenzi V, Cote J, Neugebauer W, Amblard M, Martinez J, et al. Structure-activity relationships of novel peptide agonists of the human bradykinin B2 receptor. *Peptides*. (2009) 30:777–87. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2008.12.003
- Cote J, Savard M, Bovenzi V, Belanger S, Morin J, Neugebauer W, et al. Novel kinin B1 receptor agonists with improved pharmacological profiles. *Peptides*. (2009) 30:788–95. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2008.12.018
- 114. Potier L, Waeckel L, Vincent MP, Chollet C, Gobeil F Jr, Marre, et al. Selective kinin receptor agonists as cardioprotective agents in myocardial ischemia and diabetes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2013) 346:23–30. doi: 10.1124/jpet.113.203927
- Regoli D, Rizzi A, Perron SI, Gobeil, F Jr. Classification of kinin receptors. Biol Chem. (2001) 382:31–5. doi: 10.1515/BC.2001.005
- 116. Desposito D, Zadigue G, Taveau C, Adam C, Alhenc-Gelas F, Bouby N, et al. Neuroprotective effect of kinin B1 receptor activation in acute cerebral ischemia in diabetic mice. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:9410. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09721-0
- 117. Desposito D, Chollet C, Taveau C, Descamps V, Alhenc-Gelas F, Roussel R, et al. Improvement of skin wound healing in diabetic mice by kinin B2 receptor blockade. *Clin Sci.* (2016) 130:45–56. doi: 10.1042/CS20150295
- 118. Marin-Castaño ME, Schanstra JP, Neau E, Praddaude F, Pecher C, Ader JL, et al. Induction of functional bradykinin b(1)-receptors in normotensive rats and mice under chronic Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor treatment. *Circulation*. (2002) 105:627–32. doi: 10.1161/hc0502.102965
- 119. Phipps JA, Feener EP. The kallikrein-kinin system in diabetic retinopathy: lessons for the kidney. *Kidney Int.* (2008) 73:1114–9. doi: 10.1038/ki.2008.9
- 120. Bhat M, Pouliot M, Couture R, Vaucher E. The kallikrein-kinin system in diabetic retinopathy. *Prog Drug Res.* (2014) 69:111–43. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-06683-7\_5
- 121. Cicardi M, Banerji A, Bracho F, Malbran A, Rosenkranz B, Riedl M, et al. Icatibant, a new bradykinin-receptor antagonist, in hereditary angioedema. *N Engl J Med.* (2010) 363:532–41. doi: 10.1056/NEJMx100067
- 122. Whalley ET, Clegg S, Stewart JM, Vavrek RJ. The effect of kinin agonists and antagonists on the pain response of the human blister base. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol.* (1987) 336:652–5. doi: 10.1007/BF00165756
- 123. Hicks BM, Filion KB, Yin H, Sakr L, Udell JA, Azoulay L. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and risk of lung cancer: population based cohort study. *BMJ*. (2018) 363:k4209. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k4209

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Alhenc-Gelas, Bouby and Girolami. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

